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Preface

The 1980 Handbook is the third edition; the first was issued with October 1977 Financial
Statistics and the second a year ago. It will continue to appear annually with April issues and
each edition will now be known by the year of issue. This edition updates the previous issue
and contains some additional m aterial-notably two further illustrations, in Sections 2 and
10, depicting the main financial flows in a recent year and a new Annex which provides brief
explanatory notes on the regular supplementary tables which appear in the monthly 
publication.

The first edition of the Handbook was a development of the Notes and Definitions 
Supplement which had previously appeared with most April issues of Financial Statistics, 
Rather more explanatory and background material is included in the Handbooks than in the 
Supplements, and some emphasis has been given to explaining methods of derivation, 
compilation and estimation, showing the relationship between tables, and providing further 
references.

IN THIS HANDBOOK TABLE NUMBERS RELATE TO THE TABLES AS THEY APPEAR IN 
ISSUE No 216 FOR APRIL 1980. Any subsequent changes to table numbers, and notes on 
new or modified tables which are introduced before the next issue of this Handbook, will be 
included in a cumulative supplement to the Handbook in the monthly publication.

We share responsibility for financial statistics with several government Departments and, in 
particular, the Bank of England. W e are very grateful for the help given by colleagues in these 
organisations in preparing this Handbook. Thanks are also due to Mr J R Caster, who was a 
consultant in the early stages of the work on the first edition; he contributed draft copy for 
several sections and made valuable suggestions on layout and content.

We invite comment on the content of this Handbook and suggestions for further 
explanatory and illustrative material, which can be taken into account when preparing the 
next edition.

Users whose interest in government and public sector statistics goes beyond the material in 
Sections 2 to 5 are recommended to consult the Guide to Public Sector Financial Information 
No 1 1979 (HMSO).

8566 (alternative. 01-233 7633)

Financial Statistics Branch 
Central Statistical Office 
Great George Street 
London SW1P 3AQ

March 1980
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Introduction
Layout of Handbook
This Handbook closely follows the layout of the monthly; the 
13 Sections are numbered in the same way. Typically, each 
section opens with general introductory information 
{including, in the case of Sections 2 - 6  and 8 -1 1 , a definition 
of the coverage of the sector of the economy in question). 
This is followed by explanatory notes on each table or — when 
appropriate — each group of tables, numbered as in the April 
1980 issue. Additional sections include this introduction to the
national accounts and financial accounts, and an annex on 
sources of financial statistics in the publications of 
international organisations.

The national accounts

The financial accounts can be regarded as a sub-system within 
the system of national income and expenditure accounts. A 
broad appreciation of the national accounts and their 
breakdown into sector accounts is helpful in gaining an under
standing of the financial accounts and financial statistics 
generally. Most sector accounts are included in Financial 
Statistics, but the national income and expenditure accounts 
are not — they are found in National Income and Expenditure 
(the Blue Book) and in regular features in Economic Trends. In 
spite of their absence from Financial Statistics we thought it 
helpful to include the following general outline of the national 
accounts in this Handbook. For a more definitive and far more 
comprehensive description of the national accounts it is 
necessary to refer to National Accounts Statistics: Sources 
and Methods (HMSO; 1968).

No discussion or analysis of the nation's economic health 
can get very far without resort to the national income 
accounts, but the layman turning, for instance, to the National 
Income and Expenditure Blue Book, is often daunted by the 
apparent complexity of the information that he finds there, 
and is perplexed by much of the terminology. For instance, 
take 'gross domestic product at constant factor cost' —one of 
the most frequently quoted statistics. In what sense is it gross 
rather than net? Why domestic product —is national product 
the same? What does product actually mean, and what is 
constant factor cost? This section tries to set out in relatively 
simple terms what such statistics as this are actually trying to 
measure, and to show that the system of national income 
accounts is in principle both simple and logical. In the process 
we deal with those parts of the national income accounts 
which need to be understood in order to make proper use of 
the financial accounts.

Three measurements

The national income can be thought of as the sum total of 
all --------- - L... residents of the United9ll incomes earned by the resiaents or trie urnieu 
Kingdom —whether by way of wages, salaries, profits, rent or 
whatever—from productive activity in a given period. By 
productive activity we mean the production of goods, like cars 
or shirts, and services, like bus rides or medical care. W e can

3

also arrive at the same total figure by two other routes: by 
399*'09ohng the value added' in each industry producing 
goods and services or by adding together all the expenditure 
on final purchases of goods and services (ie excluding 
intermediate purchases which are for use in productive 

activity) and deducting imports of goods and services (the 
distinction between final and intermediate expenditure is 
explained below). In other words, the total value of the 
nation s output is equal to (a) the total of all incomes earned in 
producing it, (b) the sum of the value added in all industries, or 
(c) the total of all spending on the goods and services 
produced less the cost of imports. To appreciate what this 
means, and to understand the framework of the national 
income accounts as a whole, we need to look in turn at each 
of these ways of measuring the nation's productive effort.

National income

As already stated, the national income is the sum of all 
incomes of UK residents, whether individual or corporate, 
which are derived from the current production of goods and 
services. Such incomes are termed 'factor incomes', being 
incomes received by the so-called 'factors of 
production' —land, labour and capital goods, ie rent, income 
from employment and profits. Other forms of income, like 
retirement pensions, family allowances, cannot be regarded as 
payments for current economic activity. They are described as 
'transfer' incomes, being paid for from the proceeds of, for 
example, national insurance contributions or taxation. In other 
words, they amount to a redistribution of income earned from 
economic activity. Transfers are excluded from the calculation 
of the national income, for to include them would be to count 
the same income twice.

Again, as already mentioned, the national income of the 
United Kingdom is the income of UK residents. Some of this 
income arises from property held abroad, including interest as 
well as profits earned abroad. And in the same way some of 
the Income arising in the UK is earned by non-residents. What 
In practice is done to arrive at a figure for national income is to 
calculate the total of all income earned in the UK by residents 
and non-residents alike ('total domestic factor incomes'), and 
then add property income from abroad, and subtract property 
Income earned here by non-residents. The difference between 
these two last items is 'net property income from abroad'.

Domestic product and national product
If domestic income is the sum of all incomes from productive 
activity, it can provide a basis for valuing that production. For 
example, the total value of the output of a firm making shirts 
must be income to someone—whether to managers, 
shareholders, employees, suppliers or whatever. From this 
point of view it can be seen that the same total is obtained by 
adding up the contribution to domestic product of each 
producing unit in the country. But, as in the case of income, 
we cannot arrive at total domestic product simply by adding
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up the value of production by every industry in the country. To 
do so would be to count the same output more than once. For 
example if we include in our calculation of domestic product 
not only the total value of the sales of suits by a tailor, but also 
the output of the weaver who supplies him with cloth, and the 
output of the spinner who provides the necessary yarn, then 
we have counted the value of the yarn three times over. What 
we need is a measure of the value added at each stage of 
production. In this sense, the value of the product of the 
weaving industry consists of the value added in the process of 
transforming yarn into cloth, and the value of the tailor's 
output consists of the further value added by turning cloth 
into suits. It is worth noting that, since the domestic product 
includes only the value added within the country, it must 
exclude the value of imported goods and services, which are 
part of the domestic products of other countries. National 
product of course includes goods and services exported, also 
the additions to work in progress and goods in stock.

The domestic product is the sum of value added by all 
industries in the United Kingdom and is the counterpart of the 
total of domestic factor incomes. As in the case of incomes, 
the national product is derived by adding net income from 
abroad.

National expenditure
Since the national income is equivalent to the value of goods 
and services which are produced by the economic activity of 
the nation, it can be measured not only as the sum of factor 
incomes, or the total value added in production, but also as 
the sum of expenditure on the goods and services produced. 
Broadly speaking, national expenditure can be divided 
between consumption and adding to wealth. Consumption is 
taken to comprise all kinds of current expenditure on goods 
and services, whether by private individuals or by collective 
bodies. Including the Government. Adding to wealth is taken 
to mean the net additions to the stock of physical assets—the 
stock of factories, machinery, houses, materials, work in 
progress and so on. But account needs to be taken of 
imported goods and services that are incorporated into goods 
and services consumed or added to wealth.

Individual economic units also undertake other expenditure 
in the form of transactions In financial assets but, apart from 
the service of transferring financial assets, these expenditures 
do not create income. They are akin to transfer incomes in 
their effect on the national accounts.

Every financial asset is necessarily a liability to somebody 
else, including currency, which is the liability of the Govern
ment. Hence, within the nation, financial claims cancel out, 
for as assets they are offset exactly by financial liabilities, 
leaving only net lending to, or borrowing from, foreigners.

Net lending or borrowing from foreigners will result from the 
difference between the value of goods and services we sell 
abroad and those we import and from property income earned 
abroad /ess property income paid abroad.

Just as the national income is not simply the sum of all 
incomes, the national expenditure is not the sum of all 
purchases. It is defined to exclude the transactions that occur, 
for example, when a commodity (yarn for weaving) or a

service (the carriage of yarn from spinner to weaver) is sold for 
the production of a suit. This amounts to drawing a distinction 
between 'final' and 'intermediate' purchasers and 
transactions. The suit is a final product; its purchaser—the 
consumer —is a final purchaser; and his purchase from the 
tailor is a final transaction, and a part of final expenditure. The 
transactions conducted between the tailor and the spinner, 
the spinner and the weaver, the weaver and the transporter, 
and so on, are all intermediate purchases reflected in the final 
price of the suit and must be excluded. Thus all purchases of 
goods and services for use in current production and 
subsequent resale are intermediate purchases. Note the 
difference between this treatment from the expenditure point 
of view and the treatment from the product side. We calculate 
total domestic product by summing the value added by each 
industry, and total domestic expenditure by summing final 
purchases.

There is one exception in the expenditure accounts to the 
exclusion of intermediate transactions: goods added to stock 
and additions to work in progress during the period —a year, 
say—must be regarded as additions to wealth within that year, 
and are accordingly treated as final expenditure.

National expenditure is thus another aspect of the national 
income and national product, and in a closed economy, that is 
to say, an economy having no transactions with other 
countries, the national product and national expenditure 
would be different ways of measuring the same collection of 
goods and services. In an open economy, identification of this 
specific collection of goods and services is made more difficult 
because many final goods contain imported material. Final 
expenditure on such goods thus provides income and product 
not only in the home economy but also in the foreign country 
from which the imported material has been bought. Similarly, 
part of the national product is sold to other countries. Clearly,
some adjustments are needed.

In estimating national expenditure it is not in fact practicable 
to eliminate the import content from each kind of expenditure, 
for example, from consumers' expenditure. The statistics from 
which the estimates of consumption and investment are 
derived relate to the total value of the final goods and services 
concerned, including their import content, and the estimate of 
national expenditure is arrived at by subtracting from this total 
value of final products the total value of imported goods and 
services. Thus, national expenditure is calculated from total 
expenditure by residents of the nation on all final goods and 
services, including their import content—a total described as 
domestic expenditure—p/us total exports and property 
income from abroad /ess total imports and property income 
due abroad. It is identical with the value of goods and services 
becoming available as a result of the nation's economic 
activity, and thus with the national income and the national
product.

Gross versus net national product —allowance for 
capital consumption
To each of the three identical aggregates described above 
there corresponds a 'gross' and a 'net' concept. The process 
of production and the passage of time involve a gradual using
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up of the nation's productive assets—its buildings and 
machinery. This capital consumption, or depreciation, should 
clearly be taken into account in calculating the net annual 
additions to the nation's stock of wealth, and should 
accordingly be regarded as a deduction from income, product 
and expenditure—from income and product, because the 
using up of assets is a necessary cost of earning the income or 
producing the output; from expenditure, because depreciation 
of capital represents a reduction in national wealth. But the 
main aggregates are shown before deducting depreciation, 
mainly because estimates of it can be made only on the basis 
of convention or of some arbitrary principle of calculation. The 
difficulty arises from the fact that the cost of using up fixed 
capital cannot be measured directly; it is not represented by 
actual transactions. In business accounting, this unrecorded 
element in current costs of production is met by provisions for 
depreciation. These provisions are generally not of the kind 
needed for national income accounts because in the past they 
have usually been made in terms of the original cost of the 
asset; in other words, they provide for the setting aside of the 
original money outlay during the assumed life of the asset. For 
the national accounts the current charge for the use of assets 
must be calculated in terms of current prices—the prices, that 
is, at which other transactions in the accounts are measured. 
Capital consumption allowed for in the national accounts 
should be related to the current value of resources used up in 
production as this is the only way both of securing internal 
consistency between the cost of using capital and other 
current costs of production, and of treating consistently the 
uses of different kinds of capital assets. The estimates of 
capital consumption are based on broad assumptions about 
the expected lives of capital assets and their pattern of 
utilisation. Assets are assumed to render their services in equal 
amounts in each year of their life —the 'straight line' basis of 
depreciation.

What all of this amounts to is that the allowance for capital 
resources used up in production is not a unique or readily 
measurable quantity, and that even if it were, estimates of 
income and product before deducting it would still be needed 
for some purposes. The statistics accordingly give precedence 
to measurements of 'gross' income, product and expenditure, 
before making allowance for depreciation.

To preserve the true significance of the expressions national 
income, national product and national expenditure, the terms 
used to describe the estimates before deduction of capital 
consumption are 'national income p/us depreciation', 'gross 
national product' and 'gross national expenditure'. The 
estimates after deduction of capital consumption are 
described as 'national income', 'net national product' and 'net 
national expenditure'. In published tables the terms generally 
used are 'gross national product' for the gross concept and 
national income' for the net concept.

Stock appreciation
A special problem in measuring additions to the national 
wealth arises when allowing for changes in stocks. The 
concepts adopted for the measurement of national income 
and wealth require a measure of the change in stocks valued in 
the same way as other transactions in the system, that is at the

5
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prices of the period concerned. Business accounting 
methods, which provide most of the statistics actually used 
for reckoning incomes and changes in stocks, adopt a 
convention which results in a rather different valuation in 
times of substantial changes in prices. By this method, profits 
earned by a trading enterprise in a given period are calculated 
by treating stocks taken over from the preceding period as a 
purchase, while stocks handed on to the following period are 
treated as a sale. As a result, any increase in the value of 
stocks between the beginning and the end of the period will 
enter into the accounting profit, together with the excess of 
sales to outsiders over the sum of purchases from outsiders, 
payments for labour and depreciation charges. Expenditure 
during the year in purchasing materials is allowed as an 
operating expense, entering the calculation of profit only to 
the extent that the money value of stocks and work in 
progress at the beginning of the year is maintained. Any 
increase in stocks resulting from purchases in excess of this 
will appear as a form of investment, in other words, as a use of 
profits.

If this definition of profit were accepted in national income 
measurement, it would mean that any increase over a year in 
the money value of stocks would be treated as adding to 
wealth, even if the physical volume of stocks remained 
constant or declined. But for a measurement of income and 
stock changes consistent with the other flows dealt with in the 
system of national income statistics, it is desirable that 
'additions to wealth' should include only additions arising from 
the economic activity of the period; any increase in the 
physical volume of stocks should be included, but not an 
increase in the money value of stocks due to a rise in the prices 
at which stocks are valued. The effect of traditional 
accounting methods is that in times of rising prices the money 
value of stocks increases by more than the physical volume 
valued at the prices of the year, and book profits thus incor
porate an amount which from the present point of view must 
be regarded as a capital gain, not as income. The difference is 
described as stock appreciation. In reckoning the national 
income, product and expenditure, the estimated amount of 
stock appreciation is subtracted from the estimate of incomes 
and stock changes derived from accounting data. The stock
change after this adjustment is described as the 'value of the 
physical increase in stocks'. If prices are rising, stock 
appreciation is positive; if prices are falling, it is negative. In 
the sector accounts, consideration of stock appreciation is 
most important in the appropriation account of industrial and 
commercial companies {Table 9.1) where it is distinguished 
within the figures of gross trading profits. See also page 87.

M arket prices and factor costs
From the point of view of the purchasers, it is most 
appropriate to value the various forms of final output at the 
prices which are actually paid for that output. But, notwith
standing the equally between expenditure and income, the 
aggregate value of goods and services calculated in this way 
will not in general be equal to the sum of factor incomes 
arising from production. This is because the price paid by the 
purchaser often includes an indirect tax or a subsidy which 
accrues to, or is paid by, the Government and cannot be
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identified with any specific goods or services which the 
Government provides, or receives, in return.

There are, therefore, two different ways of valuing national 
expenditure and the national product: at market prices, 
including all taxes on expenditure, with subsidies regarded as 
negative taxes; or at factor cost, representing only the sum of 
the incomes of factors of production.

In the official statistics of the UK, the national product is 
usually expressed at factor cost. In the case of national 
expenditure, the components are shown at market prices (the 
basis on which the statistics are naturally compiled), and total 
national expenditure at factor cost is derived by summing the 
components in terms of market prices and then deducting
indirect taxes and adding subsidies.

Expenditure and output at constant prices
For many purposes, the comparison of estimates of gross 
domestic product over time is of more interest when the 
effects of changes in prices are eliminated. Accordingly, 
estimates of the gross domestic product and its components 
are made not only in 'current prices', (the prices of the period 
concerned) but in 'constant prices', that is to say, the average 
prices of some selected base year. Estimates of gross 
domestic product at constant factor cost or constant market 
prices in principle show the growth of the volume of output 
over some period. It should be noted that all tables in Financial 
Statistics are in current price terms, as befits a publication 
which deals with the financing of economic activity.

Accounts by sector and type of activity
If national income and national expenditure are by definition 
equal, then it follows that the statistics can be presented in the 
form of a balanced account, showing for example the various 
kinds of national expenditure on one side of the account and 
the forms of income on the other, the two parts adding to the 
same total. A natural extension of this is to show balanced 
accounts summarising the transactions of particular groups or 
entities within the economy. The principal advantage of such a 
framework is that it displays the relationships between the 
different parts of the economy and the different forms of 
economic activity in a way which the statistics of aggregates 
cannot do. The division of the economy into sectors is accord
ingly a primary feature of a national accounting system and 
this is the main emphasis in Financial Statistics.

The national income and expenditure accounts and the 
financial accounts are organised in terms of a few 
consolidated sectors. In principle, these sectors are defined in 
such a way that economic units in each one can be expected 
to behave in broadly similar ways and transactions between 
the sectors have special economic significance. The choice of 
sector boundaries is crucial, for all flows within sectors are 
omitted. In practice, limitations in the available data make it 
necessary to modify the sector definitions one would ideally 
like. The detailed definitions of sectors are given in the 
respective Sections of this publication.

Such a system also requires a method of classifying 
transactions which can be applied consistently to the various 
forms of economic activity. There are two points of view from

which transactions are classified. First, all economic activity 
can be grouped under three headings: production, 
consumption and adding to wealth. A production account 
records the transactions involved in the production and supply 
of goods and services. A consumption account (or income 
and expenditure account) records the current expenditure out 
of the income generated in production or received by 
transfers. An account for adding to wealth (or capital account) 
records the use of savings derived from an income and 
expenditure account.

Secondly, all transactions can be divided between 
payments made for the supply of goods or services or for the 
transfer of financial assets and transfers, such as taxes, grants 
and gifts and interest. Only the former enter into the national 
income and expenditure as defined; the transfer payments 
represent a redistribution of income without adding to the 
total. Transfer payments thus appear in the accounts for the 
individual sectors of the economy and not in the national 
aggregates.

The production account corresponds roughly to the trading 
account of a firm. The main elements on the expenditure side 
are the current costs of production such as materials, rent, 
wages and salaries and so on and the receipts side comprises 
principally the revenue from current sales, together with any 
subsidies received and any additions to the value of stocks and 
work in progress. The balance is trading profits. In the United 
Kingdom national accounts a production account Is compiled 
for only one sector —public corporations, and is found only in 
the Blue Book.

The income (or trading profits) derived from the production 
account of a trading enterprise is carried into its income and 
expenditure account. In the case of corporate enterprises this 
is described as an appropriation account, in which the receipts 
of income, both from its own production account and from 
other sources, such as investments, are shown as distributed 
to the shareholders, the debt-holders, or in taxes to the 
Government. What remains, the undistributed income, is the 
enterprise's saving. Sectors consisting wholly of productive 
enterprises (the company sector and the public corporation 
sector) show no current purchases of goods and services on 
income and expenditure account since they are not regarded 
as final consumers. Their spending consists wholly in the 
distribution of income by transfer payments of interest and 
dividends or grants, or by taxes. The purchases of goods and 
services of a productive enterprise are wholly on production 
account or capital account.

The analogous income and expenditure account of persons 
contains items some of which are in general basically similar. 
Income includes the trading profits of unincorporated 
enterprises and the factor income of employed persons 
('income from employment'), and current transfers, mainly 
grants from the Government, are also important. There is a big 
difference on the expenditure side because persons are final 
consumers and the bulk of the sector's outlay is devoted to 
'consumers' expenditure'. Interest payments are much less 
important and are not shown as part of expenditure, but are 
netted off from interest income. The other important 
expenditure item is taxes. As in the case of other sectors, what
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described as current account
described as appropriation account
also forms part of Table 2.7
restricted to financing of borrowing requirements
holdings of public sector debt are published annually as supplementary tables
sources and uses of funds presentation. Table 9.2 also includes financing of a borrowing requirement 
amounts of selected assets and liabilities held by certain OFIs as follows:

8.2,8.3
8.4
8.7
8.11
8.12
8.13
8.15

(h)
(i)
( j )

(k)
( l )

(m)
(n)

savings banks 
finance houses 
building societies 
unit trusts 
Investment trusts 
Insurance companies 
superannuation funds 

selected liquid assets and liabilities only 
balance of payments accounts 
consumer credit only 
liabilities only
liabilities in the form of Treasury bills and national savings 
a complete balance sheet is published periodically as a supplementary table
selected assets and liabilities only. A fuller statement of assets and liabilities is given annually in United Kingdom Balance o f 
Payments (the Pink Book)
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Sector and national accounts
Domestic Domestic Domestic

Capital account 
Balance from income and 

expenditure account (saving) ( Y 1 - C 1 ) (Y 2- C 2) (Y3 -C 3 )

deduct'.
Gross domestic capital formation 1

add'.
Net capital transfers

Nation
plus
Overseas

equals
World

(Y-C)
(M-X)

1

equals'.
Net acquisition of financial assets NAFA1 NAFA. NAFA3

equals:
Financial account

Changes in financial assets and
liabilities A ,-L 1 Ao-L A ,-L

NAFA N A F A o

A -L A o - i-o

Nil

Nit

Nil

N il

Yj = income \  including
c'j = current expenditure /  current transfers

= physical investment (as opposed to investment in financial assets) 
= capital transfer receipts less disbursements

in Domestic Sector i
I

A . = changes in financial assets
= changes In liabilities
= exports of goods and services and other U K  credits 
= imports of goods and services and other U K  debits

excluding 
capital transfers

=  Y = T NAFA = NAFA { A - U  = A -L

The first two rows of the nation and overseas columns can be expressed as the following identity:
(Y-C) -  Ip + (M-X) = 0, which can be manipulated to illustrate two basic identities of national income accounting as follows:

U
Y = c + ljj + (X-M), which expresses the equality of gross national disposable income measured from the income and expenditure sides

{gross national disposable income = gross national product net current transfers from abroad)
and
Y-C = lp + (X-M), which expresses the equality of national saving and investment (the latter consisting of domestic capital formation

and net investment abroad).

remains after accounting for all expenditure is called saving, 
and is carried forward to the capital account. (Some sectors, 
of course, spend more than their income and in these cases a 
negative Item—dis-saving—goes to the capital account.)

The sum of the saving of each sector represents the total of 
national saving available for adding to wealth.

The capita! account for the nation as a whole shows this 
sum of domestic sectors' saving as a receipt, together with 
any net capital transfers from the rest of the world. These total 
receipts are balanced by spending on additions to wealth, 
both in the form of physical assets (fixed assets or stocks) and 
financial assets, in the form of financial claims on the rest of 
the world. (UK residents' financial claims on each other cancel 
out as far as the nation as a whole is concerned).

^ *

physical assets and to show only one net item for financial 
assets acquired less liabilities contracted. This net acquisition 
o f financial assets is the balance of capital receipts over capital 
payments and is sometimes termed the sector 'surplus or 
deficit'. Financial transactions are then shown separately in a 
financial account. For most sectors both capital and financial 
transactions are sometimes shown in a combined account, 
showing sources and uses o f funds and in this form of 
presentation, the intermediate balance net acquisition o f 
financial assets does not appear.

The capital account for each sector shows as receipts the 
saving on its income and expenditure account, capital trans
fers received both from other domestic sectors and from 
overseas and financial liabilities contracted to other sectors. 
This is balanced on the expenditure side by capital transfers 
paid, the increase in the sector's physical assets and financial 
assets acquired as claims on other sectors. It is often 
convenient to restrict the capital account to the acquisition of

Conceptually, the sum of the net acquisition o f financial 
assets by the domestic sectors is equal to the net acquisition 
of financial claims on the rest of the world, although in 
practice estimation errors obscure this equality. Physical 
assets held abroad are regarded as financial assets (in the 
same way as physical assets in the United Kingdom owned by 
non-residents are regarded as financial liabilities), and the sum 
of the net acquisition of financial assets for all domestic 
sectors is then equal in concept to net investment abroad.

The net acquisition o f financial assets (NAFA) is the balance 
carried forward from the sector capital account to the sector 
financial account. Conceptually, the sum of each sector s
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transactions in financial assets and liabilities is equal to this 
balance. The financial account shows the changes in various 
financial liabilities, such as borrowing and the issue of 
securities and in various financial assets, such as loans made, 
deposits with banks and holdings of stocks and shares.

The location of the various types of accounts and presen
tations for each sector is displayed in the diagram on the 
opposite page.

The theoretical relationship between the financial accounts 
and the national accounts can be expressed symbolically, as 
shown in the diagram on page 7. In practice this has to be 
modified to take account of deficiencies in the available data, 
which brings about a residua! error in the national accounts 
and the ur)identified transactions item in the sector financial 
accounts (see page 29).

Balance sheets
Earlier in this Chapter we saw how the flow of funds accounts 
provided a framework for the analysis of financial flows and 
for helping to identify some of the links between the different 
categories of transactions. But the accounts are insufficient 
for a satisfactory understanding of the behaviour of the 
various sectors of the economy. In many cases the reasons for 
financial flows between sectors include a desire to alter the 
composition of a balance sheet. For example, a transaction is 
often undertaken to change the owner's stock of some asset 
or other—perhaps as a reaction to, for instance, a change in 
the value of that asset—and must be interpreted in that light.

The analysis of the flow transactions of a particular sector in 
terms of its balance sheet accordingly requires additional data 
on the levels or stock of its assets and liabilities. In these 
terms, the cash transactions of a sector over a particular 
period will depend not only on the amount of new funds 
flowing in and on such influences as actual or anticipated 
shifts in the relative yields of the various competing invest
ment outlets, but also on the overall pattern both of the 
sector's asset portfolio and of its total liabilities.

For such analysis we clearly require estimates of the levels 
of important assets and liabilities for every sector of the 
economy, and covering not only financial but also real assets. 
Such comprehensive sector balance sheets need to be 
integrated as far as possible with the cash flow figures in the 
flow of funds accounts by dividing the changes in levels 
between cash flows, changes in market values, and other 
changes (in sector boundaries, for example).

Development work on national and sector balance sheets is 
now under way, and has been described in an article by David 
J Reid in November 1976 issue of Statistical News. A further

9

progress report was published as Studies in Official Statistics
No 35. Meanwhile, the published information on stocks of
assets and liabilities is incomplete and inconsistent in several
ways. Where figures of stocks of assets and liabilities appear
in Financial Statistics they have been included in the diagram 
opposite.

Other media

Quarterly sector income and expenditure and capital accounts 
are also published in Economic Trends, both as supporting 
tables to the quarterly national income article and, in certain 
cases, in the standing tables, at about the same time as this 
information is published in Financial Statistics. Only a very 
limited amount of information on financial transactions is, 
however, included in Economic Trends.

Sector accounts, including financial accounts, for a long 
run of annual periods are published in the 'Blue Book' National 
Income and Expenditure.

Summary capital accounts and financial accounts are 
published in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin about 6 
weeks after they appear in Financial Statistics. The 
presentation of the Bank's financial accounts differs from the 
CSO's accounts in two main ways—first there is more 
aggregation of the various types of financial transaction and 
secondly, seasonally adjusted data are calculated by the Bank 
of England. A detailed description of the Bank's accounts 
(which the Bank calls 'flow of funds accounts') and of the 
differences with those of the CSO are given in the Bank's 
publication United Kingdom flow  o f funds accounts: 
1963-76. This includes general information on flow of funds 
accounts, including a description of international 
presentations and an explanation of the seasonal adjustment 
process. There are historic runs of quarterly statistics covering 
14 years. The Bank publishes some flow of funds accounts in 
their Quarterly —seasonally adjusted figures for the
latest quarter, by sector and type of asset/liability and time 
series for industrial and commercial companies, the personal 
sector and the public sector. Figures for all sectors are 
available on magnetic tape and in computer print-outs. The 
Bank publishes an article in the June Quarterly Bulletin each 
year describing flow of funds transactions in the previous 
year.

As well as being the only vehicle for presenting the CSO
financial accounts. Financial Statistics is also a general digest 
of financial statistics. Nearly all these statistics are published 
elsewhere, often in more detail, or more quickly. References 
to these other media are given in the notes to individual tables.
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Section Financial accounts
The financial accounts, sometimes called the 'flow of funds' 
accounts or the sector financing accounts, set out the 
transactions whereby sectors that are in surplus on current 
and capital account provide funds for sectors that are in 
deficit. They provide a statistical framework for considering 
financial transactions and enable the transactions of one 
sector to be directly related to those of other sectors. Many of 
the tables in the remaining sections of Financial Statistics 
provide raw material to compile the financial accounts.

Financial transactions are presented in two ways. One way 
is to give details of the transactions of a particular sector for a 
run of periods. This is called the sector financial account and 
presents a time series for the sector's acquisition of financial 
assets and liabilities classified in a standard way. Sector 
financial accounts in this format are shown for six sectors in 
Tables 1.3 to 1.8 inclusive.

A second way of presenting financial transactions is to give 
details of the sales and purchases of a particular financial 
instrument or group of instruments by each of the different 
sectors. This can be called a financial instrument account. It
shows that because each purchase is always matched by a 
sale, the sum of all transactions in a given instrument should 
be equal to zero in each period. Accounts are shown in this 
format only for three types of central government instrument, 
as part of Tables 3.9, 3.11, and 3.12.

The two types of accounts can be combined to form a 
matrix with a two-way classification of instrument and 
sectors, giving details of the transactions in each instrument 
by each sector in a single period. As the financial instruments 
are classified in a uniform way, it is possible to relate the 
transactions in a particular instrument by one sector to the 
associated changes in other instruments by that sector and to 
the transactions of the sectors. This layout is followed in 
Table 1.2, which provides information on the latest quarter for 
which data are available.

This section opens with the sector summary capital 
accounts in Table 1.1, providing a link between the national 
income accounts and the quarterly financial accounts. 
Separate capital accounts are given for each of the sectors 
into which the economy is divided in both sets of accounts. 
Tables 1.1 and 1.2 taken together provide the statistical 
framework for a complete system of accounts covering the 
financial and non-financial transactions of the different 
sectors. The balance in the capita! account is the sector's net 
acquisition o f financial assets. This shows the extent to which 
each sector's saving on current account (plus net capital 
transfers) is more than, or less than, sufficient to cover its 
expenditure on physical assets. The aggregate of the item net 
acquisition o f financial assets for all sectors, including the 
overseas sector, should in theory be zero but in practice is not. 
This is because there is a statistical discrepancy in the national 
income accounts between the estimates of gross domestic 
product based on income data and expenditure data. This 
discrepancy is termed the residual error. The relationship
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between the various tables and accounts is shown in the 
diagrams on pages 7 and 29. The financial accounts (Tables 
1.2 to 1.8 inclusive) continue this stop/. They provide details of 
the financial assets and liabilities acquired by each of the 
different sectors of the economy and show the various ways in 
which the balance on capital account of those sectors with a 
financial surplus is channelled directly, or Indirectly through 
financial intermediaries, to finance the deficits of other
sectors.

Use of fi accounts
As already mentioned. Tables 1.1 to 1.8 taken together 
provide a complete statistical framework for considering the 
transactions of the various sectors. In these tables, the various 
items of saving and expenditure and of borrowing and lending 
are set out systematically and consistently. This makes it poss
ible to relate the financial transactions of a sector to its saving 
and expenditure, to the financial transactions of each of the 
other sectors, and also to view all these phenomena in relation 
to each other and not in Isolation. The financial accounts are 
in principle comprehensive; they do not focus on one asset 
category or one type of financial institution. They provide a 
basis for examining the financial behaviour of each of the 
various sectors, and the relationship between their trans
actions and those of other sectors of the economy in a 
systematic way and in quantitative terms.

An examination of these transactions as presented in these 
tables provides a statistical basis for examining the effects of 
monetary policy, and for taking decisions within the field of 
monetary policy and economic policy generally. Such a 
framework is useful to the economist wishing to test theories 
about the way in which the economy behaves—for instance, 
to throw light on the factors which influence the general 
public's holdings of bank deposits or British government 
securities or to explore the extent to which changes in interest 
rates affect each sector's borrowing and lending pattern.

The flow of funds accounts can assist the financial insti
tution wishing to understand the financial environment in 
which it is operating, or to gauge the nature and extent of the 
competition which it faces in the market for funds. The 
accounts are also of value to anyone who wants to link 
together in one broad picture the mass of disjointed economic 
and financial developments reported in the Press. The 
financial accounts help to bring a sense of proportion to the 
activities of particular kinds of financial institution or to 
transactions in particular kinds of financial instrument, such as 
hire purchase debt or building society deposits.

The financial accounts for financial institutions give full 
details of the funds channelled through these financial inter
mediaries. Much of these funds originate from the personal 
sector, for instance in the form of premiums and contributions 
to life assurance and superannuation funds or subscriptions to
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capital issues. Much of it is re-lent back to the personal sector, 
but probably to different entities in the sector. Much of the 
money placed with financial institutions is a short-term asset 
of the personal sector whereas money lent back to the 
personal sector is generally a medium or long-term asset of the 
financial institutions. It is important to know the reasons for 
changes both in the sources of their funds and in the uses to 
which they are put. For instance, how much is used to take up 
government and local authority debt, how much is lent 
through hire purchase, how much is used to acquire company 
securities and so on? The transactions of the financial inter
mediaries have repercussions on the liquidity of the different 
sectors, on the current and capital expenditure of the private 
sector, on the financing of the public sector borrowing 
requirement and on capital flows to and from abroad

Forecasting
The accounts lend themselves particularly to forecasting, for 
they permit one not only to discern past relationships between 
economic and financial variables, and extrapolate them into 
the future, but also to assemble the various elements of such a 
forecast in a framework which allows them to be tested 
against each other for consistency and plausibility.

Since the early 1960s official financial forecasts have been 
constructed in flow of funds form, linked to separate forecasts 
of income, expenditure, saving, the current account of the 
balance of payments and so on. A description of these was 
given in an article in the June 1977 issue of the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin. The aim of the flow of funds fore
cast is to exhibit the possible implications of the other 
forecasts for the financial system on the general assump
tion-com m on to the whole exercise—of no change in 
existing policies. The resulting predictions of financial 
developments can be used for two main purposes. First, they 
provide a consistency and plausibility check on the other 
forecasts—if, for example, it appears from the financial 
forecast that there will be insufficient funds available to 
finance predicted investment by companies, then the national 
income forecasters may have to adjust their predictions 
accordingly. Second, the financial forecast can be used as a 
background against which policy decisions can be taken —if 
the financial implications of the other forecasts, though 
plausible, are unpalatable, then the Government may decide 
to make some policy change, and the forecasts will be 
reworked to take account of it.

The great merit of the financial accounts matrix in this 
process is that it keeps the various elements of the forecast in 
touch with each other and compels the forecaster to take 
exact and explicit account of all the implications of any 
change. For example, let us suppose that he wishes to explore 
the financial consequences of a rise in the public sector 
borrowing requirement. In the public sector column this must 
be accounted for by some increase in its financial deficit 
and/or lending to other sectors. At the same time, the 
increased borrowing necessary to satisfy this higher public 
sector borrowing requirement must be found from other 
sectors, and each of these can provide the necessary finance 
only if some new source of funds becomes available. Perhaps
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they lend less for other purposes, in which case the ripples 
spread even further, for the borrowers thus deprived will have 
to find funds elsewhere or cut back their own activities. The 
matrix pushes all the implications of the original impulse out 
into the open, where they have to be considered explicitly. 
Recent developments in this area are described in Government 
Economic Service Working paper No. 17 A Financial Sector 
for the Treasury Model.

The raw material for such forecasts is provided in this 
section of Financial Statistics. Table 1.1 builds up the 
financial surpluses/deficits of sectors from the national 
income and expenditure side, showing figures for a run of 
years and quarters. Table 1.2 gives a flow of funds matrix for 
the latest quarter available in considerable detail. Tables 
1 .3 -1 .8  give the individual flow of funds accounts of each 
sector for a run of years and quarters. These last are in many 
ways the most useful, for they permit one to build a relatively 
abbreviated matrix and at the same time offer a sufficient run 
of figures to give some feel for recent trends. In many cases, 
the column headings for transactions in a particular asset are 
the same in all the sector tables—for example British govern
m ent securities—and this makes it an easy matter to fill in 
many of the rows of an abbreviated matrix. However, in 
several other cases it is not clear which column relates to 
which, and a reconciliation is therefore provided on page 20.

Flow of funds forecasts are useful for many purposes, and 
to many different bodies. As well as to policymakers as already 
described, they can be of particular use to almost every kind of 
financial institution. For example, the management of a bank 
can obtain from them a fairly detailed forecast of the sources 
and uses of funds of the banking sector and more generally, a 
picture of the financial environment in which they may find 
themselves. Building societies can get some idea of the 
amount of funds that the personal sector is likely to have 
available for investment in financial assets and can gauge the 
likely competition for these funds from other financial 
institutions. Stockbrokers can use them to assess, for 
example, the prospects for the gilt-edged and equity markets. 
Indeed, any institution concerned with financial flows could 
benefit from an assessment of prospects built up in this 
framework.

Classification of assets
Financial assets have several attributes which could in prin
ciple be used as a basis for classification:
(a) Marketability —possible, for example with a listed security 

but nearly impossible with a building society deposit.
(b) Capital certainty—the ability to recover the full amount 

advanced at least in money value terms.
(c) Residual maturity—the remaining maturity, irredeemable, 

long, medium or short, at the time (to be contrasted with 
original maturity—the period for which an instrument is to 
stand from the time it is created).

(d) Terms of payment of interest —periodicity; whether 
optional, fixed or variable.

(e) Terms of repayment of capital —instalment, variable or 
fixed.

(f) Type of record —registered or unregistered.
(g) Issuing sector—the sector for which the claim is a liability.
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It would be very helpful to classify on all of these attributes
but in practice sufficient data are not available.

The classification is based mainly on two criteria and then is 
not fully rigorous. These are the relative degree of liquidity of 
the assets (encompassing the characteristics a, b and c above) 
and the institutional sector on which the asset is a claim (g). 
The most liquid assets are notes and coin and the least liquid 
are long term assets such as loans and mortgages. But it is not 
always easy to decide on the relative liquidity of different 
assets; an asset may have a long period to maturity but be a 
liquid asset in the sense that it is readily marketable, although 
at some risk of capital loss. A classification by sector is 
particularly useful for financial accounts because each asset is 
usually a liability of only one sector. As mentioned above the 
classification used in the CSO system makes use of both 
criteria but is not comprehensive. For example, Bnt/sh 
government securities are not divided according to their 
period of maturity, which varies from less than a year to 
irredeemable. Company and overseas securities are at present 
linked together they are not divided between debenture, 
preference shares and ordinary shares and no distinction is 
made between the securities of financial companies, industrial 
companies and overseas companies; nor are these securities 
divided between debenture, preference shares and ordinary 
shares. But overseas assets are otherwise generally classified 
on a sector basis because of their importance in considering 
international capital movements. Public sector liabilities are 
also generally distinguished in order to help to show how the 
public sector borrowing requirement is financed.

Even with these limitations, nearly fifty types of assets are 
shown in the financial accounts. The main purpose of this 
amount of detail is to provide building blocks for users to 
adapt to their own needs. For example a more aggregated 
classification is preferable for macro-economic analysis, as is 
employed by the Bank of England, who use the same data 
sources as the CSO to compile their financial accounts and to 
calculate seasonally adjusted data.*

Before leaving the question of the basis for classifying 
assets and claims, reference should be made to accruals 
adjustments, an artificial type of claim created only within the 
national accounts system. Several important series in the 
income and expenditure accounts, (concerned with tax 
payments and certain interest flows) are recorded on an 
accruals basis, because this provides a truer picture of the 
change in the financial state of the economic unit at the time. 
Thus the financial position of a business is best measured in 
terms of goods bought, even when not yet paid for and like
wise in terms of increases in interest and local rates due 
although not yet paid. It is therefore necessary to include 
accruals adjustments in the financial accounts, because the 
actual payments reflected in changes in assets (eg bank 
deposits) and liabilities will differ from the changes in amounts 
due included in the income and expenditure figures. It is 
necessary to include an accruals adjustment in the financial

*For a full description of the Bank of England's system of accounts 
see United Kingdom flow of funds accounts 1963— 1976, obtainable 
from Economic Intelligence Dept., Bank of England, London 
EC2R 8AH at an inclusive price of £3.00.
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accounts to bring them on to the cash basis used elsewhere in 
the financial accounts (see page 28).

The presentation of financial transactions —'netness'
The presentation used in the financial accounts is 'net' in more 
than one respect. This represents a loss of information but 
does make for a simpler presentation.

Firstly, all transactions within a sector—for example 
between one bank and another, or one person and 
another—are, as far as possible, netted out and not included 
in the accounts. Only those transactions crossing sector 
boundaries are recorded. Obviously the greater the 
aggregation of sectors, the fewer transactions are recorded in 
the accounts.

Secondly, the level of aggregation in the classification of 
assets affects the 'netness' of the accounts. More information
is revealed if fifty asset categories are identified rather than
twenty.

Thirdly, for each type of asset identified in the accounts, the 
total shown for each quarter is the net flow—ie the overall 
effect of a large number of transactions in offsetting direc
tions. For example, in a particular quarter the figure in the 
accounts for deposits by the personal sector In building 
societies might be £500m. This net figure summarises a very 
large number of deposits and withdrawal transactions by 
many individual people. Typically it hides the fact that gross 
flows are very much larger—the £500m could well have been 
the outcome of £2,800m deposits less £2,500m withdrawals, 
plus £200m interest credited to accounts. It so happens, that 
for building societies' deposits (and loans) these gross figures 
are available (see Table 8.6) but this is the exception rather 
than the rule. Other examples are national savings instruments 
(Table 3.13), hire purchase loans (Table 8.5) and capital 
issues (Table 12.1). Figures of gross flows are rarely available 
analysed by sector and for most types of financial assets, 
because of the limitations of the recording and estimation 
methods, which are outlined below, gross figures are not 
available at all. Gross flow data in this sense are not 
particularly important In the case of assets which are charac
terised by large numbers of highly reversible transactions, 
such as for short-term financial assets in the money markets. 
Gross flow data are, however, useful when new borrowing 
and redemptions are determined by different sets of 
underlying forces, or in describing the behaviour of borrowers.

Fourthly, it must be recognised that the financial trans
actions are aggregated over a period, usually one quarter, and 
only the outcome of many individual transactions during that 
period is shown. Thus, for example, large purchases of a par
ticular kind of security by sector in the first month of a quarter, 
followed by sales of these securities in the third month is not 
recorded in a quarterly system of accounts.

The net acquisition o f financial assets (NAFA) balance is 
'net' to an even greater degree, as it represents the outcome 
of all transactions in assets net of transactions in all liabilities 
of the sector, as well as net in other senses mentioned above.
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The presentation of financial transactions  
uses of funds

sources and

The main accounts (Tables 1.2 to 1.8) are shown in a list of 
assets and liabilities without any attempt to distinguish 
between transactions in liabilities of the sector and trans
actions in financial assets of the sector. The accounts, 
however, are rearranged in this manner in Table 5.2 {public 
corporations). Table 8.1 (for other financial institutions). 
Table 9.2 (industrial and commercial companies) and Table 
10.2 (personal sector). These are described as 'sources and 
uses of funds' accounts, and the latter two are extended to 
include the complete capital account. In these tables 
transactions in liabilities (ie net borrowing) of the sector are 
regarded as sources of funds, and transactions in assets of the 
sector (ie net lending, including investments in liquid assets) 
are regarded as uses of funds.

The terms 'sources' and 'uses' in this presentation are not 
entirely unambiguous, as in some periods net financial trans
actions in some liabilities may be uses of funds rather than 
sources of funds, ie when repayments exceed new loans taken 
out, or redemptions exceed securities issued. Similarly, net 
transactions in some assets may be sources rather than uses 
of funds, for example, when the rundown is greater than the 
build-up of liquid assets. In the sources and uses of funds pre
sentation no attempt is made to allow for this, as the 
switching of assets and liabilities between the sources and 
uses side of the accounts is not a practical proposition in the 
accounts showing time series. But this aspect is illuminated in 
the standard accounts (Tables 1.2 to 1.8) by the sign 
attributed to the transactions, where an acquisition of an asset 
or a reduction of a liability is shown positive, and the sale of an 
asset or an increase in a liability is shown negative.

An ideal arrangement providing much useful information 
would be for sources of funds to include withdrawals of liquid 
assets as well as new or gross borrowing, and the uses of 
funds to include repayments of loans and redemptions as well 
as gross lending and investment in liquid assets. But as 
mentioned above, information on gross flows is not available 
for most types of assets.

The meaning of signs in the financial accounts
If an economic entity has a surplus of income over its current 
and capital expenditure, it is in a position to acquire financial 
assets, or reduce its borrowing, and if it is in deficit it must sell 
financial assets or increase its borrowing in order to finance its 
'excess' expenditure. Therefore in principle the balance on its 
current and capital accounts is matched by its total financial 
transactions, and in the national and financial accounting 
system the convention is to give like balances the same sign. 
Thus net financial surpluses (NAFA) are shown with positive 
sign, as are net purchases of assets and net reductions in 
liabilities. Conversely the net financial deficits and both net 
sales of assets and net increases in liabilities, are prefixed wth 
negative signs. The national and financial accounts of course 
cover all entities in the UK economy, and a sector may include
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entities which have a financial surplus at the same time as 
others have financial deficits.

Valuation

In the financial accounts, each transaction should be valued at 
the price at which the asset is exchanged. When an asset is 
sold, the value recorded should be the amount received from 
the sale, and when an asset is acquired, the value should be 
the amount paid by the purchaser. Transactions are thus 
recorded on a cash value basis. As each sale is matched by a 
purchase (including the sales and purchases of dealers and of 
non-residents) the total of the value of sales of an asset /ess 
the total of the value of purchases should be nil. However, for 
transactions in securities there is generally a difference 
between the amount reported as paid by the purchaser and 
the amount reported as received by the seller—the costs in 
making the transaction. An adjustment has been made to the 
figures for company and overseas securities but it follows 
that, where no adjustment is made and a sector's transactions 
are estimated as the residual, they will include as a sale any 
costs included in the figures of net purchases by the other 
sectors.

Capital gains and losses, whether or not realised, are not 
recorded in the financial transactions accounts. A person may 
sell a block of shares for £1,000 after having paid, say, £900 for 
them at an earlier date and so make a capital gain of £100. The 
financial accounts will record only the cash transactions—the 
purchase of stock for £900 by the person and the 
corresponding sale for the same amount by, say, a financial 
company at the first date, and the sale of stock for £ 1,000 by 
the person and the corresponding purchase for £ 1,000 at the 
second date. The capital gain of £100 will not be shown in the 
financial transactions account but will be reflected in
adjustments to the portfolio of the sectors concerned. Some 
gains and losses are included because in a few cases it is not 
possible to record all the transactions on a cash value basis 
and transactions are estimated as changes in the value of hold
ings. For short-term sterling assets there is no serious problem 
because their market price does not change, or moves only 
within narrow limits, so that information on cash transactions 
for these assets can be derived satisfactorily from changes in 
the value of holdings. But for securities and for foreign 
currency items at a time of floating exchange rates changes in 
the value of holdings between the beginning and end of a 
period will not necessarily be equal to the net acquisition of 
assets at cash values; in practice most of the figures for 
securities represent reported transactions while estimates are 
made of valuation changes in some foreign currency items.

Balance sheet data provide details of holdings of securities 
at either book value, nominal value or market value. In 
constructing national and sector balance sheets, holdings of 
securities will as far as possible be recorded at market values. 
Changes in the market values of holdings of securities, for 
example, would reflect any capital gains or losses made, both 
realised and unrealised. A measure of these gains and losses 
could therefore be obtained by netting off from changes in the 
market values of an asset between two points in time, the net 
acquisitions of the financial asset during the period on a cash 
transactions basis (see also page 9).
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Timing of transactions
A transaction in the national income and expenditure and 
capital accounts and associated financial transactions in the 
financial accounts should be recorded at the same point in 
time. This entails two problems, firstly to ensure that all the 
transactions in the financial accounts of each sector are 
recorded at the same point in time as the estimates of saving 
and investment given in the sector's capital account and 
secondly, to ensure that in the financial accounts the sale of 
an asset by a sector is recorded at the same point in time as its 
purchase by another sector. The shorter the period of account 
the more important is the problem of timing.

In practice, it is not possible to ensure that all transactions 
are recorded at the same point in time. In the national income 
and expenditure and capital accounts discrepancies in timing 
are reflected partly in the movements of the residua! error. The 
discrepancies would also be reflected in the estimates of 
saving and investment and of the net acquisition o f financial 
assets shown in each sector's capital account.

In the national income and expenditure accounts, trans
actions are in principle recorded when a change in ownership 
takes place (although there are sometimes good reasons for 
departing from this principle). To maintain consistency within 
a general system of national income accounts, the same 
principle should also be applied where relevant to the financial 
accounts.

Since recording on a 'change of ownership' basis does not 
imply that money flows actually take place at the same time, 
where possible special items are included in the financial 
accounts to reconcile the income and expenditure and capital 
accounts with the cash basis of recording money flows (eg 
bank deposits). These are the accruals adjustments (see page 
28) and changes in trade credit (but much of this is 
unidentified at present and is reflected in the unidentified 
items—see pages 28 and 29).

A particular type of timing problem in the financial accounts 
is how to deal with items in transit. For example, a retailing 
company A despatches goods to a person B, who then pays A 
by cheque. Given a perfect information system the payments 
may be recorded either;
(a) when B writes his cheque, or
(b) at the date when A presents the cheque to his bank, or
(c) on the 'settlement' date when the cheque is cleared 

through B's account.
If (a) were chosen as the basis of recording then the difficulty 
arises that A would not know that a cheque had been made 
out at the time it was written, and would regard his receipts 
from this particular sale as nil. Under choice (c) settlement 
date information could be obtained from B's bank statements 
but A would regard payment as having taken place some days 
earlier, and there is a similar objection to choice (b).

One solution to the timing problem is to take the most 
relevant date applicable to each sector and, where they differ, 
to add an extra entry —which would be presented alongside 
the sector columns in the financial accounts matrix (Table 
1.2) —in which such timing discrepancies are allocated. This 
solution is not adopted in the UK financial accounts, partly 
because it would further complicate presentation and inter

pretation, and also because there are few areas of the UK 
financial accounts where there are separate sources of 
information to record the same transaction.

The figures of bank deposits and lending, which are from 
statistics reported by the banks, are in principle included in the 
accounts at the time the credits and debits are presented and 
this necessitates an adjustment for items which have not been 
settled. The net excess of credits over debits is allocated 60 
per cent to industrial and commercial companies' deposits and 
40 per cent to their advances and loans as described more fully 
in the notes to Section 6.

Another difficulty is with transactions in company 
securities. Transactions could be recorded on several different 
bases—the contract date, the settlement date or when change 
of ownership is recorded on the company register. The first is 
preferred and to maintain consistency with the sector capital 
accounts the financial account includes amounts due from, or 
to, brokers on settlement day. These are regarded as short 
term assets; liabilities are included under Other identified 
home assets. Transactions in government securities are little 
affected by timing difficulties in this respect as settlement day 
usually follows contract day.

Timeliness
Figures for the central government's financial transactions are 
available very quickly, and those for the banking sector at 
about a month after the quarter-end. Information from the 
balance of payments accounts becomes available during the 
second month, also returns from local authorities. Many of the 
results from 'other financial institutions' do not become 
available until the third month or fourth month. Only when 
returns are complete can the financial accounts for the quarter 
be put together, and, in particular, can full accounts for the 
personal sector and the industrial and commercial company 
sector be derived. Thus full financial accounts for the quarter 
appear four months in arrears, although certain information is 
issued by press notice some days before.

A general outline of
and methods for the
financial accounts
Details of sources and methods of the estimates of sector 
transactions in each kind of asset identified in the financial 
accounts are given separately on pages 17 to 29. However, it is 
useful first to consider these details against a background of 
general principles, by beginning with an entirely theoretical 
ideal system of data collection and then explaining how for 
practical reasons it is necessary to depart from this ideal in a 
number of ways, all of which reduce the comprehensiveness 
and accuracy of the accounts.
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An ideal system of data collection —involving scarcely any 
estimation and assuming no cost constraints—could be 
envisaged as follows;
Mandatory, quarterly or more frequent reporting by every 
economic unit (including every individual) of details of every 
financial transaction in a period, naming the other party to the 
transaction in each case. All reports of these transactions 
would be made to a single central authority, which maintains a 
continually up-dated register or list of all economic units, each 
classified to a sector. Given the full co-operation of 
respondents the compilation of statistics would thus be almost 
entirely a gigantic arithmetical operation. Because financial 
accounts are a subsystem within the national accounts, it is 
likely that such a system would operate as part of a compre
hensive system of data collection of details of current account 
and capital investment transactions (including balance of 
payments statistics), thus pushing the onus on establishing 
full articulation between various parts of the accounts down to 
the level of the reporting unit.

In practice such a system is unnecessary because it would 
provide statistics of excessive precision for the purposes of 
macro-economic analysis; and anyway the reporting burden 
and administrative costs would make it completely impractical 
to operate. Nevertheless such a system provides a useful 
conceptual starting point to discuss problems that arise when 
any departures are made from this ideal system, all of which 
are at risk to increase the size of the balancing item or 
unidentified in the accounts. A brief list of these departures is 
given below, together with problems that are likely to arise in 
each case.

No two-way check
The ideal system outlined above involves reporting by each 
party to the transaction, thus providing a two-way check in 
each case, and providing an opportunity to resolve 
discrepancies with the economic unit concerned. If for a 
sector there is no direct reporting then one is dependent on 
reporting by counterpart sectors only and this check cannot 
operate.

Sampling

Sampling will introduce bias if it is not possible to select and 
operate a representative sample, and sampling error will also 
be present to some degree. Any departure from 100 per cent 
coverage will lessen the opportunity to employ a two-way 
check on the individual transactions.

Non-coincident periods
Error arises when economic units report in respect of periods 
which are not exactly coincident with the calendar quarters 
used in the national accounts.

Floats

Timing errors occur when the two parties to a financial trans
action respectively do not regard their involvement in the 
transaction to be on the same day. This arises, for example, 
because there is often a delay between the initiation and 
completion of transactions through the banking system. Thus

at the end of the period there is a 'float' or 'items in transit'. 
These can usually be allocated by sector and between 
different types of transactions only in an arbitrary way (see 
'Timing of transactions', above).

Inconsistent sector classification
If reporting units classify other parties to financial transactions 
to sectors then there are strong possibilities of error; 
moreover, the information is then returned in aggregated form 
and the opportunity for checking individual transactions is 
reduced.

Non-coverage of some financial transactions
This can happen in the case of direct reporting when 
respondents are unable or unwilling to give details of certain 
financial transactions. More seriously, when there is no direct 
reporting from two or more sectors, there is no means of 
knowing about transactions between these sectors; this is 
most acute in respect of the personal and industrial and 
commercial company sectors.

Sources and methods in practice
In setting up a system of financial accounts the first source of 
data for an official statistician Is naturally the central 
government itself, which can provide information on both its 
own transactions and the sectors it deals with. Generally, 
information from central government records is of high 
quality, although not ideally suited necessarily for use in the 
national accounts and financial accounts. Information for the 
rest of the public sector is much slower and much less 
complete; indeed in the case of public corporations this is not 
standardised and not readily usable in the financial accounts. 
Much use is made of counterpart sources while special sur
veys and other arrangements have also to be made.

Another very important source is the balance of payments 
statistics, which, with a certain amount of rearrangement, are 
used in the financial accounts. For those transactions which 
take place entirely between the private domestic sectors, 
undoubtedly the most cost-effective way of capturing them is 
to send forms to the banks and other financial institutions, 
through which so many of the financial flows are channelled. 
These returns are the foundation on which the financial 
accounts are based; they are sent by other government 
departments and the Bank of England. On these forms the 
financial institutions provide analyses of the sector sources of 
the funds they borrow and receive, the sector recipient of the 
funds they lend and their holdings of different types of market
able securities. But these methods do not of course capture 
the transactions that by-pass the financial system, that is 
those between the personal sector and industrial and com
mercial company sector, and the transactions in marketable 
securities by those sectors. These have to be indirectly esti
mated or left unrecorded. This is because, with the exception 
of some minor enquiries to industrial and commercial 
companies, there are no direct statistical enquiries to those 
sectors that produce results that are comprehensive and 
usable in the financial accounts. For a number of reasons pub
lished accounts cannot be used as a source. For the personal
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sector experience suggests that direct enquiries on financial 
flows will never be fruitful in the context of the financial 
accounts and estimates for financial transactions will always 
be made by indirect means. The following is a sector-by-sector 
outline description of statistical sources; there are more 
detailed descriptions in the notes to Sections 2 to 6 and 8 to

11.

Central government
Details of financial transactions of central government are 
based on quarterly departmental returns and details of 
borrowing from the accounts of the Treasury. These returns 
are generally supplementary to various detailed published 
accounts such as the Consolidated Fund, National Loans 
Fund, Estimates, appropriation accounts. Northern Ireland 
government accounts, national insurance funds. Exchange 
Equalisation Account and a host of other mostly minor 
accounts. These accounts are prepared annually and relate to 
years ending 31 March. They form the basic sources for infor
mation on central government transactions but few of the 
figures used in the national accounts are readily identifiable in 
these sources. The national income accounts present the 
results of a fairly elaborate process first of consolidation, so as 
to eliminate many types of internal transactions and then of 
rearrangement. But most of the calendar year figures and 
quarterly figures are derived from the special quarterly returns 
mentioned above although in some cases interpolation of 
financial year figures have to be used. For the latest year or 
quarters some figures shown are based on provisional esti
mates and may be revised later.

Local authorities
The best source of information for local authorities is the 
statutory annual returns for fiscal years which are summarised 
for England and Wales in Local Government Financial 
Statistics (there are similar publications for Scotland and 
Northern Ireland). These have two drawbacks however; first, 
they do not provide calendar year or quarterly data and 
secondly they are returned well in arrears. To make estimates 
for quarters and the most recent periods, special quarterly 
returns have been established, of which those most relevant 
to the financial accounts are returns for loans for house 
purchase and quarterly returns (now monthly on a sample 
basis) of borrowing. Figures for direct transactions with 
central government, for example loans from central govern
ment, are taken from the central government account. Two 
forms of local authority short-term investments in liquid assets 
are regularly recorded; loans to other local authorities (which 
are netted out in the local authority accounts) and changes in 
bank deposits, which are obtained from figures supplied in 
returns from the banks (see below).

Public corporations
A certain amount of information is available from published 
accounts but these do not provide data for quarters or the 
latest periods, so that for the more important types of trans
actions quarterly returns have been established, covering, as 
far as financial transactions are concerned, changes in trade 
credit (net) and cash expenditure on company securities.

Other information in the public corporation account comes 
from counterpart sources eg central government loans from 
central government accounts and bank advances and changes 
in bank deposits from information supplied in returns by 
banks. Statistics of borrowing under the Exchange Cover 
Scheme are derived from administrative records maintained 
for the scheme (in the Treasury). Quarterly and monthly 
returns from the larger public corporations have now begun 
on an experimental basis and are providing some data for the 
financial accounts. In time it is hoped that they will be 
extended to the other public corporations.

Banking sector
Statistics of assets and liabilities of the banking sector are 
compiled by the Bank of England from returns made by the 
individual banks and discount houses, which are included in 
this sector. The returns provide details of assets and liabilities 
at the end of banking months and calendar quarters, including 
analyses of deposits and of advances and loans; the returns 
are also used to compile figures of money stock M, and M3. 
Comprehensive returns began in the second quarter of 1963. 
An extensive reform of banking statistics was implemented in 
1975. For further information see the article entitled 'New 
banking statistics'. Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin, June 
1975.

Other financial institutions
Figures of transactions in financial assets and liabilities by 
other financial institutions are compiled from quarterly returns 
made by them to various government departments and the 
Bank of England, as listed below.

Group o f financial institutions Association or department 
responsible for inquiry

Trustee savings banks 
Central Trustee Savings Bank

National Savings Bank 
(Investment Account) 

Finance houses 
Building societies

National Debt Office 

Bank of England and Central 
Statistical Office 

National Debt Office

Property unit trusts 

Unit trusts 
Investment trusts 
Insurance companies

Department o f Industry 

Building Societies' Association, 
Central Statistical Office and 
Registry of Friendly Societies 

Bank of England 
Bank o f England 

Bank of England 
British Insurance Association, 
Association of Collecting Friendly 

Societies and 
Department of Industry

Superannuation funds 
i. Public sector 

ii. Private sector 
Special finance agencies

Central Statistical Office 
Department of Industry 
Bank of England

A detailed description of these enquiries and their future 
development is given in an article 'Development of inquiries to 
Financial Institutions', Statistical News, August 1976.
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Industrial and commercial companies
Estimating methods for financial transactions are very similar 
to those for the personal sector {see below), although direct 
returns on some overseas financial transactions received for 
the balance of payments accounts are also used in the 
financial accounts. A start has been made in direct reporting 
by industrial and commercial companies with the Department 
of Industry survey of company liquidity (see Table 9.5), but 
this is restricted to a selection of large companies and the 
results cannot be used for the financial accounts except in 
very limited ways. An alternative direct source is the published 
company accounts. These are analysed and aggregated by the 
Department of Industry and the results published in a 
supplementary table but not at present on a representative 
basis. There are other objections to using this source for the 
financial accounts, for example the mixture of accounting 
years, the inclusion of overseas activities and the lack of detail 
on transactions in financial assets. Long term plans are in 
hand to develop both these sources towards providing data 
for the financial accounts; meanwhile they provide useful 
information in their own right. For further information, see 
article entitled 'Statistics on industrial and commercial 
companies', Statist/ca/ News, May 1977 and two articles on 
the analysis of published accounts in Stat/st/caf News, 
February 1979.

Personal sector

No direct returns are received from the persona! sector and 
estimates of its financial transactions are generally based 
either on information provided by other sectors or on 
information about a particular financial asset. Details of how 
the estimates are made are given later in this section, which 
describes how estimates are made for each asset. Further, 
there is no prospect of introducing direct sources of 
information on financial transactions by the personal sector as 
a whole. Sample surveys of households asking about their 
transactions are costly and are not very reliable; one difficulty 
is the need to include a relatively large number of households 
in the higher income groups, where response to a voluntary 
survey is usually particularly low. Figures are obtained on 
assets and liabilities held by persons from the administration of 
capital transfer tax and capital gains tax by Inland Revenue, 
but for various reasons they are not suitable for estimating 
transactions over a period, even year to year. Private non- 
profit-making bodies serving persons (eg charities), which 
constitute only a small part of the personal sector, have been 
the subject of a survey and direct information in the form of 
their annual accounts has been collected in respect of one 
year. The results of this study were described in articles in the 
May 1975 and June 1975 issues of Economic Trends.

Overseas sector

Except for the figures obtained especially from financial insti
tutions, the items appearing in the financial transactions 
account for the overseas sector are taken from the balance of 
payments accounts described in Section 11, and set out in 
detail in the annual 'Pink Book' United Kingdom Balance o f 
Payments. A reconciliation between the financial accounts

and the balance of payments accounts for 1978 is given as 
Supplem entary Table B in the November 1979 issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Table 1.1
Net acquisition of financial assets: 
summary analysis by sector
This table brings together the sector capital accounts in sum
mary form. For each sector the balance on the current or 
appropriation account (termed saving in this table) and net 
capital transfers are treated as receipts, against which capital 
expenditure on physical assets is set off to arrive at the 
balance on capital account, net acquisition o f financial assets 
(NAFA). In principle NAFAs of those sectors with financial 
deficits are set against those of sectors with financial sur
pluses, so that the sums of the NAFAs should be nil. For the 
overseas sector, a financial surplus is the counterpart of the 
deficit on current account in the UK balance of payments 
(plus, from the first quarter of 1973, capital transfer payments) 
and equals net overseas investment in the UK.

NAFAs are not necessarily the best indicators of changes in 
a sector's financial position. Alternative indicators are shown 
elsewhere—for example the borrowing requirements in 
Sections 2, 3, 4, 5 and 9 and officia l financing in Section 11.

In theory the sum of factor incomes should be the same as 
the sum of expenditures on goods and services since they 
both provide estimates of gross domestic product. However 
there are discrepancies between the various sources on which 
the estimates are based; the net estimation error is described 
as the residua! error. These estimation errors are also reflected 
in sector NAFAs so that they do not sum to zero, unless the 
residual error from the national accounts is included in the 
summations (see also description of unidentified items on 
pages 28 and 29).

The source and methods of estimating the sector capital 
accounts are described under the notes for the respective 
sectors in Sections 3, 4, 5, 9, 10 and 11.

A time series of the main sector NAFAs is plotted on page 
30 and a diagram depicting the NAFAs as net flows for the 
year 1978 is shown opposite. Both relate to estimates as pub
lished in the January 1980 issue of Financial Statistics.

Table 1.2
Transactions in financial assets
This table presents financial transactions analysed by type of 
financial asset and by institutional sector for the latest quarter 
for which all estimates are available. The sum of each sector's 
transactions over all financial assets Is shown in the line 'total 
identified financial assets' and the arithmetical difference 
between it and the sector's NAFA is described as 'unidentified 
items'. The nature of the unidentified items is discussed 
separately on pages 28 and 29.
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The list of assets running In rows dov\/n the page is ordered 
broadly from the most liquid (notes and coin) at the top of the 
page to the more illiquid assets further down the list. As the 
financial assets are classified in a uniform way, it is possible to 
relate the acquisition of a particular financial asset by one 
sector to the associated changes in the assets and liabilities of 
each of the other sectors. The analysis is by the six sectors 
used in the financial accounts time series Tables 1.3 to 1.8.

Tables 1.3 to 1.8
Sector financial accounts
In these tables the time series of the financial transactions for 
each of the six sectors identified in the matrix (Table 1.2) are 
grouped together by sector. The tables are intended to pro
vide a summary of each sector's financial activities over a 
period of time. The asset categories are broadly comparable 
from one table to another although more detail is shown for 
individual financial instruments where the transactions are 
particularly important to the sector. The relationship between 
categories is illustrated in the diagram overleaf and a detailed 
description of definitions, sources and methods together with 
an assessment of reliability of the estimates is given in the 
remaining pages of this section.

Scope of headings:
Tables 1.2 to 1.8
Some references to the reliability of estimates are included in 
the notes to individual asset categories but an overall guide to 
reliability is shown on page 22.

Notes and coin
Because the Issue Department of the Bank of England acts as 
an agent for central government, the issue of Bank of England 
notes and coin is a source of finance for the central 
government. The figures for the public sector relate to the 
increase in the fiduciary note issue p/us the increase in coin 
issued /ess the increase in holdings of notes and coin held by 
the Bank of England Banking Department. The latter is 
included in the item Net government indebtedness to t/ie Banf< 
o f England Banl<ing Department, described on page 23.

The figures for the banking sector relate to changes in their 
holdings of notes and coin /ess changes in notes issued by the 
Scottish and Northern Ireland banks. The former are an asset 
of the banking sector, the latter a liability.

Changes in holdings of notes and coin by other sectors are, 
for lack of information, arbitrarily divided equally between 
industrial and commercial companies and the personal sector, 
apart from a special adjustment made to allow for the fact that 
the amount of notes and coin held by companies varies with 
the day of the week.

Changes in the total circulation have a reliability grading of 
A but the public sector figures because of a lack of data

19

include nothing for transactions by local authorities and, so 
far, for public corporations. Net transactions by other financial 
institutions and the overseas sector are assumed to be zero.

The estimates for transactions by sectors in notes and coin 
are made by the Bank of England.

M arket Treasury bills
They comprise Treasury bills other than those held by the 
National Debt Commissioners, the Exchange Equalisation 
Account, central government departments and the Bank of 
England. The counterpart of most transactions between 
central banks in support of the reserves in the form of swaps 
against sterling is included in Other identified overseas assets. 
Bills held by the Bank of England as the sterling counterpart of 
foreign currency deposits arising from central bank assistance 
are excluded, but in the foreign currency deposits are included 
in Other identified overseas assets.

Net sales by the public sector are equal to the increase in 
market Treasury bills outstanding /ess identified purchases by 
public corporations. Information is available about changes in 
the holdings of market Treasury bills by the banking sector, by 
other financial institutions and by non-residents. The figures 
for the overseas sector exclude the sterling counterpart of 
inter-central bank swap transactions as shown in Table 3.11 
and up to 1962 relate to overseas official holdings only. As 
holdings by the personal sector are believed to be relatively 
small, all the residual difference between identified sales and 
purchases is attributed to industrial and commercial 
companies.

The reliability grading of total net official sales is A  but 
because of inadequate coverage of transactions by the rest of 
the public sector the total public sector is graded B. Other 
financial institutions are graded C only because of suspected 
unrepresentative coverage of private sector pension funds.

British governm ent securities
These comprise British government and sterling government 
guaranteed marketable securities of nationalised industries. 
Public sector sales are equal to total cash issues /ess 
redemptions, (including the purchases by government sinking 
funds) /ess net purchases by the Bank of England Issue 
Department and the National Debt Commissioners, and less 
identified purchases by public corporations and local 
authorities. A detailed analysis of public sector transactions is 
included in Table 3.9.

The figures for the banking sector and for other financial 
institutions relate to cash transactions and are derived from 
the quarterly returns made by each of the various groups of 
institutions. Changes in the levels of holdings from 1970 
onwards as reported by large companies in the Department of 
Industry's survey of company liquidity (see Table 9.5) have 
been allocated to industrial and commercial companies. The 
figures for the overseas sector relate to transactions recorded 
in the balance of payments statistics of external claims plus 
other identified portfolio investment in British government 
securities. Up to 1959 the figures relate to transactions by

continued on Page 23
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Relationship between categories in the financial

M atrix table Sector tables

1.2
Public
1.3

Banking
1.4

Other 
Financial 
Institutions 
1.5, 8.1

Industrial and 
commercial 
companies 
1.6, 9.2

Notes and c o in .........................................................................
Market treasury b ills ................................................................
British government securities .............................................
National savings:

Deposits..................................................................................
Certificates and b o n d s .......................................................

Tax in s tru m ents ......................................................................
Net government indebtedness to Bank of England

Banking D e p a rtm e n t.........................................................
Northern Ireland central government d e b t .....................
Local authority debt:

Tem porary—b il ls ................................................................
—o th e r ..............................................................

Longer te rm —listed secu rities .......................................
— negotiable bonds.....................................
— other lo n g -te rm .......................................

Deposits w ith banks by:
Public s e c to r .........................................................................
Other financial institutions ..............................................
Industrial and commercial co m p an ies .........................
P e rso n s ..................................................................................
O verseas ................................................................................

Deposits w ith savings banks................................................
Deposits w ith  building societies.........................................
Deposits w ith finance houses..............................................
Deposits w ith financial Institutions, o th e r .......................

Bank tending:
Advances and loans:
• Local authorities..............................................................

Public corporations .......................................................
Other financial in s titu tio n s .........................................
Industrial and commercial co m p an ies .....................
P e rso n s .............................................................................
O verseas ...........................................................................

Commercial b ills ..................................................................
Market lo a n s .........................................................................

Credit extended by retailers..................................................
Identified trade c re d it.............................................................
Loans for house purchase....................................................
Other loans by public sector to the private sector . . . .  
Loans by superannuation funds to  parent

organisation .........................................................................
Other loans and mortgages by financial 

institutions (excluding banks).........................................

Unit trust u n its .........................................................................
Company and overseas securities:

UK capital issues..................................................................
Capital issues o v e rs e a s ....................................................
O th e r ......................................................................................

Life assurance and superannuation fu n d s .......................
Other identified home assets................................................
Foreign currency borrowing by H M  G o v e rn m e n t___

Allocation of Special Drawing R ig h ts ..............................
Official reserves ......................................................................
Inter-government loans (net) .............................................
Transactions w ith IM F, e tc ...................................................
Refinanced export and shipbuilding c re d its ..................
Intra-company investments:

overseas by UK com panies.............................................
in UK by overseas com panies.........................................

Other identified overseas assets .........................................

Accruals adjustment .............................................................

Total identified financial assets...........................................

Unidentified items .................................................................

Net acquisition o f financial a s s e ts ___
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•9l accounts and certain other sector tables

The diagram opposite is intended to clarify the relationships 
between asset categories used in the financial accounts and 
certain closely associated tables, for users who wish to use 
two or more tables in combination. It illustrates the position in 
the April 1980 issue of Financial Statistics.

In principle the list of headings for financial instruments in 
this group of tables should be standard, following those listed 
in the financial accounts matrix for the latest quarter (Table 
1.2). However, to make economical use of space it is 
necessary to depart from this ideal.

If a sector does not transact in a particular financial 
instrument (eg the public sector does not deal in unit trust

units) no provision is made for the item in the sector table. 
Also no provision is made where transactions in a particular 
instrument are not recorded because of estimation difficulties 
(eg transactions in notes and coin by other financial 
institutions).

Where a certain type of financial transaction is especially 
important the sector table provides further detail (eg the 
analysis of bank deposits by counterpart sector in the banking 
sector Table 1.4). Sometimes the less important items are 
rolled together so as to provide more room for the more 
significant series.

f

g
h

Notes to diagram opposite
a Included under Liquid assets w ith  bank deposits in T a b le s  9.2. 
b Included in Other liquid assets in T a b le  8.1 plus intra-sector deposits, 
c Part o f Other liquid assets In T a b le  9.2.
d Northern Ireland centra! governm ent debt Is included w ith  British 

governm ent securities In T a b le s  8.1 and 10.2. 
e Transactions in Northern Ireland central governm ent debt is included under 

Other identified hom e assets In T a b le  1 .6 and in O ther identified  assets in 
T a b le  9.2.
Local authority debt includes borrowing from  banks.
Local authority debt includes borrowing from  their pension funds.
Deposits w ith  banks by the public sector are included under Deposits w ith  
financial institutions.
Foreign currency borrowing by H M  G overnm ent is split betw een Other 
public sector assets/liabilities  and Deposits w ith  banking sector in the  
overseas sector table.
Deposits w ith  other financial institutions  in T a b le  1.6.
Included in Other deposits in T a b le  8.1 including intra-sector deposits. 
Deposits w ith  other financial institutions  in T a b le  10.2.
Investment by insurance companies and pension funds are included in Other 
financial assets: U K  in T a b le  8.1.
Bank lending to public corporations  includes commercial bills and market 
loans.
Advances and loans  to  OFIs includes m arket loans.
Bank advances in the personal sector table includes commercial bills.
Bank lending for house purchase  is separately identified in the m atrix and the 
personal sector table.
Advances and loans  to  the overseas sector in the banking sector table 
includes overseas bills and m arket loans.
Identified trade credit is split in T a b le  9 .2  between Im port and  other credit 
received  in the sources o f funds side o f the account and Export and  other 
credit given  in the uses o f funds account.
Included in Loans and m ortgages: other in T a b le  8.1 other than loans by 
finance houses.
Other loans and m ortgages by financial institutions  in the industrial and 
commercial companies’ table include loans for house purchase from  building 
societies.

V Described as Official loans  in the other financial institutions table, 
w  Public sector loans in the industrial and com mercial companies' table 

includes refinanced shipbuilding credits and transactions in commercial bills 
by the Issue Departm ent of the Bank o f England.

X Included in Other loans and m ortgages  in T a b le  9 .2  other than loans 
received by companies.

m

n

o
P
q

aa
bb
cc
dd
ee

ff

gg
hh

• «

II

JJ

kk

Other loans and  m ortgages  in T a b le  1 .7 includes loans by other financial 
institutions (excluding banks) and by the public sector and in T a b le  10.2 it is 
included w ith  Other loans and  m ortgages  plus certain other identified home 
liabilities.
Com pany securities etc  In T a b le  10.2 includes U nit trust units and Other 
identified hom e assets.
Capital issues in ordinary shares are separately identified in T a b le  9.2. 
Investments in overseas securities are shown in T a b le  9.2.
Transactions concerning certain public sector pension schemes.
Included in Accruals and Other adjustm ents  the banking sector T a b le  1.4. 
This item  Is split in T a b le  8.1 between Property unit trust units and L A M IT , 
Other liabilities: U K  and Other financial assets: UK.
Included in O ther liabilities: overseas in T a b le  8.1 together w ith  Other 
identified overseas liabilities.
Figures in T a b le  9 .2  exclude unremitted profits.
Included in Other financial assets: overseas in T a b le  8.1 together w ith  other 
identified overseas assets.
This item is split between Other public sector assets/liabilities  and Other 
private sector assets in the overseas sector table.
For a reconciliation between asset categories used In T a b le  1 .8 and those in 
balance o f payments presentations (eg T ab les  11.1. 11.2 and 11.3) see 
S u p p le m e n ta ry  ta b le  in the Novem ber 1979 issue of Financial Statistics. 
Included w ith  other identified Overseas assets in T a b le  1 .5 and Other 
financial assets overseas in  T a b le  8.1
Included with Other public sector assets/liabilities  inTab le  1.8
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Reliability gradings in the financial accounts

Notes and c o in .........................................................................  ~
Market treasury b ills ................................................................  °
British government securities..............................................  °
National savings:

Deppsits..................................................................................  ^
Certificates and b o n d s .......................................................  ^

Tax in s tru m ents ....................................................................... ^
Net government indebtedness to Bank o f England

Banking D e p a rtm e n t.........................................................  A
Northern Ireland central government d e b t ..................... A
Local authority debt:

Tem porary— b il ls ................................................................  ^
— o th e r .............................................................. B

Longer te rm -lis te d  secu rities .......................................  B
— negotiable bonds..................................... B
— other lo n g -te rm .......................................  B

Deposits with banks................................................................  C
Deposits w ith savings b an ks ................................................  B
Deposits w ith building societies.........................................
Deposits w ith finance houses..............................................
Deposits w ith financial institutions, o th e r .......................  B

Bank lending (except to general government)
Advances and lo an s ............................................................ C
Commercial b ills ..................................................................  C
Market lo a n s .........................................................................  B

Credit extended by retailers..................................................  B
Identified trade c re d it.............................................................. B
Loans for house purchase..................................................... B
Other loans by public sector to the private sector . . . .  B 
Loans by superannuation funds to  parent

organisation .........................................................................  B
Other loans and mortgages by financial 

institutions (excluding banks).........................................

Unit trust u n its .........................................................................
Company and overseas securities:

UK capital issues..................................................................
Capital issues overseas .....................................................
O th e r ....................................................................................... 8

Life assurance and superannuation fu n d s .......................  A
Other identified home assets................................................  B
Foreign currency borrowing by H M  Government -------  A

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights ..............................  A
Official reserves ....................................................................... A
Inter-government loans (net) .............................................. A
Transactions w ith  IM F, e tc .................................................... A
Refinanced export and shipbuilding c re d its .................... A
Intra-company investments:

overseas by UK com panies..............................................
in UK by overseas com panies.........................................

Other identified overseas assets .........................................  C

Accruals adjustment .............................................................  D

Total identified financial assets...........................................  C

Net acquisition of financial assets ..................................... C

B

D

D

B

D

K
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Other and

Public Banking financial commercial Personal Overseas
sector sector institutions companies sector sector

D D
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The table is intended to give a rough asse&ment of reliability of estimates 
for transactions in the various asset categories by each sector.

Four gradings have been used but, unlike those used in National 
Accounts Statistics: Sources and M ethods  (H M S O ) 1968 (see page 39), 
there is no attem pt to quantify margins of error. The gradings primarily 
describe the nature of the estimation process, although progressively 
greater margins of error are implied. The gradings are:
A  Accounting-type figures, relating to individual institutions mainly In 

central government.
B Reliable figures, obtained by aggregating statistical returns (and thus 

prone to coverage or reporting errors).
C Less reliable, but fairly good figures, based on returns but w ith some 

degree of estimation, eg sampling.

D Figures involving a substantial am ount of estimation, or where the 
coverage is known to be significantly incomplete.

The table refers to  the reliability of quarterly figures, which are generally 
less reliable than the annual figures; generally later periods are subject to 
greater revisions than earlier periods. The notes to Tab les  1.3 to 1.8 
contain some further guidance on certain items, especially where the 
grading is particularly debatable. It should be noted that while tw o  
sectors may each report a transaction between them accurately, the 
timing may differ and figures for other sectors estimated by the residual 
method may be affected.
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overseas official holders only. An adjustment is made to 
convert the figures of external liabilities from a nominal to a 
cash transactions basis. The residual difference between 
identified purchases and sales is arbitrarily attributed to the 
personal sector.

The reliability grading of net official sales is A but the public 
sector is graded B because of poor estimates for local 
authorities and public corporations. Other financial institutions 
are graded C only because of suspected unrepresentative 
coverage of private sector pension funds.

National savings
This is defined in the same way as in Table 3.8 and comprises 
the following items:
(a) Deposits. Increases in outstanding deposits, including 

estimated accrued interest, with the ordinary departments 
of the National Savings Bank and, up to 3rd quarter 1979, 
of Trustee savings banks. Note that the deposits with the 
Investment account of the National Savings Bank, up to 
3rd quarter 1979 the New department of the Trustee 
savings banks and from 4th quarter 1979 the whole of the 
Trustee savings banks are included under Deposits w ith  
savings banks.

(b) Certificates and bonds. Net receipts from sales of 
premium savings bonds, defence bonds, national develop
ment bonds and national savings certificates plus  the 
increase in accrued interest on national savings 
certificates. Net receipts from sales of Ulster savings 
certificates and development bonds are not included.

National savings are treated as financial claims by the 
personal sector on the public sector.

More detailed National savings figures are shown as 
columns 2 to 14 of Tables 3.13 and 3.14.

Tax instruments
An analysis of issues and surrenders of personal and company 
tax instruments is shown in Table 3.12.

Transactions not identified by sector are entered under 
industrial and commercial companies.

For further information see the notes to Table 3.12.

Net government indebtedness to Bank of England Bank
ing Departm ent
All transactions between the central government and the Bank 
of England Banking Department, which is included in the 
banking sector, are recorded under this heading. The item 
comprises the sum of the increases in the following assets of 
the Banking Department: ways and means advances, holdings 
of notes and coin, tax instruments, British government and 
government guaranteed securities. Treasury bills and Treasury 
interest-free notes; less increases in its deposit liabilities to the 
National Loans Fund (before 1 April 1968) and Paymaster 
General.

Changes in this item largely reflect movements in the net 
claims of the rest of the banking sector on the Banking
D e p a r tm e n t.

Northern Ireland central government debt
This item consists of net sales of Northern Ireland government 
securities, Northern Ireland treasury bills, Ulster savings 
certificates and Ulster development bonds, together with the 
increase in bank and savings bank advances to the Northern 
Ireland central government. Debt other than that identified as 
taken up by financial institutions is allocated to industrial and 
commercial companies (Treasury bills) or the personal sector.

Local authority debt

The figures for the public sector relate to all borrowing by local 
authorities from outside the public sector.

From 1961, the figures are based on returns made quarterly 
by local authorities in the United Kingdom, of borrowing from 
all sources (see notes to Tables 4.4—4.6). Local authority 
debt is divided between:
(a) temporary borrowing, which covers money borrowed for 

less than 12 months, including borrowing on bills and 
bank overdrafts.

(b) listed securities, which are stocks and bonds securities 
listed on The Stock Exchange.

(c) other long term borrowing, which includes loans by local 
authority superannuation funds to the parent authority.

Borrowing by local authorities from within the public sector 
comprises borrowing from central government—mainly loans 
by the Public Works Loan Board —as recorded in the central 
government capital account, the take up of local authority 
debt by the Issue Department of the Bank of England and, 
from the second quarter of 1975 by the National Insurance 
Fund, as well as borrowing from public corporations, as 
identified on the returns made by local authorities.

Local authority debt acquired by the banking sector 
comprises advances and loans plus, from 1963, the sector's 
acquisition of local authority bills and of listed and unlisted 
securities. The figures are based on returns provided by the 
banking sector. In the matrix (Table 1.2) the figure for 
temporary debt is obtained from the local authorities return for 
other temporary borrowing plus local authority bills identifed 
in the banking sector accounts. Other longer-term debt is a 
residual.

Statistics of lending by other financial institutions are taken 
from their returns and include loans by local authorities' super
annuation funds. Figures of borrowing from industrial and 
commercial companies are those identified by local authorities
on their returns.

Local authority debt acquired by the overseas sector covers 
identified transactions, which are classified in the balance of 
payments account as overseas investment in the UK public 
sector, exchange reserves in sterling, and other external 
banking and money market liabilities in sterling under 
investment and other capita! transactions, and also in foreign 
currency borrowing by the public sector under the exchange 
cover scheme under official financing.
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The residual between total net borrowing as reported on the 
local authorities returns and identified borrowing by other 
sectors is allocated to the personal sector. A separate 
temporary borrowing figure is found by obtaining a figure for 
the banking sector as described above for the matrix and 
letting the residual fall to the personal sector. Similarly a figure 
for longer term debt is separately calculated. The figures 
should be regarded with some caution. For instance, local 
authorities may enter borrowing from companies under banks 
when these are investments of funds on behalf of corporate 
clients, but banking sector loans to local authorities are taken 
from the banking returns, and such loans from companies 
would in fact therefore be attributed by residual to the
personal sector in the financial accounts figures. The sector 
allocation of local authority borrowing is displayed in Table
4.3.

For the years before 1961, direct information from local 
authorities was not available and the total increase in local 
authority borrowing from outside the public sector must be 
taken to be equal to the residual item in the local authority 
capital account less identified debt redemption by public cor
porations. Before 1963, only official transactions are recorded 
in the case of the overseas sector and only advances and loans 
in the case of the banking sector; figures for other financial 
institutions' transactions during the period 1952-1962 were 
compiled by Professor J C Dawson of Grinnell College, Iowa, 
United States. Figures for loans from industrial and com
mercial companies are not available before 1961. The division 
of the residual before 1961 between persons and companies is 
roughly estimated and will include unidentified overseas non
official holdings.

Deposits w ith banking sector
These are current and deposit accounts held with institutions
classified to the banking sector. These accounts include:
(a) deposits with the Bank of England Banking Department, 

other than bankers' deposits (intra-sector deposits) and 
the balances of the National Loans Fund and Paymaster 
General (included In Net government indebtedness to the 
Bank o f England Banking Department).

(b) funds borrowed by the discount market from outside the 
banking sector.

(c) the banking sector's net liabilities to offices abroad and 
deposits and advances from banks abroad.

(d) certificates of deposit.
They exclude banks' own internal funds and all transactions

between institutions classified to the banking sector. The
increase in the banking sector's liability to other sectors is
equal to the increase in other sectors' deposits with the
banking sector less 60 per cent of the increase in debit items
less credit items in transit (see notes to Section 6). The
adjustment for items in transit has been assigned to industrial
and commercial companies as it is believed that most of the
changes in the figures arise from transactions between these 
companies.

From 1963 a full analysis by sector is obtained from returns 
provided by institutions classified to the banking sector and is 
compiled by the Bank of England.

Changes in negotiable foreign currency certificates of 
deposit which have not been identified from returns by banks, 
other financial institutions and large industrial and commercial 
companies (see Table 9.5) are attributed to overseas residents
and unidentified changes in negotiable sterling certificates to 
industrial and commercial companies.

The reliability grading would have been B but because of a 
somewhat arbitrary allocations of items in transit, differences 
between banks' reported lending and borrowing to each other 
(the 'inter-banks reporting difference') and also problems with 
the sector allocation of certificates of deposits, a lower 
grading is justified. Estimates for industrial and commercial 
companies and overseas have a tendency towards grade D 
because of the latter problems.

Further analyses of bank deposits are shown in Section 6, 
particularly in Tables 6.1 and 6.2.

Deposits w ith savings banks
These cover increases in deposits, including estimated 
accrued interest, with the Investment account of the National 
Savings Bank, up to 3rd quarter 1979 the New department of 
the Trustee savings banks and from 4th quarter 1979 the 
whole of the Trustee savings banks, see notes to Table 8.3.

Deposits w ith  building societies
These cover both shares and deposits with, and from 1969 
receipts of SAVE by, building societies. Increases in deposits 
are equal to receipts of principal plus interest credited and not 
paid out less withdrawals of principal. The figures cover all 
building societies In the United Kingdom.

The annual figures are based on statutory returns made to 
the Registrar of Friendly Societies and summarised in the 
Report o f the Chief Registrar o f Friendly Societies, Part 5. 
Monthly and quarterly returns are made by a sample of build
ing societies to the Building Societies Association (BSA) and 
the Central Statistical Office. Monthly returns have been made 
since 1965 and are supplied by over 80 societies, representing 
over 95 per cent of total building society assets. Figures are 
allocated to persons, other financial institutions (in respect of
insurance schemes linked to building society deposits) and 
industrial and commercial companies on the basis of a sector
analysis of deposits provided on an annual return to the BSA 
and CSO (see notes to Tables 8.6 and 8.7). From 3rd quarter
1978 details of deposits with insurance companies, pension 
funds, industrial and commercial companies and overseas 
were reported quarterly.

Deposits w ith finance houses
This comprises deposits with finance houses and other 
consumer credit companies. Deposits with banks and bills 
discounted with banks are not included in this item but in 
Bank lending and other finance house borrowing is included 
under Other identified overseas assets. The figures, including 
the counterpart analysis of deposits, are based on returns 
from all the largest hire purchase finance companies and a 
selection of the smaller ones. The returns cover companies 
with about nine-tenths of the business of all hire purchase 
finance companies. Estimates are included for companies not 
making returns. See notes to Table 8.4.
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Deposits w ith  financial institutions, other
These are deposits received by financial institutions other than 
banks, building societies, savings banks and finance houses. 
The series is compiled from returns made to the Bank of 
England.

Bank lending
All transactions between institutions classified to the banking 
sector are excluded. Ways and means advances by the 
Banking Department which are included in A/et government 
indebtedness to the Bank o f England Banking Department, 
loans for house purchase which are included in the item of the 
same name, lending to local authorities which is included 
under local authority debt and lending to the Northern Ireland 
government are all excluded.
(a) Advances and loans. These include overdrafts. The 

analysis by sector is obtained from the returns made to the 
Bank of England by the institutions classified to the bank
ing sector. The entries for the banking sector and 
industrial and commercial companies are adjusted by 40 
per cent of the net change in transit items {see notes to 
Section 6).

(b) Commercial bills. These are commercial bills drawn on 
United Kingdom and overseas residents and discounted 
by banks or discount houses. They also include Treasury 
bills of the Northern Ireland, Commonwealth and foreign 
governments. The figures for other financial institutions 
prior to mid-1975 relate only to bills discounted by hire 
purchase finance companies and are obtained from 
quarterly data provided by these companies.

(c) Market loans. The estimated allocation by sector is based 
on information provided by the banks. The figures for 
before mid-1975 related to call money only and the sector 
distribution was estimated.

The reliability grading of Advances and loans would have 
been B if it were not for the problems of allocation of items in 
transit. The figures for Commercial bills assume that all 
sterling acceptances on behalf of overseas, public sector, 
other financial institutions and persons are held in the banking 
sector and the grading is affected by that assumption.

Further analyses of bank lending are shown in Section 6, 
particularly in Tables 6.1 and 6.2; also Tables 6.18 and 6.19.

Credit extended by retailers
The figures for the implied change in debt are based upon 
credit transactions with durable goods retailers (including gas 
and electricity showrooms), department stores (including co
operative society stores), general mail-order houses and other 
general stores. The figures relate not only to hire purchase 
agreements but also to certain other forms of credit including 
sales on budget accounts, credit sale agreements and personal 
loans repayable by instalments. Credit advanced by retailers in 
the form of trading checks exchangeable only in their own 
shops is included, but credit advanced by check traders as 
such is not covered. The figures exclude monthly accounts 
and sales on bank credit cards such as Access and Barclay- 
card. The figures for the implied change in debt are estimated 
from the figures of new credit extended [including charges)

25
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and repayments. The estimates are derived from regular 
returns made to the Department of Industry and Trade by 
retailers in the kinds of business listed above. Monthly figures 
and details of new credit extended are shown in Table 8.5.

The figures for the public sector relate to credit given by 
public corporations through gas and electricity showrooms. 
The figures for the personal sector relate to the debt of 
individual consumers and unincorporated businesses; credit 
extended to businesses generally is included in the residual 
figure and allocated to Industrial and commercial companies.

The grading B given to these estimates relates to the 
restricted coverage described above.

Identified trade credit
This, item consists only of:
(a) domestic trade debt (net) of public corporations. Figures 

are derived from quarterly returns and prior to 1972 the 
annual accounts of the corporations. The sector allocation 
is based on a very rough analysis of the figures of the 
published annual accounts.

(b) suppliers' trade credit and associated advance and 
progress payments on exports and imports, identified in 
the balance of payments accounts from 1963 onwards.

No estimates are included for other forms of trade credit, in 
particular for credit extended by industrial and commercial 
companies to the personal sector, variations in which are 
probably sizeable. The grading B given to these estimates 
relates only to the small proportion of trade credit actually 
identified and recorded under this heading.

Loans for house purchase
This item consists of loans by:
(a) Local authorities. Mortgage advances for house purchase 

and improvements, including loans for the purchase of 
council houses by tenants and loans to housing associ
ations. Financial year figures are obtained from Local 
Government Financial Statistics and the corresponding 
publication for Scotland. Monthly figures are obtained 
from returns made to the Department of Environment 
(England) and the Welsh Office (Wales).

(b) Other public sector. Loans made by the central 
government under the Housing Act, 1961 and Housing 
(Scotland) Act, 1962 to private housing associations, 
loans made by the Housing Corporation to housing 
societies and loans by new town corporations.

(c) Financial institutions. Mortgage advances made by 
building societies, loans by insurance companies and 
pension funds, by the Trustee savings banks and by 
banks. Figures for building societies are based on 
accounting year figures from the Report o f the Chief 
Registrar o f Friendly Societies, and monthly and quarterly 
returns made by a sample of building societies to the 
Building Societies Association and the Central Statistical 
Office. Estimates for insurance companies are taken from 
quarterly returns. Quarterly figures from banks are 
compiled from their returns by the Bank of England.

Figures of gross advances and repayments of principal for
building societies, local authorities and insurance companies,
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and of net loans by banks are shown quarterly in supple- 
mentary tables.

Apart from small amounts of building society advances 
attributed to industrial and commercial companies from the 
3rd quarter 1978 it is assumed that the personal sector
received these loans.

Other loans by public sector to private sector
The figures relate to transactions in commercial bills by the 
Issue Department of the Bank of England (allocated to Indus- 
trial and commercial companies), to net lending by the central
government to building societies under the House Purchase 
and Housing Act, 1959 (allocated to other financial insti- 
tutions) and to industry and trade (allocated entirely to indus
trial and commercial companies) and other miscellaneous 
loans for education and other services (allocated entirely to the 
personal sector). Also included is net lending by public 
corporations to the private sector, other than for house 
purchase (allocated to industrial and commercial companies). 
The figures are taken from the detailed capital accounts of the 
central government and of public corporations.

Loans by superannuation funds to parent organisation
This includes loans made by their superannuation funds to 
public corporations and companies. Figures are taken from 
returns made by the superannuation funds. Loans made by 
local authorities' superannuation schemes to local authorities 
are excluded; they are recorded against the heading Local 
authority debt.

Other loans and mortgages by financial institutions 
(excluding banks)
Loans and mortgages includes loans and advances by finance 
houses and other consumer credit companies and excluding 
loans for house purchase and loans made to their parent 
organisation by superannuation funds. The loans are made 
mainly by insurance companies and by special finance 
agencies.

Counterpart figures for groups of institutions are allocated 
to persons or to industrial and commercial companies as 
appropriate.

Unit trust units
Sales less repurchases of unit trust units provided by the 
Association of Unit Trust Managers. All transactions other 
than those identified on returns from financial institutions 
(other than banks) are assumed to be with the personal sector.

Figures of gross sales and repurchases of units are shown in 
Table 8.10.

Total issues have a reliability grading A but the take up by 
other financial institutions has a grading B.

Company and overseas securities
This item consists of:
(a) UK capita! issues. The estimates relate to new money 

raised by issues of ordinary, preference and loan capital 
(public issues, offers for sale, issues by tender, placings,

(b)

(c)

and issues to shareholders and employees) by listed public 
companies, and where they are identified, unlisted 
companies in the United Kingdom and by overseas com
panies and public authorities (including overseas local 
authorities and international organisations). Issues to 
shareholders are included only if the sole or principal share 
register is maintained in the United Kingdom. Issues in 
foreign currencies are included where UK institutions take 
a leading part in arranging them. Estimates of issues are 
based on the prices at which securities are offered on the 
market. Subscriptions are included in the periods in which 
they are due to be paid. It is not possible to provide an 
analysis of capital issues by the sector acquiring them; 
these acquisitions are included with other transactions in 
companies securities.

More detailed figures are prepared by the Bank of 
England and are shown in Section 12.

The reliability grading is influenced by the many unlisted 
issues that are missing from the figures.
Capital issues overseas, including private issues by 
companies overseas.
Other. These are all other transactions in listed and 
unlisted securities which can be identified.

Transactions by the public sector are taken from the
capital accounts of the central government and public cor
porations securities, etc (net) by the central government 
and by public corporations less net cash receipts by 
central government from the sale of the assets of iron and 
steel concerns to private owners. The acquisitions of steel 
securities in exchange for government stock on re
nationalisation of companies, are excluded.

Figures for the banking sector and other financial
institutions are net transactions in both listed and unlisted
securities and, from 1968, exclude costs incurred in share 
transactions. The estimates are based on quarterly returns 
of cash transactions.

For the overseas sector, figures of total transactions in 
company and overseas securities are taken from balance 
of payments statistics. The derivation of figures for 1978 is 
shown in the reconciliation given as Supplementary 
Table B in the November 1979 issue of Financial 
Statistics. The difference between total transactions and 
the figure of UK capital issues for the overseas sector is 
allocated to this item.

Information about transactions in company and over
seas securities by industrial and commercial companies
relates to their estimated cash expenditure on acquiring 
subsidiaries and unincorporated businesses as going 
concerns, to their purchases of trade investments, their 
acquisitions of share and loan capital in overseas com
panies and to overseas direct investment in UK company 
securities. When a subsidiary is acquired or a trade invest
ment is made by way of a share exchange, no transaction 
need be recorded in the financial return because no other 
item is affected. But if the acquisition is paid for, or partly 
paid for, in cash, then the cash part of the transaction 
needs to be recorded, because the cash payment will be 
reflected in other items in the account.
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The methodology of the estimates is described on 
pages 427 and 428 of National >4ccoty/?fs Statistics: 
Sources and Methods (HMSO), 1968.

The estimates of transactions in company and overseas 
securities by the personal sector are derived as a residual. 
They are obtained as the difference between the aggre
gate of the sales and purchases of all the other sectors. 
Because of this, they are subject to a wide margin of error. 
In particular, any errors in the estimates for the 
acquisitions of securities by industrial and commercial 
companies, which could be large, are reflected in the resi
dual figure for the personal sector and will affect the size 
of the unidentified items for both sectors.

Life assurance and superannuation funds

This series consists of:
(a) the net increase in the balance of the income and expen

diture of the funds. The life assurance and superannuation 
funds are regarded as the property of the personal sector.
but the investments of the funds are included in the 
financial transactions of other financial institutions. The
articulation of the financial accounts is maintained by 
showing the net increase in the funds' liabilities as an 
increase in the financial claim of the personal sector on 
other financial institutions. Annual estimates of the net 
increase in the funds are taken from their revenue 
account, which is published as a Supplem entary Table  
in September issues of Financial Statistics; quarterly 
estimates are based on the quarterly returns of investment 
made by insurance companies and superannuation funds, 
which are described in the notes to Tables 8.14 and 8.15. 

(bl transactions concerning certain public sector pension 
schemes. These are net receipts by the central govern
ment from those public sector schemes for which no 
separate pension fund is maintained. These receipts are 
taken from the capital account of the central government, 
and are regarded as transactions between the public 
sector and persons.

The rationale behind the treatment of this series is explained 
in more detail in the introductory notes to Section 10.

Other identified home assets
This series includes the following miscellaneous items: 
for the public sector:

(b)

(a) repayments by nationalised steel undertakings of a loan 
from industrial and commercial companies made before 
nationalisation.
redemption less issues of stock of the Electricity Board for 
Northern Ireland.
the borrowing of regional water authorities and trust ports 
other than from the public and banking sectors, 
import deposits. The scheme was introduced in November 
1969 and the last of the deposits were repaid by the end of 
September 1971. 

for financial institutions:
(a) increases in assets and liabilities which are not separately 

identified in the returns made by financial institutions. This 
item includes borrowing from finance houses other than in

(d)

J

. - J

the forms of deposits, and from 1972, their special 
deposits with the Bank of England, Banking Department, 

(b) property unit trusts sales to charities, 
for industrial and commercial companies:

sales of shares in retail co-operative societies and changes 
to stockbrokers' balances.

The reliability grading given to these estimates relates to the 
assets identified but there will be other assets that have not 
been identified.

Foreign currency borrowing by H M  Governm ent
These are drawings on a euro-dollar facility arranged by the 
Bank of England with UK clearing banks and their associates 
on behalf of HM Government to borrow $2,500 million for a 
period of up to 10 years and also drawings on the $1,500 
million loan facility announced in January 1977 and a $300 
million bond issue in New York. The 'official financing' section 
of the balance of payments account covers changes in official 
reserves, official transactions in financial assets/liabilities and 
governmental borrowing which are directly in support of the 
reserves. Therefore the transaction is allocated to the debtor 
{HM Government) rather than the transactor (the clearing 
banks). The treatment of the loan in the financial accounts 
differs from that of the balance of payments in that the part of 
the loan channelled through the UK clearing banks has been 
entered in the overseas sector table under deposits w ith the
banking sector and this amount is shown separately in the 
banking sector table under advances and loans. That part of
the loan not channelled through the banking sector is included 
in the overseas sector financial accounts table under other 
public sector assets/iiabilities.

%

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights
This is the UK share of the allocation by the IMF of the reserve 
asset Special Drawing Rights. The first allocation was taken 
into the reserves on 1 January 1970.

Official reserves
Changes in gold, IMF Special Drawing Rights and convertible 
currencies held in the Exchange Equalisation Account. The 
fourth quarter of 1967 excludes the revaluation on devaluation 
of sterling. From 23 August 1971, total official reserves are 
valued in sterling at end-period market rates of exchange; 
therefore from the third quarter of 1971 the sterling valuation 
of the flow does not equal the difference between the opening 
and closing levels which are converted at parity in Official
reserves.

From July 1972 the official reserves were redefined to 
include the reserve position in the IMF. From end-April to end- 
June this stood at £292 million.

Table 11.4 shows the composition of official reserves and 
the relationship between figures of holdings and the estimates 
of transactions used in the balance of payments and the 
financial accounts.

Inter-governm ent loans
The entries under this item comprise drawings on and repay
ments of loans made by the United Kingdom government to

4 4
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overseas governments and to the United Kingdom govern
ment by overseas governments.

Transactions with International Monetary Fund, etc
This comprises the following central government transactions
with non-territorial financial organisations:
(a) drawings from United Kingdom subscriptions to inter

national lending bodies;
plus
(b) capital subscriptions to the International Monetary Fund 

and European Fund;
less
(c) increase in holdings of interest-free notes by the Inter

national Monetary Fund.
More detailed figures of the International Monetary Fund 

are shown in Table 11.8.

Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits
This item, relates to the refinancing both by the Issue Depart
ment of the Bank of England and from voted funds; from April 
1972, export credits (to the overseas sector) are refinanced 
from voted funds together with, from September 1972, some 
shipbuilding credits (to the industrial and commercial
companies sector). Prior to these dates the medium-term and 
long-term export credit, and loans for domestic shipbuilding 
provided by the London and Scottish clearing banks, were 
refinanced by the Issue Department of the Bank of England. 
From 4th quarter 1979 some export credits are refinanced by 
the Trustee savings banks.

Intra-company investment overseas
This item represents private investment abroad, other than in 
securities, less the corresponding overseas investment in the 
UK private sector.

By UK companies: This is equal to the balance of payments 
account figures of private direct investment abroad, other 
than share and loan capital, and oH and miscellaneous invest
ment less public corporations' investment abroad.

By overseas companies in the United Kingdom: This is 
equal to the balance of payments account figures of private 
direct investment in the United Kingdom, other than share and 
loan capital, and oH and miscellaneous investment less UK oil 
and private company issues.

Other identified overseas assets
This covers those transactions from the investments and 
capital transactions and official financing sections of the 
balance of payments which are not allocated elsewhere in the 
financial accounts.

the public sector this item comprises:
(a) foreign currency borrowing by HM Government other 

than through banks.
(b) transactions in foreign currency (excluding IMF) and 

official swaps with other monetary authorities.
(c) contributions to the European Coal and Steel Community 

reserves.
(d) net issues abroad, net borrowing from banks abroad, and 

other investment abroad by public corporations.

For financial institutions the item comprises net short term 
assets held abroad. Unidentified transactions are allocated by 
residual to industrial and commercial companies. This item will 
therefore reflect timing and coverage differences between the 
balance of payments and the analysis in the overseas sector 
table in the financial accounts.

The reliability grading D of the overseas sector is due to this 
being a residual in the overseas sector table.

Accruals adjustment
Several series in the national accounts are on an accruals basis 
whereas transactions in the financial accounts are on a cash 
basis. This item is designed to link the two. It represents the 
difference between accruals and the corresponding cash pay
ments for income tax, value added tax, purchase tax, selective 
employment tax, national insurance contributions, central 
government current expenditure on goods and services. North 
Sea oil, local authority rates, and some interest flows — 
including those under the fixed rate credit scheme — which 
are recorded on an accruals basis in the income and 
expenditure and appropriation accounts. The allocation of the 
difference to other sectors has been made item by item but 
should be considered approximate. See also page 14.

Unidentified items
The national income and expenditure accounts are the output 
of a system that attempts to record all transactions adding to 
gross domestic product. The sector accounts also show 
transfer payments (taxes, grants, dividends, interest etc) and, 
separately in the financial accounts, financial transactions 
between sectors of the economy.

Gross domestic product is estimated in absolute terms by 
two different routes — the sum of factor incomes, and the 
sum of expenditure on goods and services produced. Because 
the sources upon which the income and expenditure measures 
are based are largely independent, the estimates differ by an 
amount termed the residua! error. By convention it is shown 
as an item of income although there is no reason to suppose it 
results wholly or mainly from inaccuracies on the income side 
of the accounts.

In these accounts a balance is struck between current plus 
capital receipts and current plus capital expenditure (including 
transfer payments on both sides of the accounts) and this is 
called net acquistion o f financial assets (NAFA). The various 
transfer items net out over all sectors so that the sum of the 
NAFAs in each sector is equal to the residual error. Below the 
NAFA line the financial accounts record identified transactions 
in financial assets for each sector, and the difference between 
the sector's NAFA and the sum of its identified transactions in 
financial assets is labelled unidentified items. The unidentified 
items are shown by convention in the financial accounts 
although this is not intended to imply that they measure only 
(or even mainly) unrecorded financial transactions. Like the 
transfer items above the line, identified financial transactions 
net out over all the sectors so that the sum of the sector 
unidentified items again equals the residual error.

It would be useful to be able to allocate the residual error by 
sector, but this is not possible because the difference between
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the receipts and expenditure for each sector is affected by 
various transfer items. In addition to:
(a) components of the residual error (ie wrongly recorded 

national aggregates of income or expenditure or both) 
the sector unidentified items include:

Thus the unidentified items become the repository of vir
tually all net errors, omissions and recording discrepancies 
throughout the system of accounts.

(b) mis-allocation by sector of recorded national aggregates 
of income, expenditure and current and capital transfers

(c) mis-allocation by sector of financial transactions
(d) any financial transactions which have not been identified.

The place of the unidentified transactions item and the 
residua! error ax\6 their relationship can be seen symbolically in 
the following table, which is an elaboration of the table on 
page 7 but differs from it insofar as the items of income and 
expenditure and the sector NAFAs now represent quantities 
as actually measured rather than theoretical concepts.

Sector unidentified items and the residual error

Domestic sector
I

Capital account
Balance from income and expenditure account ( Y | - C i )

deduct
Gross domestic capital formation li

add
Net capital transfers

equals

Net acquisition of financial assets NAFAi

equals

Rnancial account
Changes in financial assets and liabilities A i - L i - ^ U i

Nation
plus

Overseas
plus

Errors/
omissions

Y -C
( M - X ) RE

T To Nil

NAFA NAFAo RE

A - U - U A o  ”  Lo Do -(U-hUo)

equals
World

‘■r3.

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Ui

Uo
R E

C/mye/?tif/ied transactions items in account of Domestic Sector i
Unidentified transactions items in balance of payments accounts (ie the balancing item)
Residua! error \r\ the gross national product account

These entries are placed in the financial 
account only by convention

For other symbols see page 8.
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Section General Government; Public
Sector Finance
The term general government is used to describe the com
bined central government and local authorities sector. The 
concept of the public sector is wider, and includes public 
corporations as well as general government; public corpor
ations are only consolidated with general government in tables 
showing financial transactions, for example, Table 1.3. Table 
1.3 follows the usual financial accounts classification of assets 
and liabilities, whereas the presentation shown in this section 
illustrates the public sector borrowing requirement, which 
indicates the extent to which the public sector borrows from 
other sectors of the economy and overseas to finance the 
balance of expenditure and receipts arising from its various 
activities. It is the most familiar of the balances of the public 
sector accounts, another being the financial surplus/deficit.

The main financial flows between different sectors of the 
economy associated with the financing of the public sector 
borrowing requirement are illustrated overleaf. This diagram is 
built up from information in Tables 2.5, 2.6 and 3.8 and a 
more detailed description of the flows shown here will be 
found in the notes to those tables.

This section includes some tables which combine or 
consolidate tables appearing separately for sub-sectors in 
Section 3 (central government). Section 4 (local authorities) 
and Section 5 (public corporations) and reference to tables in 
these sections is made where appropriate. For a detailed 
definition of the scope of general government and the public 
sector, see definitions of the component sub-sectors in 
Sections 3, 4 and 5; in particular note that public sector 
pension funds are excluded from the public sector and 
classified as other financial institutions in Section 8.

Consolidation of accounts
In preparing accounts for general government and the public 
sector, transactions within the sector are generally eliminated. 
In principle, all transactions are eliminated except those in 
which the payment by one part of the sector falls within a 
different economic category from the receipt by another part. 
For example, taxes on expenditure levied by the central 
government which fall on local authorities' expenditure and 
payments by the central government in lieu of local authority 
rates are not eliminated. But all transfers and payments which 
form part of the same economic category are, as far as 
possible, eliminated. Examples of transactions eliminated from 
the accounts in the public sector are the grants from central 
government to local authorities and interest payments by local 
authorities to the central government, which are both relevant 
to consolidation at the level of general government. In some 
cases the consolidation is not complete because of lack of 
information; for example receipts of interest by local author
ities on their holdings of government securities are not elim
inated. Financial transactions within the public sector are also
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eliminated on consolidation, so that borrowing by local 
authorities and public corporations from the central govern
ment does not form part of the public sector borrowing 
requirement.

Public corporations are no longer consolidated with central 
government and local authorities for transactions leading to 
the net acquisition of financial assets. Consolidation is 
continued in the financial accounts, however, because 
although public corporations are productive enterprises, the 
products of which are sold commercially, their financing is 
heavily influenced by central government. For a discussion of 
this revised presentation see 'Government income and expen
diture in the national income accounts: a change of 
presentation'. Economic Trends March 1977.

9

Layout of section
The section opens with the current account (Table 2.1) and 
the capital account (Table 2.2) of general government, and is 
followed by two related tables. The general government 
financial deficit (a term equivalent to a negative net acquisition 
o f financial assets) is carried forward from Table 2.2 to Table 
2.3 and is combined with the equivalent statistic for public 
corporations, to form the public sector financial deficit. The 
remainder of Table 2.3 shows the relationship between the 
public sector financial deficit and the public sector borrowing 
requirement, and represents a different presentation of the 
financial transactions covered by Table 1.3. Table 2.4 shows 
the link between general government expenditure (most of 
which is shown in Tables 2.1 and 2.2) and the special 
definition of public expenditure which is used in the Public 
Expenditure White Paper (Cmnd 7746). Tables 2.5 and 2.6 are 
devoted entirely to the public sector borrowing requirement 
(PSBR). Table 2.5 shows the contributions by the three sub
sectors to the borrowing requirement, also the large intra- 
sector financial flows which do not count towards the PSBR 
total. Table 2.6 shows the means by which the PSBR is 
financed, analysed both by financing sector and type of asset. 
Table 2.7 brings together the ground covered by Tables 2.1, 
2.2, 2.3, 5.1 and 5.2 in a format which assists monitoring 
outturns against budget forecasts for financial years presented 
In the Financial Statement and Budget Report.

Outstanding debt
Section 2 is concerned entirely with transactions or flow data; 
there are no figures of outstanding debt. The latter are 
compiled annually and appear as Supplem entary Tables to 
Financial Statistics. Figures of National Debt at the end of 
financial years appear first in the May issue of Financial 
Statistics as a supplementary table. Figures of the more 
comprehensive aggregate of public sector debt are available 
much later. The quality of these figures has recently been
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improved; they are published as a supplementary table in 
February Financial Statistics. For further information on the 
concepts and the relationship between figures of outstanding 
debt and the public sector borrowing requirement see article 
on 'Public sector debt'. Economic Trends, May 1977.

Tables 2.1 and 2.2
General government current and capital 
accounts
These tables are built up from the current and capital accounts 
of central government and local authorities; transactions 
between the two sectors have been eliminated, except where 
the payment by one sector falls within a different economic 
category from the receipt by the other sector (see National 
Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods page 320).

Notes on the component items in Tables 2.1 and 2.2 are 
given in Sections 3 and 4 dealing with the individual current 
and capital accounts of central government and of local 
authorities. Previous to the April 1977 issue of Financial 
Statistics, the section contained tables showing consolidated 
current and capital accounts of the public sector; an explan
ation as to the change in presentation was given in an article in 
the March 1977 issue of Economic Trends.

Table 2.3
Public sector financial account
This table sets out the relationship between the public sector 
financial deficit and the public sector borrowing requirement.

The derivation of the public sector's financial deficit (which 
corresponds to net acquisition o f financial assets with sign 
reversed) follows the form of analysis of the current account 
and summary capital account transactions of the other sectors 
of the economy described earlier in Section 1. A financial 
deficit (or surplus) represents the extent to which the sector's 
gross savings—that is, the balance of receipts and expen
diture on current transactions—plus net capital transfers are 
insufficient (or more than sufficient) to finance the sector's 
expenditure on physical assets.

In recent years the public sector has been in deficit and has 
needed to borrow to finance its deficit. The size of the deficit 
is not an accurate indication of the public sector's total 
financing needs, however, because it does not take into 
account the lending and other financial transactions 
undertaken by the public sector. To arrive at the total public 
sector borrowing requirement {PSBH), the financial deficit (or 
surplus) must be added to the net increase in financial assets 
held by the sector. The public sector not only needs to finance 
its own deficit, it also needs to finance its acquisition of 
financial assets generally; in particular, because it is a net 
lender to the other sectors, it must finance its own lending to 
others.
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The genera! government financial deficit is combined with 
the equivalent statistic for public corporations to form the 
public sector financial deficit (see Table 1.1).

Net lending to private sector and overseas: comprises net 
lending to the private sector and to overseas governments, 
drawings from UK subscriptions to international lending 
todies, other net lending and investment abroad, and net cash 
expenditure on company securities, etc.

Other identified financial transactions (net): comprises 
transactions identified in Table 1.3, other than those included 
in the borrowing requirement or in net lending to the private 
sector and overseas.

Unidentified financial transactions: this is the balancing item 
from Table 1.3—with the sign reversed.

The contribution to the PSBR by each of the sub-sectors of 
the public sector—central government, local authorities and 
public corporations—is described in detail in the notes for 
Table 2.5.

Table 2.4
Government expenditure
This table shows a translation from general government 
expenditure on a national accounts basis to public expenditure 
on the basis of the Government's annual White Paper on 
expenditure plans. The table starts with the national accounts 
figures of total expenditure of general government, ie the 
current and capital expenditure and net lending, etc. of central 
government and local authorities consolidated to exclude 
transactions between the two sectors. The following adjust
ments are needed to convert these national accounts figures 
to a basis consistent with public expenditure as defined in the 
1980 White Paper— 7/?e Government's Expenditure Plans
1980-81 (Cmnd 7746):
(a) the capital expenditure of certain public corporations, 

listed under heading 2(B) in the Annex to Section 5, is 
added in, and government grants and loans to them are
excluded;
in^0[-est payments covered by interest receipts and interest 
provisions from trading surpluses and rents are deducted; 
the imputed value of non-trading capital consumption 
included in the national accounts figures of public 
consumption is deducted;
the revenue from fines and fees in magistrates' and 
Scottish courts, netted off against payments for court 
services etc. in the White Paper figures, is deducted; 
stock appreciation figures are deducted; 
net lending by the Bank of England in respect of 
refinanced shipbuilding and export credits, which 
occurred in the period 1969/70 to 1975/76, is deducted.

A Supplementary Table, Treasury analysis of public 
expenditure, is included in the September issue of Financial 
Statistics showing the analysis of public expenditure by the 
main spending programmes consistent with the figures in the
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most recent White Paper. A run of general government expen
diture figures for the latest eleven calendar years is given in the 
National Income and Expenditure Blue Book, and the totals 
are analysed in detail by functional groups and economic 
categories. Longer runs are given in the Economic Trends 
Annual Supplement total general government expenditure 
analysed by main economic category for the years from 1946 
and public expenditure for the years from 1960.

^2£ 0 9 0
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Table 2.5
Public sector borrowing and contri
butions to the public sector borrowing 
requirement
The public sector borrowing requirement indicates the
extent to which the public sector borrows from other sectors 
of the economy and overseas to finance the balance of 
expenditure and receipts arising from its various activities. The 
PSBR can be defined in terms of the receipts and expenditure 
of the consolidated public sector accounts, but it is usually 
more helpful to consider it in terms of the borrowing require
ments of the sub-sectors of the public sector: central 
government, local authorities and public corporations.

The table shows separately the borrowing requirement for 
the central government on its own account. A considerable 
additional part of the central government borrowing 
requirement is needed to finance central government lending 
to local authorities and public corporations. The PSBR is built 
up from the total borrowing requirement of central govern
ment plus 'contributions' from local authorities and public 
corporations. The local authority contribution is equal to the 
local authority borrowing requirement less the direct 
borrowing by local authorities from central government. 
Transactions in other public sector debt are netted off the 
local authorities' borrowing requirement. The public 
corporations' 'contribution' is defined in a similar way.

The local authority and public corporations borrowing 
requirements are in practice measured from the financing 
items rather than as the difference between receipts and 
payments because financing information comes to hand more 
quickly and is regarded as more reliable.

Information about the component items of Table 2.5 are 
given in the notes to Tables 3.8, 4.3, 5.2 and 5.3.

Seasonal adjustment
Two seasonally adjusted series are shown for the public sector 
borrowing requirement. The first is constrained so that its 
calendar year totals are equal to the calendar year totals of the 
unadjusted series, as is the practice in the national accounts. 
The second is constrained so that its financial year totals are 
equal to the financial year totals of the unadjusted series, to be 
consistent with the forecasts published in the Financial 
Statement and Budget Report. It is conventional in the 
seasonal adjustment of economic series to constrain the 
annual totals of the seasonally adjusted series to equal the 
totals of the unadjusted series, but the resulting seasonally

adjusted values will vary according to the annual period 
chosen (for example calendar or financial year).

The seasonal pattern of the central government borrowing 
requirement and hence of the public sector borrowing 
requirement is not very stable and the value is particularly low 
in the first quarter of the calendar year because the major 
inflow of taxes to the central government occurs in this 
quarter. This causes considerable differences between the 
calendar year and financial year constrained seasonally 
adjusted series. For purposes of economic analysis the cal
endar year constrained series will usually be preferable since 
most other important economic series (and all seasonally 
adjusted series in the national accounts) are constrained to 
calendar years. In particular, the main public sector current 
and capital transactions which lead to the borrowing require
ment, shown in Tables 1.1, 3.6, 3.7, 4.1 and 5.1 are calendar 
year constrained. However for planning and control, central 
government uses the financial year as its accounting year and 
consequently the forecasts of the public sector borrowing 
requirement and its components which are published each 
year in the Financial Statement and Budget Report are for 
financial years. The financial year, rather than calendar year, 
constrained seasonally adjusted series should be used when 
the quarterly out-turns during the financial year are compared 
with these forecasts.

Timeliness
Estimates for the borrowing requirement of the public sector 
are compiled only on a quarterly basis and are released by 
Press Notice about 7 weeks in arrears. Figures issued in the 
PSBR press notices are provisional and are subject to revision 
when published in Financial Statistics.

Further references
Estimates of the PSBR also appear in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin. A forecast of the PSBR and its make-up for 
the financial year is published at Budget time in the Financial 
Statement and Budget Report. Another forecast of the PSBR 
for the financial year is published annually in November.

Table 2.6
Financing of the public sector borrowing 
requirement
This table analyses the PSBR according to the sources of the 
funds borrowed; it shows who takes up the net issues of debt 
whereas Table 2.5 shows who issues them. The table is in two 
parts. The second part shows the three main ways in which 
the PSBR is financed: by sales of debt to the public outside 
the banking system (for example, gilts, national savings, local 
authority stocks and bonds); by borrowing from the banking 
system and by external transactions—that is, transactions 
with residents of other countries —which include not only 
government borrowing but also the effect of changes in the 
reserves on the sterling assets of the Exchange Equalisation 
Account. The first part of the table is a summary of the second 
part but includes a breakdown of the non-bank private sector
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financing between other financial institutions, industrial and 
commercial companies and the personal sector. The data for 
this analysis are available one month later than data for the 
non-bank private sector as a whole.

Sales of debt to the public are influenced by a number of 
factors including the level of interest rates and expectations 
about future interest rates. The state of confidence can also be
important.

The extent of external finance is largely the consequence of 
the balance of payments position. When there is an external 
deficit which is financed by a fall in the foreign exchange 
reserves, the central government receives an inflow of sterling 
finance from sales of foreign currency. Borrowing abroad by 
public corporations and local authorities increases the reserves 
but does not in itself help to finance the PSBR, since these 
bodies require sterling for their spending and the monetary 
authorities provide this in exchange for the foreign currencies.

In the summary presentation of Table 2.6 Direct external 
finance (column 8) is equivalent to the overseas sector's 
contribution in the analysis by sector in Table 2.6 (continued). 
Official financing in the balance of payments accounts (eg 
Tables 11.1 and 11.3) consists of the sum of the seven
columns with the words overseas official financing in Table
2.6 (continued). It will be noted that three of these headings 
are attributed to the banking sector. These represent foreign 
currency borrowing from UK banks and the banks will have 
taken foreign currency deposits from overseas to finance their 
lending. In the balance of payments accounts these flows are 
deemed to by-pass the banking sector and to come directly 
from overseas. The sum of the three overseas official 
financing columns attributed to the banking sector in Table
2.6 (continued) differ from column 7 in the summary because 
the latter includes a relatively small amount of foreign currency 
borrowing by local authorities and public corporations outside 
the Exchange Cover Scheme, which is not included as official 
financing in the balance of payments. This element and the 
other columns attributed to the overseas sector in Table 2.6 
(continued) are included indistinguishably in investment and 
other capita! transactions in the balance of payments 
accounts. The diagram on page 34 illustrates the links 
between balance of payments transactions, external finance 
of the PSBR, changes in the balance sheet of the banking 
sector and the monetary aggregates Sterling IVI3 and DCE.

Borrowing under the Exchange Cover Scheme, given as 
one figure in Tables 11.1 and 11.4, is shown in Table 2.6 
under the four headings of official overseas financing: local 
authorities, public corporations, banking sector and overseas 
sector.

Borrowing from the domestic banking system will normally 
lead to an increase in the money supply and generally to an 
increase in the reserve assets of the banking system. Unless

these reserve assets are neutralised by the monetary auth
orities, there may be a further indirect growth in the money 
supply as banks expand their balance sheets to take advantage 
of their higher reserve assets. Some methods of financing the 
PSBR without increasing the stock of money were described 
in the Monthly Economic Assessment in Economic Progress 
Report, No. 58, January 1975.

Table 2.6 is built up from certain of the items of Tables 3.8, 
4.3 and 5.3. Notes on these components appear in the 
appropriate section under the relevant table number.

An eleven-year series is published in National Income and 
Expenditure, Blue Book, Table 13.10.

Table 2.7
Public sector accounts
This table shows the public sector accounts in a presentation 
that is similar to Table 5 of the Financial Statement and 
Budget Report 1979/80 (FSBR) published at the time of the 
Budget. The table shows the link between gross savings and 
the borrowing requirement via the financial surplus or deficit 
for the public sector as a whole and for both general 
government and public corporations. It is provided to facilitate 
the comparison of outturns with the estimated outturns and 
forecasts for financial years contained in that document. In 
making these comparisons it should be noted that the data are 
not seasonally adjusted and that the outturns are from the 
national accounts and are subject to revision.

The accounts are divided into three tiers. The top tier is the 
general government account and is built up from the current 
and capital accounts of central government and local 
authorities as described in the notes to Tables 2.1 and 2.2. 
The middle tier is derived from the appropriation and capital 
accounts of public corporations as described for Tables 5.1 
and 5.2. The lower tier shows the public sector financial 
transactions and shows how the combined public sector 
lending and financial deficit is financed (see notes to Table 
2.3).

Timeliness
Complete figures are available four months after the end of the 
quarter but the central government's borrowing requirement is 
published monthly about ten days in arrears, the public sector 
borrowing requirement is published quarterly about eight 
weeks in arrears and both are issued as press notices.
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Section 3: Central government
The central government embraces all bodies for whose 
activities a Minister of the Crown, or other responsible person, 
is accountable to Parliament. It includes, in addition to the 
ordinary government departments, a number of bodies admin
istering public policy but without the substantial degree of 
financial independence which characterises the public 
corporations; it also includes certain extra-budgetary funds 
and accounts controlled by departments, of which the 
National Insurance Fund is the most important. The accounts 
of the Northern Ireland departments are combined with those 
of the government of Great Britain. The Issue Department of 
the Bank of England is regarded as an agent of the central 
government and its transactions on behalf of the central 
government are treated as though they were transactions of 
the central government itself.

Unlike most other sections devoted to particular sectors of 
the economy, this section does not begin with the national 
accounts tables. The first five tables cover the activities of the 
main central government funds and accounts—the 
Consolidated Fund and the National Loans Fund and the 
revenue collecting activities of the Inland Revenue, Customs 
and Excise and certain other departments. Tables 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 
and 3.5 all provide further details of certain transactions 
summarised in Table 3.1. These tables are all compiled on a 
monthly basis. The national accounts tables, which are 
quarterly, begin with Table 3.6 showing the central 
government current account; Table 3.7 presents the central 
government borrowing requirement as part of the capital 
account, but it should be noted that the central government 
borrowing requirement is also presented in the alternative 
accounting system which is summarised in Table 3.1. The 
remainder of Section 3 is devoted to tables illustrating how 
the borrowing requirement of central government is financed. 
Table 3.8 is the starting point and there follow further details 
of British government securities (Table 3.9), Treasury Bills 
(Tables 3.10 and 3.11), tax instruments (Table 3.12) and 
National Savings (Tables 3.13 and 3.14). It should be noted 
that the investment account of the National Savings Bank and 
the Trustee Savings Bank (see notes to Table 8.2 and 8.3) are 
not part of central government but are included in Other 
financial institutions.

An explanation of the accounts of the main central govern
ment funds, presented in summary form in Tables 3.1 to 3.5, 
and of their relationship to the accounts of central government 
on a national accounts basis is outlined below. Further details 
may be found in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and 
Methods, Chapter IX.

All government revenue, other than borrowing and sums 
received by government departments in the course of their 
normal activities (known as appropriations-in-aid), is ulti
mately paid into an account with the Bank of England which 
forms the Consolidated Fund. With certain exceptions (the 
main ones being government loans and national insurance 
benefits), all expenditure by the Government is paid out of

issues from this fund. All money raised by the creation of debt 
is paid into a separate cash account at the Bank of England, 
the National Loans Fund, together with receipts representing 
repayment of loans made by the State from the fund and 
interest on those loans. The National Loans Fund is the 
channel through which pass all the government's borrowing 
transactions as well as most of its domestic lending 
transactions and the servicing (ie interest and expenses) of the 
National Debt.

The Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund accounts 
are statements of cash flows through the UK government 
accounts with the Bank of England, and show receipts and 
payments under headings which correspond to the require
ments of Parliamentary control. Most transactions are with 
departments and other government bodies, and are thus 
internal to the central government sector. Examples of 
Consolidated Fund/National Loans Fund transactions with 
bodies outside the central government sector are interest on 
and management of the national debt and transactions in 
marketable securities.

Departments and other government bodies have trans
actions direct with other sectors and although their accounts 
record these transactions in a good deal of detail, the 
accounts are not in a form suitable for national accounting 
purposes. Three principal operations have to be carried out to 
fit the large mass of data into the national accounts frame
work. In the first place the various accounts have to be 
consolidated so that only transactions of the government, 
considered as a whole with the rest of the economy remain; 
that is, many transactions internal to the central government 
sector—such as those with the Consolidated Fund and the 
National Loans Fund —have to be eliminated. Secondly, the 
transactions with the rest of the economy have to be classified 
according to the economic categories used in the national 
accounts. And thirdly, where the information is available, the 
figures shown in the central government funds and accounts, 
which represent cash flows, are adjusted on to a payable 
— receivable or accruals basis to make them consistent with 
other sectors of the national accounts.

In the first process —consolidation —transactions between 
any two parts of the central government are, with certain 
exceptions, eliminated. In particular, most transactions 
between the Consolidated Fund/National Loans Fund and 
departments disappear. As an example, we may consider the 
case of taxes collected by the Inland Revenue. The depart
ment in due course passes the money it collects to the 
Consolidated Fund. On consolidating the accounts of this 
department with the Exchequer account, the payment by the 
department to the Consolidated Fund disappears, so that the 
consolidated central government current account in general 
shows only receipts of taxes by the department from other 
sectors. Similarly issues of money from the Consolidated Fund 
to departments to finance departmental expenditure disappear 
in the process of consolidation, and only payments by
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departments made outside the central government appear in 
the consolidated account. Departmental receipts and pay
ments, as recorded in the consolidated account of the central 
government constructed for national accounts purposes, may 
therefore differ significantly from the receipts and issues as 
recorded in the accounts of the Consolidated Fund and 
National Loans Fund because of timing differences. Internal 
transactions are not eliminated when the economic category 
of the payment by one part of the government differs from 
that of the receipt by the other part, but are recorded twice, as 
both income and expenditure. Thus national insurance 
contributions paid by the government in respect of its 
employees, although effectively internal, form part of 
government expenditure on wages and salaries and are also 
included in the total receipts of national insurance 
contributions. Similarly taxes on expenditure forming part of 
expenditure on goods and services by the government are not 
eliminated in the process of consolidation.

The object of the second main process applied to the 
accounts of the central government departments and bodies is 
to present the transactions of the government in categories 
which are economically significant and to relate the 
government's activities to those of the rest of the economy. 
This calls for a reclassification of government transactions, as 
set out in the accounts presented annually to Parliament (ie by 
function or programme), into economic categories in accord
ance with the principles adopted for national income account
ing as a whole. Although the nature and purpose of most 
government transactions is fairly clear, in some cases the 
distinctions are not easy to draw. A principal consideration, 
however, is that the classification should be consistent with 
the treatment of these transactions in other sectors of the
economy, and it may thus be influenced by the data available 
for other sectors.

The third process concerns the basis of recording trans
actions. For reasons connected with the maintenance of 
Parliamentary control, the accounts of central government 
departments, bodies and funds are recorded entirely on a cash 
basis. The figures appearing in the central government current 
and capital accounts, on the other hand, though based on the 
cash statements presented to Parliament, refer only in part to 
cash payments and receipts; certain items are adjusted from a 
cash basis to a payable —receivable, or accruals, basis to be 
more consistent with the figures in the corresponding 
accounts of the sectors concerned in transactions with the 
government. It is worth noting that the difficulties of obtaining 
consistency between the government accounts and those of 
the rest of the economy do not arise in the case of activities for 
which accounts are prepared on a commercial, or pay- 
able/receivable, basis. These include the transactions for 
central government trading activities. Further details of the 
accruals adjustments are given in the notes to Tables 3.6 and 
3.7. In addition to the accruals adjustments, the national 
accounts also include the consumption of non-trading capital 
and income in kind of HM forces, which are imputed items not 
appearing in the cash accounts of central government depart
ments, bodies and funds.

Table 3.1
Central Government funds and accounts;
transactions

These tables record receipts and payments on the Con
solidated Fund and the National Loans Fund and changes in 
balances on the National Insurance Fund and certain other 
central government funds and accounts. The net result is the 
amount the government needs to borrow ie the central 
government borrowing requirement (net balance). The 
material is analysed according to the accounting arrangements 
and may be contrasted with the analysis in Tables 3.6 and 3.7 
which is by economic category. In addition to the normal 
periods of calendar and financial years and calendar quarters, 
figures are given for calendar months.

The basis and manner of operation of the Consolidated 
Fund is governed by the Exchequer and Audit Departments 
Act 1866 (as amended by the National Loans Act 1968) which 
provides that gross tax revenue (less repayments) and all other 
public moneys payable to the Exchequer shall be paid into 
T h e  Account of Her Majesty's Exchequer'. The Consolidated 
Fund is at any point of time the amount standing to the credit 
of this Exchequer Account which is held at the Bank of 
England.

The National Loans Act 1968 provides that all money raised 
by the creation of debt is payable into the National Loans Fund 
together with receipts representing repayments of loans made 
by the State from the Fund and interest on those loans. The 
majority of government lending is made from the National 
Loans Fund which is thus the channel through which pass all 
the government's borrowing transactions and most of its 
domestic lending transactions. (Loans charged on Votes 
continue to be met from the Consolidated Fund).

Consolidated Fund
Revenue
Inland Revenue—Receipts of Income tax. Surtax, Corporation 
tax. Capital gains tax. Development land tax. Estate duty. 
Capital transfer tax. Stamp duties and Petroleum revenue 
tax—details in Table 3.2.

Customs and fxc/se—Receipts of duties on Beer, Wines, 
cider, perry and spirits. Tobacco, Betting and gaming. 
Hydrocarbon oils. Customs duties. Value added tax. Car tax 
etc —details in Table 3.3.

Interest and dividends— includes receipts on loans 
issued from central government votes; dividends on public 
dividend capital of public corporations and trading funds and 
from holdings in British Petroleum Company Ltd, plus a 
miscellany of small receipts.

Other receipts: The largest item is miscellaneous revenue on 
supply votes. Other major sources of revenue included here 
are from the Independent Broadcasting Authority, the
National Insurance Fund and the refund from the EEC of the 
cost of collecting certain taxes.
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Expenditure
Debt interest (under Standing services) is the extent to which 
the Consolidated Fund has had to be used in order to service 
the National Debt after the receipts of interest etc accruing to 
the National Loans Fund have been exhausted. The principal 
of the interest on government stock is a charge on the 
National Loans Fund, with recourse to the Consolidated Fund.

Surplus or deficit o f the Consolidated Fund
The Consolidated Fund is brought into balance each day by a 
transfer to or from the National Loans Fund and this column 
represents the net difference between receipts and payments 
over the period.

National Loans Fund
Interest receipts and profits o f note issue: These receipts are 
mainly interest received on loans repayable to the National 
Loans Fund and payments representing the net profits of the 
Issue Department of the Bank of England.

Net lending: is the net total of lending by, less repayment 
to, the National Loans Fund. Details are given in Table 3.5.

Other central governm ent funds and accounts
The conventional account of the Consolidated Fund and 
National Loans Fund transactions is not a convenient form for 
the purpose of general financial analysis, because transactions 
are categorised by types of debt rather than by sources of 
borrowing. Moreover most of the transactions of the central 
government are with official funds and agencies which are 
themselves engaged in transactions with the public. For 
instance, national insurance payments and contributions are 
brought to account in the National Insurance Fund, all of 
whose capital is public sector debt. As the balance on this 
fund rises and falls, so the central government's indebtedness 
to the fund is increased or diminished.

In order to arrive at a figure of borrowing by the UK central 
government from the figures given in the account of Con
solidated Fund and National Loans Fund transactions, it is 
necessary to include changes in the central government's net 
indebtedness to these various official funds and agencies 
known collectively as Other central government funds and 
accounts, (which embraces Northern Ireland central govern
ment debt). The resulting total represents the central 
government's borrowing requirement which is the amount the 
government has to borrow less increase (or plus decrease) in 
its holdings of official reserves.

Departmental balances and miscellaneous: Among the 
items included are:
(a) changes in balances on the accounts kept by government 

departments, mainly with the Paymaster General;
(b) changes in the cash balance of the Director of Savings and 

in outstanding balances, including the interest accrued of 
national savings securities and other items administered 
by the Department of National Savings (as recorded in 
Table 3.13);

(c) changes in valuation of assets held by Bank of England 
Issue Department affecting the profits of the note issue;

(d) profits and losses of the Exchange Equalisation Account 
including the profit or loss from interest payments on 
borrowing under the exchange cover scheme.

Timeliness
See notes to Table 3.5.

Further references 

See notes to Table 3.5

Table 3.2
Inland revenue duties
The net receipt figures for each period represent the gross 
amounts of tax collected, as shown in the accounts of the 
department's various collecting offices, less repayments 
accounted for centrally in the same period. Figures are given 
for all the main heads of duty; the total includes small amounts 
of various obsolete duties. Amounts collected by the Board of 
Inland Revenue on behalf of other departments, chiefly 
national insurance contributions, are excluded.

From January 1974 receipts of estate duty and stamp duties 
from Northern Ireland are included: previously these were 
retained by the Government of Northern Ireland. The totals for 
the financial years (to 31 March) include revisions which can
not be allocated to particular months.

Remittances pass to the Consolidated Fund day by day as 
the banks pay over the proceeds of cheques lodged with them 
and the differences between the net receipts and the pay
ments into the Consolidated Fund for a particular period 
reflect the differences between the amounts 'in transit' at the 
beginning and end of the period.

Overspill Relief. As a result of the introduction of the 1965 
corporation tax system, certain United Kingdom companies 
with overseas trading income suffered a loss of tax credit relief 
to the extent that the foreign tax rate exceeded the 
corporation tax rate (the 'overspill'). As a measure of compen
sation for this loss of relief for foreign tax, Section 84 Finance 
Act 1965 provided that certain payments ('overspill relief) 
should be made to companies with overseas trading income. 
The payments were to be made in full for the first three years 
and thereafter be reduced by steps of 1/5th over each of the 
following four years before finishing at the end of 1972/73. 
However, in order to provide companies whose trading 
income is derived wholly or mainly from abroad with a further 
period to adjust to the introduction of the new imputation cor
poration tax system in 1973, Section 99 Finance Act 1972 
extended overspill relief for a further four years to 1976/77 at 
the rate in force for 1971/72, that is 2/5ths of the full rate. 
These payments of overspill relief are also included in Table 
3.1 under Expenditure: supply services.
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Timeliness
Receipts of Inland Revenue duties at the Department's various 
offices throughout the country are balanced each day and the 
totals for each duty are reported weekly to its Central 
Accounting Office for aggregation and reconciliation with the 
proceeds of cleared remittances, etc. Net receipt figures, ie 
after addition of amounts received centrally and deduction of 
repayments, are then produced weekly. The monthly figures 
appearing in Table 3.2 are based on the weekly net receipts, 
adjusted as necessary when the end of the week and the end 
of the month do not coincide.

Further references
Similar monthly figures appear in Table 17.3 of the Monthly 
Digest o f Statistics. Annual figures of Inland Revenue receipts 
back to 1908/09 appear in Table 1.1 of Inland Revenue Stat
istics 1978.

Table 3.3
Customs and excise duties
General definitions and method of compilation
The figures show the aggregate amounts of duty collected 
and brought into the department's accounts in the period less 
drawbacks and other repayments. The difference between the 
net receipts and payments into the Consolidated Fund is due 
to differences between balances. The balances consist of:
(a) working balances held by Collectors
(b) remittances In transit
(c) advances out of revenue to meet expenditure under 
authority of the Exchequer and Audit Department Act 1866, 
Section 10.

Excise duties
From 1 January 1976 for alcoholic drinks and hydrocarbon 
oils, and from 1 January 1978 for tobacco, the fiscal element in 
the former revenue duties was wholly replaced by new excise 
duties chargeable on imported and UK-produced goods alike. 
The protective element (except for tobacco) was replaced by 
separate protective duties chargeable under the Import Duties 
Act 1958, as amended by the European Communities Act 
1972; by 1 January 1978 those protective duties (or in the case 
of tobacco the protective element) had been replaced by the 
customs duties of the EEC Common Customs Tariff.

Alcoholic drinks: Duty on cider and perry was first 
introduced on 6 September 1976. The excise duties on home- 
produced beer, wine, made-wine, cider and perry are collected 
one month in arrears. Accordingly, changes in duty rates etc 
are not fully reflected in receipts until the month subsequent 
to that In which they became effective.

Tobacco products: The excise duty on tobacco is charged 
on the finished product and is collected a month in arrear. The 
revenue duty which was charged on raw tobacco leaf and 
imported products was abolished on 1 January 1978.

Purchase tax: This tax was abolished on 31 March 1973 
upon the introduction of VAT and car tax. Figures shown 
since that date relate to arrears of the tax still being collected.

1 •

Betting and gaming: Receipts under this heading are col- 
lected from the following:
(a) General betting duty 

Pool betting duty 
Gaming licence duty 
Gaming machine licence duty, and 
Bingo duty

Only items (a), (b) and (d) apply in Northern Ireland.
Hydrocarbon oils: These are receipts from excise duties on 

petrol and derv, ie road fuels; and on other chargeable oils eg 
heating, fuel and lubricating oils. There is no deferment period 
for payment of these duties.

Customs duties

Since 1 January 1978 these have been charged under Section 
5 of the European Communities Act 1972. They replaced 
duties charged under the Import Duties Act 1958, as amended 
by the European Communities Act 1972. In accordance with 
the Treaty of Accession to the EEC, duties on imports from 
other member states have been reduced in stages since 1973 
and were finally phased out on 1 July 1977, and except where 
special preferential arrangements have been negotiated the 
rates of duty on third country goods have been progressively 
aligned with the Common Customs Tariff. For convenience, 
anti-dumping and other duties, charged under directly applic
able Community Instruments, are included in this heading, eg 
certain Generalised System of Preference duties. Compen
satory and Agricultural Levies.

VVith effect from 1 January 1973 under EEC Directive 69/76, 
importers and their agents are allowed a 30 day deferment of 
payment of certain duties, of which the major item is customs 
duty (formerly protective duty).

Prior to the July 1979 issue customs duties were shown as 
protective duties.

Value added tax and car tax: VAT replaced purchase tax on 
1 April 1973. It is generally chargeable in respect of quarterly 
tax periods which are staggered in order to spread the flow of 
returns more evenly over the year. Thus one group (mainly 
retailers and partly exempt traders) has tax periods January to 
March, April to June etc, a second group, (mainly 
wholesalers) has tax periods February to April etc, and a third 
group (mainly manufacturers) has tax periods March to May 
etc but special arrangements applied for the first period.

The VAT is due not later than one month after the end of
the period. A taxable person who expects his input tax to 
exceed his output tax regularly (ie who will be claiming net 
refunds from the Department) may have a tax period of one 
month. The deferment provisions of EEC Directive 69/76 have 
also applied from 1 April 1973 to VAT on imported goods if it 
falls to be paid on importation.

Most traders registered for car tax (introduced on 1 April 
1973) have tax periods March to May, June to August etc, and 
the tax is due not later than one month after the end of the tax
period.

Shipbuilders' relief: Authorised under Section 2 of the 
Finance Act 1966, this is a relief of certain taxes which enter 
directly or indirectly into shipbuilding costs and Is payable on
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delivery of a ship. The amount shown in the table is the total 
payment made in the month /ess the contribution due from the 
Department of the Environment in respect of the motor vehicle 
licence duty element in the original payments.

Other: This heading consists of receipts of duty on 
matches, mechanical lighters, petrol substitutes and from 
excise licences.

Timeliness
Receipts of customs and excise duties under the various 
headings are balanced daily at Collectors' Offices throughout 
the country and the data are transmitted to the central 
accounting offices at Headquarters where the national 
accounts are compiled. VAT and car tax are paid directly to a 
central unit. Monthly accounts are produced initially in pro
visional form', and subsequently finalised after audit and 
adjustment for incorrect and late data. Provisional figures are 
usually published in the issue following that of the month to 
which they relate, followed by final figures two months later.

Further references
The information is published in similar form in Table 17.4 of 
the same month's issue of the l\/lonthly Digest o f Statistics.

A monthly detailed analysis of duty receipts from betting 
and gaming is published on subscription from HM Customs 
and Excise.

The most detailed analyses of the Department's financial 
year receipts, and the commodities and activities to which 
they relate, are published in the annual Reports o f the Com
missioners o f l-IIVI Customs and Excise.

Table 3.4
Taxes received by other departments
Selective employment tax: payments by employers: Estimates 
of the amounts paid by employers in each quarter. They differ 
from payments into the Consolidated Fund by:
(a) remittances in transit held by the Post Office and 

Department of Health and Social Security; and
(b) costs of collection, which are not deducted.

Selective employment payments: Cash payments made 
mainly by the Department of Employment. Refunds are repay
ments of the tax originally paid by employers. Additional pay
ments are amounts in excess of the original tax payments 
which were paid in respect of tax payments in the period up to 
31 March 1968 to all employers in manufacturing industry. In 
the following two years, to 31 March 1970, tax payments by 
employers in only the development areas qualified for 
additional payments; after which, additional payments were 
withdrawn altogether. Regional employment premiums are 
further payments to employers in manufacturing industry in 
the development areas.

M otor vehicle duties: net value o f licences issued: Gross 
receipts less refunds of revenue from motor vehicle licences 
and driving licences. The figures differ from the amount paid 
into the Consolidated Fund by:
(i) remittances in transit; and

(ii) payments to HM Customs and Excise in respect of the 
motor vehicle licence duty element of export rebates, 
which are not deducted.

Seaward activities: other: These figures cover oil and gas 
production and exploration licences and successful auction 
bids.

National insurance surcharge: levied on employers along 
with contributions paid in respect of employees by secondary 
Class 1 contributors. The tax base is the same as for national 
insurance contributions. Women paying reduced rate and the 
self-employed are exempt.

Table 3.5
IMational Loans Fund: net lending
The loans are shown net of repayments. Loans to nationalised 
industries are classified by purpose; thus Electricity covers the 
North of Scotland Hydro-Electric Board and the South of 
Scotland Electricity Board, as well as the Electricity Council; 
Aviation covers the British Airports Authority and British 
Airways Board, and Transport covers British Railways Board, 
British Transport Docks Board, British Waterways Board, 
National Freight Corporation, National Bus Company and 
Scottish Transport Group.

Loans are also made to other public corporations including 
New Towns, regional water authorities and the National 
Enterprise Board; to Trading Funds; to local authorities and 
harbour authorities; to the private sector covering housing 
associations, building societies, and British Nuclear Fuels Ltd; 
and within the central government, eg advances to the 
Northern Ireland Government.

Timeliness
The figures in Tables 3.1 and 3.5 are published in the month 
following the period to which they relate. Some of the figures 
for Other central government funds and accounts and the 
figure for the central government borrowing requirement (net 
balance) will be provisional. Firm figures for these items are 
published in due course.

Further references
The data in Tables 3.1 and 3.5 for the coming month are 
published in the Treasury Press Notice Central government 
transactions (including borrowing requirement) earlier that 
month and is also reproduced in M onthly Digest o f Statistics 
as Tables 17.1 and 17.2

Tables 3.6 and 3.7
Current and capital accounts of the 
central government including IMational 
Insurance Fund
The figures are derived mainly from returns giving cash 
payments and receipts for the various funds and accounts; but 
in order to maintain consistency with the basis on which 
certain transactions are recorded in other sectors it is
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necessary to replace some items' cash figures with accrued 
figures. These items are identified in the notes below.

The transactions in both the current and capital accounts 
are shown seasonally adjusted as well as unadjusted. The 
adjustments are such that the calendar year totals of the 
seasonally adjusted series are equal to those of the unadjusted 
series, ie the seasonally adjusted series is calendar year 
constrained.

Receipts, Current account. Table 3.6
Taxes on income covers income tax, surtax, petroleum 
revenue tax and corporation tax less overspill relief. Income 
tax is recorded on an accruals basis consistent with the way it 
is recorded in the accounts of the other sectors, ie as the tax 
deductions from income are actually made. The difference 
between these accruals and the actual amounts received by 
the Inland Revenue is included in the capital account as an
accruals adjustment.

Taxes on expenditure consists of taxes which enter into 
costs of production and distribution, such as taxes on 
tobacco, value added tax, selective employment tax, national 
insurance surcharge, etc. Also treated as taxes on expenditure 
are taxes on final buyers associated with the purchase, 
possession or use of particular goods, for instance motor 
vehicle licence duties and stamp duties on the transfer of 
property. Any fees and licences paid for services which the 
government alone can provide, for example passport fees, are 
included, but fees and receipts for services rendered in cases 
where the government does not enjoy a monopoly or com
pulsory powers, and where there is a clear link between the 
payment and the acquisition of goods and services, such as 
payments for treatment under the national health service, are 
treated as a deduction from final consumption. The figures for 
selective employment tax, national insurance surcharge, 
purchase tax, value added tax, car tax and royalties represent 
the amount of these taxes accruing during the period rather 
than the actual receipts.

National insurance, national health. Redundancy Fund and 
Maternity Pay Fund contributions are the aggregate of the 
estimated employers' and employees' contributions. Fol
lowing the introduction of the new system of earnings-related 
contributions in April 1975, they are shown in the account on 
an accruals basis.

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading receipts over
trading expenditure before deducting any provision for
depreciation or interest charges. It excludes the income arising
from the ownership and letting of land, buildings, and other
fixed assets which appears as Rent, but includes income from
the ownership of property used for government trading 
activities.

Interest etc from local authorities includes interest on loans, 
the premium payable under the exchange cover scheme and 
the income of the National Insurance Fund and the Issue 
Department of the Bank of England in respect of its 
investment in local authorities debt.

Interest and dividends etc. from public corporations 
includes interest on loans, dividends on public dividend capital 
and the premium payable under the exchange cover scheme.
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Other interest and dividends etc. includes interest on loans 
to the private sector, dividends on shareholdings and the 
investment income of certain extra-budgetary funds received 
from outside the public sector. It also includes receipts from 
the banking sector of any excess income arising from its fixed 
rate credit scheme lending; this is recorded on an accrued 
basis.

Imputed charge fo r consumption o f non-trading capital. 
The provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is charged to 
current expenditure as capital consumption and generates an 
equal notional receipt

Expenditure, Current account. Table 3.6
Final consumption relates to non-trading activities, and 
consists of payments for the services of employees, capital 
consumption, and purchases of goods and services other than 
purchases of fixed assets and stocks. For certain items cash 
payments do not accurately represent the expenditure being 
incurred, since they are subject to either random fluctuations 
of timing {eg military defence purchases of goods and ser
vices) or periodic payments (eg rates on government property) 
and are likely to be inconsistent with the transactions recorded 
by other sectors. The method of dealing with this problem is 
to redistribute the cash figures over the financial year generally 
assuming a smooth trend of expenditure during the year.

Subsidies are payments to a producer or trader having the 
effect of reducing selling prices to final buyers. For consis
tency with the accounts o.' other sectors, certain subsidies are 
recorded on an accruals basis.

National insurance benefits represents current grants to the 
personal sector but excludes payments to non-residents which 
are treated as current grants paid abroad.

Other current grants to personal sector. The figures 
included for rent rebates are the payments made from the 
housing revenue accounts of local authorities. The difference 
between these figures and the payments made by centra! 
government into the accounts is included within Accruals 
adjustments in the central government account.

Debt interest relates to central government debt held by 
other sectors. The payments include those made to local 
authorities and public corporations arising from guaranteeing 
interest payments on borrowing under the exchange cover 
scheme. It also includes payments to the banking sector to 
cover any loss of income arising from its fixed rate credit 
scheme lending; this is recorded on an accrued basis.

Receipts, Capital account. Table 3.7
Accruals adjustments. These are the adjustments made to the 
central government cash figures of receipts and expenditure 
for consistency with the basis on which the transactions are 
recorded in other sectors. If an accruals series is on the 
receipts side of the account the accruals adjustment is added 
to obtain the equivalent cash receipts figure. Accruals series 
on the expenditure side of the account are converted to a cash 
basis by subtracting the accruals adjustment.

Taxes on capital. The main items are death duties and taxes 
on capital gains.
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Transactions concerning certain public sector pension 
schemes are mainly the net receipts of total pension contri
butions less pensions actually paid in respect of unfunded 
pension schemes.

Miscellaneous financial receipts is the residual item in the 
tables and includes timing adjustments relating to transactions 
within central government.

Borrowing requirement indicates the extent to which the 
government borrows from other sectors of the economy to 
finance the balance of expenditure and receipts arising from its 
various activities. A sizeable part of the borrowing is used to 
finance central government lending to local authorities and 
public corporations. The borrowing requirement is measured 
by reference to the transactions by which central government 
finances its borrowing; details of how the borrowing is 
financed are given in the following tables (3.8 to 3.14).

Payments, Capital account. Table 3.7
Gross domestic fixed capita! formation  is distinguished from 
final consumption in that it creates physical assets which will 
provide services in the future.

Capital transfers to public corporations excludes trans
actions in connection with writing off debt.

Net lending to private sector includes refinanced ship
building credits.

Net lending to public corporations excludes transactions in 
connection with writing off debt.

Net lending overseas: other includes refinanced export 
credits.

Timeliness
The statistics are normally published four months after the 
quarter end.

Further references
The central government current account with an accompany
ing commentary is also published in the January, April, July 
and October issues of Economic Trends; a longer run of 
quarterly data appears In the October issue.

Further information is included in Chapter IX National 
Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods and in the notes to 
the National Income and Expenditure Blue Book. Annual 
figures for the latest eleven years, giving a detailed analysis of 
a number of the items, are published in the National Income 
and Expenditure Blue Book. Quarterly figures consistent with 
this publication are published in the September issue of 
Financial Statistics, and for the current account a longer run 
appears in the October issue of Economic Trends.

Table 3.8
Financing of the central government 
borrowing requirement
Unlike governments in some other countries, the UK 
government has virtually no cash balances to draw on, nor

does it build up temporary surpluses, seasonal or otherwise, 
on a bank account for use when required. Any excess of 
government payments over receipts is matched by an increase 
in the amount of debt held outside the central government; 
any excess of receipts over payments is matched by a reduc
tion of such debt.

Table 3.8 includes the main debt instruments through which 
the central government borrows to finance the central govern
ment borrowing requirement (CGBR). The table is in two 
parts. The first part gives details of the changes in the financial 
assets and liabilities of the central government which in 
aggregate match the borrowing requirement. The second part 
shows the changes in the net indebtedness of the central 
government to each sector by giving estimates of the total 
amount of government debt acquired by each of the different 
sectors, changes in the official reserves being included in the 
figures for the overseas sector. The estimated changes in net 
indebtedness recorded in the second part of the table arise not 
only from transactions between the government and other 
sectors, but also from transactions between the various non
government sectors. These changes can be regarded as a 
measure of each sector's contribution towards financing the 
central government's borrowing requirement. In order to 
maintain consistency with the treatment followed in the 
financial accounts, notes and coin acquired by Scottish and 
Northern Ireland banks, to cover increases in notes issued by 
them, are excluded from the figures for the banking sector and 
included in the figures for the other sectors.

In Table 3.8 the flow of funds which finances the CGBR is 
shown as a positive figure. Negative figures indicate a flow of 
funds which increases the need for more borrowing.

Definition of items
Net indebtedness to the Bank o f England, Banking Depart
ment: The government has a net liability to the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England, which holds government 
debt of various kinds and at the same time has liabilities to the 
government, in the shape of the balances of the National 
Loans Fund and the Paymaster General at the Bank of 
England.

This item comprises the sum of the increases in the 
following assets of the Banking Department: holdings of bank 
notes and coin; holdings of tax instruments; British govern
ment securities; holdings of Treasury bills; holdings of 
Treasury interest-free notes; less increases in the liabilities of 
the Banking Department (ie in the balances of the National 
Loans Fund and Paymaster General at the Bank of England).

The amount of the government's net liability changes as a 
result of the Bank of England's central banking operations. A 
rise in this net liability helps to finance the government's 
borrowing requirement.

Notes and coin: includes both the increase in notes in 
circulation (that is the increase in the fiduciary note issue less 
the increase in the holding of notes in the Banking Department 
of the Bank of England) and the increase in issued coin.

National savings: Net receipts from the sale of national 
savings certificates, defence bonds, national development 
bonds, British savings bonds, premium savings bonds,
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national savings bank gift tokens and national savings stamps 
(withdrawn from sale on 31 December 1976), p/us Xhe 
estimated increase in accrued interest on national savings 
certificates. It also includes the net increase in deposits 
(including accrued interest) with the National Savings Bank 
and, until 3rd quarter 1979, the Trustee savings banks 
(ordinary departments) and net receipts under the government 
Save As You Earn scheme. The figures record changes in 
savings at the time when payments and withdrawals are made
by the public.

Tax instruments comprises the following items:
Tax reserve certificates: Net receipts from the issue of 

tax reserve certificates less net purchases by the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England. No new tax reserve 
certificates were issued to companies after the end of 1971 
nor to persons after June 1973.

Tax deposit accounts: Net receipts from deposits less 
withdrawals. This scheme, introduced for companies in 
April 1973 was terminated in October 1974.
Certificates o f tax deposit: Net receipts from deposits less 

withdrawals plus items in transit. These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975.

Treasury bills: The change in Treasury bills outstanding 
other than those held by the National Debt Commissioners 
(but including the National Savings Bank Investment Fund) 
and other government departments, the Bank of England, and 
overseas monetary authorities. (The counterpart of central 
bank assistance in support of the reserves in the form of 
swaps against sterling forms part of Overseas officia l 
financing).

British government securities: Total cash issues of British 
government and government guaranteed securities less 
redemptions including the operations of government sinking 
funds, and less net purchases of government and government 
guaranteed securities by the Bank of England and the National 
Debt Commissioners (excluding the National Savings Bank 
Investment Fund),

Government guaranteed stock {redemptions): This 
represents payments to the central government by 
nationalised industries for the redemption of their government 
guaranteed stock at maturity. All redemptions of government 
guaranteed stock held by the public are treated as being made 
by the central government (the Bank of England Issue 
Department), which may itself hold amounts of stock pur
chased in the market prior to redemption. All transactions with 
the public in government guaranteed stocks (including 
purchases at redemption) are included in the item British 
government securities.

Local authority debt and commercial bills: Market 
transactions by the Issue Department of the Bank of England, 
and from second quarter of 1975 by the National Insurance 
Fund.

Northern Ireland centra! government debt: This item 
consists of net sales of Northern Ireland government secur
ities, Northern Ireland Treasury bills, Ulster saving certificates 
and Ulster development bonds together with the increase in 
bank and building society advances to the Northern Ireland 
central government. Borrowing by the Northern Ireland gov-
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ernment under the exchange cover scheme is included under 
Overseas officia l financing: other.

Cost o f exchange cover scheme on repayment o f principal: 
There are two ways in which borrowing in foreign currency 
can be undertaken, direct from overseas or through the UK 
banks. In either case, the local authority or public corporation 
may decide to make use of the Exchange Cover Scheme. If 
they do, central government guarantees to cover any addition 
to the sterling cost of interest payments and repayment of the 
loan arising from a fall in the exchange rate between the time 
the loan is negotiated and the time it is repaid (conversely 
central government would benefit in the event of sterling 
appreciation). Losses and gains arising on interest payments 
are included under central government Expenditure: Debt 
interest in Table 3.6. Only the cost of guaranteeing repay
ments of principal is recorded in Table 3.8

It is important to note that, in practice, no payments as such 
occur, ie. the exchange losses or gains are purely notional. 
Under the exchange cover scheme, the beneficiary—a local 
authority or public corporation—is entitled to purchase the 
foreign currency needed to repay the loan (interest) at the 
original exchange rate from the Exchange Equalisation 
Account. However in the local authorities' and the public 
corporations' accounts (Tables 4.3 and 5.2/5.3) repayments 
of borrowing are shown at the current market exchange rate in 
line with the balance of payments statistics. The item Cost o f 
exchange cover scheme on repayments o f principal is needed 
as an adjustment to bring the figures back to an original 
exchange rate basis. A charge is made by central government 
for the guarantee. This is included under central government 
Receipts: Interest and dividends etc. in Table 3.6.

Other non marketable debt: comprises ways and means 
advances by the National Coal Board and National Savings 
Bank Investment account, repayments by the Fund for the 
Banks for Savings to the Trustee savings banks and deposits 
by the British Gas Corporation with the National Loans Fund.

Direct borrowing [net) from overseas governments and 
institutions: This heading covers the following items which 
appear in the detailed capital account of the central govern
ment given in Table 7.2 of National Income and Expenditure 
Blue Book 1979 edition:

borrowing from overseas governments less repayments; 
miscellaneous direct borrowing (net) from overseas 
governments and institutions; and 

(c) less capital subscriptions in sterling to the International
Monetary Fund.
Exchange Equalisation Account's loss on forward commit
ments after the 1967 devaluation (shown as a separate 
item in the National Income Blue Book).

(e) the allocation of Special Drawing Rights by the Inter
national Monetary Fund, and
subscription in gold to the International Monetary Fund; 

(g) purchases of £395 million in 2nd quarter 1977 by overseas 
holders (mainly central monetary institutions) of HM gov
ernment foreign currency bonds.

Overseas official financing: This heading covers:
Net change in official reserves (other than the increases 

arising from the transfer in February 1966 and November 1967
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of the government's portfolio of dollar securities). The fourth 
quarter of 1967 excludes the increase in sterling value upon 
devaluation. From 23 August 1971 valued in sterling at 
transactions rates of exchange, and previously at parity; and

Other covers the following items which are shown in the
National Income Blue Book:
(a) the counterpart issue in Treasury bills of central bank 

assistance in support of the reserves in the form of swaps 
against sterling;

(bl net drawings from, /ess repayments to, International 
Monetary Fund;

(c) the change In foreign currency deposits by other overseas 
monetary authorities;

it also includes from 1971
(d) amounts swapped forward in transactions with overseas 

monetary authorities; and
(e) net drawings in the euro-dollar facilities arranged through 

UK and foreign banks to borrow $2.5 billion (announced in 
March 1974 Budget) and $1.5 billion (announced in 
January 1977) and a $350 million bond issue in New York 
in April 1976.
borrowing by the Northern Ireland government under the 
exchange cover scheme in 1st quarter 1979.

(f)

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics three 
months after the end of the quarter to which they relate.

Table 3.9
Government and government guaranteed
marketable securities
The table is in two parts; the first half shows cash issues, 
redemptions and net purchases and the second half an 
analysis of transactions by sector as derived from the flow of 
funds accounts. The notes in Section 1, page 19, give details 
of sectorisation.
Cash issues, redemptions and net purchases: Columns 1 and 2 
of this section of the table show the gross amounts of money 
raised by the issue of stock and the total redemptions of stock 
during the quarter concerned. The rest of the table analyses 
the net purchases between the 'authorities' and 'others', 
(including classification according to maturity)

Issues and redemptions: gives a detailed list of the specific 
securities included in the first two columns of the above.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics two 
months in arrears.

Further references
This information with some additional detail is published in the
Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin.
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Table 3.10
Treasury bill tender and Bank of England's
minimum lending rate
The figures relate to the weekly Treasury bill tender and the 
Bank of England's minimum lending rate.

The Treasury bill is the main instrument available to the 
government for raising short-term finance. Bills maturing in 
ninety-one days are issued each week (normally on a Friday) 
by tender, and bills of any maturity up to (normally) ninety-one 
days may be issued at any time direct to government depart
ments and other official holders. Bills Issued to the public at 
the tender may subsequently be bought for official portfolios, 
and those issued direct to official holders may subsequently be 
sold to the market.

Each week, the members of the London Discount Market 
Association agree to tender for at least the full amount of bills 
on offer, thus ensuring that the banking system acts as the 
residual form of government financing and that the 
government always obtains the amount it requires. This also 
enables the Bank of England, if they so wish, to create a short
age of funds in the money market through varying the amount 
of bills offered at the tender. The shortages created enable the 
Bank to influence the money markets in such form and at such 
rates as may accord with current monetary policy.

Up to September 1971 the members of the association ten
dered each week at a price agreed between themselves. With 
the introduction of the new arrangements for the control of 
credit, a syndicated bid price was no longer consistent with 
the competition which the arrangements were intended to 
promote, and the houses now therefore submit bids of a size 
(at or above their agreed minimum), and at prices, of their 
own choosing. As a result, the total amount of the tender 
remains fully covered by the houses, but no longer at a 
common price. The deposit banks, although not precluded, 
do not usually tender for Treasury bills for their own account, 
though they do submit tenders on behalf of their customers. 
Bills they require for their own account are normally obtained 
from the discount market, who hold the bills obtained at suc
cessive tenders as a stock-in-trade to meet the banks' require
ments.

The Bank of England's minimum lending rate to the market, 
formerly called Bank rate, is the rate at which the Bank will 
normally provide funds at last resort to a member of the 
London Discount Market Association by lending against 
security of Treasury bills, other approved bills, or Government 
stocks with five years or less to maturity. Between 13 October 
1972 and 24 May 1978 it was normally set Vz per cent higher 
than the average rate of discount for Treasury bills established 
at the weekly tender, rounded to the nearest V4 per cent above 
and effective, for lending by the Bank, from the following 
working day. However, special changes in the rate were not 
precluded under this system in which event the announce
ment was normally made at midday on Thursdays, the new 
rate became effective immediately and the operation of the 
normal formula suspended until market rates had moved into 
line. On 11 March 1977, these arrangements were modified in
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one respect: in cases where the operation of the formula 
would have brought about a reduction in the rate, the Bank 
reserved the right, exceptionally, either to leave the rate 
unchanged, or to change it by less than would result from the 
operation of the formula. On 25 May 1978 it was announced 
that the rate would in future be determined by administrative 
decision and any change would normally be announced at 
12.30 pm. on a Thursday; the new rate for lending by the Bank 
would become effective immediately.

Timeliness
Details of the tender and changes in minimum lending rate are 
normally announced by the Bank of England each Friday and 
reported in the financial press the following day. The weekly 
figures up to the end of each month appear in Financial 
Statistics about the end of the month following.

Further references
Less detailed weekly figures also appear in the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin and the full series is carried back to 
January 1970 in the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract No. 
2. For details of the minimum lending rate actual date of 
change see Table 13.11.

Table 3.11
Treasury bills
The table gives a sector analysis by holder at the end of period 
together with an analysis of transactions by sector of holder 
derived from the Flow of Funds accounts; details are 
described in Section 1, page 19.
Market Treasury bills are the total of Treasury bills outstanding 
other than those held by the National Debt Commissioners 
(apart from the National Savings Bank Investment Fund), 
other government departments and the Bank of England. 
They comprise bills issued at the weekly tenders, other than 
those issued to the Banking Department of the Bank of 
England for its own account, plus any bills—including bills 
originally issued outside the tender (tap bills) —sold to the 
market by government departments or the Bank of England 
less any bills purchased from tne market by such bodies.

The groups of holders used in this table have the same 
coverage as those in the analysis of transactions in 
government marketable debt in the financial accounts. See 
also notes to Table 3.10.

Timeliness

Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics three 
months in arrears.

Further references
End-financial year figures of official and total market holdings 
appear in the Annual Abstract o f Statistics, Table 16.16 
(1980); quarterly transactions by holders are also available in 
the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin and the Bank o f 
England Statistical Abstract.

(7

Table 3.12
Tax instruments

Tax reserve certificates: On 27 June 1966 separate certificates 
were introduced for persons and for companies —at different 
rates of interest and usable in settlement of different taxes. 
From that date the figures for issues relate strictly to the 
amounts received by the central government on account of 
personal and company tax reserve certificates, respectively. 
The figures of surrenders, however, include the amounts paid 
out by the central government on account of the previous type 
of certificate.

Those of the earlier type issued to, or surrendered by, indi
viduals, partnerships and private firms have been entered 
under Personal and all others under Company. In December 
1971, the government announced that the Tax reserve certifi
cate scheme would be dropped. No new company certificates 
have been issued since 31 December 1971 but a final personal 
issue was made from 3 January 1972 to 29 June 1973.

Tax deposit accounts: This type of deposit introduced in the 
1973 Budget to operate from April 1973 provides a rate of 
interest at the average Treasury bill rate pips a bonus of IV i 
per cent per annum if the deposit were used to meet 'main
stream' corporation tax liabilities (the concession was not 
available if the deposits were used to pay advance corporation 
tax in connection with a dividend). The scheme was termina
ted on 8 October 1974. Deposits held in accounts after 8 
October had to be applied in satisfaction of tax or withdrawn 
for cash within the period ended 1 January 1977.

Certificates o f tax deposit: These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975 and are available to taxpayers gen
erally. Minimum deposits of £2,000 are accepted by the Inland 
Revenue and until further notice will earn interest at varying 
rates when applied to payment of income tax (other than 
PAYE and tax deducted from payments to sub-contractors), 
corporation tax (including advanced corporation tax), capital 
gains tax, capital transfer tax, petroleum revenue tax and 
(since July 1979) petroleum royalties and at a lower rate when 
withdrawn for cash. The interest is paid gross and taxable. If 
the certificate is applied in payment of tax and the deposit is 
held for more than six months, a bonus may be payable com
mencing six months from the date of deposit. Details of the 
interest rates, bonuses and nominal amounts outstanding at 
the end of the year are given in Table 13.8.

The general title tax instruments has been used in tables 
when all these types are referred to collectively.

The analysis by sector shows net transactions in tax instru
ments as identified in the flow of funds accounts. The central 
government's transactions are total net issues (with sign 
reversed) plus items in transit—differences between net issues 
as recorded by the Inland Revenue and the amounts recorded 
in the central government accounts are due to items in transit. 
From 2nd quarter 1978 figures are included for public corpor
ations and are based on transactions identified from returns 
from certain nationalised industries. Figures for the banking 
sector are derived from the banking statistics, other financial 
institutions are mainly from building societies' accounts, pub-
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lie corporations (since 2nd quarter 1978) are from the Inland 
Revenue and industrial and commercial companies is the 
residual item. Personal sector transactions are net issues of 
personal certificates as shown in the Inland Revenue accounts 
in the upper half of the table, adjusted for items in transit.

are published in 
The analysis by

Timeliness
Quarterly figures of issues and surrenders 
Financial Statistics one month in arrears, 
sector is available three months in arrears.

Further references
Quarterly figures of transactions by the banking, public 
corporations and domestic non-bank private sectors are 
published in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin and in the 
Bank of England Abstracts. Amounts outstanding at the end 
of each financial year are shown in the Annual Abstract o f 
Statistics, Table 16.16 (1980).

Tables 3.13 and 3.14
National savings
The figures relate to National Savings facilities which are 
provided by the State, or are under State supervision, and 
which are designed primarily for the small saver. The main 
legislation is contained in the National Loans Act 1968; the 
Trustee Savings Bank Acts 1969 and 1976; the National 
Savings Bank Act 1971; the National Debt Act 1972; and in 
Regulations deriving from these Acts.

From the November 1979 issue no new figures are added to 
the Trustee savings banks (Ordinary or New department) 
columns, with the amalgamation of the departments on 21 
November 1979; for statistical purposes the change is being 
recorded from 30 September. Combined figures for all Trustee 
savings banks are given in Table 8.2 thereafter.

Table 3.13 shows the range of facilties on offer. The 
National Savings Bank (NSB) has an Ordinary department and 
there is also the NSB Investment account.

The financial accounts
The figures shown for National savings in the financial 
accounts and supporting tables (Tables 1 .2 ,1 .3 ,1 .7  and 10.2) 
and in the financing of the central government borrowing 
requirement (Table 3.8) do not include the full range of facil
ities, but relate only to National Savings Certificates, Save As 
You Earn, British Savings Bonds, Premium Savings Bonds, 
National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens and the Ordinary 
deposits of the NSB. The NSB Investment account does not 
form part of the central government sector in the financial 
accounts; it is considered to be a financial institution. Con
sequently, deposits with it are not part of National savings as 
defined here, but are included in the other financial institutions 
as deposits w ith savings banks. Sales of stocks from the 
National Savings Stock Register are included as public sector 
sales of British government securities to persons (Tables 1.3 
and 3.9).

Transactions are taken to be transactions by persons except 
that since the second quarter of 1977 certain building societies
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and pension funds have held accounts with the NSB Invest
ment account.

(Tables
National

1.7 and 
Savings

Figures for the personal sector 
10 .2 )—except for securities on the 
register—are split into three headings:
(a) National Savings Deposits, National Savings Bank 

Ordinary account and before 30 September 1979 Trustee 
savings banks' Ordinary department

(b) National Savings Certificates and bonds—including 
British Savings Bonds, Premium Savings Bonds, Save as 
You Earn and National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens

(c) Deposits with savings banks —NSB Investment account, 
TSB New department deposits and, from 1 October 1979, 
TSB savings accounts

The public sector f igures (Table 1.3) are those in the 
central government borrowing requirement (Table 3.8) and 
consist of the National savings figures, defined above (a) and 
(b) for the personal sector. Deposits with savings banks, 
defined above (c), appear as part of the other financial insti
tutions (OFI) sector transactions (Tables 1.5 and 8.1).

Figures are not recorded at the time when payments and 
withdrawals are made by the public at post offices and other 
agencies (mainly banks); they are a record of the movement of 
monies into and out of the Director of Savings account with 
the Bank of England.

Definition of items
The columns in respect of National Savings Certificates show 
purchases; repayments of principal and accrued interest/ 
index-linked increase; accrued interest/index-linked increase; 
and amounts of principal and accrued interest/index-linked 
increase remaining invested at the end of the period. The 
special features of the index-linked Retirement Issue require 
separate presentation.

Data for Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) First and Second Issues 
includes the number of contracts with the Department for 
National Saving (DNS) and TSBs combined, in force at the 
end of the period; the amount subscribed; repayments of 
principal and accrued interest/bonus; accrued interest/bonus; 
and amounts of principal and accrued interest/bonus 
remaining invested at the end of the period. Similar 
information is shown separately for the index-linked SAYE 
which is administered by DNS only. The figures do not include 
SAYE administered by the building societies, see notes to 
Tables 8.6 to 8.8

Index-linked increase is the amount by which the capital 
invested, in order to retain its original value, would have to be 
increased by revaluing in line with the Retail Prices Index.

Index-linked increase is shown only for National Savings 
certificates and not for SAYE at present. If an index-linked 
SAYE contract is repaid before maturity only interest at 6% 
(except in death cases) is payable (provided the contract has 
been in force for over a year). The terms of the amount of the 
repayment on individual Retirement issue certificates will 
depend upon the purchase date and therefore upon the RPI 
applicable to the month of purchase.

British Savings Bonds and Premium Savings Bonds are 
analysed by purchases and repayments and the amounts
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remaining invested at the end of the period. Repayments of 
British Savings are shown for those that have been redeemed 
before maturity and those which have been repaid on
maturity.

Statistics for the NSB are split between the Ordinary and 
the Investment account services for each of which deposits, 
withdrawals, accrued interest and balance at the end of the 
period are shown. The same information appears for the TSB 
Ordinary departments up to 30 September 1979. A total is 
given for the amount outstanding for other securities on the 
National Savings Stock Register as well as for National 
Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens deemed to be in the hands of 
the public.

Table 3,14 is an analysis of changes in totals outstanding 
and of net receipts for the various National Savings facilities.

Changes in totals outstanding are the differences in the 
amounts outstanding including interest between one period 
and the next.

Net receipts in period are the net figures of new deposits 
over withdrawals in the period. For National Savings Certifi
cates and SAVE the amounts of interest/bonus/index-linked 
Increase repaid are Included in withdrawals.

Publication sequence
The previous calendar month's estimated figures are first pub
lished in a press notice, issued by the Department for Nat
ional Savings usually on the 3rd or 4th Sunday in the month. 
The figures next appear, also towards the end of the month, in 
Financial Statistics with revised figures for the earlier months 
as more up to date information becomes available.

At any point in time the most recent figures appearing in 
Tables 3,13 and 3.14 (for services other than savings banks)

are provisional estimates. After 3 months firm figures are sub
stituted which, except for National Savings Certificates are 
calendar monthly figures. Such revisions are part of a con
tinuous process and are usually insignificant.

M ethod of compilation

All statistics are obtained from official DNS sources and the 
Treasury, with the exception of those for continuing trans
actions made at TSBs which are supplied by the National Debt 
Office. The figures are collated by DNS to provide the entries 
in Table 3.13 and 3.14.

Further references

National savings information is available in less detail in the 
Monthly Digest o f Statistics, Table 17.14.

Quarterly figures of both the number and value of SAVE 
accounts opened and closed, and balances outstanding, are 
shown for both DNS and TSBs in a quarterly supplementary 
table in Financial Statistics, together with information on 
SAVE transacted through building societies.

The Annual Abstract o f Statistics, Table 16.15 (1980), pro
vides long annual series (usually covering the last 10 years) of 
statistics on a financial year basis.

The Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin includes national 
savings statistics in the table 'Analysis of government debt' 
and the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract No 2 contains the 
same information for the vears 1963 to 1975.

The Digest o f Welsh Statistics, the Scottish Abstract o f 
Statistics and the Digest o f Statistics, Northern Ireland 
provide data on investment and repayments relating to the 
three areas.
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Annex to Tables 3.13 and 
3.14
Terms

The terms offered on the main forms of national savings on sale from
1973 onwards, giving the dates from which the changes were 
operative, are shown below. The standard rates of income tax were:

1972/73 ............................................................... 38-75 per cent
1973/74 ...............................................................  30-00 per cent
1974/75 ...............................................................  33-00 per cent
1975/76— 1976/77 ............................................ 35-00 percent
1977/78 ...............................................................  34-00 percent
1978/79 ...............................................................  33-00 per cent
1979/80 ...............................................................  30-00 per cent

National savings certificates: Interest is free of income tax and 
capital gains tax.

1970 5 October Decimal issue, £1 units. Compound interest if held 
for four years £5-7314 per cent per annum; if held for six years 
£6-96 per cent per annum; if held for ten years £7-36 per cent 
per annum. Maximum holding £500, increased to £1000 on 1 
April 1971, increased to £1500 on 7 March 1973.

1974 17June 14th issue, £1 units. Compound interest if held for four 
years £7-59 per cent per annum; if held for six years, £7*58 per 
cent per annum. Maximum holding £1000 increased to £3000 on 
1 July 1978.

1975 2 June Retirement issue (index-linked). Available to people 
of national retirement pension age in £10 units, and may be held 
for five years. Repayment value related to the movement of the 
UK Retail Prices Index between purchase date and repayment, 
except that if encashed within one year of purchase repayment 
at face value only. A  bonus of £4 per cent of the purchase price 
will be added to certificates repaid on or after fifth anniversary of 
purchase date. A t no time will repayment value be less than 
purchase price. Index-linked increase and bonus free of income 
tax and capital gains tax. Maximum holding £5(X), increased to 
£700 on 2 October 1978.

1976 13 December Sale of 14th issue suspended. 16th Issue. £5 
units. Compound Interest if held for four years £8-78 per cent 
per annum. Maximum holding £1500.

1977 1 April 14th issue re-introduced. Terms unchanged, but 
minimum purchase raised to £5.

1979 29 January Sale of 14th issue suspended. 18th issue; £10 units. 
Compound interest if held for five years £8-45 per cent per 
annum. Maximum holding £15(X).

1980 4 February. Sale of 18th issue suspended. 19th issue, £10 units. 
Compound interest if held for five years £10-33 per cent per 
annum. Maximum holding £1,500.

British savings bonds: First issued 1 April 1968. Sold for £5 and mul
tiples of £5. Interest payable half-yearly, is assessable for Income tax; 
bonuses are free of income tax, capital gains tax and corporation tax.

1971 3 May 2nd issue 7 per cent. Maximum holding £10,000. 
Bonus £3 per cent if held for five years. Equivalent to £7-88 per 
cent per annum annual net redemption yield when grossed up 
for Income tax at 38 - 75 per cent, or £7 - 75 per cent at 30 per cent 
tax, or £7 - 80 per cent at 33 per cent tax, or £7 - 81 per cent at 34 
per cent tax, or £7-82 per cent at 35 per cent tax.

1973 7 May 1st Issue SVi per cent. Maximum holding £10,000. 
Bonus £3 per cent if held for five years. Equivalent to £9-24 per 
cent per annum annua! net redemption yield when grossed up 
for income tax at 30 per cent or £9-28 per cent at 33 per cent tax,

or £9-30 per cent at 35 per cent tax, or £9-29 per cent at 34 per 
cent tax.

1974 3 June 1st issue 914 per cent. Maximum holding £10,000. 
Bonus £3 per cent if held for five years. Equivalent to £10-27 per 
cent per annum annual net redemption yield when grossed up 
for income tax at 33 per cent, or £10*29 per cent at 35 per cent 
tax, or £10*28 per cent at 34 per cent tax.

1976 2 August Jubilee issue 814 per cent. Maximum holding 
£10,OCX). Bonus £4 per cent if held for five years. Equivalent to 
£9*57 per cent per annum annual net redemption yield when 
grossed up for income tax at 35 per cent, or £9 • 55 per cent at 34 
per cent tax, or £9*53 per cent at 33 per cent tax.

1978 20 November 2nd issue, 9/4 per cent. Maximum holding 
£10,000. Bonus £4 per cent if held for five years. Equivalent to 
£10*52 per cent per annum annual net redemption yield when 
grossed up for income tax at 33 per cent, or £10*47 per cent at 
30 per cent tax.

1979 31 December 2nd issue, 9!4 per cent withdrawn; no further 
sales.

The net redemption yield is obtained by adding to the rate of 
interest {/ess income tax at standard rate) the tax-free bonuses 
discounted over the life of the bond.

Save As You Earn Schem e: Parallel schemes were operated by the 
Department for National Savings and the trustee savings banks, until 
the introduction of the index-linked issue which is administered by the 
Department for National Savings only.' Interest, index-linked increase 
and bonuses are free of income tax and capital gains tax.

1969 1 October 1st issue (Series 1). Fixed monthly payments of £1 
to £10 contracted for five years. Terms as follows:
(a) 5 year bonus equal to 12 monthly contributions at a nominal 

annual rate of £6-99!4 per cent compounded monthly. 
Equivalent to an effective annual rate of £7-22 per cent. 
Alternatively for savings left Invested for a further 2 years:

(b) 7 year bonus equal to 24 monthly contributions at nominal 
annual rate of £7-41 per cent compounded monthly for 5 
years and annually for 2 years. Equivalent to an effective 
annual rate of £7-56 per cent or:

(c) 8 year bonus equal to 30 monthly contributions, the rate for 
the eighth year being £7*14 per cent or:

(d) 9 year (the final) bonus equal to 37 monthly contributions, 
the rate for the ninth year being £7-78 per cent:

(e) no interest paid for savings withdrawn in first year of 
contract's registration;

(f) 2 V2 per cent per annum is paid on savings withdrawn after 
first but before end of fifth year (but see (i));

(g) 414 per cent per annum is paid on savings left for remainder 
of full 5 years and thereafter to 7 years after payments have 
been discontinued and contracts lapse; and

(h) 6 per cent per annum is paid on savings left for remainder of 
full 7 years and thereafter to 9 years after payments have 
been discontinued and contracts lapse; and

(i) 4 >2 per cent per annum is paid on sums subscribed over a 
complete year by a deceased contractor.

1971 1 September 1st issue ISeries 2)
As for Series 1 except that maximum monthly payment 
increased to £20. There is no 8 or 9 year bonus. Paragraph (h) 
above does not apply.

1974 1 July 2nd issue. Maximum monthly payment £20 in addition 
to amounts for earlier series. Terms as follows:
(a) 5 year bonus equal to 14 monthly contributions at an effec

tive annual rate of £8-32 per cent. Alternatively, for savings 
left invested a further 2 years;

(b) 7 year bonus equal to 28 monthly contributions at an effec-
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(c)

{f)

tive annual rate of £8-63 per cent;
no interest Is paid for savings withdrawn in the first year of 
contract's registration;

(d) where contributions have stopped, 6 per cent per annum is 
paid on savings withdrawn up to the end of the seventh 
year;

ie) in case of death 8 per cent per annum is paid on savings 
withdrawn up to the end of the seventh year; and 
extension terms (if any) beyond seven years will be deter
mined by the Treasury.

1975 1 July 3rd issue (index-linked). Fixed monthly payments of £4
to £20 contracted for five years, may be held in addition to
amounts for earlier series. Terms as follows:
(a) Each contribution separately revalued in line with movement 

of the Retail Prices Index figures applicable to the month of 
contribution and the fifth anniversary of the start date;

(b) if savings withdrawn after 60 payments the revalued con
tributions are added together to arrive at the total repayment 
value of the contract;

(c) if contract maintained a further two years, no further con
tributions paid, but each of the 60 payments index-linked in 
line with the RPI applicable to seventh anniversary of start 
date. In addition a bonus equal to two monthly contributions 
is paid;

(d) where payment requested between fifth and seventh anni
versaries of start date the amount due at fifth anniversary is 
payable;

(e) no interest is paid on savings withdrawn in first year, but 
thereafter if contributions have stopped interest is paid at 
the rate of 6 per cent per annum compounded monthly on 
savings withdrawn up to the end of the seventh year; 
in case of death, no interest is payable if repayment is made 
in first year, but, thereafter where repayment made on or 
after first anniversary of start date contributions are index- 
linked.

(f)

Premium savings bonds: First issued 1 November 1956. Prizes are 
free of income tax and capital gains tax.

1971 1 April Maximum holding £2,000.

1971 1 August The rate of interest forming the prize fund raised to 
4% per cent; monthly prize of £50,000 awarded.

1972 5 February Minimum purchase raised to £2 (two £1 bond units)

1973 1 July The rate of interest forming the prize fund raised to 4%
per cent; and twenty-five additional weekly prizes of £1000 each 
awarded.

1974 1 July The rate of interest forming the prize fund raised to 
5>2 per cent per annum; monthly £50,000 prize increased to 
£75,000, and also an additional monthly prize of £25,000; weekly 
prize of £25,000 increased to £50,000.

1976 1 November The rate of interest forming the prize fund raised 
to 5 ^  per cent per annum; monthly £75,000 prize increased to 
£100,000; proportion of £50 prizes increased and £25 prizes 
reduced; minimum purchase price raised to £5.
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1978 11 September Maximum holding £3000.

1979 1 January The rate of interest forming the prize fund raised 
to 5% per cent per annum; an additional weekly prize of £75,000 
awarded and twenty five £1000 weekly prizes withdrawn.

1979 1 September Weekly prizes of £75,000 and £50,000 replaced by
weekly prizes of £100,000, £50,000 and £25,000; monthly prizes 
of £100,000, £50 and £25 withdrawn but number of prizes in the 
£100-£5 ,000  range substantially increased.

1980 1 January Revised prize structure introduced. Weekly prizes of
£100,000, £50,000 and £25,000; monthly prizes range from 
£10,000 to £50.

Deposits with National Savings Bank Ordinary account and, until 20 
November 1979, trustee savings banks Ordinary department:
1973 1 January Maximum balance £10,000. interest rate raised to

4 per cent on NSB accounts. (TSB accounts from 21 November 
1972).

1973 1 April Interest up to £40 per annum free of all rates of tax, 
from the 1974/75 year of assessment; equivalent to £5-97 per 
cent when grossed up for income tax at the basic rate of 33 per
cent, £6-15 per cent at 35 per cent tax, or £6-06 per cent at 34 
per cent tax.

1977 1 January Interest rate raised to 5 per cent on NSB accounts, 
equivalent to a grossed-up yield on tax-free element of £7* 58 per 
cent at 34 per cent tax or £7-46 per cent at 33 per cent tax or 
£7-14 per cent at 30 per cent tax.

1977 29 July Finance Act raised tax-free concession on NSB and 
TSB accounts interest to £70 from 1977/78 and subsequent 
years of assessment.

1979 20 November TSB Ordinary department amalgamated with 
New department.

Deposits with National Savings Bank Investment Account: All 
interest is assessable for income tax.

1973 1 January Maximum balance £10,000. Interest 8 per cent per 
annum. £50 to be kept in ordinary account.

1974 1 January Interest 9 per cent per annum.

1974 1 May Rule for £50 in Ordinary account abolished.

1974 6 June Rule for £10,(XX) maximum balance abolished.
1977 1 January Interest 10 per cent per annum.

1977 22 July Maximum balance re-introduced (£50,000).
1977 1 October Interest 9 per cent per annum.

1978 1 March Interest SYi per cent per annum.

1978 1 October Interest 914 per cent per annum.
1979 1 January Interest 12 per cent per annum.

1979 1 September Interest 2̂Ŷ  per cent per annum.

1980 1 January Interest 15 per cent per annum.
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Section 4: Local authorities
Local authorities are defined in the national and financial 
accounts as those authorities obliged to make annual returns 
of income and expenditure under S168 of the Local 
Government Act of 1972, S118 of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act of 1973 and S77 of the Local Government 
(Northern Ireland) Act of 1972. Before 1 April 1974 the local 
authority sector included bodies in England and Wales with 
special functions, such as water boards, river and drainage 
authorities and harbour boards. Under the Local Government 
Act of 1972 these are no longer within the scope of the local 
authorities sector and have been excluded from 1 April 1974. 
From the same date statutory harbour boards and harbour 
authorities (public trust ports) in Scotland and Northern 
Ireland have also been excluded. All these functions are now 
In the public corporations sector.

Local authorities borrow in anticipation of revenue to 
smooth their cash flow (limited by statute to the amount of 
outstanding revenue receivable) and to finance capital 
expenditure, from central government (almost entirely 
through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)), from other 
domestic sectors and from overseas.

Local authorities can borrow only for purposes which have 
been authorised by Acts of Parliament and within the limits of 
loan sanctions issued by central government. Foreign borrow
ing requires Treasury consent. Under the Local Government 
Act 1972, which came into effect on 1 April, 1974, local auth
orities are allowed to borrow by means of temporary loans, 
bank overdrafts, foreign currency, capital and revenue bills, 
mortgages, stock issues, bonds and through the PWLB.

The PWLB operates a quota system for its gross lending to 
local authorities based on a fixed percentage of their net cap
ital repayments in the current year and a proportion of their 
capital debt outstanding at the end of the previous year. A 
local authority can borrow only 60 per cent of this quota 
before the end of September.

The tables in this section comprise a current account (Table 
4.1), a capital account (Table 4.2) and several tables (4.3 to 
4.6) analysing various aspects of local authority borrowing.

Tables 4.1 and 4.2
Current and capital accounts
Local authority responsibilities are considered in two groups— 
'trading' activities (including the provision of housing) and 
'rate-fund' services. The current and capital accounts show 
the expenditure and financing of rate fund services together 
with the income and expenditure of local authorities as 
'owners' of trading services. A brief description of the items in 
these two tables is given below. For fuller details see National 
Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, Chapter X and the 
notes and definitions in National Income and Expenditure 1979 
edition (the Blue Book).

51

Current grants from centra! government includes 
repayments of VAT.

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading income over 
operating expenditure before allowing for depreciation and 
interest charges. Housing is excluded from this heading and 
included under Rent. Rent is defined in the same way as gross 
trading surplus and is therefore not equivalent to the rent 
charged to tenants.

Dividends and interest includes interest receipts on loans for 
house purchase, on invested balances and in respect of assets 
transferred to public corporations (such as Regional Water 
Authorities) where the local authority has retained the debt. 
This heading also includes payments by central government 
under the exchange cover scheme (see the notes to Section 3 
on page 44).

Imputed charge for consumption o f non-trading capital: 
the provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is regarded as 
final (current) consumption with an equivalent notional 
receipt.

Final consumption: comprises expenditure on rate-fund 
services, net of sales and other recoupments, VAT and the 
imputed value of capital consumption. Certain elements of 
expenditure representing transfers to other sectors are 
excluded from this heading and treated as subsidies and 
grants.

Subsidies comprises local authority support to housing and 
trading services plus transfers to passenger transport exec
utives (which are classified as public corporations) and to 
British Rail.

Accruals adjustment measures the difference between cash 
receipts and accruals of rates and housing subsidies, from 
central government and between cash payments and accruals 
of value added tax, national insurance etc. contributions and 
surcharge and income tax.

Gross domestic fixed capita! formation: is the capital 
expenditure of housing, trading and rate fund accounts, net of 
sales of assets and includes VAT. Transfers to other sectors, 
classified as capital grants and net lending, are excluded. 
Capital expenditure charged direct to revenue accounts in 
local authorities' own accounts are included here rather than 
under current expenditure on goods and services.

Short-term assets: consist mainly of changes in bank 
deposits and in identified deposits with other financial
institutions.

M ethod of compilation
The quarterly returns from other sectors are used as the 
sources for estimates of grants and borrowing from central 
government, purchases of public sector debt (mainly returns 
from certain public corporations) and short term assets (from 
banks and certain returns from other financial institutions). 
Total net borrowing is reported on quarterly returns from the 
local authorities as described in the notes to Tables 4.4 to 4.6.
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Final estimates for other components'of the accounts are 
based on annual figures published in Local Government Finan
cial Statistics (England and Walesh and equivalent publi
cations for Scotland and Northern Ireland which generally 
become available a year after the period to which they relate. 
Quarterly estimates and provisional annual figures are based 
on returns from local authorities, some on a sample basis, eg 
for wages and salaries.

Timeliness
Figures are published in Financial Statistics four months after 
the period to which they relate.

Table 4.3
Local authority borrowing requirement
This table analyses local authority net borrowing according to 
the sector providing finance. The quarterly data are based 
mainly on counterpart reporting by the sectors because local 
authorities cannot analyse their marketable debt by sector of 
holder. (In general, local authorities can identify accurately 
only holders of non-marketable debt and then only where the 
loans are direct, ie not made through banks or institutions 
acting as agents or through nominees).

The quarterly data are therefore on a different basis from 
Tables 4 .4 -4 .6  which contain various analyses of local 
authority borrowing derived from returns from the local 
authorities themselves. The total for the quarterly data in 
Table 4.3, however, is derived from those returns, as are the 
figures for industrial and commerical companies, the figures 
for the personal sector being obtained by residual (and 
therefore including the take-up of debt by the other sectors 
through agents and nominees).

The monthly data in the lower part of the table are based on
a sample survey of about 150 local authorities accounting for
about half the total outstanding debt, unlike the quarterly
totals in the upper part of the table and the figures in Tables
4 .4 -4 .6 , which are obtained from a survey of all authorities.
The monthly figures are therefore subject to sampling error
and are less reliable than the quarterly figures. A comparison
between the monthly and quarterly data obtained from local
authorities is published as a Supplementary Table in the
March, June, September and December issues of Financial 
Statistics.

Total borrowing (local authority borrowing requirement)
plus transactions in other public sector debt: the figures are
those based on returns from local authorities shown in Table 
4.4.

Borrowing from centra! government: comprising net 
advances from:
(a) the Public Works Loan Board
(b) the Northern Ireland Government Loans Board
(c) certain government departments, mainly for the financing 

of tunnels and bridges.
Figures are based on returns by the above bodies.
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Other public sector: comprises local authority debt taken up
by the Issue Department of the Bank of England and, from the
second quarter of 1975, by the National Insurance Fund as
well as the borrowing from public corporations identified on
the returns made by local authorities. The payment of claims
under the exchange cover scheme is shown separately (see
notes to Section 3 for a description of the exchange cover 
scheme).

Banking sector: comprises advances and loans by banks 
and their take-up of local authority bills and securities. The 
figures are based upon returns provided by the banking 
sector.

Other financial institutions: figures are obtained from 
returns by other financial institutions.

Industrial and commercial companies: the figures are based 
upon returns from local authorities.

Personal sector: this is the residual item in the table.
Overseas sector: the figures are as estimated in the balance 

of payments accounts.
Overseas official financing: equivalent to the sum of the two 

columns for local authorities headed Overseas officia! financing 
in Table 2.6 continued. See the notes in Section 2 for an 
explanation of how these figures relate to Official financing in 
the balance of payments.

Transactions in other public sector debt: comprises 
transactions in British government securities and, from the 
second quarter of 1974, loans to passenger transport 
executives and regional water authorities.

Contribution to public sector borrowing requirement: 
comprises borrowing from other than central government, 
less local authorities' Transactions in other public sector debt.

Timeliness
The quarterly data are published about 12 weeks after the end 
of the quarter, ie the data for the March quarter appear in the 
June issue of Financial Statistics. The total borrowing is 
included in the Public sector borrowing requirement press 
notice about 5 weeks earlier.

The monthly data are published about 8 weeks after the end 
of the quarter, ie data for March appear in the May issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Tables 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6
Local authority borrowing
The tables give details of local authority borrowing for capital 
and revenue purposes from all sources outside the local 
authority sector, including borrowing from authorities' own 
superannuation funds, which are classified as other financial 
institutions in the financial accounts. As explained earlier, 
these tables differ from that of Table 4.3 in that they are based 
on returns from local authorities whereas Table 4.3 is mainly 
based on data provided by other sectors. The figures exclude 
borrowing identified by a local authority as being from another
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local authority. No allowance is made for the possible take-up 
of one local authority's listed securities or negotiable bonds by 
another authority.

Net borrowing refers to gross borrowing /ess repayments 
and is divided into temporary and longer term borrowing.

Temporary borrowing  covers all loans repayable within one 
year of their inception (other than under a stress clause or on 
the death of the lender), including mortgages repayable by 
invoking a break clause; longer term debt with a residua! 
maturity of less than one year is not included here but under 
Longer term borrowing.

Table 4.4 now gives a summary analysis of total borrowing 
from I  broken down into (i) temporary borrowing —revenue bills and

other borrowing (ii) marketable debt—negotiable bonds and 
marketable securities and (iii) other longer term debt—Public 
Works Loan Board and other longer term debt, together with 
capital repayments to the housing corporations; the latter 
have been included from 1978 when the responsibility for new 
towns was switched to public corporations.

t
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Table 4.5 shows details of temporary borrowing including 
an analysis by terms of repayment.

Table 4.6 shows detail of longer-term debt, including 
marketable debt, and a further section gives a maturity 
analysis of other longer-term debt and details of gross 
borrowing for the last four quarters. All tables show the 
outstanding debt for the latest seven years. Details of 
borrowing for England and Wales and for Scotland are 
published in supplementary tables in March, June, September 
and December issues.

The quarterly survey on which the tables are based is a 
voluntary one now covering all local authorities in the United 
Kingdom.

The survey was initiated by the Central Statistical Office but 
has been administered from March 1977 by the Department of 
the Environment. Returns to this survey cover about 95 per 
cent of local authority debt and estimates for non-respondents 
are included based on outstanding debt.

Where more complete or more reliable information is 
available on particular aspects of borrowing from other 
sources (eg Public Works Loan Board and Bank of England), 
such information is used instead of that reported in the survey.

For discussion of pre-reorganisation figures see the first 
edition of Explanatory handbook.

industriai and commerciai companies include co-operative 
societies.

Persons include non-collecting friendly societies, trades 
unions, charities, churches, universities and clubs, as well as 
individuals. 'Over-the-counter' bonds are assumed to be held 
entirely by persons.
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Direct borrowing from abroad: comprises loans from an 
overseas address or in the name of a person, company or 
other body with an overseas address. This includes borrowing 
in foreign currency or sterling in overseas markets. Amounts 
repaid by central government under the exchange cover 
scheme are not included.

Seasonai adjustment of total borrowing. Table 4.4, Is con
strained to financial years as in Table 2.5.

Unc/assified includes borrowing from bank nominees where 
the original lender is unknown to the local authority, 
borrowing from central government sources excluding Public 
Works Loan Board (including such sources as the National 
Debt Commissioners and National Insurance Fund) and 
unlisted investment trusts.

Revenue biiis, usually for three months, are those author
ised by the Bank of England.

Negotiabie bonds are issued through a bank, discount 
house, issuing house or broker. 'Over-the-counter' bonds are 
included under the heading 'personal sector'.

Pubiic corporations include nationalised industries, regional 
water authorities and passenger transport executives.

Banks and other financiai institutions are as defined under 
the notes to Sections 6 and 8.

Timeliness
Data for the March, June, September and December quarters 
are published in the June, September, December and March 
issues respectively. Summary figures are included as a table in 
the Public Sector Borrowing Requirement press notice, 
published some five weeks earlier.

Outstanding debt
Details of outstanding debt from 1964 for capital purposes are 
published in Annuai Abstract o f Statistics, Table 16.31 (1980). 
A residual maturity analysis of outstanding debt for England 
and Wales as at 31 March 1979 (derived from an annual survey 
conducted by the Department of the Environment and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) was 
published as a supplementary table in the January 1980 issue 
of Financiai Statistics. Similar analyses for 31 March 1975 to 
1979 were published in the issues of May 1977, December 
1977, January 1979 and January 1980.

Further references
An article Trends in local authority borrowing' in Economic 
Trends, November 1979, describes the changing pattern of 
local authority borrowing since the 1960s.
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Section 5: Public corporations
Public corporations as defined in the national accounts are 
public trading bodies, including the nationalised industries, 
which have a substantial degree of financial independence 
from the public authority (central or local government) which 
created them, including the powers to borrow and to maintain 
reserves. They are publicly controlled to the extent that the 
public authority appoints the whole or the majority of the 
board of management and that their borrowing is subject to 
limits laid down by Parliament.

A list of the bodies comprising the public corporations 
sector is given in the annex to this section. In the financial 
accounts the Banking Department of the Bank of England and 
the Post Office Giro are treated as part of the banking sector 
with the Issue Department of the Bank of England included in 
the central government sector. This treatment causes a slight 
inconsistency with the appropriation and capital accounts for 
public corporations, which include the whole of the Bank of 
England and the Post Office.

Table 5.1
Appropriation Account
This table shows how the Income of public corporations Is 
made up and how it is allocated between interest and divi
dends, taxes on income and savings. The presentation is in the 
same form as the public corporations appropriation accounts 
in the National Income and Expenditure Blue Book and in the 
quarterly national income article in Economic Trends. The 
gross trading surplus is the total balance on trading account, 
before making any charge for depreciation, interest or 
taxation. Subsidies mainly comprise grants by central govern
ment and local authorities to cover revenue deficits of the
nationalised transport undertakings, government compen
sation for price restraint payable to the gas, electricity and 
Post Office corporations in the early 1970s, and government 
assistance to the coal industry. Payments o f interest and divi
dends include interest payments on foreign currency 
borrowing under the Exchange cover scheme valued at market 
exchange rates; the difference between these amounts and 
the sterling cost to public corporations is borne by central 
government and is included as a receipt of interest under Rent 
and non-trading income. Payments o f interest and dividends 
to genera! government are shown separately and include the 
interest payments by water authorities to local authorities in 
respect of transferred assets and the charges paid by public
corporations to central government for exchange cover 
guarantees.
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Table 5.2
Sources and uses of funds
This table shows capital receipts and expenditure along with 
other financial transactions of public corporations. It provides 
a different presentation from that used in the public corpor
ations capital account in the National Income and Expenditure 
Blue Book and also gives additional detail of financial
transactions.

Capital transfers (net): Investment grants are included
under general government's capital transfers and other capital
transfers from the private sector are separately identified in the 
table.

Accruals adjustment: The difference between accruals of 
subsidies, local authority rates, income tax on wages and 
salaries, purchase tax, SET, national insurance, national 
insurance surcharge, etc, contributions and value added tax 
(the basis on which these items are entered in the appro
priation account) and the corresponding cash receipts or 
payments. The figures are included as a source of funds.

Trade creditors and debtors are shown gross from 1972 with 
trade creditors as a source of funds and trade debtors as a use 
of funds.

Borrowing from centra! government is divided between 
public dividend capital and other loans (net).

Other sterling stock issued less redemptions: Figures are in 
terms of cash received or paid. Issues of stock relate only to 
corporations in Northern Ireland and from 2nd quarter 1974 
the regional water authorities and trust ports. Foreign currency 
stock Issued is shown under Foreign currency borrowing.

Centra! government payments under the exchange cover 
scheme: see notes to Table 3.8.

Foreign currency borrowing: mainly comprises Overseas 
officia l financing which is borrowing less repayments in 
foreign currencies under the Exchange Cover Scheme. Bor
rowing can be made either direct with the overseas sector or 
through the UK banking sector (see Table 5.3). Repayments 
of borrowing are valued at current market exchange rates. 
Also included is certain other borrowing abroad in foreign cur
rencies either through net issues abroad or borrowing from 
banks etc.

Other sterling borrowing consists of borrowing in sterling 
from banks by way of bank advances, commercial bills or 
market loans and Is obtained from the returns made by insti
tutions classified to the banking sector. Also included are 
other borrowing abroad in sterling and borrowing less repay
ments by means of loans and mortgages, etc., by bodies 
transferred from the local authority sector.

A detailed sector analysis of the borrowing requirement is 
shown in Table 5.3
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Net lending to private sector: comprises mainly loans {less 
repayments) by the Housing Corporation, and by the National 
Enterprise Board to subsidiaries and other companies.

Net lending and investment abroad: Net lending and 
investment by the Commonwealth Development Corporation 
together with investment overseas by other public corpor
ations.

Transactions in other public sector debt: identified net 
purchases of central government debt (Treasury bills and 
British government securities, see Table 3.8) and local auth
ority debt. This item is offset against borrowing to form the 
public corporations' contribution to public sector borrowing 
requirement.

Other assets comprise credit extended by retailers (gas and 
electricity showrooms) and advance and progress payments 
on imports.

Transactions arising from writing off debt of certain public 
corporations are not included in Financial Statistics as they do 
not represent actual flows of funds. These transactions are 
however recorded in the central government and public cor
porations capital accounts in the National Income and Expen
diture Blue Book.

Table 5.3
Financing of the public corporations' 
borrowing requirement
This table shows how the public corporations' borrowing 
requirement is financed by sector and the contribution to the 
public sector borrowing requirement.

Borrowing requirement comprises direct borrowing from 
central government plus total borrowing from other sources 
less transactions in other public sector debt.

Direct borrowing from  centra! government comprises loans 
from central government (net) plus increases in public 
dividend capital.

Other public sector borrowing  covers government 
guaranteed stock (redemptions), see notes to Table 3.8, 
central government payments under the exchange cover 
scheme: payment of claims, see notes to Table 3.8 and repay
ment of loans to passenger transport executives and regional 
water authorities by local authorities.

Banking sector includes overseas official financing ie bor
rowing less repayments in foreign currencies via banks under 
the Exchange Cover Scheme and bank advances, commercial 
bills and market loans, together with transactions in public 
corporations' sterling securities obtained from the returns 
made by the banking sector.

Non-bank private sector comprises borrowing from other 
financial institutions, industrial and commercial companies 
and the personal sector.

Borrowing from employee's superannuation fund  is the 
longer term borrowing identified in the pension funds' returns. 
Temporary borrowing from pension funds is included with 
other borrowing from other financial institutions.

Overseas sector includes direct overseas official financing in 
foreign currencies under the Exchange Cover Scheme other
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than borrowing via banks, and other net issues abroad and 
borrowing abroad from banks etc., and import credit received 
on purchases of aircraft from overseas.

Transactions in other public sector debt comprises 
identified transactions in Treasury bills, British government 
securities, certificates of tax deposit and local authority debt, 
net purchases by public corporations having a positive and net 
sales a negative sign.

M ethod of com pilation
The quarterly figures for Table 5.1 and certain of the items on 
Table 5.2 (capital transfers other than from the government, 
capital formation, trade creditors and debtors, net lending and 
cash expenditure on company securities etc,) are principally 
based on quarterly data from the nationalised industries and 
other major corporations; the series are adjusted into line with 
the published annual accounts of each corporation when 
these become available (see National Accounts Statistics; 
Sources and Methods, page 247). For transactions with 
central government (interest payments, capital grants and 
loans) government accounting figures are used; estimates of 
borrowing abroad are based on balance of payments infor
mation; those of Net purchases of public sector debt are taken 
from local authorities' borrowing returns (see Section 4), 
returns by certain corporations and other sources. Figures for 
other transactions in financial assets and liabilities eg bor
rowing from superannuation funds, borrowing from banks, 
bank deposits, and credit extended by retailers are based on 
counterpart information from returns by the banks and other 
financial institutions.

Further references
Annual figures for public corporations covering a run of eleven 
years are published in the National Income and Expenditure 
Blue Book; in addition to operating, appropriation and capital 
accounts for all corporations, appropriation and capital 
accounts are also shown analysed by major industry groups. 
The Financial Statement and Budget Report includes tables 
showing the financing of the capital requirements of each 
nationalised industry, with estimated outturn figures for the 
financial year just ending and forecasts for the following year. 
The annual Public Expenditure White Paper has a section on 
nationalised industries' capital investment and financing, con
taining similar tables to those in the Financial Statement and 
texts commenting on the investment programme of each 
industry and its financing figures.

Information on the outstanding debt of public corporations 
is not brought together in Financial Statistics although some 
items, eg lending by banks and own superannuation funds, 
are shown in the accounts for the counterpart sectors. Total 
debt outstanding is a component of the public sector debt 
statistics (see page 31) but these figures are not fully 
comprehensive; they comprise all lending by central govern
ment, banks, own superannuation funds, savings banks and 
borrowing abroad, both in sterling and foreign currency. 
Government guaranteed stocks of nationalised industries are 
shown in these statistics with liabilities of central government 
since they cannot be distinguished from British government 
securities in the sector analysis of holders. They are of course 
liabilities of the public corporations.
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ANNEX to Section 5
List of bodies included in the public corporations sector at 
31 December 1979

1. Nationalised industries Im ost o f th e  corporations under this 
heading have subsidiary com panies w hich  are treated  as 
form ing part of the corporation).

British Aerospace 
British Airports Authority 
British Airways Board 
British Gas Corporation 
British National Oil Corporation 
British Railways Board 
British Shipbuilders 
British Steel Corporation 
British Transport Docks Board 
British Waterways Board
Electricity Council (together with the Central Electricity Generating 

Board and Area Electricity Boards in England and Wales)
National Bus Company
National Coal Board
National Freight Corporation
North of Scotland Hydro-Electric Board
Post Office
Scottish Transport Group 
South of Scotland Electricity Board

National Enterprise Board (subsidiary companies are treated as part of 
the companies sector In the national accounts)

National Dock Labour Board 
National Film Finance Corporation 
National Research Development Corporation 
Northern Ireland Electricity Service 
Northern Ireland Development Agency 
Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company 
Property Services Agency (Supplies)
Royal Ordnance Factories 
Royal Mint
Scottish Development Agency 
Welsh Development Agency
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(B) Certain public corporations whose capital expenditure is 
included in public expenditure, while government grants and 
loans to them are excluded (see Table 2.4):

2. (A) Other public corporations whose finance by the govern 
ment is included in public expenditure.

British Broadcasting Corporation 
Cable and Wireless Ltd.
Civil Aviation Authority
Covent Garden Market Authority
Independent Broadcasting Authority

Bank of England
Commonwealth Development Corporation 
Development Board for Rural Wales 
Housing Corporation 
Land Authority for Wales 
National Ports Council
National Water Council, Regional Water Authorities and Welsh 

National Water Development Authorityl^i 
New Town Development Corporations and Commission 
Northern Ireland Housing Executive
Passenger Transport Executives and London Transport Executive
Public Trust Ports*2i
Scottish Special Housing Association
The following additions to public corporations are known:

Crown Agents at 1 January 1980 
Stationery Office at 1 April 1980
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(1) Established on 1 April 1974; their functions were previously undertaken by 
local authorities.

(2) Reclassified from  local authorities on 1 April 1974.
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Banks and other financial institutions are the main channel 
through which funds from economic agents or sectors that are 
in financial surplus are distributed to agents or sectors in 
deficit. These institutions are therefore in many ways the 
focus of the financial accounts. Besides +he important place in 
the flow of funds accounts that this involves, the banking 
sector also plays a central role in the monetary aggregate 
statistics (see Section 7); the aggregates comprise deposit 
liabilities of institutions in the banking sector, together with 
notes and coin in circulation with the public.

Statistics collected from banking institutions serve a variety 
of other purposes including administration of the system of 
credit control, the prudential supervision of banks and general 
economic intelligence. All these needs are met by an 
integrated system of returns, the result of which is a wealth of 
internally consistent statistical data, the bulk of it provided 
voluntarily by banks. As a result, this section is one of the 
largest in Financial Statistics and includes considerable detail 
on sub-groups of institutions as well as breakdowns by 
financial instruments and by sectors. Details of external liabili
ties of banks are included in Section 11.

Definition of the banking sector
The banking sector comprises the UK offices of all banks that 
have agreed to observe a 12 per cent reserve ratio, together 
with the Banking Department of the Bank of England and 
certain specialised institutions that make up the discount 
market. In this context the United Kingdom includes the 
Channel Islands and the Isle of Man. The National Girobank 
(formerly National Giro) is also part of the banking sector; 
since 25 September 1978 (from which date it has observed the 
1214 per cent reserve ratio and been within the scope of the 
credit control arrangements) it is included in the tables of 
banks in the United Kingdom (Tables 6.5, 6.10 and 6.16 to 
6.19). Prior to 25 September 1978 the National Girobank was 
treated as a separate institution within the banking sector and 
a separate table (Table 6.22 in the November 1978 issue) gave 
details of its activities. A complete list of institutions contribu
ting to tables in this section is published with the March issue 
of the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin and amendments to 
the statistical list are recorded in intervening issues of the 
Bulletin. The list of institutions as at 1 January 1980 is shown 
as an annex to this section.

The new Banking Act provides for official recognition and 
licensing of deposit-taking institutions. This will almost 
certainly lead to some changes in the composition of the 
banking sector, and if this happens changes will be described 
in the supplementary notes included in the monthly issues of 
Financial Statistics.

Layout
Broadly speaking the tables have been arranged to start with 
the consolidated banking sector and then to show the insti
tutional detail relating to groups of banks. Tables 6.3 and 6.4 
stand apart however and show the balance sheet of the Bank 
of England as central bank and details of the rate of call of 
special deposits with the Bank. Tables 6.1 and 6.2 then give 
consolidated balance sheets and changes in liabilities and 
assets held by the banking sector; the emphasis in these tables 
is on the sector analysis of deposits and lending; interbank 
transactions are excluded and adjustments are made for items 
in transit etc.

Tables 6 .5 -6 .1 4 , 6 .1 7 -6 .1 9  relate to the 1214 per cent 
reserve ratio 'listed' banks that comprise the bulk of the 
banking sector, and show aggregated balance sheets for all 
such banks (Table 6.5) and for groups of banks (Tables 
6 .6 -6 .1 4 ); in contrast to the sector analysis shown in the 
banking sector tables, the emphasis here is institutional and 
the main analysis is by instrument. These institutional tables are 
not constructed on a consolidated basis, and besides deposits 
from and lending to other banks these tables show details of 
suspense accounts and items in transit which do not appear in 
the consolidated banking sector tables. Table 6.16 gives credit 
control information (on eligible liabilities, reserve assets, 
reserve ratios and special and supplementary deposits) for 
'listed' banks and also for the larger finance houses (which are 
not part of the banking sector); this table also covers the 
undefined assets multiple of the discount market. An analysis 
of advances and acceptances by industrial category for groups 
of banks at the middle of each quarter is given in Tables 
e .1 7 -6 .1 9 . Table 6.15 shows a balance sheet for the discount 
market and Table 6.20 provides supplementary information on 
cheque and credit clearings.

Statistical sources
The basis of banking statistics is a system of integrated returns 
to the Bank of England. These returns mostly relate to the 
close of business on the third Wednesday of each month 
(second Wednesday in December) or the last day of each 
calendar quarter. The keystone of the system is a balance 
sheet return which is completed monthly and quarterly. The 
monthly return is used to compile monthly banking sector 
transactions in Table 6.2, amounts outstanding in Tables 
6 5 -6 .1 5  and also the credit control information for banks 
and discount houses in Table 6.16. Further returns are made 
quarterly giving sector breakdowns of liabilities and assets 
(used in Table 6.1) and details of transactions in certain assets 
(mainly investments). Also provided quarterly, but at mid
month reporting dates in February, May, August and 
November, is an industrial analysis of advances and accept
ances used to compile Tables 6 .17 -6 .19 .

The reason for this mid-month reporting date is to avoid the 
substantial distortions that occur at the ends of each calendar
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month. Wednesdays are chosen as reporting days also because 
they avoid distortions arising at the end of each week. Mid- 
month reporting dates do not entirely eliminate distortions; an 
important factor affecting mid-month figures is the payment 
of PAYE by employers to the Inland Revenue which is due on 
the 19th of each month, which can be either side of the 
reporting date. In Table 6.2, in the seasonally adjusted figures 
for changes in bank deposits and lending, adjustments are 
made with the aim of removing this effect along with other 
length-of-month effects and regular seasonal variation such as 
that resulting from the half-yearly and quarterly crediting and 
debiting of interest and bank charges. Other important 
seasonal factors affecting the seasonal adjustments are the 
seasonal patterns in government receipts (eg corporation tax 
due in January) and payments (see Section 7 for details of the 
seasonal adjustment of banking sector figures).

The system of banking returns was substantially revised and 
improved in May 1975 and many of the monthly series start at 
that date. These changes also affected the quarterly series for 
the banking sector as a whole and whereas many of these 
quarterly series can be taken back to 1963 the quality of earlier 
figures is lower and there are changes in coverage. An article 
describing the improvements to banking statistics was 
published in the June 1975 issue of the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin.

The figures shown in Table 6.3 (Bank of England) are 
published weekly on Thursday in the Bank Return.

Figures for eligible liabilities, reserve assets, reserve ratios, 
and special and supplementary deposits are usually Issued to 
the public in a Bank of England Press Release on the third 
Tuesday after reporting day and appear at the end of the 
following month in Financial Statistics (Table 6.16), and in the 
Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin (Table 4)

The full banking figures for the latest month are first issued 
to the public in a Bank of England Press Release, usually on 
the fifth Thursday after the day to which they relate. They next 
appear in Financial Statistics (Tables 6.2, 6 .5 -6 .1 5 ) and, with 
the exception of the consolidated figures for the banking 
sector, in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin (Tables 2 and 
3.1 to 3.10).

Figures for calendar quarters are not shown in a press 
release, but are first published in summary form in the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin (Table 6) and subsequently in more 
detail in Financial Statistics (Tables 6.1 and 6.2).

The quarterly analysis of bank advances and acceptances is 
issued to the public approximately six weeks after reporting 
day and is published in the following month's Financial 
Statistics (Tables 6.17 to 6.19) and in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin (Table 5).

Bank clearing figures are normally published in the issue of 
Financial Statistics following the month to which they relate 
(Table 6.20).
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Further References

Longer runs of figures can be found in the Bank o f England 
Statistical Abstract Number 1 (1970) and Number 2 (1975). 
However, there are a number of breaks in these series, the 
most important of which was in 1975 when there was a major 
revision in the coverage of banking statistics. Further details of 
this break-which makes consistent series impossible for 
Tables 6.5 to 6.14—can be found in the June 1975 issue of the 
Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin.

The Bank o f England Statistical Abstract Number 1 shows; 
currency circulation figures (Table 4) for end-years from 
1945-52, and monthly from 1953-69; Bank of England 
liabilities and assets (Table 5) for end-years from 1945 -  63,
and monthly from 1964 -  69; discount market assets and
borrowed funds (Table 7) for end-years from 1951-61, and 
quarterly from 1959 -  69; and the main liabilities and assets of 
the banking sector (Table 8), quarterly from 1963 -  69.
Number 2 shows: currency circulation figures (Table 4) for 
end-years 1963 -  69 and monthly from 1970 -  74; Bank of
England liabilities and assets (Table 5) for end-years from 
1963 -  69 and monthly from 1970-74; discount market assets
and borrowed funds (Table 7/1) for end-years from 1963 -  74 
and monthly from 1970-A pril 1975; discount market public 
sector lending ratios (Table 7/2), monthly from October 1971 -  
July 1973; discount market undefined assets multiple (Table 
7/3), monthly from August 1973 -  April 1975; the UK banking
sector's liabilities and assets (Table 11/1) quarterly from 
March 1963-M arch  IS'^u; UK banking sector's current 
accounts, deposit accounts and advances (Tables 11/2 and 
11/3), quarterly from March 1 9 7 0 -March 1975; changes in 
the UK banking sector's liabilities and assets (Table 11/4), 
annual 1964-74, quarterly June 1963-M arch 1975 and 
monthly July 1971 -  April 1975.

The Economic Trends Annual Supplement 1980 edition 
shows: bank lending to UK residents (pages 180-181), 
seasonally adjusted changes for years from 1964-1978, and 
quarterly from 1963 2nd q u a rte r-1979 2nd quarter; and 
eligible liabilities, reserve ratio and special deposits (pages 
182-183) at mid-months from October 1971 -  September 
1979.

Tables 6.1 and 6.2
UK banking sector
The figures in these tables are designed to show the position 
of the banking sector as a whole in relation to third parties; 
transactions between institutions within the sector are 
excluded therefore, and various adjustments are made to the 
figures on consolidation to avoid double counting, etc.

Transit items etc.
The banks' gross figures for deposits and advances are 
adjusted to allow for sterling transit items. These transit items
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appear in an individual bank's balance sheet both as credit 
items (eg standing orders) and debit items (eg cheques in 
course of collection). When banks' figures are aggregated 
these items may give rise to double counting of deposits 
received from customers outside the banking system or, 
where overdrawn or loan accounts are concerned, to the 
undervaluing of total lending made to such customers. In 
accordance with the treatment adopted for the calculation of 
reserve ratios (see 'Reserve ratios: further definitions', in the 
December 1971 Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin, page 482), 
it is assumed that 60 per cent of the total value of debit items 
less credit items affects deposits. This proportion is therefore 
deducted from gross deposits and the remaining 40 per cent is 
added to advances, the adjustments being applied to deposits 
of, and lending to, the UK private sector and UK industrial and 
commercial companies in Table 6.1 and 6.2. From mid-May 
1975 some other sterling accounts on both sides of banks' 
balance sheets, which are unclassifiable by sector, are added 
to transit items and treated in the same way. Figures for 60% 
of net debit transit items are shown in Table 7.1 (levels) and
Table 7.2 (changes).

At end-June 1977 funds temporarily held by banks arising 
from the oversubscription of the offer for sale of shares in 
British Petroleum Limited have been treated here and in 
Section 7 as time deposits; an estimated figure of £50 million 
has been ascribed to overseas residents and the balance to UK 
private sector residents; the allocation of the latter in Table
6.1 is estimated.

in the three sectors' deposits and bank borrowing before and 
after the break, using a simple regression model.

Breaks in series
Breaks sometimes occur in the series after a change in the 
number of contributors to the banking statistics. The assets 
and liabilities of the banking sector were increased at end- 
March 1972 and 1973 by the inclusion of new contributors,
and were reduced at end-December 1975 after the exclusion of 
one contributor from the banking statistics. Two lines are 
shown in Table 6.1 for end-December 1975. In the first line 
this institution is regarded for all purposes as being part of the 
banking sector and in the second line as being outside the 
banking sector.

In Table 6.2 the changes for 1972 and 1973, and the last 
quarter of 1975, have all been calculated to exclude the effect 
of changes in the number of contributors to the banking 
statistics.

Two lines of figures are also shown in Table 6.1 at end- 
June 1975. The figures in the second line are derived from 
new, more comprehensive, statistical returns which were 
introduced in May 1975, while the first line gives estimates for 
comparison with the earlier series; the difference between the 
two lines represents the breaks between the two series, which 
have been eliminated from the figures for transactions during 
the second quarter shown in Table 6.2.

The bridge between the old and new series tor both total 
domestic and overseas deposits and lending has been esti
mated with the help of partial information provided by the 
banks. The allocation among the three domestic private 
sectors (personal, industrial and commercial companies, and 
other financial institutions) is based on a comparison of trends

Valuation adjustments
From the second calendar quarter of 1975, the changes in
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies shown in Table 6.2 
have been adjusted to exclude the effect of movements in 
exchange rates (to the extent that the total of adjustments 
made to foreign currency assets does not equal the total of 
adjustments to foreign currency deposits, a net adjustment is 
made to non-deposit liabilities). From this date the figures may 
not equal the differences between the amounts outstanding in 
Table 6.1; th^y will, however, more accurately reflect banks' 
transactions.

From the second quarter of 1975, similar differences 
between levels outstanding and transactions arise in certain 
sterling items, mainly investments in the quarterly series, 
where transactions are reported directly rather than estimated 
as differences between levels which reflect changes in the 
market value of certain assets. The counterpart of a change in 
the value of investments resulting from a change in market 
prices is a change in a bank's reserves, so a net adjustment in 
respect of these sterling items also is made to non-deposit 
liabilities.

Sector analysis
The sectors into which deposits and lending are analysed are 
generally as defined in the national income accounts except 
that public corporations here exclude the Banking Department 
of the Bank of England. Other financial institutions comprise 
insurance companies, finance houses, building societies, the 
Trustee savings banks, investment account of the National 
Savings Bank, superannuation funds, investment trusts, unit 
trusts, property unit trusts and certain special finance 
agencies.

Non-deposit liabilities (net)
These comprise the banking sector's capital and other non
deposit liabilities less their investments in UK banks and other 
non-financial assets; this item also includes some residual 
errors arising from the exclusion of transactions between insti
tutions within the sector. See also Valuation adjustments
above.

Domestic deposits in foreign currencies
Before the introduction of the new returns in May 1975, all 
UK residents' deposits in foreign currencies were allocated to
the private sector.

Public sector
Up to mid-April 1978 certain public sector funds placed 
temporarily with banking institutions through the inter-bank 
money market, which have been included here within public 
sector deposits, were excluded from the money stock and 
have given rise to differences between these tables and
Section 7.
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Persona! sector
In Table 6.1 the figures for the personal sector are further 
disaggregated to show separately deposits by and lending to 
persons, households and individual trusts. The rest of the 
personal sector includes unincorporated businesses of sole 
traders and partnerships (eg solicitors), farms, universities, 
trade unions, clubs, charities and churches.

Overseas sector deposits
These include estimated overseas holdings of negotiable dollar 
and sterling certificates of deposit. Identified overseas 
holdings of sterling certificates are given in Table 11.6. The 
figures for overseas deposits also include some unclassified 
foreign currency accounts which are assumed to affect the 
total overseas liabilities of the UK banking sector.

The allocation of negotiable dollar and sterling certificates 
of deposit by sector is partly estimated. Domestic holdings of 
dollar certificates were identified, for the first time, from end- 
March 1973.

Table 6.3
Bank of England
This table provides in summary form the balance sheet of the 
Bank of England, which is divided, for accounting purposes, 
between the Issue Department and the Banking Department 
(the Bank's activities were divided in this way by the Bank 
Charter Act, 1844, so as to separate the note issue function 
from all other functions). In the UK financial accounts the 
Issue Department is included in the central government
sector, while the Banking Department is in the banking sector.
The Exchange Equalisation Account, the Government account 
managed by the Bank which holds the official reserves of 
gold, convertible currencies and SDRs, is not included in this 
table.

Timeliness

The figures are shown at the bankers' make-up date, normally 
the third Wednesday of each month (second Wednesday in 
December), and are those given in the weekly Bank Return 
published each Thursday and in the Friday edition of the
London Gazette. The data are published in Financial Statistics 
one month in arrears.

Issue Department

The accounts of the Issue Department are concerned solely
with the note issue (which is entirely fiduciary) and the
backing for it. Thus the Department's only liabilities are Bank
of England notes in issue—in circulation with the public, in the
commercial banks' tills or held as a reserve by the Banking
Department (through which issues and withdrawals of notes 
take place).

i
f 4

f

Assets are mainly public sector debt, and transfers between
one form of debt and another provide the means for open
market operations by the Bank in the gilt-edged market and (in
part) in the money market. In under-writing all new issues of
Government stock, the Bank take into the Issue Department's
portfolio on the day of issue the amount of stock not taken up
by the market and gradually sell it as demand arises. They also
regularly buy-in stocks in the year before their final redemption 
date.

Scope of headings

Government securities include holdings of British Government 
and Government-guaranteed securities. Treasury bills. Ways 
and Means advances to the National Loans Fund, the historic 
liability of £11m to the Treasury ('Government debt' in the 
Bank Return; for details see pages 5 6 -7  of the Bank of 
England report and accounts for the year ended 28 February 
1971) and any special Treasury liability.^

Other securities include:
(i) refinance provided by the Issue Department in 1969 -  72 

to the London and Scottish clearing banks under the 
arrangements for medium and long-term finance of 
exports and domestic shipbuilding (see the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin for June 1972). Refinancing of 
special export and shipbuilding credits is no longer carried 
out by the Issue Department, the last credits held by the 
Issue Department having matured in March 1976;

(ii) holdings of commercial bills and local authority bills, and 
on occasion local authority deposits and bonds, acquired 
in the course of market operations;

(iii) holdings of company securities (eg British Petroleum 
ordinary stock) and other miscellaneous securities.

Banking Departm ent
Through the Banking Department the Bank conducts its oper
ations as a banker to the Government, to the banks, to over
seas central banks and international organisations, and to a 
small number of other domestic institutions and private indi
viduals including members of the staff. Special deposits and 
supplementary special deposits, called for reasons of monet
ary policy, are held in the Banking Department; advances to 
the discount market are made through the Banking Depart
ment.

Credit items in course of transmission are included in the 
deposits of the Banking Department, whilst debit items in 
course of collection are deducted.

Scope of headings
Public deposits are the balances held by the central govern
ment at the Bank of England and include the accounts of H.M. 
Exchequer, the National Loans Fund, the National Debt Com
missioners and H.M. Paymaster General, together with divi-

 ̂ Such a special liability arises when, at the quarterly revaluation of 
the assets of the Department, the total market value of those assets 
is less than the note issue: in such circumstances the Treasury 
assumes a non-interest-bearing liability to the Department. This is 
written off as income is generated in the normal course of the 
Department's operations. If the market value of assets is greater 
than the note issue, the excess is paid over to the Treasury.
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Specî  ̂
fioaiice I 
reserve 0 
calcule® 
jiabilit*®̂ 
banks an
the Ban!* 
call spe<
Interest
equal to 
at the la
annum*

V̂ith 
reactiva' 
of the 
depositJ
devotee 
fixed ra' 
of spec 
fulfilled 
Excheq
gressivi 
entitled 
then ex 
Depart

Deta
Table
banks*

Also 
plemei 
deposi 
interes 
of gro 
plemei 
Deceit 
Noven 
introdi 
5% of 
for ni( 
after, i
rates c 
3% ex 
and

Unti
becarr
etigibk
grew I 
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dend accounts, accounts connected with tax collection and 
various other government funds. Deposits held by local auth
orities and public corporations are included under reserves and 
other accounts. (In Tables 6.1 and 6.2, however, these 
deposits are included under pubfic sector deposits).

Speciai deposits may be called from all banks and the larger 
finance houses which are required to observe minimum 
reserve asset ratios— 1214% and 10% respectively—and are 
calculated as percentages of the previous month's eligible 
liabilities of each institution. Calls for special deposits from 
banks and finance houses are normally at the same rate, but 
the Bank retain the right in certain defined circumstances to 
call special deposits from finance houses at a higher rate. 
Interest is paid on special deposits at a rate, adjusted weekly, 
equal to the average rate of discount for Treasury bills issued 
at the latest weekly tender, rounded to the nearest 1/16%  per
annum.

With effect from August 1978, for the duration of the 
reactivated supplementary special deposit scheme, the liability 
of the London and Scottish clearing banks to pay special 
deposits was reduced to offset the additional resources 
devoted by these banks to medium- and long-term lending, at 
fixed rates, for exports and domestic shipbuilding. The release 
of special deposits which totalled £207 million in August 1978 
fulfilled an undertaking given by the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer in 1976 when the clearing banks agreed to a pro
gressive increase in the threshold beyond which they were 
entitled to government refinancing of such lending under the 
then existing arrangements with the Export Credits Guarantee 
Department and the Department of Industry.

Details of calls and releases of special deposits are given in 
Table 6.4. Table 6.16 gives special deposits separately for 
banks and finance houses.

Also included in this column are non-interest-bearing sup
plementary speciai deposits. Such supplementary special 
deposits become payable by individual institutions if their 
interest-bearing eligible liabilities increase above defined rates 
of growth, over a specified period. Arrangements for sup
plementary special deposits were originally introduced in 
December 1973, suspended in February 1975, re-introduced in 
November 1976, suspended again in August 1977 and re
introduced in June 1978. The rates of deposit originally were 
5% of excess liabilities up to 1% excess rate of growth, 25% 
for more than 1% up to 3% excess growth and 50% there
after. In November 1974, and when re-introduced in 1976, the 
rates of deposit were changed to 5% of excess liabilities up to 
3% excess rate of growth, 25% of excess liabilities over 3%  
and up to 5% excess growth and 50% thereafter.

Under the arrangements introduced in June 1978 deposits 
became payable if an institution's average interest bearing 
eligible liabilities for the three months August/October 1978 
grew by more than the specified rate of 4% over the average 
for the six months November 1977/April 1978. In August 1978 
it was announced that further growth of 1 % per month would 
be permitted for the following eight months; in April and June 
1979 the operation of the scheme was extended for further 
periods of three months, again with permitted monthly growth 
of 1% and in November 1979 it was extended for a further six
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months with the same permitted monthly growth. The rate of 
call was the same as for the previous operation of the scheme.

Articles which were published in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin between 1971 and 1978 relating to the 
special and supplementary deposit scheme are available in a 
booklet Competition and Credit Control which may be 
obtained from the Bank of England, London EC2R 8AH.

Bankers' deposits are the current accounts held at the Bank 
by the banking sector—London and Scottish clearing banks, 
other British banks including the National Girobank, Northern 
Ireland banks, overseas and consortium banks, and the dis
count houses. This column and Balances w ith Bank o f 
England in Table 6.16 differ partly because of timing 
differences and partly because before October 1978 Table 
6.16 excludes those held by the National Girobank.

Reserves and other accounts include deposit liabilities to 
overseas central banks, the dividend accounts of stocks 
managed by the Bank other than the direct obligations of the 
British Government, local authority and public corporation 
accounts, and some UK private sector accounts.

Total liabilities are shown in column 5 and include the 
Bank's capital—Bank Stock of £14.6m held by the Treasury— 
which is not included in any of the sub-totals.

Government securities include holdings of Government and 
Government-guaranteed securities, valued at cost less 
provision for losses, and Treasury bills.

Advances and other accounts Include market advances to 
the discount market, loans to customers and support loans to 
deposit-taking institutions. Provisions for losses are deducted.

Until the Bank Return for 20 July 1977 premises, equipment 
and other securities include all premises and equipment stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation. At that date premises 
were valued professionally on an open market value for 
existing use basis as described in the Bank o f England Annua! 
Report and Accounts. Holdings of other securities, which are 
relatively small, include ordinary shares leg those of special 
finance agencies such as Finance for Industry Ltd), local 
authority bills and bonds, and commercial bills. Listed and 
unlisted securities are included at cost less provisions. Further 
details of 'other securities' are given in the Bank o f England 
Annual Report and Accounts.

Notes and coin complete the assets of the Banking 
Department. The holdings of coin account for the difference 
between this column and column 2.

Breaks in the series
From 20 July 1977 there was a change in the basis of 

valuation of premises (see above)

Further references
The Bank o f England Statistical Abstract Number 1 (1970) 
provides end-year figures for the years 1945 -  63, and monthly 
figures for 1964 -  69. Abstract Number 2 (1975) provides mid- 
December figures for 1963 -  69 and monthly figures for
1970-74.
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The Bank o f England Annual Report and Accounts, pub 
lished in July, gives a full balance sheet and further details in
the notes to the accounts.

The Annual Abstract o f Statistics Table 17.1 gives a run of 
annual figures which are the average of the weekly figures.

An article in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin for June
1967- Bank of England liabilities and assets: 1696 onw ards-
provides some figures for the years 1696-1845, prior to the 
___ 1̂ . nf tho Rpink Rfitiim In Sentember 1844.

Table 6.4
Special deposits with the Bank of England
See notes on Special deposits for Table 6.3 above.

Table 6.5
Banks in the United Kingdom
An article describing the main features of the series of banking 
statistics introduced in May 1975 may be found in the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin, June 1975 and these notes refer to 
those statistics. Additional notes to the series up to April 1975 
may be found in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin, 
March 1975 and in earlier issues, or in previous editions of this 
supplement.

This set of tables covers all banks observing the common 
12V2 per cent reserve ratio introduced on 16 September 1971; 
it excludes the Banking Department of the Bank of England, 
and the five money trading departments of listed banks and 
other institutions observing an undefined assets multiple but, 
with effect from October 1978, includes the National Girobank 
which hitherto had been outside the normal credit control
arrangements although included within the banking sector.

The first table, which summarises the figures of the contri
butors to following tables, is thus not comparable with the 
table which covers the whole banking sector. Also, the adjust
ments made in the banking sector tables to eliminate inter
bank transactions and transit items (see the notes to the 
banking sector tables) have not been made in this table. The 
figures cover the business of all the banks' offices within the

*-•

62

United Kingdom. Reporting day is the third Wednesday in 
each month, except in December when it is the second 
Wednesday.

Liabilities and assets are reported at the value standing in 
the reporting banks' books. Liabilities and assets in currencies 
other than sterling are translated into sterling at the closing 
middle market spot rate on reporting days. The figures are 
therefore affected by movements in exchange rates.

In the past the residential status of an official body, body 
corporate or person for these statistics has been determined 
by reference to the guidelines under which residential status 
for exchange control purposes was determined. With the 
relaxation of exchange controls on the 23rd October 1979 such 
reference is no longer possible, so new guidelines, varying 
little from those used hitherto, have been issued to reporting 
banks.

Under these amended guidelines, residents of the United 
Kingdom, which comprises Great Britain, Northern Ireland, 
the Channel Islands and the Isle of Man, include HM Govern
ment and other UK public authorities, UK diplomatic and 
military representatives overseas (and their dependants), 
companies, branches and agencies located and operating in 
the United Kingdom, persons residing permanently in the 
United Kingdom and persons residing temporarily therein who 
have already stayed, or are intending to stay, for one year or 
more but excluding diplomatic or military representatives of 
overseas governments or public authorities and represen
tatives of official monetary institutions or international 
organisations—such persons are overseas residents.

Overseas residents comprise all who are not United 
Kingdom residents and include persons acting either as 
executors of deceased persons who were resident overseas at 
the time of death or as administrators of inter-vivos 
settlements where the settlor is resident overseas.

Deposit liabilities includes all credit balances on customers' 
accounts, including deposits by other banks (except deposits 
in connection with syndicated lending), overdrawn accounts 
with UK and overseas correspondents and deposits by over
seas offices of the reporting bank (except working capital pro
vided by head offices overseas). It also includes certificates of 
deposit and all liabilities in gold bullion or gold coin except that 
deposited for safe custody. Fpr the definition of UK banking 
sector see Annex on page 67.

Sight deposits comprises balances as defined above, 
whether interest-bearing or not, which are transferable or 
withdrawable on demand without interest penalty (or interest 
indemnity). It includes money immediately at call and money 
placed overnight.

All other deposit liabilities as defined above (with the 
exception of certificates of deposit which are shown 
separately) are time deposits. Included are promissory notes 
issued by the reporting bank, bills drawn by the reporting bank 
under an acceptance credit facility provided by another bank 
and such instruments as silver and other commodity deposit
receipts.

Items in suspense and transmission comprises credit 
balances not in customers' names but relating to customers' 
funds rather than to banks' internal funds or to shareholders'
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funds, together with standing orders and credit transfers 
debited to customers' accounts, and other items for which the 
corresponding payment has not yet been made by the 
reporting bank. It includes credits in course of transmission to 
the banks' own UK branches, the UK branches of other banks 
and to banks and banking offices abroad.

Capital and other funds includes shareholders' funds, 
working capital provided by overseas offices, together with all 
internal accounts (both liability and asset).

For details of reserve assets and special and supplementary 
deposits see notes to Tables 6.3 and 6.16.

Market loans {other than reserve assets) includes all 
balances (including correspondent balances) with, and funds 
lent to, listed banks and to banks overseas, apart from trade or 
portfolio investments. For other UK institutions it includes 
only funds lent through brokers or in special financial markets, 
such as the local authority money market and the finance 
company deposit market, that is it does not include funds lent 
direct to the reporting banks' customers in the ordinary course 
of banking business.

Market loans to banks In the United Kingdom  includes bills 
drawn by other listed banks under acceptance credit facilities 
and discounted by the reporting bank, promissory notes and 
other negotiable paper (excluding certificates of deposit) 
issued by listed banks. Market loans to the discount market 
comprises funds which are not both secured and immediately 
callable, ie reserve asset money with the discount houses, the 
discount brokers and the money trading departments of listed 
banks. Certificates o f deposit includes only those issued by 
UK listed banks. Non-reserve asset money with listed money 
brokers is included under market loans to UK private sector.

Market loans to overseas includes bills drawn under 
acceptance credit facilities opened by overseas banks 
(including overseas offices of the reporting bank) which the 
reporting bank has itself discounted, and certificates of 
deposit, promissory notes and other negotiable paper issued 
by overseas banks and owned by the reporting bank.

Bills (other than reserve assets) includes bills, promissory 
notes and other negotiable paper (excluding certificates of 
deposit) owned by the reporting bank. It excludes accept
ances by the reporting bank which it has also discounted, bills 
connected with refinanceable lending under the special 
schemes for exports and shipbuilding and bills which the 
reporting bank has disposed of by rediscounting. Bills and 
notes are classified according to the currency in which they 
are drawn.

Advances includes all balances with, and lending (whether 
against collateral or not) direct to, customers not included 
elsewhere. It includes the reporting bank's own acceptances 
which it has also discounted, except for those drawn by 
another listed bank or by banks overseas, which are entered 
under market loans. Own acceptances discounted are shown 
as advances to the party on whose behalf the acceptance 
credit has been opened. Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 
are not deducted. Where the reporting bank participates in (or 
acts as manager or co-manager of) a loan financed by more 
than one institution, it includes only the reporting bank's 
participation for its own account, the loan being classified

according to the ultimate borrower. Advances to UK private 
sector includes all medium and long-term (that is with an 
original maturity of two years and over) refinanceable lending 
at fixed rates for domestic shipbuilding under Department of 
Industry guarantee, less any amounts refinanced. Non-reserve 
asset money with jobbers on the stock exchange is included in 
advances to UK residents. Advances to overseas includes all 
medium and long-term lending, whether refinanceable or not, 
at fixed rates for exports under ECGD guarantee, less any 
amounts refinanced, and all short-term export lending (that is 
with an original maturity of up to two years) at rates related to 
base rate under ECGD comprehensive bill and open-account 
guarantee schemes.

Investments Includes all securities beneficially owned by the 
reporting bank or branch. It includes securities which the 
reporting bank has lent (or pledged) but still beneficially owns, 
but excludes securities which the reporting bank has bor
rowed and which it does not beneficially own.

British government stocks includes all stocks issued by the 
Government and stocks of nationalised industries guaranteed 
by the Government. Other public sector investments includes 
stocks and bonds issued by local authorities, except mortgage 
bonds which are included in advances. Other investments 
includes all investments in listed banks which are subsidiaries 
or associates of the reporting bank, and deposits with 
overseas offices which have been invested in fixed assets such 
as premises and equipment.

items in suspense includes all debit balances not in 
customers' names but related to customers' funds rather than 
to the banks' own internal funds, for example debit balances 
awaiting transfer to customers' accounts. Collections 
comprises cheques, etc., drawn on and in course of collection 
on banks and other institutions in the United Kingdom, and 
debit items in transit between UK offices of the reporting 
bank. It includes cheques that have been credited to 
customers' accounts but are held overnight before being 
presented or paid into another bank but excludes cheques 
already passed to other listed banks for collection (these are 
entered as balances with UK banks). It includes all collections 
on banks outside the United Kingdom and items in transit to 
overseas offices of the reporting bank, where the reporting 
bank is acting as principal and not as an agent for collection 
and where it has already given credit or value for the items.

Assets leased includes all plant and equipment beneficially 
owned by the reporting bank which has been leased out 
(except plant and equipment leased to branches, subsidiaries 
or associates overseas which are treated as overseas
investmentsV

Other miscellaneous assets includes unallocated gold 
bullion and gold coin. It also includes other commodities (for 
example silver), land, premises, plant and equipment and 
other goods beneficially owned, but excluding assets leased.

Acceptances comprises all acceptances given by the 
reporting bank which are still outstanding, excluding any 
which the reporting bank has also itself discounted, but 
including any such discounts which have been rediscounted.

Further tables provide, for each group of banks, the same 
basic information, but in rather less detail.
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Table 6.6
London clearing banks
This group comprises the members of the Committee of 
London Clearing Bankers.

Table 6.7
Scottish clearing banks
This group comprises the members of the Committee of 
Scottish Clearing Bankers.

Notes outstanding include the 'authorised' circulation, 
which was approximately £2.7 million at all dates shown; the 
remaining notes are covered by holdings of Bank of England 
notes and by coin. Those form part of notes and coin, which 
also includes the banks' holdings of each other's notes.

Table 6.8
Northern Ireland banks
This group comprises the members of the Northern Ireland 
Bankers' Association, which includes two banks with head 
offices in the Republic of Ireland. The figures relate to the 
liabilities and assets of their banking offices situated within 
Northern Ireland.

Notes outstanding include the 'authorised' circulation 
which was approximately £2 million at all dates shown.

Table 6.9
Accepting houses
This group comprises the members of the Accepting Houses 
Committee together with certain of their Channel Islands and 
Isle of Man banking subsidiaries.

Table 6.10
Other British banks
All other banks with majority UK ownership {excluding con
sortium banks where there is foreign participation), including 
their Channel Islands and Isle of Man subsidiaries. It also 
includes the Great Britain offices of the Northern Ireland banks 
and the UK branches of three banks with Head Offices in the 
Republic of Ireland which are subsidiaries of members of the 
Northern Ireland Bankers' Association.

Table 6.11
American banks
Branches and subsidiaries of American banks, including sub
sidiaries operating in the Channel Islands.

Table 6.12
Japanese banks
The UK branches of Japanese banks

Table 6.13
Other overseas banks
All Other branches and subsidiaries of foreign banks, including 
Channel islands subsidiaries.

Table 6.14
Consortium banks
Banks which are owned by other banks but in which no one 
bank has a direct shareholding of more than 50 per cent, and 
in which at least one shareholder is an overseas bank.

Table 6.15
Discount market
This table shows the liabilities and assets of a group of special
ised banking institutions that make up the discount market. 
They comprise the 11 discount houses that are members of 
the London Discount Market Association, together with 2 dis
count brokers and the money trading departments of 5 listed 
banks (the money trading departments of these banks are 
excluded from the returns that are used to compile Table 6.5 
and the corresponding tables for bank groups). The discount 
market Institutions borrow money mainly in the inter-bank 
market and employ it in a variety of mainly short-term financial 
instruments. Besides guaranteeing to underwrite the weekly 
Treasury bill tender, the discount market makes a secondary 
market in various short-term instruments Including certificates 
of deposit and commercial bills.

Funds placed by banks with the discount market secured 
and at call qualify as reserve assets. Funds placed by banks 
not so qualifying are treated as inter-bank lending and are an 
offset against eligible liabilities under the credit control 
arrangements. Thus the balance sheet of the market can show 
considerable changes over time reflecting not only changes in 
interest rate differentials but also the imposition of arrange
ments like the supplementary special deposits scheme.

The c
undefine

Tab
Resei
and s

Full def 
on 16 S 
ratios; 
BuMt

Banks

liabilitiE
over ti
switch!
actions 
reserve 
and iss 
liabilitir 
slsoin

Besi
(other
(secure
rnarket
money
i>foken
British
b ills ;  U

“ 'Engl
“ f Engi 
He? (g

64



..iW •

tr.:
x - . r .

■■ifKludir>g |

Credit control is applied to the discount market through a 
limit on each institution's aggregate holding of 'undefined 
assets' to a maximum of twenty times its capital and reserves. 

Sub. a  Undefined assets for this purpose are all assets other than 
those in the following list:
(a) balances at the Bank of England;
(b) UK and Northern Ireland Treasury bills;
(cl government stocks with not more than five years to final

maturity;
(d) local authority stocks with not more than five years to final 

maturity;
(e) local authority and other public boards' bills eligible at the 

Bank;
(f) local authority negotiable bonds; and 
(gl bank bills drawn by nationalised industries under specific

government guarantee.
^  For further details see 'Competition and credit control: 
n  modified arrangements for the discount market' in September 
p  1973 Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin (page 306).
\ The capital resources bases for the calculation of the 

[ ' undefined assets multiple are as follows:-
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147
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Table 6.16
Reserve ratios, undefined assets multiple 
and special deposits
Full definitions of reserve ratio items, which were introduced 
on 16 September 1971, were contained in an article 'Reserve 
ratios; further definitions' in the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin December 1971 (oaae 482).
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Banks
Eligible liabilities comprise, in broad terms, sterling deposit 
liabilities, excluding deposits having an original maturity of 
over two years, plus any sterling resources obtained by 
switching foreign currencies into sterling. Inter-bank trans
actions and transactions with the discount market (other than 
reserve assets) and sterling certificates of deposit (both held 
and issued) are taken into the calculation of individual banks' 
liabilities on a net basis, irrespective of term. Adjustments are 
also made in respect of transit items.

Reserve assets comprise balances w ith the Bank o f England 
(other than special and supplementary deposits); money at call 
(secured and immediately callable) with the listed discount 
market institutions (discount houses, discount brokers and the 
money trading departments of listed banks) and with listed 
brokers (money brokers and jobbers on The Stock Exchange); 
British government and Northern Ireland government Treasury 
bills; UK local authority bills eligible for rediscount at the Bank 
of England; commercial bills eligible for rediscount at the Bank 
of England —up to a maximum of 2 per cent of eligible liabili
ties (these comprise bills which are payable in the United

Kingdom and have been accepted by banks which are mem
bers of the Committee of London Clearing Bankers, the 
Committee of Scottish Clearing Bankers, the Accepting 
Houses Committee, British overseas banks and certain other 
banks having their head offices in the Commonwealth and 
with long-established branches in London); and British 
government stocks and stocks of nationalised industries 
guaranteed by the Government with one year or less to final 
maturity.

The reserve ratio is the total of reserve assets as a 
percentage of the total of eligible liabilities. Each bank is 
required to maintain reserve assets amounting to at least 12 V2 
per cent of its eligible liabilities.

For special and supplementary deposits see notes to Table 
6.3

Discount m arket
Undefined assets multiple—see notes to Table 6.15

Finance houses
Eligible liabilities: comprise deposits with an original maturity 
of two years or less received from UK residents, other than 
banks and from overseas. The definition of reserve assets and 
the method of calculation of the reserve ratio are the same as 
for banks.

The figures shown are those of certain of the larger finance 
houses which have agreed to observe the common 10 per cent 
reserve ratio introduced on 16 September 1971.

Tables 6.17 to 6.19
Analysis of advances and acceptances to 
UK residents by banks in the United 
Kingdom
The analysis was changed in May 1975 along with the other 
banking statistics. The principal differences between the old 
and new series were set out in the notes to Table 10 in the 
Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin, December 1975.

The analysis is based as far as possible on the Standard 
Industrial Classification: there are twenty-three categories 
grouped under the broad headings of manufacturing, other 
production, financial, services, and persons. Advances and 
acceptances are classified by industry, irrespective of owner 
(that is, private, local authority or government); if a loan 
cannot be attributed to any particular activity, it is classified 
according to the main activity of the borrower—if necessary 
within the residual groups provided under the broad divisions. 
Lending to merchants, brokers, importers and exporters is 
included in retail distribution or other distribution, as appro
priate, and lending to unincorporated businesses, etc., is 
allocated according to the trade or profession.

The analysis covers advances and acceptances in both 
sterling and foreign currencies provided by banks to their 
customers and therefore does not include funds placed 
through the specialised financial markets, such as the local
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authority money market or the finance company deposit 
market. The dates and contributors are the same as for Banks 
in the United Kingdom (Table 6.5).

Debit clearing

Figures for the Northern Ireland banks are broadly com
parable with those provided by the other contributors to the 
table, but are in slightly less detail for certain classifications. 
Chemicals and allied industries are included indistinguishably 
in Other manufacturing) metal manufacturing, electrical 
engineering, shipbuilding and vehicles in Other engineering 
and metai goods) and transport and communication in Public 
utilities and national government.

Inter-bank clearings represent the total of bankers' effects 
(cheques, drafts, bills, interest warrants, etc.) passed through 
the London Bankers' Clearing House for collection from the 
banks. They exclude cheques, bills, etc. drawn on and paid 
into offices of the same bank.

It is not yet possible to provide a seasonally adjusted series 
of the new figures. However, the series Changes in advances 
and acceptances in foreign currencies has been adjusted to 
exclude the changed sterling value of existing business in 
foreign currency arising from fluctuations in exchange rates.

The figures are published under three regions: (a) Town, 
restricted to cheques, bills, etc. paid into and drawn on Town 
clearing offices in the City of London, and (b) General, which 
covers cheques, bills, etc. drawn on offices in the rest of 
England and Wales apart from (c) the afternoon clearing at 
Liverpool.

The analysis of acceptances to UK residents by banks in the 
United Kingdom (Table 6.18) is constructed on essentially the 
same lines as the analysis of advances (Table 6.17) but within 
the broad headings only five of the largest individual industrial 
categories are shown. Acceptances are not granted to per-

Credit clearing

sons.

Table 6.20
Bank clearings
The figures cover inter-bank clearings through the London 
Bankers' Clearing House and through the Bankers' Automated 
Clearing Services.

An inter-bank credit clearing, similar to the debit clearing (see 
above), was instituted at the London Bankers' Clearing House 
in April 1960, to cover, in the first instance, payment by 
traders' credit (including salary and pension payments 
effected through the traders' credit machinery) and standing 
order payments. In October 1960, the scheme was extended 
to include credits paid in over the counter by customers for 
transmission to accounts at other banks. In March 1961, a 
further stage was introduced enabling credits to be paid in at 
any clearing bank by a member of the public (whether having a 
banking account or not) for transmission to a banking account 
anywhere in the United Kingdom; for certain organisations 
this stage was delayed until October 1961.
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a n n e x  to Section 6
Lists of institutions which contribute to the banking sector statistics 

as at 1 January 1980.

1 Listed banks
Comprising all banks which have agreed to maintain minimum reserve 
ratios of 1214%, arranged by groups to show the contributors to each 
of the Tables 6.6 to  6.14, 6.16 to 6.19

2 Listed discount m arke t institu tions
Comprising discount houses and brokers, and money trading depart
ments of certain banks, which are contributors to Table 6.15.

3 Finance houses
Comprising those houses which have agreed to maintain minimum 
reserve ratios of 10% and are contributors to Table 6.16.

Lazard Brothers &■ Co. (Jersey) Limited
Samuel Montagu &■ Co. Limited
Morgan Grenfell &• Co. Limited
Morgan Grenfell (Guernsey) Limited
Morgan Grenfell (Jersey) Limited
Rea Brothers Limited
Rea Brothers (Guernsey) Limited
Rea Brothers (Isle of Man) Limited
N. M . Rothschild &• Sons Limited
N. M . Rothschild &  Sons (C.l.) Limited
J. Henry Schroder Wagg &■ Company Limited
Singer &■ Friedlander Limited
Singer &  Friedlander (Isle of Man) Limited
S. G. Warburg & Co. Limited
S. G. Warburg & Co. (Jersey) Ltd
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Listed banks

British banks

London clearing banks 
Barclays Bank Limited 
Coutts & Co.
Lloyds Bank Limited 
Midland Bank Limited 
National Westminster Bank Limited 
Williams & Glyn's Bank Limited

Scottish clearing hanks
Bank of Scotland
Clydesdale Bank Limited
The Royal Bank of Scotland Limited

Northern Ireland banks
Allied Irish Banks Limited (including Provincial 
Limited) (Northern Ireland offices)
Bank of Ireland (Northern Ireland offices)
Northern Bank Limited 
Ulster Bank Limited

Accepting houses
Arbuthnot Latham &  Co. Limited
Baring Brothers &  Co. Limited
Brown, Shipley &■ Co. Limited
Brown Shipley (Jersey) Limited
Charterhouse Japhet Limited
Charterhouse Japhet (Jersey) Limited
Antony Gibbs Holdings Limited
Guinness Mahon & Co. Limited
Guinness Mahon (Guernsey) Limited
Hambros Bank Limited
Hambros Bank (Guernsey) Limited
Hambros Bank (Jersey) Limited
Hill Samuel &  Co. Limited
Hill Samuel &• Co. (Guernsey) Limited
Hill Samuel &  Co. (Jersey) Limited
Kleinwort, Benson Limited
Kleinwort, Benson (Channel Islands) Limited
Kleinwort, Benson (Guernsey) Limited
Kleinwort, Benson (Isle of Man) Limited
Lazard Brothers £t Co. Limited

Bank of Ireland

Other British banks [
Allied Irish Banks Limited, (Great Britain offices)
Allied Irish Banks (I.O .M .) Limited 
Allied Irish Investment Bank Limited 
Henry Ansbacher & Co. Limited 
Ansbacher (C .l.) Limited 
A P Bank Limited
Bank of Ireland (Great Britain offices)
Barclays Bank Finance Company (Jersey) Limited
Barclays Bank International Limited
Barclays Finance Company (Guernsey) Limited
Barclays Finance Company (Isle of Man) Limited
Barclays Merchant Bank Limited
The British Linen Bank Limited
Clydesdale Bank Finance Corporation Limited
Co-operative Bank Limited
Co-operative Commercial Bank Limited
County Bank Limited
Coutts Finance Co.
Cripps Warburg Limited 
Robert Fleming & Co. Limited 
Forward Trust Limited 
Gray Dawes &• Company Limited 
Grindlay Brandts Limited 
Grindlays Bank Limited 
Grindlays Bank (Jersey) Limited 
Grindiays Finance Corporation Limited 
C. Hoare & Co.
Julian S. Hodge and Company Limited 
Julian S. Hodge (Guernsey) Limited 
International Westminster Bank Limited 
The Investment Bank of Ireland Limited 
Isle of Man Bank Limited
Jersey International Bank of Commerce Limited 
Johnson Matthey Bankers Limited 
Leopold Joseph &  Sons Limited 
Leopold Joseph & Sons (Guernsey) Limited
Keyser Ullmann Limited 
LBI Finance (Jersey) Limited 
Lewis's Bank Limited
Lloyds Associated Banking Company Limited 
Lloyds Bank International Limited
Lloyds Bank International Trust Corporation (Guernsey) Limited
Lombard & Ulster Banking Limited
Lombard Bank (Isle of Man) Limited
Lombard Banking (Jersey) Limited
Lombard North Central Limited

* /
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Mercantile Credit Company Limited
Midland Bank Trust Corporation (Guernsey) Limited
Midland Bank Trust Corporation (Isle of Man) Limited
Midland Bank Trust Corporation (Jersey) Limited
The National Bank of New Zealand Limited
National Commercial &  Glyn's Limited
National Girobank
National Westminster Bank Finance (C.l.) Limited 
Northern Bank Development Corporation Limited 
Northern Bank (I.O .M .) Limited 
Slater, Walker Limited
Standard Chartered Bank Limited (including The Chartered Bank and 
Standard Bank Limited)
Standard Chartered Bank (C.l.) Limited
Standard Chartered Merchant Bank Limited
Ulster Investment Bank Limited
United Dominions Trust Limited
Wallace Brothers Bank Limited
Williams & Glyn's Bank (I.O .M .) Limited
Williams 8- Glyn's Bank Investments (Guernsey) Limited
Williams & Glyn's Bank Investments (Jersey) Limited
Williams, Glyn & Co.
Wintrust Securities Limited 
Yorkshire Bank Limited

Overseas banks

American banks 
Allied Bank International
American Express International Banking Corporation
The American National Bank and Trust Company of Chicago
Amex Bank Limited
Bank of America International Limited
Bank of America (Jersey) Limited
Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association
The Bank of California N.A.
The Bank of New York
The Bank of Tokyo Trust Company
Bankers Trust Company
Bankers Trust International Limited
Carolina Bank Limited
Chase Bank (C.l.) Limited
The Chase Manhattan Bank N.A.
Chase Manhattan Limited 
Chemical Bank
Chemical Bank International Limited 
Citibank N.A.
Citibank (Channel Islands) Limited 
Citicorp International Bank Limited 
City National Bank of Detroit 
Continental Illinois Limited
Continental Illinois National Bank and Trust Company of Chicago 
Crocker National Bank
The Detroit Bank and Trust Company 
The Fidelity Bank
First City National Bank of Flouston
First Dallas Limited
First National Bank in Dallas
First National Bank in St Louis
The First National Bank of Boston
The First National Bank of Boston (Guernsey) Limited
The First National Bank of Chicago
The First National Bank of Chicago (C.l.) Limited 
First National Bank of Maryland

First Pennsylvania Bank N.A.
First Wisconsin National Bank of Milwaukee 
Girard Bank
Flarris Trust and Savings Bank
Irving Trust Company
Manufacturers Hanover Limited
Manufacturers Hanover Bank (Guernsey) Limited
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company
Marine Midland Bank
Marine Midland Limited
Mellon Bank N.A.
Merrill Lynch International Bank Limited
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York
National Bank of Detroit
North Carolina National Bank
The Northern Trust Company
Rainier National Bank
Republic National Bank of Dallas
Seattle-First National Bank
Security Pacific National Bank
Texas Commerce Bank N.A.
Texas Commerce International Bank Limited 
United California Bank 
Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
Wells Fargo Limited
Western Trust &■ Savings Limited

jaficode

Japanese banks
The Bank of Tokyo Ltd
The Bank of Yokohama Limited
The Dai-lchi Kangyo Bank Limited
The Daiwa Bank Ltd
The Fuji Bank Limited
The Hokkaido Takushoku Bank Limited
The Industrial Bank of Japan Limited
The Kyowa Bank Limited
The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan Ltd
The Mitsubishi Bank Ltd
The Mitsubishi Trust and Banking Corporation
The Mitsui Bank Limited
The Mitsui Trust and Banking Company Limited
The Nippon Credit Bank Limited
The Saitama Bank Limited
The Sanwa Bank Limited
The Sumitomo Bank Limited
The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co. Ltd
The Taiyo Kobe Bank Ltd
The Tokai Bank Limited
The Toyo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd
The Yasuda Trust and Banking Company Limited

Bancode'
difBanco 

Banco 
Banco do 
Banco 
Bancofo®̂
BancoMe

BancoNa

Banco Re
To

Other overseas banks 
Afghan National Bank Limited 
African Continental Bank Ltd 
Algemene Bank Nederland N.V.
Allied Arab Bank Limited 
Amsterdam-Rotterdam Bank N.V.
Arab Bank Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group (Channel Islands) Limited
Banca Commerciale Italians
Banca Nazionale del Lavoro 
Banco Central S.A.
Banco de Bilbao
Banco de la Nacion Argentina

Banco
8ang'<o'̂
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Bank Bro 
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nds)lĴ ited

j

!

Banco de Santander 
Banco de Vizcaya 
Banco di Roma 
Banco do Brasil S.A.
Banco do Estado de Sao Paulo S.A.
Banco Espanol en Londres S .A .
Bancomer S.A
Banco Mercantil de Sao Paulo S .A .
Banco Nacional de Mexico S.A  
Banco Real S.A.
Banco Totta & Acores
Bangkok Bank Limited
Bank Julius Baer International Limited
Bank Brussels Lambert tU .K.) Limited
Bank Bumiputra Malaysia Berhad
Bank Cantrade Switzerland (C .l.) Limited
Bank fur Gemeinwirtschaft A .G .
Bank Hapoalim B.M.
Bank Leumi (UKI Limited
Bank Melli Iran
The Bank of Adelaide
Bank of Baroda
Bank of Ceylon
Bank of China
Bank of Credit and Commerce-International S.A.
Bank of Cyprus (London) Limited
Bank of India
Bank of Montreal
Bank of New South Wales
Bank of New Zealand
The Bank of Nova Scotia
The Bank of Nova Scotia (Channel Islands) Limited
Bank of Tehran
Bank Saderat Iran
Bank Sanaye Iran
Bank Sepah Iran
Banque Beige Limited
Banque Belgo-ZaVroise S.A.
Banque de I'lndochine et de Suez 
Banque de Paris et des Pays-Bas 
Banque Nationale de Paris Limited 
Banque Nationale de Paris S.A.
Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale 
Bayerische Vereinsbank 
Bilbao International Bank (Jersey) Limited 
The British Bank of the Middle East 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 
Central Bank of India
Chase and Bank of Ireland (International) Limited
The Cho-Heung Bank Limited
The Commercial Bank of Australia Limited
Commercial Bank of Korea Ltd
Commercial Bank of the Near East Limited
The Commercial Banking Company of Sydney Limited
Commerzbank A.G.
Commonwealth Trading Bank of Australia 
Credit Industriel et Commercial 
Credit Lyonnais 
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse First Boston Limited 
Credito Italiano 
Deutsche Bank A.G.
Discount Bank (Overseas) Limited 
Dow Banking Corporation 
Dresdner Bank A.G.

French Bank of Southern Africa Limited
Ghana Commercial Bank Limited
Gulf International Bank BSC
Habib Bank Limited
The Hanil Bank Limited
Havana International Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (C.l.) Limited
Hongarian International Bank Limited
Investitions-und Handels-Bank A.G.
Korea Exchange Bank 
Korea First Bank 
Malayan Banking Berhad 
Mercantile Bank Limited 
Moscow Narodny Bank Limited 
Multibanco Comermex S.A.
The Muslim Commercial Bank Limited 
National Bank of Abu Dhabi 
The National Bank of Australasia Limited 
National Bank of Canada 
National Bank of Greece 
National Bank of Nigeria Limited 
National Bank of Pakistan 
Nedbank Limited
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Overseas Union Bank Limited
Philippine National Bank
Punjab National Bank
Qatar National Bank S.A .Q .
Rafidain Bank
The Royal Bank of Canada
The Royal Bank of Canada (Channel Islands) Limited 
The Royal Bank of Canada (London) Limited 
Schlesinger Limited 
Societe Generale
Societe Generale (France) Bank Limited
Sonali Bank
State Bank of India
Swiss Bank Corporation
The Thai Farmers Bank Ltd
The Toronto-Dominion Bank
Toronto-Dominion International Bank Limited
Trade Development Bank
Union Bank of Switzerland
United Bank Limited
United Commercial Bank
United Overseas Bank Limited
Westdeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale
Wurttembergische Kommunale Landesbank Girozentrale
Zambia National Commercial Bank Limited
Zivnostenska Banka National Corporation

Consortium  banks

Anglo-Romanian Bank Limited 
Associated Japanese Bank (International) Limited 
Atlantic International Bank Limited 
Banco Urquijo Hispano Americano Limited 
Bank of Tokyo and Detroit (International) Limited 
Banque Francaise de Credit International Ltd 
Euro-Latinamehcan Bank Limited

•4*-

-

■ iiR
M'XtS

1
t e .Z

C:t

.



!

I

European Arab Bank Limited
European Banking Company Limited
European Brazilian Bank Limited
International Commercial Bank Limited
International Energy Bank Limited
International Mexican Bank Limited
Iran Overseas Investment Bank Limited
Italian International Bank Limited
Italian International Bank (Channel Islands) Limited
Japan International Bank Limited
Libra Bank Limited
London &• Continental Bankers Ltd
London Interstate Bank Limited
Midland and International Banks Limited
Nordic Bank Limited
Orion Bank Limited
Orion Bank (Guernsey) Limited
Saudi International Bank (Al-Bank Al-Saudi Al-Alami Limited)
Scandinavian Bank Limited
UBAF Bank Limited
The United Bank of Kuwait Limited
United International Bank Limited

Listed discount m arket institutions

Alexanders Discount Company Limited 
Allen Harvey & Ross Limited 
Cater Ryder &■ Company Limited
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Clive Discount Company Limited
Gerrard & National Discount Company Limited
Gillett Brothers Discount Company Limited
Jessel, Toynbee & Co. Limited
King & Shaxson Limited
Page & Gwyther Limited
Gerald Quin, Cope & Co. Limited
Seccombe Marshall &■ Campion Limited
Smith St. Aubyn & Co. Limited
The Union Discount Company of London Limited

se<

S

and the money trading departments of the following listed banks: 
Algemene Bank Nederland N.V.
Banque Beige Limited 
Leopold Joseph & Sons Limited 
Keyser Ullmann Limited 
Samuel Montagu & Co. Limited

ance in
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Finance houses (not part of the banking sector)

Bowmaker Limited
British Credit Trust Limited
F. C. Finance Limited
Ford Motor Credit Company Limited
Hodge Finance Limited
Lloyds and Scottish Limited
North West Securities Limited
The Wagon Finance Corporation Limited
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Section 7: Money Stock and domestic credit
expansion
Monetary aggregates have assumed a much greater import
ance in macro-economic analysis and policy in recent years. A 
similar trend has occurred in many countries and it has culmi
nated in several, including the United Kingdom, in publicly 
declared targets for monetary growth to which governments 
have been committed. The money aggregates are seen by 
financial markets as a barometer of the success of government 
financial policy and markets react if they suspect that policy is 
inconsistent with the declared target. The instruments 
through which monetary policy is pursued, such as interest 
rates and controls on the banking system, can have wide
spread repercussions on the flow of funds throughout the
economy.

There has been much argument amongst economists on 
why money matters (or indeed whether it does) and this 
debate has a bearing on how money should be defined and 
measured.

The quantity theory of money has a long history. It is 
embodied in the equation MV =  PT, the two sides of which are 
different expressions of the same concept; the monetary value 
of transactions in the economy can be expressed either as the 
stock of money available (M) multiplied by the average 
number of times each unit is used (the velocity of circulation 
V), or as the volume of transactions (T) multiplied by the 
average price level (P). The monetarist school of economists 
would argue that the velocity of circulation has a natural level 
which is constant or changes only slowly; further, the volume 
of transactions is determined by the supply of goods to the 
economy, which is exogenous, so that changes in the money 
supply are causally linked with a change in the price level, ie, 
the rate of inflation. There may be a period during which the 
velocity of circulation temporarily accommodates a change in 
the money supply, but after a suitable time lag it will return to 
its natural level as prices adjust to the change in the money 
supply.

Economists following what might conveniently be termed a 
Keynesian philosophy, whilst agreeing that a change in the 
supply of money will tend to change its price relative to alter
native assets, would differ from the monetarists on what 
constitutes the alternatives to holding money. Whereas 
monetarists would include real assets in the alternatives, 
Keynesians would restrict these to other financial assets; they 
would argue that interest rate changes would bring about 
adjustments in liquidity preference and the portfolio of 
financial claims held. There might be indirect effects on the 
'real' economy but these would result from the effect of 
changes in interest rates on, for example, the demand for 
investment goods. Such economists would argue that the 
money supply, of itself, has little direct impact on the real 
economy and should be allowed to accommodate the level of 
demand that interest rates and the level of economic activity 
require.

This is an oversimplified summary largely ignoring, for
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example, the question of whether actual or prospective 
changes in the money supply affect expectations and many 
economists would take a qualified or intermediate position. It 
is noticeable, however, that the balance of opinion amongst 
economists has shifted in recent years towards a more 
monetarist point of view. This is perhaps because the control 
of inflation has assumed a higher priority recently in many 
countries.

Definitions of M oney
What then is meant by money? There is no single, universally 
accepted definition of money and any definition must, there
fore, to some extent be arbitrary: different monetary aggre
gates will be useful for different purposes. One traditional and 
major characteristic of money is that it is a medium of 
exchange. Notes and coin are clearly part of any definition. 
The great majority of transactions in the economy that are not 
conducted in cash are settled by transferring claims on the 
banking system, so most definitions concentrate on particular 
liabilities of banks, although some wider liquidity aggregates 
have been proposed which include liabilities of other credit 
and deposit-taking institutions such as building societies.

Three definitions of the money stock are used in this sec
tion. The first definition (M,) is a narrow one consisting of 
notes and coin in circulation with the public p/us sterling sight 
deposits held by the private sector only. The second definition 
(sterling M 3) comprises notes and coin in circulation with the 
public, together with all sterling deposits (including certifi
cates of deposit) held by UK residents in both the public and 
private sectors. The third definition (M3) equals sterling M3 
p/us all deposits held by UK residents in other currencies. In all 
three definitions, deposits are confined to those with insti
tutions included in the UK banking sector, and 60 per cent of 
the debit net value of sterling transit items is deducted (see
notes to Tables 6.1 and 6.2).

Available evidence suggests that many of the foreign cur
rency deposits in M3 have little connection with changes in UK 
residents' spending power or in the demand for UK resources. 
Apart from the proceeds of foreign currency borrowing 
awaiting overseas investment, they include such items as the 
large working balances needed by UK-based multi-national oil 
companies to cover their international operations, and part of 
insurance companies' overseas premiums which is retained in- 
foreign currency to cover against foreign currency claims. The 
level of such funds is probably dependent more on conditions 
outside than inside the United Kingdom and it makes no 
difference to UK economic conditions whether the balances 
are held in London (included in the foreign currency element 
of M 3) or overseas (excluded from M 3). Moreover the large 
balances held by oil companies are subject to large variations, 
particularly when payments are made to producing countries, 
which can significantly distort the monthly changes in total
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Remaining foreign currency deposits in M3 include foreign 
currency {especially dollar) certificates of deposit held by sec
ondary market dealers and balances held by other types of UK 
company for trade and other purposes, and some of these 
deposits—possibly a larger proportion after the abolition of 
exchange control in October 1979—can be a substitute for 
sterling funds (though not necessarily for the sterling deposits
in M3).

Domestic Credit Expansion
Cash and bank deposits can be regarded as the manifestation 
of the demand for money. To understand why changes in the 
stock of money come about it is often more helpful to look for 
influences on the supply side.

Apart from notes and coin, money is created when the 
banking system increases its lending. There are two essentially 
different forms that this money creation can take— 
discretionary when the banking sector lends to the private 
sector and overseas, and automatic when it lends to the 
government. (By guaranteeing to underwrite the Treasury bill 
tender each week the discount market, which is part of the 
banking sector, assures the government of an automatic 
source of residual finance.)

The public sector borrowing requirement (PSBR) (see also 
Section 2) will be financed in part by coin or an increase in the 
fiduciary (note) issue, in part by borrowing from the private 
sector other than banks, partly by borrowing from overseas 
(including a reduction in the official reserves) and partly by the 
residual borrowing from the banking sector. To the extent that 
the government can finance the PSBR by selling debt (eg, gilt- 
edged stocks) to the non-bank private sector there is no 
increase in credit.

Domestic credit expansion (DCE) is a measure of domesti
cally generated credit in a form which leads directly to mon
etary expansion and has two main elements —that part of the 
PSBR which is not offset by purchases of public sector debt 
by the UK non-bank private sector and the increase in banking 
sector lending in sterling to the private sector. Banking sector 
lending in sterling to overseas residents is also included in DCE 
because it is largely connected with the finance of UK exports 
and therefore has much the same effect on domestic liquidity 
as direct bank lending to a UK exporter. Table 7.4 shows 
changes in notes and coin, public sector borrowing from the 
banking and overseas sectors, and sterling lending by the
banking sector to the UK private and overseas sectors, which 
together add up to DCE.

A different presentation (Table 7.3) is possible linking DCE 
with changes in the money supply, sterling M3. The link may 
be demonstrated from the consolidated balance sheet of the 
banking sector (Table 6.1). Simplifying slightly we have:

Banking sector 

L iab ilities

Sterling deposits:
UK residents 
Overseas residents

Foreign currency deposits

Non-deposit liabilities (net)

Sterling lending to : 
UK public sector 
UK private sector 
Overseas sector

Foreign currency assets
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By rearranging this balance sheet we have:

Increase in sterling M 3  = increase in:
Notes and coin in circulation 
UK residents' sterling deposits

increase in:
Notes and coin in circulation 
Sterling lending to :

UK public sector 
UK private sector 
Overseas sector

less increase in:
C)verseas sector sterling deposits 
Foreign currency deposits net o f foreign currency 

assets
Non-deposit liabilities (net)

Banking sector lending in sterling to the UK public sector is 
equal to the PSBR less UK non-bank private sector lending to 
the public sector (mainly in the form of increased holdings of 
notes and coin, purchases of gilt-edged stocks, treasury bills, 
local authority debt, national savings and certificates of tax 
deposit) less external and foreign currency finance of the 
public sector. So we have:

Increase in  s te rlin g  = a.
b

c
d

PSBR

less purchases o f public sector debt by the UK 
non-bank private sector 

p lu s  increase in sterling lending to :
UK private sector 
Overseas sector 
less increase in:
external and foreign currency finance o f the 

public sector
overseas sector sterling deposits 
banking sector's foreign currency deposit 

liabilities net o f foreign currency assets 
banks' non-deposit liabilities (net)

DCE comprises a, b, c and d. The difference between DCE and 
sterling M3 consists of net non-deposit liabilities h and the 
external and foreign currency items e, f and g. Non-deposit 
liabilities are capital and internal funds and reserves less non- 
financial assets, (see notes to Tables 6,1 and 6.2).

Other things being equal there would be a direct influence 
on sterling M3 from external and foreign currency transactions 
comprising:
(i) all external transactions of the UK non-bank private sector 

on both current and capital account (payments abroad - ) ;  
together with

(ii) changes in the UK non-bank private sector's net foreign 
currency deposits (ie, deposits net of borrowing) with the 
UK banking sector (increase in net deposits - ).

Broadly speaking, these transactions are measured by the 
total of External and foreign currency finance. Item (ii) is 
available directly from the banking sector's balance sheet, 
being included in Table 7.3 as part of Banks' foreign currency 
deposit liabilities (net). While in principle it would also be 
possible to measure the non-bank private sector's external 
transactions directly, in practice such data are generally not 
available and the following indirect approach is employed. As
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all transactions between UK residents and the overseas sector 
are so defined that their overall total must be zero (see 
Section 11), it is possible to measure external transactions of 
the non-bank private sector by the total of all external 
transactions of the banking and public sectors and then 
reversing the sign.

In practice the total of external and foreign currency finance 
will also reflect:
(a) public sector external and foreign currency transactions 

that contribute to, as distinct from finance, the PSBR 
(payments abroad/increase in foreign currency 
deposits - )

(b) banking sector lending in sterling to the overseas sector 
(increase-) and

(c) the proceeds of foreign currency capital issues by the 
banking sector (increase in foreign currency assets -I-).

However, normally none of these transactions affects 
sterling M 3 overall as the entries implicitly included within 
external and foreign currency finance will be matched by off
setting entries within DCE [(a) and (b)] or the change in the 
banking sector's net non-deposit liabilities [(c)]. Moreover, it is 
often the case that capital account transactions within (a) 
together with (b) and (c) are relatively small. It is then con
venient to interpret the total of external and foreign currency 
finance as the overall balance of payments on current account 
and non-bank private sector capital account to the extent that 
they are converted into sterling, ie, to the extent that they do 
not lead to a change in the non-bank private sector's net 
foreign currency deposits with the banking sector.

A further description of external and foreign currency 
influences is given in an article in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin, December 1978.

Seasonal adjustment
Seasonally adjusted estimates of quarterly changes in the 
money stock are derived from a process of adjustment of the 
financial transactions matrix and therefore take account of the 
additional constraints imposed by the process. In particular:
(a) in any quarter, the sum of the adjustments of all sectors 

for a particular asset or liability is zero; and
(b) in any quarter, the sum of the adjustments for the ident

ified assets and liabilities of a particular sector is related, 
where possible, to the adjustment for the net acquisition 
of financial assets for that sector.

The adjustments calculated at this stage sum to zero over the 
calendar year. In addition, adjustments have been made to 
allow for the effect of varying days of the week on which a 
quarter begins and ends. These will not usually cancel out 
over the year since successive years end on different days of 
the week. Seasonal adjustments to the money stock (level) are 
calculated by summing the adjustments calculated for the 
changes and subtracting a moving average of the cumulated 
seasonals. This keeps the average level of the seasonally 
adjusted and unadjusted series closely in line but does mean 
that changes in seasonally adjusted levels are not equal to 
seasonally adjusted changes. In calculating percentage 
growth rates it has been the practice to add up the seasonally 
adjusted changes over the appropriate period and to express

j

these as a percentage of the seasonally adjusted level at the 
start of the period (For a further explanation of the seasonal 
adjustment process see pages 30 -  39 of the Bank of England's 
publication United Kingdom flow  o f funds accounts: 
1963- 1976, May 1978).

Seasonal adjustments for the monthly series are calculated 
in a similar way except that the financial transactions matrix is 
smaller covering only five sectors (central government, other 
public sector, overseas, non-bank private sector, banking) and 
ten financial instruments. The 'day of week' effects allowed 
for in the quarterly series do not apply to the monthly series, 
but as the monthly banking make-up day varies between the 
15th and 21st (a week earlier in December) further adjustments 
are made to allow for certain large transactions such as tax 
payments that on some occasions fall before the make-up date 
and sometimes after it (see the notes on 'Statistical Sources' 
in Section 6).

The seasonal adjustments for the monthly series for M^, 
sterling M3 and M3 are less reliable than those for the quarterly 
series because there is less information available on banking 
months from which to calculate the financial transactions 
matrix. Also, because the monthly and quarterly series have 
been seasonally adjusted separately, it is not possible to draw 
conclusions about the underlying change in the money stock 
in the short period between a mid-month reporting date and 
the end of the quarter. (For further details of the monthly 
seasonal adjustment of the money series see the Bank o f 
England Quarterly Bulletin, June 1978, pages 196-203).

Statistical Sources
Several sources are drawn upon to produce the various mon
etary aggregates. The main ones include the monthly and 
quarterly balance sheet returns submitted by banks and other 
institutions in the banking sector (see Section 6), statistics of 
public sector finance (see Sections 2 - 5 )  for DCE, and the 
externa! accounts (see Section 11).

Timeliness
The latest banking month's figures are first issued to the 
public in a Bank of England Press Release, usually on the fifth 
Thursday after the mid-month make-up day. They next appear 
in Financial Statistics and in the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin (Tables 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3).

Figures for calendar quarters are not shown in the press 
release, but are first published in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin (Tables 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3) and sub
sequently in Financial Statistics. It is possible that revisions to 
the quarterly figures will appear in Financial Statistics before 
they are shown in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin.

Availability
Calendar quarter figures for M sterling M 3 and M 3 and for the 
supply side counterparts of sterling M 3 as given in Table 7.3, 
are available from the first quarter of 1973. The monthly series 
for M^ is available from October 1971, for sterling M 3 and M3 
from July 1971 and for the counterparts from August 1971.
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Further references
The Bank o f Eng/and Stat/st/ca/Abstract Number 1 (1970) and 
Number 2 (1975) give longer runs of some figures quarterly 
from 1963 and monthly from 1971. The figures shown are 
Mg (and their components), the old version of DCE (see notes 
to Table 7.3 above) and the relationship between Mg and the 
public sector borrowing requirement. The Economic Trends 
Annual Supplement also includes long runs, on a quarterly 
basis back to the 1st quarter of 1963, of M ,, sterling Mg and Mg 
showing seasonally adjusted levels and both adjusted and 
unadjusted changes; also the velocity of circulation of these 
three aggregates. DCE and the other supply side counterparts 
are shown quarterly from 2nd quarter of 1971 and monthly 
from mid-January 1972. Quarterly levels of M ,, sterling Mg and 
M g , eliminating breaks, are available from the Bank of England 
(Financial Statistics Division). The monthly publications 
Economic Trends and Monthly Digest o f Statistics also give 
the main aggregates and there are charts in Economic Trends.

Several articles have been published in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin describing aspects of the monetary aggre
gates. Amongst the most recent are: 'DCE and the money 
supply—a statistical note', March 1977; 'A transactions 
demand for money', March 1978; 'Seasonal adjustment of the 
monthly money statistics', June 1978; 'External and foreign 
currency flows and the money supply', December 1978. There 
is also a discussion of monetary statistics in the report of the 
Statistics Users Conference on Financial Statistics held in 
November 1977—see report of the proceedings published by 
the Bank of England, price £4.00. Monthly statistics of 
'components of private sector liquidity', including some liquid 
assets outside the definitions of money used in this section, 
were introduced in an article in the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin, September 1979 and are included in the statistical 
annex in subsequent issues of the Bulletin.

Table 7.1
Money stock: amounts outstanding
This table shows the amounts outstanding at the end of years, 
quarters and banking months of the components of the three 
definitions of money stock described above. In addition, the 
percentage changes are shown in italics, and, for quarters 
only, the velocity of circulation. The velocity of circulation is 
calculated as the ratio of gross national product at current 
prices, seasonally adjusted, expressed at an annual rate, to the 
central quarterly average of money stock seasonally adjusted.

The definition of deposits used is the same as that in the 
banking sector tables of Section 6. Thus 60 per cent of net 
debit transit items is deducted from UK private sector sterling 
sight deposits. (See notes to Tables 6.1 and 6.2). From the 
end of the first quarter of 1976 to the end of the first quarter of 
1978 (and from mid-May 1976 to mid-April 1978 in the monthly 
series) certain public sector funds placed temporarily with 
banking institutions through the inter-bank money market, 
which have been included in Table 6.1 within public 
corporations' deposits, were excluded from the money stock
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levels. In the money stock and domestic credit expansion 
tables these funds have been treated as internal to the banking 
sector and included in non-deposit liabilities (net). This has 
given rise to differences between the banking sector tables 
and the money stock and domestic credit expansion tables. 
The differences between Tables 6.2, 7.2 and 7.3, which show 
changes, will therefore extend to the second quarter of 1978 
and to mid-May 1978 in the monthly series.

Breaks occurred in the money stock series and their 
components at end-March 1972 and 1973 because new con
tributors were included in the banking statistics. Similarly, at 
end-December 1975 one contributor was excluded from the 
banking statistics (see notes to Table 6.3), but the effect on 
the figures is very small. Dollar certificates of deposit held by 
UK residents (other than banks), so far as they can be ident
ified, are included from end-March 1973; the coverage of
these holdings was somewhat expanded from end-December 
1977.

The introduction of new statistical returns in mid-May 1975 
also led to a slight break in the series (see the June 1975 Bank 
o f England Quarterly Bulletin p 162). The estimation previously 
needed to calculate Mi, sterling M3 and M3 was reduced, and 
slight changes in the definitions of some items reported by the 
banks caused some inconsistencies with earlier figures. In 
particular, the definition of M, was clarified by the replace
ment of 'current accounts' (a term which had different
meanings for different banks) by 'sight deposits', which is 
more precisely defined as funds available on demand, 
including money at call and money placed overnight. Also, pri
vate sector deposits with the discount market, which had pre
viously all been included in sterling M3 and M3 but not in Mi, 
were included in Mi if falling within the definition of sight 
deposits (about £100 million of such deposits were out
standing in mid-May 1975). Some of these sight deposits bear 
interest, and these are now shown separately.

In Table 7.1, the two lines of figures for end-June 1975 
show the money stock and its component parts on the old and 
new basis respectively. The first line of figures and the 
changes for the quarter ended June 1975 are, as far as 
possible, consistent with the earlier series, but include a large 
degree of estimation.

Table 7.2
Money stock: changes
In Table 7.2 the changes in the money stock may not equal the 
differences between the amounts outstanding. This Is 
because changes in bank liabilities arising directly from alter
ations in the composition of the banking sector, or from the 
use of new sources of information (as in the fourth quarter of 
1977—see also notes to Table 7.1), are excluded from the 
changes tables. Small discrepancies in the quarterly figures 
also arise because the changes in notes and coin in circulation 
with the public do not allow for wastage and hoarding of coin; 
the amounts outstanding do allow for this. Also, the 
seasonally-adjusted changes in Mi and M3 may not be the
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same as the differences between seasonally adjusted amounts 
outstanding, in part because the latter are rounded whereas 
the former are not but also because of slight technical dif
ferences in the approach used to adjust the two series (see 
'Seasonal adjustment', above).

From the second calendar quarter 1975, all figures which 
include foreign currency items, apart from the change in M 3, 
have been adjusted to exclude the effect of movements in 
exchange rates. The direct effect of exchange rate changes on 
the sterling value of M 3 is shown in column 12 .

See also notes to Table 7.1 for details of breaks in series 
and other differences from tables in Section 6.

Table 7.3
Domestic credit expansion and changes 
in money stock
Table 7.3 sets out the accounting identities between the 
public sector borrowing requirement, domestic credit 
expansion and changes in sterling Mg (see also the introduc
tion to this section). The figures shown for the various 'influ
ences' on the money stock represent flows, or transactions, 
rather than changes in amounts outstanding and have also 
been adjusted, where appropriate, to remove the effects of 
exchange rate movements.

debt by the non-bank private sector (column 5 of the 
unadjusted table and column 4 seasonally adjusted) is shown 
in greater detail by instrument in Table 3.8. In the monthly 
series the direct influence of 'other public sector' bodies (local 
authorities and public corporations) cannot be split between 
their contribution to the PSBR and acquisition of their debt by 
the UK non-bank private sector; it has therefore to be 
measured from lending by the banking and overseas sectors 
(adjusted to take account of transactions' in public sector debt 
within the public sector).

Issue Department purchases o f commercial bills
From time to time the Issue Department of the Bank of 
England acquires commercial bills in the course of its market 
operations. In such circumstances the Issue Department is, in 
effect, temporarily taking over some lending to the UK private 
sector which would otherwise be provided by the banking 
system, and the underlying trends behind DCE and the growth 
in the money supply are best shown by including such pur
chases with bank lending to the private sector (thus cancelling 
out fluctuations between the two). This treatment is followed 
in Table 7.3 and differs from that in some other tables of 
Financial Statistics, eg Table 3.8, where a pure sector 
approach is followed and Issue Department's purchases of 
commercial bills are netted off from the private sector's pur
chases of central government debt.

Domestic credit expansion
Lending to the UK private sector in foreign currencies for 
direct and portfolio investment overseas was excluded from 
DCE in 1969 because it had no appreciable effect on domestic 
liquidity. Other foreign currency lending to the private sector is 
now also excluded; formerly foreign currency borrowing by 
the UK private sector from a bank in the United Kingdom 
(other than to finance investment overseas) was included in 
DCE, whereas such borrowing from a bank overseas was 
excluded, though alternating between the two sources has no 
significant effect on UK economic conditions.

DCE has been recalculated on the present definition back to 
the origins of the series

The public sector borrowing requirement is described in the 
notes to Table 2.5. The net acquisition of central government

Table 7.4
Domestic credit expansion
An alternative presentation of DCE is followed in this table. It 
comprises:
(a) the change in domestic non-bank holdings of notes and 

coin (column 1 ), plus
(b) all lending in sterling by the banking sector to the public 

sector (columns 5 to 7 in part), private sector (columns 8 
to 10) and overseas sector (column 1 1 ), plus

(c) overseas lending to the public sector (columns 2 to 4) and 
banking sector lending in foreign currencies to the public
sector (columns 5 to 7 in part).

See also the notes to Tables 7.1 and 7.3 for details of 
breaks in series and other differences between these tables 
and banking sector tables in Section 6.
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Section 8: Other Financial Institutions
Financial companies and institutions are defined as institutions 
which obtain, convert, (for instance by borrowing short in 
small amounts and lending long in large amounts) and distri
bute available funds as their main activity. They are separately 
distinguished from industrial and commercial companies in the 
national income accounts and, because of their centra! 
position in the economy of channelling funds from borrowers 
to lenders and from one sector to another, they are sub
divided in the financial accounts between the banking sector 
and other financial institutions (OFIs). The banking sector
comprises those institutions which are subject to the 12 V2 per 
cent reserve ratio requirements and calls for special deposits, 
together with the discount market, the National Giro and the 
Banking Department of the Bank of England; the definition 
and activities of the banking sector are described in the notes 
to Section 6. OFIs, as the name implies, are in principle the 
remaining financial institutions. The OFI Sector is itself diverse 
and although the institutional groups are to an extent compet
itors as either borrowers or lenders, and sometimes both, they 
often operate in different markets. Considerable space is given 
in this section to the supporting tables which illustrate the 
characteristics of the institutional groups. The constituent 
groups of the sector are as follows:

Characteristics of 'other financial
institutions'

Number of
Holdings at 
end of 19781

institutions £ million

Building societies 316 39,723
Trustee savings banks (ND)^ 19 3,630
Finance houses 36 2,600
National Savings Bank 

(Investment account) < 1 1,136

Insurance : general
: long-term 800 46,829

Superannuation funds 700 31,044

Unit trusts 375 3,873
Investment trusts 202 6,774
Property unit trusts 23 727

Special finance agencies^ and
other miscellaneous institutions 9 1,353

1 Figures from the January 1980 issue of Financial Statistics and are 
mainly at 31 December 1978 at market values. The comparable 
figure for the banking sector is £167,407m.
Merged with the Trustee savings banks' Ordinary department,
which was previously in the central government sector, from 1 
October 1979.
Special finance agencies currently comprise: Agricultural Mortgage 
Corporation, Commonwealth Development Finance Co Ltd, Equity 
Capital for Industry, Exporters Refinance Corporation, Finance for 
Industry Ltd, Scottish Agricultural Securities Corporation Ltd and 
Ship Mortgage Finance Co Ltd.

It will be noticed that even apart from the banking sector, this 
is not a complete list of all financial institutions. Some finan
cial institutions are deliberately classified to other sectors. The 
financial activities of the ordinary departments of the National 
Savings Bank and the Exchange Equali§ation Account are an 
integral part of the financing operations of the central govern
ment and are therefore classified to that sector. Lloyds under
writers, stockbrokers and jobbers are included almost entirely 
in the personal sector. The financial transactions of life 
assurance companies and superannuation schemes are 
included in the OFI sector, even though in the national income 
accounts their funds are regarded as the property of the 
personal sector; this treatment is explained in Section 10.

Because of their key role in the financial markets OFIs are 
asked to provide information on direct returns. This has the 
advantage that their financial activities can be recorded in 
some detail and—because of practical difficulties in obtaining 
similar information direct from all other sectors, in particular 
persons and Industrial commercial companies (see the notes 
to Sections 1 ,9  and 10)—they are asked to analyse wherever 
possible their financial activities as the counter-party to such 
transactions.

Ideally it is desirable to collect information directly from all 
sectors on their financial transactions. However, it is much 
more cost-effective to approach the relatively few financial 
institutions, than the many entitles in other sectors, which 
provide little or no information at present. This approach has 
the drawback that—apart from the institutions deliberately 
allocated to other sectors, as described in the previous 
paragraph—the OFI sector is in practice delineated by those 
institutions which are represented in the system of direct 
returns. Amongst the institutions thereby not included in OFIs 
(and therefore whose financial transactions fall by residual in 
the estimates into other sectors or are not recorded at all) are 
non-listed investment trusts, check traders, factors, miscellan
eous deposit-taking companies (comprising most but not all 
'fringe' banks), pawnbrokers and moneylenders, and certain 
credit card operators.

Following a Government Statistical Service review of the 
system of inquiries to financial institutions, the GSS and the 
Bank of England have embarked on a programme of develop
ment which entails a systematic review of the statistical 
reporting system for each Institutional group. The aim of the 
programme has been to introduce new returns or enhance 
existing inquiries to bring institutional reporting up to a common 
standard. This programme is nearing completion and as 
improvements in the coverage of OFI returns have been made 
they have been incorporated into the financial accounts. It is 
often not possible to obtain historical information on the new 
basis and therefore the sector boundary is subject to extension 
from time to time (other discontinuities in the sector series 
also occur as a result of administrative or legislative changes). 
Recent improvements have included the introduction of new 
returns to finance houses, to building societies and to trustee 
savings banks (following the first stage of their reorganisation
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when the current account of the ordinary department was 
combined with the special investment departments to form 
the New department), in the near future it is hoped to make 
the coverage of private sector pension funds fully representa
tive of the group. A recent article in Statistica/ News, No 34, 
August 1976, 'Development of inquiries to Financial Insti
tutions' by A H Cowley, describes the development pro
gramme, and the reasons for it, in some detail.

The first table in the section records the sources and uses of 
funds for the sector. In principle OFI transactions in liabilities 
are analysed in the top half of the table and those in assets in 
the second part. The figures tie in with those of the financial 
accounts (Table 1.2 and Table 1.5) except that financial 
transactions amongst OFls (intra-sector transactions) are 
excluded from these two tables. A further minor difference is 
that certain transactions in financial instruments which are 
grouped under one heading in the financial accounts are split 
between sources and uses of funds in Table 8.1. The other 
tables in the section show statistics on institutional groups in 
detail.

Table 8.1
Sources and uses of funds of other finan
cial institutions
This table is intended to show transactions in OFls' financial 
liabilities (sources of funds) separately from those in their 
financial assets (uses of funds). In principle therefore receipts 
from all sources including those from other OFls are included, 
and similarly for all uses. Thus for example, property unit 
trusts' receipts from sales of units are recorded as a source of 
funds. The units are sold mainly to pension funds and there
fore these transactions are recorded again under 'other 
financial assets (UK)' as a use of funds by pension funds. This 
treatment therefore differs from that in the financial accounts 
(Table 1.5) where only the OFls' net transactions with other 
sectors are recorded. It is only the sales of property trust units 
to charities (part of the personal sector) which are subsumed 
in the financial accounts estimates of transactions in 'other 
identified home assets'. The table is not a completely decon
solidated sources and uses of funds account since, of the so- 
called intra-OFI sector transactions, practically none of those 
within institutional groups are recorded and not all of the 
transactions between groups of OFls are identified.

A further departure from the full sources and uses presen
tation is that because estimates are not made for a separate 
capital account on a quarterly basis for OFls, it is not possible 
to incorporate figures of saving, capital expenditure on 
physical assets, etc. For a similar reason it is not currently 
possible to separate the net acquisitions of financial assets for 
financial companies and institutions between those of banks 
and OFls on a quarterly basis, and there is no quarterly series 
of unidentified items on the same definition as in the financial 
accounts (the difference between NAFA and tota/ identified  
financial assets) for OFls. The column for the residual in Table 
8.1 is purely the difference between total uses and total

sources of funds as shown in the table. This table includes 
land, property and ground rents, which are treated in the 
national income accounts as part of capital expenditure, 
among uses of funds. All the other sources and uses of funds 
shown are financial transactions and since intra-sector items 
are entered on both sides of the account, the difference 
between total uses of funds (excluding land, property and 
ground rents) and total sources (but not the residual) is 
equivalent to 'total identified financial assets' as shown in 
Table 1.5.

Scope of headings 

Sources of funds
Building society deposits is the same item as net increase in 
shares and deposits outstanding in Table 8.6, and includes 
some small receipts by building societies from insurance com
panies; these are netted off in the Table 1.5 presentation.

Other deposits comprises deposits received by the Central 
Trustee Savings Bank, finance houses, and the Crown 
Agents.

Bank borrowing includes advances and loans, bills dis
counted and from the third quarter of 1975, market loans.

Unit trust units comprises the net sales o f units as shown in 
Table 8.10. The identified transactions in unit trusts of other 
financial institutions are netted off the figures shown in Table 
1.5.

The heading Property unit trust units and LAM IT  comprises 
the sum of net sales of units as presented in Table 8.9, and 
the net acquisition of Local Authorities Mutual Investment 
Trust units by local authorities superannuation funds as 
shown in Table 8.15. Only the sales of property unit trust units 
to charities are included in the financial accounts table under 
other identified home assets.

Life assurance and superannuation funds. This item is the 
counterpart to the financial claim of the personal sector on the 
funds as shown in the financial accounts. Annual estimates 
are based on the net increase in funds as taken from their 
revenue account, and quarterly figures are imputed from their 
figures of direct investments as recorded on their financial 
returns. In principle, therefore, these estimates are equivalent 
to the sum of total net acquisitions by insurance companies' 
long term funds, as shown in Table 8.13, total net acquisitions 
of investments by superannuation funds as shown in Table 
8.14 and the unidentified difference between the funds 
revenue account estimates and their total investments.

Official loans consist of loans to building societies advanced 
during 1959 to 1961 under the House Purchase and Housing 
Act 1959 and the £500 million loan under the scheme 
announced by the Secretary of State for the Environment on 
10 April 1974, and also loans to special finance agencies.

Other liabilities includes other loans and mortgages as 
shown in Table 1.5 and certain other miscellaneous liabilities. 
Short term borrowing in the United Kingdom, and short term 
borrowing and intra-company investment overseas, are 
included under the sub-headings UK and overseas respec
tively.
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The accruals adjustment covers building society accrued 
interest as in Table 8.7, the difference between the accruals 
and cash figures of interest on bank advances and bank 
deposits, and adjustments in respect of income tax on wages 
and salaries and National Insurance contributions payable by
OFIs.

Uses of funds
Other liquid assets cover Treasury bills, tax instruments, local 
authority temporary debt, deposits with building societies by 
insurance companies, and sight deposits by the Trustee 
savings banks (New department) with the Central Trustee
Savings Bank.

The item British government securities includes OFIs trans
actions in Northern Ireland central government debt.

Local authority longer-term debt includes loans by local 
authority superannuation funds to their parent authority.

UK company securities and Overseas securities. The trans
actions figures relate to estimates from the returns and are 
shown here before deduction of the costs of transactions.

Loans and mortgages for house purchase is the same item 
that appears in Table 1.5 and includes loans by building 
societies, the public sector and financial companies and insti
tutions.

Loans and mortgages—other includes loans by super
annuation funds (other than those of local authorities) to the 
parent organisation, loans by finance houses and other loans 
and mortgages.

Other financial assets comprises the purchase of unit trust 
units by insurance companies and investment trusts, the net 
sales of property unit trusts to pension funds, time deposits by 
Trustee savings banks with the Central Trustee Savings 
Bank—all of which are intra OFl sector transactions—short
term assets and other investments in the United Kingdom, 
overseas Investment and short-term assets. For convenience, 
investments in antiques and works of art are included under 
this heading although they are not strictly financial assets.

The timeliness and methods of compilation of the OFIs 
are described in the notes to the other tables that follow. 
Figures are entered in this table one month, two months or 
three months after the quarter to which they relate according 
to when they become available. There are also more general 
notes on the derivation of OFl series for the financial instru
ments distinguished in the financial accounts under the notes 
to Section 1, (see page 16).

A press notice on institutional investment is published 
seventeen weeks after the quarter to which it relates.

Tables 8.2 and 8.3
Trustee savings banks
National Savings Bank; Investment
account
Coverage
These tables cover the assets and liabilities of the Trustee 
savings banks (Table 8.2) and the deposits and investments of

the Investment account of the National Savings Bank (Table 
8.3). The financial activities of the Ordinary department of the 
National Savings Bank are an integral part of the financing 
operations of central government; It is therefore classified to 
the public sector as up to the 3rd quarter 1979 was the 
Ordinary department of the Trustee savings banks.

The Trustee Savings Bank Act 1976 provides the legislative 
basis which will ultimately enable the Trustee savings banks to 
become an independent banking force. As part of the 
implementation policy the current account of the Ordinary 
department was amalgamated with the Special investment 
department on 21 November 1976 to form the New depart
ment. Figures in the table for periods preceding that date 
cover the investments of the Special investment department 
only.

On 21 November 1979 the Ordinary department (formerly in 
the central government sector) was amalgamated with the 
New department in the other financial institutions sector and 
the use of departmental titles dropped. For statistical purposes 
the change is being regared as having occurred after the end 
of the 3rd quarter 1979. From the December 1979 issue the 
analysis of deposits and investments in Table 8.2 includes the 
Trustee savings banks balance with the Fund for the Banks for 
Savings and a new section in Table 8.2 (continued) shows 
deposits, withdrawals, accrued interest and the balance out
standing with the Trustee savings banks.

The legislation covering the range of investments open to 
Trustee savings banks is in the Trustee Savings Bank Acts 
1976 and 1978 and that of the National Savings Bank derives 
from the National Savings Bank Act 1966, now consolidated in 
the National Savings Bank Act 1971.

Figures relating to deposits with the Trustee savings banks 
and the National Savings Bank are included in the national 
savings tables in Section 3. A new system of statistical 
returns, which includes banking month and quarterly balance 
sheets, was introduced for Trustee savings banks in December 
1976. This information is now included in Table 8.2.

Timeliness and method of compilation
The monthly and quarterly figures in respect of the Trustee 
savings banks are compiled from returns supplied to the 
National Debt Office by each Trustee savings bank and are 
published two months after the end of the respective periods. 
The quarterly figures in respect of the National Savings Bank 
Investment account are published two months after the 
quarter end. .

Table 8.4
Finance houses and other consumer credit
companies
The main business of finance houses and other consumer 
credit companies is the direct financing of instalment credit 
sales of motor vehicles, caravans and household goods, 
mainly to persons,, together with a substantial amount of farm, 
industrial and building plant and equipment to businesses. The 
main sources of funds for these companies are deposits and 
other borrowing.
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Figures of loans and advances are included in the financial 
accounts under Other loans and mortgages by financial insti
tutions (excluding banks).

Coverage
This table shows selected assets and liabilities of finance 
houses and other consumer credit companies. These statistics 
are derived from quarterly and annual returns supplied to 
Economics & Statistics Division 6A of the Departments of 
Industry and Trade by a panel of contributors on a voluntary
basis.

The statistics exclude the assets and liabilities of those 
finance houses which were recognised as banks before the 
implementation of the Banking Act 1979.

Method of com pilation
The assets and liabilities figures provided by contributors are 
grossed up on the basis of the results of an inquiry taken in 
respect of business in 1965. In due course these statistics will 
be rebased on results of the 'benchmark' inquiry to all con
sumer credit grantors conducted in respect of 1976.

Scope of headings
Loans and advances cover all types of lending, including 
instalment credit, to UK residents. They also include loans to 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies of con
tributors to the quarterly assets and liabilities inquiry.

Other current assets include certificates of deposit, com
mercial bills. Treasury bills, short-term lending to local author
ities, certificates of tax deposit. These items are all quoted at
book value.

Deposits and Other borrow ing  are at book value and include 
borrowing from unconsolidated parent, subsidiary and asso
ciated companies of contributors to the quarterly assets and 
liabilities inquiry.

Timeliness
The figures in Table 8.4 are normally published about four 
months after the quarter end to which they relate.

Statistics of selected assets and liabilities are also published 
about four months after the quarter end to which they relate in 
Business M onitor SD07  'Assets and liabilities of finance 
houses and other consumer credit companies'. The Annual 
Abstract o f Statistics (1980). Table 17.23 provides an annual 
series giving holdings of selected assets and liabilities by 
finance houses from 1966 to 1975; Table 17.24 gives annual 
figures for finance houses and other consumer credit 
companies from 1976 onwards.

Table 8.5
Hire Purchase and other credit business

Coverage

The figures in Table 8.5 relate to credit advanced by finance 
houses (including those recognised or confirmed as banks 
since January 1972), other specialist consumer credit grantors
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(both companies and unincorporated businesses and 
including check traders, moneylenders etc) and selected kinds 
of retail business. Strictly, figures for retailers should not 
appear in Section 8 of Financial Statistics, as they are not 
financial institutions, but they are included here in recognition 
of the fact that they are conventionally added to the figures of 
specialist consumer credit grantors' business to give a 
monthly indicator of non-bank credit business. The change in 
retailers' debt is treated in the financial accounts as being 
extended by the public sector (gas and electricity board show
rooms) and industrial and commercial companies to persons.

The estimates for finance houses and other specialist con
sumer credit grantors are based on the benchmark Inquiry to 
Consumer Credit Grantors for 1976, the results of which are 
given in Business M onitor M13 and in an article in the 30 June
1978 issue of Trade and industry, now British Business. The 
definition of 'regulated' is that followed in the Consumer 
Credit Act 1974 and covers credit advanced to 'individuals' 
(which includes unincorporated businesses in this context) for 
amounts not exceeding £5,0(X). The separate figures given for 
'other' credit include lending to companies as well as advances 
to individuals for amounts in excess of £5,OCX). In Table 8.5, 
the figures shown are for 'fixed-sum credit' only (i.e. credit of 
which the total to be advanced is known at the outset of the 
arrangement) with the exception of those in the column Total 
Amounts Outstanding which include amounts for running- 
account credit (i.e. amounts outstanding on agreements 
where credit is advanced on a revolving basis including over
drafts and non-bank credit cards).

The figures for retailers cover durable goods shops (that is 
furniture shops, radio, TV and electrical shops, cycle and 
perambulator shops, and the showrooms of gas and electricity 
boards), departmental stores (including co-operative society 
stores), other general stores and general mail-order houses. 
The figures do not include the credit business of those kinds of 
retailer not listed above. The figures relate not only to hire pur
chase agreements, but also to other forms of credit including 
sales on budget accounts, credit sale agreements and personal 
loans repayable by instalments. Credit advanced by retailers in 
the form of trading checks exchangeable only in their own 
shops is included, but credit advanced by check traders as 
such is not covered. The figures exclude monthly account 
credit and sales on bank credit cards such as Access and 
Barclaycard.

M ethod of compilation
The estimates for finance houses and other specialist con
sumer credit grantors are based on the results of the 1976 
benchmark inquiry. The benchmark estimates are projected by 
means of monthly returns to Economics and Statistics Division 
6A of the Department of Trade from a panel of consumer credit 
grantors, comprising virtually all the largest consumer credit 
grantors and a sample of the smaller ones. The monthly data 
collected from these contributors include the actual amounts 
of credit extended, charges for credit and repayments received, 
plus the amounts of debt outstanding to them on regulated 
and other credit agreements. The 'rebasing' on to the results 
of the 1976 benchmark inquiry was described in the 13 April
1979 issue of Trade and Industry, now British Business.
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The estimates for retailers are based on the results of the 
1971 Census of Distribution, projected by means of monthly 
returns from a stratified panel of retailers. The data collected 
each month by the Business Statistics Office as part of their 
retail sales inquiry from the panel of retailers, are the value of 
credit sales and the amount of debt outstanding on such sales. 
The estimates of new credit are derived by making an allow
ance for deposits and charges for credit and then, (since the 
figures of sales relate to all sales on credit terms whether 
financed directly by the retailer or indirectly by a finance 
house) deducting the credit extended by finance houses and 
other specialist consumer credit grantors for household and 
personal goods to prevent duplication. During 1980 the esti
mates for retailers will be rebased on to the results of the 1976
Retailing Inquiry.

Scope of headings
Total amounts outstanding, the estimates relate to the balance 
of amounts remaining to be paid at the end of the period and 
include amounts outstanding on running account credit
agreements.

New credit extended is the total amount advanced excluding 
charges. The figures for finance houses and other specialist 
consumer credit grantors relate only to agreements they have 
entered into directly with the customer. The figures for 
retailers include agreements subsequently discounted with 
finance houses.

Repayments, the figures for retailers are derived as the differ
ence between the figures of new credit extended {including 
charges) and the changes in debt outstanding. Actual figures 
of repayments are supplied in respect of finance houses and 
other specialist consumer credit grantors.

implied changes in debt are estimated from figures of new 
credit extended (including charges) and repayments.

Timeliness
The latest monthly summary statistics, in seasonally adjusted 
terms, are published about 5 weeks after the end of the period 
to which they relate by means of a Department of Trade Press 
Notice. They also appear shortly after this in British Business. 
Detailed statistics are published monthly (about 7 weeks after 
the period to which the figures relate) in Business M onitor 
SDM 6 'Finance Houses and Other Specialist Consumer 
Credit Grantors' Business' and SDM 8 'Consumer Credit Busi
ness of Retailers'. At about the same time summary statistics 
appear in Financial Statistics, Economic Trends and in the 
Monthly Digest o f Statistics.

Tables 8.6, 8.7 and 8.8
Building societies
These tables cover building societies as defined by the Build
ing Societies Act 1962. Building societies have dominated the 
house loans market for many years. Their lending is financed

mainly from receipts of shares and deposits which they acquire 
almost entirely from individuals in the personal sector in com
petition with other financial institutions, particularly the 
clearing banks, and National Savings. Their success in attract
ing funds largely depends on the relative attractiveness of their 
share and deposit interest rates (see Table 13.14 and Section 
13 generally).

Table 8.6
Building societies: shares and deposits.
mortgages and investments
The table shows monthly receipts, and withdrawals, of shares 
and deposits; also new commitments to lend, the amounts of 
new advances and repayments of both principal and interest.

Net advances o f principal (column 12) is shown as part of 
loans for house purchase to persons in Table 1.5, and 
explicitly in Table 10.2.

Table 8.7
Building societies: liabilities and assets
The table shows transactions (at cash values) in the various 
assets and liabilities of building societies together with 
holdings (at book values).

The quarterly figures of net increase in shares and deposits 
outstanding and net advances o f principal shown in Table 8.6 
are repeated in the net acquisitions section of Table 8.7 and 
are described respectively as shares and deposits and 
mortgages. Official loans to building societies and their net 
acquisitions of financial assets are also included under the res
pective liability and asset categories in Tables 8.1 and 1.5.

Table 8.7 (continued) contains a sector analysis of holdings 
of shares and deposits based, from the third quarter of 1978, on 
information from revised quarterly returns. Prior to this, fig
ures of the net increase in shares and deposits outstanding 
were allocated to the personal sector, industrial and commer
cial companies and financial institutions other than banks, on 
the basis of the analysis of deposits in annual returns; quar
terly estimates for the latter sectors were imputed from current 
differences between interest rates on building society deposits 
and bank deposit accounts, and the residual net receipts were 
attributed to persons. Estimates of the personal sector's and 
industrial and commercial companies' holdings of deposits are 
included In Table 10.4 and 9.3 respectively.

Table 8.8
Building societies: mortgage advances
and commitments
The total value of new commitments and of advances are 
taken from columns 8 and 9 respectively of Table 8.6. They
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include loans not wholly on dwellings. Other columns refer to 
dwellings only.

Method of com pilation
The statistics are based on monthly returns of receipts and 
payments (Table 8.6 and 8.7), quarterly returns of net acqui
sitions of assets (Table 8.6) and annual returns of assets and 
liabilities outstanding (Table 8.6). The analyses by type of 
dwelling in Table 8.8 are based on separate monthly returns of 
mortgage advances and dwelling prices.

The monthly return of receipts and payments is issued to a 
sample of 83 societies with assets amounting to 95 per cent of 
total building society assets; ail societies with assets exceed
ing £50 million are included, together with about 1 in 3 
societies with assets between £10 million and £50 million and 1 
in 20 of all other societies. The quarterly and annual returns are 
issued to a sample of 56 societies—all those with assets 
exceeding £50 million.

The monthly returns of receipts and payments are proces
sed by the Building Societies Association. The CSO processes 
quarterly and annual returns and carries out the seasonal 
adjustment of figures presented in Table 8.6. Each year the 
figures of net acquisitions of assets and liabilities in Tables 8.6 
and 8.7 are reconciled with the annual statutory returns made 
to the Registrar of Friendly Societies by all building societies.

Quarterly figures of Save As You Earn (SAVE) national 
savings purchased through building societies are included in 
the figures of shares and deposits. These are based on supple
mentary quarterly returns from a sample of about 60 societies. 
For details on SAVE terms see page 49.

About 50 societies, including the 18 largest, with assets 
amounting to 90 per cent of total building society assets com
plete the monthly returns of mortgage advances and dwelling 
prices . The processing of those returns is carried out by the 
Department of the Environment.

Scope of headings
New commitments (of mortgages)—Tables 8.6 and 8.8— 
cover gross commitments (ie formal offers of loans by building 
societies) less cancellations, (which may relate to commit
ments from earlier periods).

Advances (of mortgages)—Tables 8.6 and 8.8—are gross 
advances made at purchase completion dates.

Repayments o f p/'/nc/paZ—Table 8 .6—include repayments 
on the premature winding up of mortgages which occur when 
dwellings are sold, as well as contractual repayments.

The Liquidity /■af/o—Table 8.6 —is based on unpublished 
figures in the monthly returns of receipts and payments. It is 
calculated as the ratio of holdings of cash and investments to 
total assets at the end of the month; the figures for the latest 
calendar year are subject to revision following the reconcili
ation of year-end figures with the Registrar of Friendly 
Societies annual returns.

Timeliness
The latest month's figures for shares and deposits etc are first 
made public by a press notice issued by the Building Societies

Association —usually on the second Friday of the following 
month. They next appear at the end of that month in Financial 
Statistics Table 8.6 with the latest month's analysis of 
advances and commitments in Table 8.8. This analysis is pro
visional for the latest month and is subject to revision in the 
following month. The quarterly figures in Table 8.7 are pub
lished two months after the quarter end. Revised quarterly fig
ures originating from the annual reconciliation with the Regis
trar of Friendly Societies statutory returns are first published in 
the July issue of Financial Statistics.

4 ^

Further references
Long runs of quarterly figures on mortgage advances, repay
ments of principal and net advances are included in the table 
loans for house purchase, which is published quarterly as a 
supplementary table in Financial Statistics which also shows 
loans for house purchase made by local authorities and 
insurance companies. Quarterly figures of both the number 
and value of SAVE accounts opened and closed, as well as 
balances outstanding are shown alongside information on 
SAYE transacted through the Department for National 
Savings and Trustee savings banks in another quarterly sup
plementary table in Financial Statistics.

The June issue of the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin 
includes a table which shows how the flow of funds estimates 
covering the latest complete calendar year, for financial insti
tutions other than banks, have been built up from information 
on institutional groups and which includes separate figures for 
building societies. A run of estimates for the years 1963 to 
1974 is shown in Table 31/14 of the Bank o f England Statis
tical Abstract Number 2.

Housing and Construction Statistics, a quarterly publication 
by the Department of the Environment, contains tables show
ing similar information to Tables 8.6 to 8.8, and also, on both 
regular and occasional bases, a considerable amount of statis
tics on the housing market including information on the charac
teristics of mortgagors, mortgaged property and mortgage 
advances. Part of the analysis of mortgages is based on the 
'Five Per Cent Sample Survey of Building Society Mortgages', 
which is described in a booklet by Andrew Evans with that title 
published as Studies in Official Statistics, No 26 (HMSO, 
1975).

The Report o f the Chief Registrar o f Friendly Societies, Part 
2, Building Societies, contains selected statistics from the 
aggregation of building societies' statutory annual returns for 
the various year-ends between 1 February and the following 31
January.

The Annual Abstract o f Statistics lab \e  17.22 1980 provides 
a long annual series of statistics which are also drawn by the 
Registry of Friendly Societies from the statutory returns, and 
the Digest o f Welsh Statistics gives details of the number of 
mortgages granted annually in Wales.

As well as its monthly press release, the Building Societies 
Association publishes the quarterly BSA Bulletin, which 
includes detailed statistics on all aspects of building society 
operations. A compendium of building society statistics, pub
lished by the Association, provides a long run of all available
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building society statistics including quarterly financial statis
tics, actual and seasonally adjusted, from 1955.

Table 8.9
Property unit trusts
The statistics cover all UK property unit trusts which have 
been given permission by the Department of Trade to distribute 
circulars inviting participation, which is restricted to pension 
funds and charities. Property unit trusts invest in commercial 
property and their assets are held in the name of a trustee and 
are managed by a separate committee or company. Some 
investment may be financed by longer-term borrowing. Table 
8.9 shows quarterly net sales of units to pension funds 
(regarded as part of the OFI sector) and charities (part of the 
personal sector) and net transactions in assets. The use of the 
figures in the financial accounts is described in the notes to 
Table 8.1 headings. Asset levels are not collected but cumula
tive figures of net transactions from March 1966 are provided.

Compilation and timeliness
Returns are collected (from 23 property unit trusts) and aggre
gated by the Bank of England. The latest quarter's figures are 
published about three months after the end of the quarter to 
which they refer.

Scope of headings
Property investments are recorded as acquired or sold on the 
day of completion. They are valued on a cash basis and 
include the commission, etc., charges.

Further references
The Bank o f England Statistical Abstract No. 2 gives a run of 
figures for March 1966- 1974 in Table 19.

Tables 8.10 and 8.11
Unit trusts
The statistics cover virtually all unit trusts authorised by the 
Department of Trade under the Prevention of Fraud (Invest
ments) Act 1958. Unit trusts invest mainly in ordinary shares. 
They are set up under trust deeds, the trustee usually being a 
banker or an insurance company. The trusts are administered 
not by the trustees but by independent management com
panies. Units representing a share in the trust's assets can be 
bought by the public from the managers or resold to them at 
any time. In the financial accounts all transactions in unit trust 
units, other than those identified on the returns of other OFIs, 
are assumed to be with the personal sector.

In Table 8.10 the transactions figures show the value of 
units sold by the managers of unit trusts to the public and the 
value of units repurchased by managers from the public.

Timeliness

The latest month's figures are released to the press by the Unit 
Trust Association about the 18th-20th of the following 
month. The figures are published in Financial Statistics about 
the end of the second month after that to which they relate.

M ethod of compilation
The statistics are compiled by the Unit Trust Association and 
cover unit trusts authorised by the Department of Trade (over 
380 trusts).

Table 8.11

This table shows the amount outstanding of selected liabilities 
and assets at the end of the calendar year and quarterly trans
actions in those liabilities and assets. The assets and liabilities 
are analysed by type with a maturity analysis of British govern
ment securities.

Timeliness
The latest quarter's figures are published about three months 
after the end of the quarter to which they refer.

M ethod of compilation
From the first quarter of 1975 responsibility for the collection 
of the quarterly and annual statistics passed from the Unit 
Trust Association to the Bank of England.

Scope of headings are the same as for Table 8.12.

Further references
The Bank o f England Statistical Abstracts Numbers 1 and 2 
give a run of the figures for the years 1960-1974 and the 
Annual Abstract o f Statistics publishes figures (Table 17.26 
(1980)), for the latest 11 years, of end-year holdings of invest
ment instruments at market valuation.

Estimates of the trusts' overseas income are published in 
the UK balance o f payments 'Pink Book'.

Table 8.12
Investment trusts
The investment trust companies which are included in the 
statistics are those which are recognised as investment trusts 
by the Inland Revenue for tax purposes. About 200 such 
companies contribute returns; statistics are not sought from 
about ten trusts whose assets are less than £1 million. 
Investment trust companies acquire financial assets with 
money subscribed by shareholders or borrowed in the form of 
loan capital. They are not trusts in the legal sense, but are 
limited companies with two special characteristics: their assets 
consist of securities (mainly ordinary shares), and they are 
debarred by their articles of association from distributing 
capital gains as dividends.

This table shows the amount outstanding of selected 
liabilities and assets at the end of the calendar year and
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quarterly transactions in those liabilities and assets. The assets 
and liabilities are analysed by type with a maturity analysis of 
British government and local authority securities.

Timeliness
The latest quarter's figures are published about three months 
after the end of the quarter to which they refer.

Method of compilation
Returns are received from about 200 companies. The quarterly 
return of transactions and annual return of assets forms are 
collected and aggregated by the Bank of England. The 
reported figures are not grossed up to cover non-contributors
to the series.

Valuation
Holdings of listed securities at end-years are valued at market 
prices. Unlisted securities are at current values and bills and 
mortgages at maturity values. The figures include the invest
ment currency premium where appropriate, up to the third
quarter 1979.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets (net). The quarterly transactions figures 
exclude contingent assets and liabilities such as claims on, or 
sums due to, the Inland Revenue and the liability for accrued 
loan interest and for dividends proposed but not yet paid. 
They include (in other short-term assets) sums due from 
stockbrokers on account of securities sold and still awaiting
settlement.

Other short-term borrowing  includes sums due to stock
brokers on account of securities purchased and still awaiting 
settlement.

Transactions in Investments are recorded when the contract 
is agreed; only transactions for cash are included. Conversions 
or exchanges of securities are excluded.

Further references
The Bank o f England Statistical Abstracts provide a run of 
figures for the years 1960—1974 and an article showing 
integrated balance sheet and flow statistics for investment 
trust companies appeared in the June 1975 Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin. The Annua! Abstract o f Statistics publishes 
figures in Table 17.26 (1979), for the latest 11 years, of end- 
year holdings of investment instruments at market valuation.

Figures of the companies' investment income from overseas 
and of their payments abroad of interest on foreign currency 
loans are used in 'the City' earnings statistics published in the 
UK balance o f payments 'Pink Book'.

Table 8.13
Insurance companies
Insurance companies are active in both life assurance and non
life (general) insurance and they also operate the pension 
schemes of many industrial and commercial companies. All 
insurance business consists of a spreading of risks, through

time and between persons and organisations. Long-term  
business has an emphasis on the spreading of risks over time, 
whereas general business is mainly concerned with the 
spreading of risks between persons and organisations.

Within long-term business the major part consists of life 
assurance, a large part of which offers a channel for saving 
that is not greatly different from the business of a unit trust. 
Long-term business includes permanent health insurance and 
capital redemption business.

Estimates for Lloyds underwriters are not included here but 
in principle are covered in the personal sector.

Coverage
The figures cover insurers and collecting friendly societies 
operating in the United Kingdom and include the pension 
schemes they operate on behalf of other companies. The 
British Insurance Association (BIA) supply Economics and 
Statistics Division 6A of the Departments of Industry and 
Trade with information relating to their members. The Division 
also collects information from a sample of insurance 
companies who are not members of the BIA. This infor
mation, combined with that supplied by the BIA, has enabled 
representative estimates of investments and holdings of 
financial assets to be made for all insurers operating in the
United Kingdom.

The returns include assets held in respect of money remitted 
by overseas branches and subsidiaries, but they exclude direct 
investment by a UK company in its overseas branches or sub
sidiaries as well as financial assets held by, or on behalf of, 
these branches (even if held in the United Kingdom).

Method of Compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived from a 
quarterly inquiry to insurance companies, and those of 
holdings are derived from an annual inquiry into insurance 
companies' holdings of financial assets.

Valuation
Holdings of assets for calendar year-ends are at market values, 
except for mortgages and loans and part of other investments,
which are at book values.

Net acquisitions are quoted at cash values.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets include cash in hand and with UK banks, 
UK Treasury bills, local authority bills and temporary money, 
certificates of deposit, net amounts due to or from stock
brokers and other short-term assets held in the United
Kingdom or overseas.

Agents' balances etc consist of agents' balances, out
standing premiums, re-insurance balances, accrued interest, 
outstanding interest, dividends and rents, and life interests 
and reversions. Inward treaty balances and amounts due from 
re-insurers are included when due by overseas companies as 
well as by companies in the United Kingdom. Marine depart
ment inward treaty balances are also included, but not 
amounts due from overseas agents. No deduction has been 
made for amounts due to re-insurance companies, outstand
ing claims and sundry creditors.

83

i f  *

■‘•jn
$

'  ♦ ♦ ♦  I
r  *  I *

i  *

4

•WHi

^ 4  ♦ ♦

•  «  V  r.-fr.

Ttti.
. ' U
I  * *  *

•  «

,|t

>tKf,
•  1

at;

*5 '
I  %•.
♦ ♦

••



t.

f :1•* i!

t „1 '

' i

'■'t
)

0 .

I  I

I!-!

i

I  0

I  I

« » i

n
$

\ 1
I  •

• A

I

\ ^

Timeliness
The quarterly net acquisitions figures in Table 8.13 are 
normally published about four months after the quarter end to 
which they relate.

A more detailed breakdown of these statistics appears in 
Business Monitor MQ5 'Insurance companies' and pension 
funds' investment'. This monitor is also published about four 
months after the quarter end to which the statistics relate. A 
quarterly article describing the statistics more fully appears in 
British Business usually about three months after the relevant 
quarter end.

The annual holdings figures in Table 8.13 are normally pub
lished about nine months after the year end to which they 
relate. They also appear in the second quarter issue of 
Business Monitor MQ5each year. An annua! article describing 
these statistics more fully appears in British Business usually 
during September.

Tables 8.14 and 8.15
Superannuation funds
Pension business is treated together with life assurance in the 
national income accounts under the personal sector. In the 
financial accounts, on the other hand, superannuation funds 
and life assurance funds {ie insurance company long term 
funds) are included as financial institutions. This treatment 
and that of the personal sector's claim on life assurance and 
pension funds in the financial accounts is explained in the 
notes to Section 10.

The estimates in Table 8.14 cover the quarterly transactions
in financial assets by the funded schemes of local authorities,
the rest of the public sector {mainly nationalised industries)
and the private sector. These pension funds are self-
administered and are generally run by boards of trustees on
behalf of their members. They are distinct from pension funds
run by insurance companies whose business is included in the
figures for insurance companies covered in Table 8.13. Table
8.15 analyses the net acquisition of assets by local authority,
other public sector and private sector pension funds
separately and also shows annual figures of their holdings of 
assets.

Valuation

The annual inquiries ask funds to report their assets and 
liabilities wherever possible at current market value and, failing 
that' at written down book value. Transactions in assets and 
liabilities are reported at cash values in the quarterly inquiries.

Scope of headings

Short term assets are those maturing within one year of 
originating date, including loans repayable at lenders' option 
within one year of the date of issue, and money at call and 
short notice. They include cash in hand and balances with UK 
banks, certificates of deposit issued by UK banks, UK
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Treasury bills, local authority bills and temporary money, 
short-term assets with UK financial institutions other than 
banks and other short-term assets held in both the UK and
overseas. They also include balances due to or from stock
brokers and short term borrowing.

Long-term borrowing~r\ex acquisitions relate to gross bor
rowing less repayments in the quarter.

Other investments includes items such as commodities,
gold coins, works of art, insurance policies and overseas 
property unit trusts.

Timeliness

The figures in Table 8.14 are published about four months 
after the quarter end to which they relate. In 8.15 the figures 
for net acquisition are published as they become available: 
after 2 months for local authorities and after 3 months for 
other public sector and private sector funds.

Further references

A more detailed breakdown of pension fund statistics appears 
in Business Monitor MQ5 'Insurance companies' and pension 
funds' investment', which is also published about four months 
after the quarter end to which the statistics relate. A quarterly 
article describing these statistics more fully appears in British 
Business, about three months after the relevant quarter end. 
An article describing the annual holdings statistics usually 
appears in British Business during September. The Annual 
Abstract o f Statistics provides a long series of asset holdings 
statistics of both private and public sector superannuation 
funds (Table 17.27 (1980)).

Table 8.15
Superannuation funds —local authorities
Coverage

Since the reorganisation of local authorities (Northern Ireland 
in 1973, England and Wales in 1974, and Scotland in 1975) the 
figures relate to the 104 authorities which operate pension 
funds covering the employees of the 565 local authorities in 
the United Kingdom. From the second quarter of 1974 the 
figures reflect the transfer of assets in respect of the funds of 
water, sewerage and drainage boards in England and Wales, 
and all trust ports from local authorities funds to public corpor
ations funds, and of the funds of local health services to 
central government.

M ethod of compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived from a 
quarterly inquiry and holdings of financial assets and liabilities 
at 31 March are taken from an annual return. The CSO pro
cesses both sets of returns. Forms are sent to all funds and 
estimates are made in respect of those funds that fail to 
respond.
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Superannuation funds —other public 
sector (ie excluding local authorities)
Coverage
The figures relate mainly to schemes covering employees of 
the nationalised industries. They include some funds which 
were set up before nationalisation and certain other funds. 
Those other funds are: British Council Superannuation 
Scheme, Commonwealth War Grave Commission Super
annuation Scheme, Indian family pension funds and Royal 
Seamen's pension fund. From the 4th quarter of 1967 the 
estimates include the funded schemes of nationalised steel 
companies and from the 4th quarter 1969 the Post Office Staff 
Superannuation Scheme. In addition the figures from the 2nd 
quarter of 1974 include assets in respect of the funds of water, 
sewerage and drainage boards in England and Wales, and 
trust ports which were transferred on 1 April 1974 from local 
authorities to public corporations control. The main super
annuation arrangements in the central government sector are 
unfunded and are therefore excluded from these tables.

Method of compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived from a 
quarterly inquiry; holdings of financial assets and liabilities are 
derived from an annual survey. Most of the returns for the 
annual survey relate to 31 December; no adjustment is made 
to returns relating to other dates in the year. The CSO pro
cesses both sets of returns and makes estimates for those 
schemes that fail to respond.

'.r • Miy..

Superannuation funds —private sector
Coverage
The statistics are compiled from returns received by 
Economics and Statistics Division 6A of the Departments of 
Industry and Trade from a sample of self-administered and 
managed superannuation funds of the private sector, includ
ing those of companies and non-profit-making bodies. Funds 
which operate primarily through insurance companies and 
funds of co-operative societies, local authorities, public cor
porations or central government are not included. Respon
dents are asked to make returns covering financial assets of 
funds whose investment policy is managed from within the 
United Kingdom, including the funds of any subsidiary 
companies. Some undertakings operate two or more pension 
funds; such funds have been treated as single funds in the 
statistics. Estimates have been made for transactions of, and 
assets held by, pension funds not included in the sample, or 
which did not respond.

M ethod of compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived from a 
quarterly inquiry and those for holdings from an annual 
inquiry. Not all the annual returns relate to 31 December; no 
adjustment is made to bring them to a common year-end 
basis. Transactions in assets and liabilities are reported at cash
values.
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i'll Section Industrial and commercial
companies
This section begins with a description of the types of 
economic unit of which the sector is composed, briefly lists 
the tables and discusses some concepts —an understanding of 
which is an essential accompaniment to the figures them
selves. The final part of this section covers the detailed 
description of the individual tables.

In the national accounts, industrial and commercial (I and Cl 
companies are distinguished from financial companies and 
institutions because their economic functions are quite 
different. While the income of financial companies and 
institutions is derived mainly from interest and dividends on, 
or transactions in, financial assets, I and C companies 
primarily generate profits from manufacturing and other 
activities in the United Kingdom, including the provision of 
non-financial services. Although the title given to this section 
is 'industrial and commercial companies' certain information is 
also given on 'financial companies and institutions' (see 
Tables 9.4 and 9.6). It was thought preferable to include this 
information here rather than in Sections 6 or 8.

Industrial and commercial companies
Generally, the term 'companies' is taken to mean those bodies 
which have: (a) corporate status (b) private control and (cl a 
policy of making profits. The I and C companies sector broadly 
comprises all corporate bodies other than public corporations, 
banks, other financial institutions (see below) and agricultural 
companies. Certain government-controlled companies and 
companies which are subsidiaries of the National Enterprise 
Board are included. Thus the economic activities of the self- 
employed (unincorporated businesses) are excluded and are 
classified to the personal sector. However, there are some 
other bodies included in the I and C company sector: private 
non-profit making bodies serving companies—but not neces
sarily incorporated—such as trade associations; co-operative 
societies and some minor deposit-taking and other financial 
institutions which fall by default into the I and C company 
sector because the necessary figures are not available to 
include them with financial companies and institutions.
Property companies are included in the I and C company 
sector.

The industrial composition of I and C companies can be 
broadly described in terms of the Standard Industrial Classifi
cation (SIC). In the 1968 SIC, I and C companies are included 
in orders II to XX, XXIll, and parts of orders I, XXII, XXIV, 
XXV and X X V I-th a t is, forestry and fishing; mining and 
quarrying (which covers North Sea oil activities); manu
facturing industry; construction; transport and communi
cation; retail and wholesale distribution; professional and

scientific services and other miscellaneous services. However, 
it must be remembered that these categories also include 
unincorporated businesses and public sector bodies.

The coverage of the I and C company sector has changed 
substantially over time because of nationalisation and 
denationalisation, transfers of activities from the central 
government to private companies, reclassification of some 
companies to the banking sector, liquidations, additions of 
newly-incorporated companies and acquisitions of unincor
porated businesses. Most notably, the sector was enlarged 
through the denationalisation of the steel industry in July 1953 
and made smaller by its re-nationalisation in July 1967.

Among the sources of information provided directly by 
companies are their published annual accounts (which are 
analysed by the Department of Industry), the results of the 
Annual Census of Production (ACOP), and returns relating to 
short-term assets and liabilities received from some 220 large 
companies. Unfortunately, there are objections to the use of 
these direct sources for the compilation of the national 
accounts estimates for I and C companies. For example, 
although the ACOP provides bench-mark figures of 
expenditure on fixed assets and stocks which form the basis of 
part of the estimates for the I and C company sector, it is not 
designed to provide financial figures on a sector basis, 
because finance is usually arranged at group level whereas the 
ACOP is based on establishment level reporting. In addition, 
the ACOP covers United Kingdom establishments—generally 
with twenty or more employees—engaged in manufacturing, 
mining and quarrying, electricity, gas and water supply (and 
construction since 1974), so its coverage does not correspond 
to the scope of the whole I and C company sector. The 
analysis of company accounts conducted by the Department 
of Industry (see notes on the new arrangements on page 87) is 
subject to disadvantages—for example, the analysis is 
incomplete because coverage is limited to companies above a 
certain size and to those which operate mainly in the United 
Kingdom. In addition insufficient detail of companies' financial 
assets and liabilities is obtained from this source.

Because of these drawbacks to using directly-obtained 
series of statistics for national accounts purposes, only a few 
series from these direct sources are used in those accounts, 
when no satisfactory alternative source is available. Other 
series for I and C companies are estimated by a variety of 
indirect methods, (for example, by subtracting figures for 
financial companies and institutions from estimates covering 
the whole company sector).

However, statistics on instalment credit granted by retailers 
and certain overseas transactions by I and C companies (direct 
investment and import and export credit), obtained from 
direct returns, are used in the national accounts.

The national accounts estimates for I and C companies are 
described in detail in the notes to Tables 9.1, 9.2 and 9.3.
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Financial companies and institutions
Financial companies and institutions are those productive 
enterprises which provide financial services and act as 
financial intermediaries. They are divided into: (a) the banking 
sector (see Section 6) and (b) other financial institutions (see
Section 8).

In the financial accounts the financial transactions of life 
assurance companies and pension funds are included with 
those of financial institutions. However, at the level of the 
appropriation account, life assurance and pension funds are 
regarded as part of the personal sector (see also page 98).

In contrast to I and C companies, financial companies and 
institutions report their financial transactions directly. 
However, the appropriation account for financial companies 
and institutions (Table 9.4) is largely estimated by indirect 
methods.

The Tables
Section 9 presents tables showing, for the industrial and 
commercial companies sector, the Appropriation account 
(Table 9.1), Sources and uses of capital funds (Table 9.2), 
Analysis of net borrowing requirement (Table 9.2 continued) 
and Selected liquid assets (Table 9.3). A further table shows 
holdings of current assets and liabilities by some 220 large 
I and C companies (Table 9.5). Figures are also presented for 
the Appropriation account of the financial companies and 
institutions sector (Table 9.4), Acquisitions and mergers 
between United Kingdom companies (Table 9.6), and 
Insolvencies in England and Wales (Table 9.7). In addition, 
work is under way at the Department of Industry analysing the 
annual accounts of a new fully representative sample of all 
industrial and commercial companies engaged mainly in the 
United Kingdom in manufacturing, distribution, construction, 
transport, property and certain other services. Publication of 
results is expected to begin in the second half of 1980. These 
tables will supersede and overlap the results of the earlier 
analysis of company accounts which appeared as Tables 9.8 
to 9.10 up to November 1979.

Tables 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4 are part of, or derived from, the 
national and financial accounts and therefore relate in principle 
to all economics units in the respective sectors; they are 
compiled by the Central Statistical Office. Table 9.6 in 
principle covers all companies and financial institutions; the 
1 and C company series are compiled by the Department of 
Industry, while those for financial institutions are produced by 
the Bank of England. The Departments of Industry and Trade 
compile the remaining tables; Table 9.5 is not statistically 
representative of the I and C company sector, and the 
coverage in Table 9.7 of the companies and financial insti
tutions sector is incomplete geographically. Hoyvever, these 
tables provide useful information in their own right.

Some national accounts concepts
There are a number of features of the accounts of the com
panies and financial institutions sector which need to be borne 
in mind:

A  f  ¥

{a) Geographical coverage
The sector includes only units resident in the United 
Kingdom, so that it excludes the overseas branches and 
subsidiaries of UK companies but includes UK branches 
and subsidiaries of overseas companies: this definition 
affects the presentation of financial transactions between 
UK parent companies and their overseas branches and 
subsidiaries, which are not netted out by consolidation but 
are shown separately. Similarly the activities of the UK 
branches and subsidiaries of overseas parent companies 
are shown separately. This conceptual framework affects 
the content of all these accounts.

In the appropriation account, gross trading profits are 
defined to include the profits of UK companies and those 
of UK subsidiaries of overseas parent companies arising in 
the United Kingdom. The profits (remitted and 
unremitted) of the overseas branches and subsidiaries of 
UK parent companies, and earnings of other overseas 
affiliates, are classified as income from abroad, while the 
total of the profits of the UK subsidiaries of overseas 
parent companies, and earnings of other UK affiliates, are 
included in the allocation of income as profits due abroad. 
Both these items affect the net acquisition o f financial 
assets (NAFA)—the balance on capital account, (shown 
in Table 1.1).

However, capital expenditure relates solely to outlays by 
UK resident companies and therefore the balance of 
receipts over expenditure (NAFA) does not charge net 
investment abroad as expenditure; this is classified as a 
financial asset. Thus the unremitted profits of the overseas 
subsidiaries of UK parent companies, which represent an 
increase in the parent company's stake in its subsidiary, 
are included in the financial accounts, classified as part of 
intra-company investment overseas by UK companies. 
There is comparable treatment of the unremitted profits of 
the UK subsidiaries of overseas companies. The reasons 
for this treatment of retained profits and the problems 
caused by that treatment are explained in an article 
'Financial balances of industrial and commercial com
panies' in Economic Trends, December 1978.

[b) Capital consumption
For national accounts purposes, the consumption of fixed 
assets (depreciation) is measured by the estimated current 
replacement cost of the assets consumed in any period. 
This means that the depreciation charges presently shown 
in individual company accounts are unsuitable for the 
national accounts because they are based on the book 
value of assets and are usually measured in historical cost 
terms. The national accounts estimates of gross trading 
profits for I and C companies are published before pro
viding for depreciation (because this tallies with the 
concept of gross domestic product) but estimates of total 
income and saving after providing for depreciation at 
replacement cost are published annually in National 
Income and Expenditure. See also page 4.

(c) Stock appreciation
That part of profits, measured on the historical cost 
convention, which is due to the effect of price changes
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between the dates of purchase and use of stocks —stock 
appreciation —should in principle be excluded from gross 
trading profits. An adjustment is required because it is 
considered that the appreciation over a period in the value 
of stocks held by a business does not arise from economic 
activity during that period. Stock appreciation should be 
included on the expenditure side of the operating (or 
production) account as an addition to expenditure 
recorded at historical cost, so that profit is the balance 
between revenue and current costs, where current costs 
reflect historical costs plus stock appreciation.

In practice, however, the balance taken into the 
appropriation account is shown before deducting stock 
appreciation; but supplementary figures of gross trading 
profits after deducting stock appreciation are also pub
lished. The undistributed income (or saving) of companies 
and financial institutions is similarly shown in the appro
priation accounts before providing for depreciation and 
stock appreciation, but estimates of saving net of stock 
appreciation and net of both stock appreciation and 
capital consumption are published annually in National 
Income and Expenditure. The concepts of capital con
sumption and stock appreciation are discussed at greater 
length on page 5.

{d) Gross trading profits o f financial companies and 
institutions
The following paragraphs explain why the figures for gross 
trading profits of financial companies and institutions are 
negative.

Gross trading profits in the national accounts are 
defined as total receipts from current sales (including any 
subsidies received) plus increase in book value of stocks 
and work in progress, less wages and salaries and current 
purchases of goods and services from other enterprises.

The contribution to the gross domestic product of an 
enterprise is measured by its 'net output'—the excess of 
its receipts from the sale of goods and services over its 
operating expenditure on goods and services from other 
enterprises. Net output in this sense includes provision for 
depreciation but excludes stock appreciation. Thus, gross 
trading profits equals net output less wages and salaries.

The same definition of net output must be applied to 
financial companies and institutions to reach an all
industry total that can be called the total output of goods 
and services. But the application of this definition to 
financial companies and institutions produces a paradoxi
cal result. The contribution to gross domestic product of a 
bank, for example, is the excess of bank charges and com
missions received from depositors (the only receipt by 
banks directly related to the services they supply) over the 
operating expenses for office materials, furniture, rent, etc 
(their only purchase of goods and services from other 
enterprises). This net output is naturally small. Moreover, 
the element of profit obtained by deducting wages and 
salaries from net output in the same way as for other 
industries is usually negative; wages, salaries and 
purchases of goods and services from other enterprises 
normally exceed receipts from bank charges and commis-
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sions. The reason for this peculiarity is that banks derive 
their income by lending money at a higher rate of interest 
than they pay on money deposited with them; and in the 
national accounts interest receipts and payments are
regarded as transfers and not as receipts and payments for 
a financial service.

Thus the gross trading profits of financial companies 
and institutions (their contribution to the national income) 
are measured, in concept, by the difference between 
charges and commissions, and their management 
expenses (wages and salaries and payments for current 
expenses). The gross trading profits of financial com
panies and institutions, in a national accounts sense, plus 
their net interest receipts equals profits in the more 
ordinary sense of the term.

Tables 9.1 to 9.4
In Tables 9.1, 9.2, 9.2 (continued) and 9.4 transactions 
between companies or institutions within the sector are netted 
out and not included in the accounts. Only those transactions 
crossing sector boundaries are recorded.

Timeliness
The statistics for a particular quarter first appear in the issue of 
Financial Statistics published four months after the end of that 
quarter, eg the data for the second calendar quarter appear in 
the October issue, published at the end of October.

Other publications
The quarterly appropriation account, net acquisition of 
financial assets and net borrowing requirement of I and C 
companies are published with associated commentary by 
press notice about ten days before the figures appear in 
Financial Statistics. Each issue of Economic Trends contains, 
for I and C companies, the quarterly appropriation account, 
and summary tables showing the sources and uses of funds 
and selected liquid assets. The quarterly National Income and 
Expenditure article in the January, April, July and October 
issues of Economic Trends contains the appropriation 
accounts for I and C companies, financial companies and 
institutions and the consolidated companies and financial 
institutions sector, with commentary.

For I and C companies, the series for rent and non-trading 
income received from financial companies, dividends and 
interest paid to financial companies and taxes paid abroad on 
income from abroad, which were discontinued in Table 9.1 of 
Financial Statistics from January 1979, are included in Table 6 
of the quarterly article in Economic Trends.

Annual series of the appropriation, capital and financial 
accounts for each sector appear annually in National Income 
and Expenditure.
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The Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin contains quarterly 
figures of financial transactions (which the Bank describes as 
flow of funds accounts) presented in a form which gives the 
total financing requirement and the ways in which it is met, 
eg, from capital issues, bank borrowing and changes in liquid 
assets. The Bank's flow of funds accounts provide seasonally 
adjusted figures for I and C companies, for the banking sector 
and for other financial institutions, and there is an article on 
the annual accounts of the flow of funds in the June Bulletin.

An article in Economic Trends for September 1975 entitled 
The Structure of Company Financing' discussed the 
problems involved in presenting data on the sources and uses 
of funds of I and C companies. It includes tables based on the 
Department of Industry's analysis of company accounts, and 
also on the quarterly national accounts data for I and C 
companies. The statistics in the article are updated annually in 
British Business, most recently on 7 February 1980.

Economic Trends for November 1974 contained an article 
entitled 'Estimating companies' rate of return on capital 
employed', which described a number of different measures of 
rates of return. The article included tables showing the rates of 
return derived from the national accounts data and from the 
Department of Industry's analysis of company accounts. The 
'Rates of return' article is updated annually in British Business; 
the most recent article appeared in the issue of Trade and 
Industry for 28 September 1979.

Table 9.1
Appropriation account of industrial and 
commercial companies
Scope of headings and m ethodology
Gross trading profits  relate to profits arising in the United 
Kingdom before providing for depreciation and stock appreci
ation and before deduction of tax and interest payments. The 
estimates seek to measure the actual profits made during the 
period. Annual estimates are based upon tax data and 
quarterly estimates on returns from a sample of companies.

Gross trading profits are the largest component and also 
one of the statistically weakest areas of the accounts, 
especially for the most recent periods. The I and C companies 
figures are based mainly on Inland Revenue statistics. The 
data are subject to revision for several years as preliminary 
assessments are replaced by final ones agreed with the 
taxpayer. Estimates must be included to take account of 
reporting deficiencies in respect of cases where there is no 
administrative (as distinct from statistical) need for full 
information. These include trading losses incurred in the year 
concerned (as distinct from those set against that year s 
income for tax purposes) and cases not assessed (some of the 
simpler cases with losses or with profits extinguished by 
capital allowances or stock relief).

The time-lags mean that the assessment base has to be 
projected forward one to three years by the use of sample 
data—a large sample for which special reports are made by tax 
offices, and a small sample of company groups reporting 
directly on quarterly profits. Both these sources are also

subject to deficiencies. Finally, adjustments are necessary to 
convert trading profits as defined for tax purposes to the 
national accounts definition, particularly as regards the 
treatment of short-term interest. Gross trading profits of the 
North Sea oil and gas sector (Minimum List Heading 104 in the 
Standard Industrial Classification 1968) are estimated by the 
Central Statistical Office on the basis of quarterly returns 
submitted by companies operating in the North Sea.

Stock appreciation is the part of the change in the value of 
stocks and work in progress which arises from increases in the 
prices at which stocks and work in progress are valued. A 
fuller explanation is given on pages 5 and 87.

Rent and non-trading income refers solely to income arising 
in the United Kingdom. It consists mainly of interest paid on 
bank deposits held by companies, and rent received by prop
erty companies from letting land and buildings. Income from 
investments in other industrial and commercial companies is 
excluded.

Non-trading income is estimated by relating appropriate 
rates of interest to estimated holdings of various financial 
assets such as bank deposits. Treasury bills, British govern
ment securities and deposits with local authorities. For 
example, the quarterly interest accruing to I and C companies 
on their deposits with banks is calculated by multiplying the 
average levels of their interest-bearing deposits —derived from 
figures supplied by banks on returns they make to the Bank of 
England —by appropriate bank deposit rates.

Income from abroad is presented after deduction of 
depreciation and net of taxes paid abroad. I and C companies' 
income from abroad consists of income on direct investment 
and on other investment including oil and export credit. 
Income on direct investment includes the earnings (whether 
remitted to the United Kingdom or not) of non-iesident 
branches, the dividends and parent companies' share of 
undistributed income of non-resident subsidiaries and 
associate companies and interest on loans by UK parent 
companies to these non-resident affiliates.

Sample information on direct investment income is col
lected by the Department of Trade by annual inquiry to about 
1,CXX) companies. The estimates are derived by grossing-up 
the sample using weights obtained from the Census of 
Overseas Assets, conducted every three years.

Total company sector portfolio income is derived from 
balance of payments information and is treated as financial
companies and institutions' income.

The source of the oil investment income estimates is the 
information supplied directly by oil companies to the Bank of
England.

Unremitted profits  consist of UK parent companies' share of 
the undistributed income of non-resident subsidiaries and 
associate companies included in income from abroad. The 
retained earnings of non-resident branches and of non
resident subsidiaries of UK oil companies are not included 
because data for these are not available.

Dividends on ordinary shares: up to 5 April 1973 the figures 
relate to dividends paid before deduction of income tax. From 
6 April 1973, they relate to dividends paid after deduction of
advance corporation tax.
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With the introduction of the imputation system of corpor
ation tax on 6 April 1973 companies paying dividends, instead 
of deducting income tax (which had to be accounted for to the 
Inland Revenue) and paying the dividend net, have been liable 
to pay advance corporation tax (ACT) to the Inland Revenue in 
respect of the total dividend paid.

The rate of advance corporation tax was three-sevenths of 
the dividend paid up to the first quarter of 1974, up to the 
first quarter of 1975, E  up to the first quarter of 1977, U  up to 
the first quarter of 1978, B  up to the first quarter of 1979 and 
 ̂thereafter. This change in the taxation system is reflected in 

the appropriation accounts of both I and C companies and 
financial companies and institutions, so that payments of 
dividends previously shown gross of income tax appear from 6 
April 1973 as actual payments while the ACT in respect of 
those dividends is included in payments o f UK taxes on
income.

Payments to other I and C companies are excluded. 
Dividends paid by UK subsidiaries to their overseas parent 
companies are also excluded, since these are included in 
profits due abroad.

Inland Revenue provides annual figures of ordinary dividend 
payments for all companies, net of inter-company payments, 
based on tax data. The estimates of quarterly payments of 
ordinary dividends by I and C companies to other sectors are 
calculated as follows. The Stock Exchange compiles quarterly 
information on dividend payments by listed companies, 
including inter-company payments. The quarterly figure for 
payments by listed companies is grossed up to obtain an 
estimate of payments outside the sector by all companies. The 
grossing factor, which is the same for each quarter in the year, 
is the ratio of the latest annual estimate for all companies, 
provided by Inland Revenue (which is net of inter-company 
payments) to the corresponding calendar year total of the 
quarterly payments by listed companies (gross of inter
company payments). Payments by financial companies and 
institutions to shareholders outside the company sector are 
deducted from the payments by all companies, and an amount 
is added for payments by I and C companies to financial 
companies and institutions.

Other interest and current transfer payments consist largely 
of payments on bank advances, and debenture interest 
including interest paid on import credit. Also included in this 
item are dividends on preference shares, companies' current 
transfers to charities and co-operative society dividends and 
interest. Dividends on preference shares are also subject to 
ACT (see dividends on ordinary shares).

Other interest payments are obtained in the same way as 
interest receipts, that is, by applying appropriate interest rates 
to levels of liabilities.

Profits due abroad consist of direct investment income due 
abroad and oil income due abroad.

The estimates of direct investment income due abroad 
include the whole of the profits of UK branches, subsidiaries 
and associate companies, whether distributed or not, accruing 
to non-resident parent companies. Profits are net of 
depreciation and UK tax. The estimates are obtained from the 
direct investment inquiry conducted by the Department of 
Trade (see also Income from abroad).
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The estimates of oil income due abroad are based on 
information supplied by the oil industry to the Bank of England 
and included in interest, profits and dividends debits in the 
balance of payments accounts. Some profits of UK sub
sidiaries of foreign oil companies are netted off in the balance 
of payments accounts against the profits of UK oil companies' 
subsidiaries overseas, and are similarly netted off against 
those profits in income from abroad in this table.

Unremitted profits consist of non-resident parent com
panies' share of the undistributed income of UK subsidiary 
and associate companies included in profits due abroad 
including an estimate of that part of the profits of UK 
subsidiaries of foreign oil companies which are included in 
profits due abroad. Undistributed earnings of UK branches of 
non-resident companies are not included because data are not 
available.

Payments o f UK taxes on income: the taxes covered by this 
item were changed by the Finance Act 1965, under which 
companies became subject to corporation tax instead of 
income tax and profits tax. Prior to that, companies had been 
assessed to profits tax on the whole of their profits plus 
income tax on their undistributed profits. Most companies 
were first assessed to corporation tax during 1966/67 and the 
tax first became payable on 1 January 1967.

Since the change, in addition to corporation tax, companies 
had to account to the Inland Revenue for income tax on their 
distributed profits until the introduction of the imputation 
system of corporation tax on 6 April 1973. From that date, in 
addition to corporation tax, this item includes advance corp
oration tax paid by companies (see Dividends on ordinary 
shares) and, for the financial year 1974/75, also includes the 
50 per cent surcharge on ACT imposed by the Finance Act 
1974. Payments of Petroleum Revenue Tax (PRT) are included 
from the fourth quarter of 1978.

Payments of ACT (and the surcharge) are made mainly in 
the first month following the end of the quarter in which 
dividends were paid and can subsequently be counted 
towards companies' mainstream corporation tax liability.

The series is affected by the introduction of stock relief in 
the Budget of 12 November 1974, in which companies were 
allowed to defer tax by reducing the closing value of their 
stocks and work in progress by an amount by which the 
increase in their book value of stocks exceeded 10 per cent of 
trading profits. This was applied to accounting periods ending 
in 1973/74 and 1974/75. For later accounting periods it has 
been continued broadly on the same lines but replacing the 
deduction of 10 per cent of gross trading profits by one of 15 
per cent of trading profits net of capital allowances. In the 
Budget of 6 April 1976, the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
indicated that the relief would continue substantially in its 
existing form for two more years, and that a permanent 
scheme would be introduced after consultation between 
Inland Revenue and industry and the professions. In the 
Budget of 11 June 1979, the Chancellor the the Exchequer 
introduced provisions to limit the deferred tax liabilities to 
which the scheme gives rise. The balance of the relief for the 
first two years will now be written off and for subsequent 
years relief will be written off after six years.
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In addition, the series is affected by the introduction of 
investment grants and the changes in initial allowances with 
the withdrawal of investment allowances from 17 January 
1966 and the ending of investment grants, effective from 26 
October 1970, when a revised system of allowances was
introduced.

Prior to the April 1979 issue of Financial Statistics estimates 
of taxes paid by all companies and financial institutions were 
obtained as residuals from Inland Revenue estimates of 
receipts of tax by the central government and the total pay
ments by other sectors; from the April 1979 issue the Inland 
Revenue were able to provide estimates of taxes paid by all 
companies and financial institutions back to 1973 on a 
quarterly basis. Thus, from the April 1979 issue, the estimates 
of taxes paid by all companies and financial institutions from 
1973 are no longer derived as residuals from estimates of 
receipts of tax by the central government and the total 
payments by other sectors. From the September 1979 issue 
the Inland Revenue were able to extend the series back to 1968 
quarterly. The unadjusted series for 1 and C company tax 
payments is the residual of all companies and institutions' 
payments and financial companies and institutions taxes on 
income. The seasonally adjusted series for all companies has 
been allocated between I and C companies and financial 
companies and institutions in proporti^  to the calendar year 
estimates of their taxes on income.

Undistributed income is the balancing item in the table, and 
is also described as 'saving before providing for depreciation, 
stock appreciation, and additions to tax and dividend
reserves'.

Undistributed income adjusted fo r unremitted profits  
excludes profits retained abroad by overseas subsidiaries and 
associates of UK companies and includes profits retained in 
the United Kingdom by UK subsidiaries and associates of non
resident companies. This balance is carried into the analysis of 
sources and uses of capital funds (Table 9.2), in preference to 
undistributed income, because the former reflects the cash 
flow to companies more closely than the latter. The intro
duction of this series was explained in the article Financial 
balances of industrial and commercial companies' in Economic 
Trends, December 1978.

Table 9.2
Sources and uses of capital funds of 
industrial and commercial companies
This table shows an alternative presentation of the capital and 
financial accounts (ie Tables 1.1 and 1.6 respectively). It 
shows 1 and C companies' sources of finance (such as 
undistributed income, bank borrowing and share issues) and 
how funds have been employed in the purchase of fixed 
assets, stocks and financial assets. It highlights I and C 
companies' methods of borrowing and the disposition of the 
money raised.

Sources of funds
Undistributed income is the balancing item from the appropri
ation account adjusted for unremitted profits and is measured

before depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to 
reserves.

Taxes on capita! and capita! transfers (net) comprises 
investment grants, regional development grants and other 
capital transfer receipts less taxes on capital and capital 
transfers to public corporations. Figures are obtained mainly 
from government accounts.

Increase in tax balances: mainly income tax, value added 
tax, national insurance contributions and, until 1973, purchase 
tax and selective employment tax collected by companies and 
not yet paid to the collecting revenue departments. This is part 
of the accruals adjustment in Table 1.6

Import and other credit received consists of domestic trade 
credit received from public corporations, estimated from 
quarterly returns made by nationalised industries, and import 
credit and advance payments on exports, derived from 
balance of payments information. Other trade credit received 
by I and C companies, eg from unincorporated businesses, is 
not recorded.

Bank borrowing by I and C companies covers borrowing 
from banks by way of advances and loans (after addition of 
40 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit items), 
commercial bills and market loans (repayable at short notice). 
The estimates are derived from banking sector statistics (see 
Section 6).

Other loans and mortgages comprises hire purchase and 
other instalment credit received, loans from the public sector 
(including refinanced shipbuilding credits), loans by financial 
institutions (including loans by pension funds to their parent 
organisation), shares of retail co-operative societies and cash 
expenditure by the central government on acquiring certain I
and C companies.

The estimates of hire purchase debt are derived from returns 
made to the Department of Trade by retailers. The source of 
the public sector loans figures is the public sector accounts. 
Loans by financial institutions are derived from returns made 
to the Bank of England, Department of Trade and Central 
Statistical Office. The figures of cash expenditure by central 
government are obtained from government accounts.

UK capita! issues comprises new money raised by issues for 
cash only of ordinary, preference and loan capital. The item 
excludes transactions involving the exchange of company 
securities because no cash expenditure is incurred, and there
fore no transaction needs to be recorded in the financial 
accounts. The figures cover public issues, offers for sale, 
issues by tender, placings and issues to shareholders and
employees less redemptions.

The figures relate to listed public companies and identified 
unlisted issues in the United Kingdom. Issues to shareholders 
are included only if the sole or principal share register is main
tained in the United Kingdom. The estimates are prepared by 
the Bank of England (see also notes to Table 12.1).

Capital issues overseas: the information is obtained from an 
analysis of overseas portfolio investment.

Overseas direct investment in securities covers net 
purchases of the share and loan capital of UK subsidiaries and 
associates by overseas parent companies, as included in the
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balance of payment estimates under the heading 'Overseas 
Investment in UK private sector —direct investment'.

The source of the estimates is the Department of Trade's 
direct investment inquiry.

Intra-company investment by overseas companies consists 
of part of overseas investment in UK private sector in the 
balance of payments accounts which relates to I and C com
panies. Includes changes in branch indebtedness to head 
office and in inter-company accounts and borrowing abroad 
from banks etc by UK companies. Excludes intra-company 
investment taking the form of acquisition of UK company 
securities, which is shown as overseas direct investment in 
securities, and profits retained by UK subsidiaries and 
associates of foreign parent companies (included in 
undistributed income). The treatment of unremitted profits 
differs from that used in Table 1.6, where intra-company 
investment overseas includes unremitted profits.

The source of the estimates of direct investment is the 
annual direct inquiry by the Department of Trade to about 
1,CX)0 companies. The Bank of England provides information 
on oil investment.

Uses of funds
Unidentified transactions [residua!) is the balance on the 
financial accounts of the I and C companies sector and reflects 
statistical errors and omissions in the identified items therein 
and in the appropriation and capital accounts.

Two items which are not recorded in the financial accounts
are changes in trade credit extended by I and C companies to
other domestic sectors and 'company loans to the personal
sector' (eg, loans to employees and unincorporated
businesses), but probably more important is the mis-allocation
between sectors of certain recorded items. For example,
company sector transactions in land and existing buildings are
obtained as a residual in the sector classification in which
some components are thought to be unreliably estimated.
There is a general discussion on the sector unidentified items 
on page 28.

Gross domestic fixed capita! formation^ and increase in 
book value o f stocks: the quarterly sample inquiries conducted

 ̂ In the national accounts, expenditure on assets is classified under 
gross domestic fixed capital formation (GDFCF) and according to the 
sector owning the asset. Expenditure by finance leasing companies 
(which are included in the financial companies and institutions sector) 
is recorded as financial companies' and institutions' expenditure on 
GDFCF. Thus expenditure on assets acquired under finance lease 
arrangements and which are used (but not owned) by industrial and 
commercial companies, is not included in GDFCF in Table 9.2. In 
some cases industrial and commercial companies are known to act as 
leasing companies themselves, in which event the capital expenditure 
on these leased assets is, at least in principle, included in Industrial 
and commercial companies' GDFCF in Table 9.2.

The fast growth in the past decade of finance leasing and diffi
culties in obtaining reliable information on the amounts of this type of 
transaction, together with classification problems, has led to incon
sistencies and data gaps arising in the accounts. Borrowing and trans
actions in liquid assets by specialist finance leasing companies are 
currently-in part-incorrectly Included in Table 9.2 and this leads to 
errors, probably small In relation to other factors, in the net borrowing 
requirement in Table 9.2 (continued); this has a corresponding effect
on the balance in unidentified items. Work is currently under way to 
deal with these problems.

and addressed to establish-by the Department of Industry  ̂ ____ _________
ments in manufacturing industry, wholesale and retail 
disUibution, and construction form the basis of the quarterly 
estimates. The annual Census of Production provides 
benchmark information for the Index of Production industries 
(Orders II to XXI of the 1968 SIC), and there are supple
mentary annual inquiries to certain industries not in the Index.

Separate figures for 1 and C companies are obtained by
aggregating the relevant components within each industry. In
some instances the industries are self-classifying; use is made
of the occasional very detailed Censuses of Production and
Distribution to apportion estimates for other industries by 
sector.

Investment in UK company securities consists of;
(i) cash expenditure on acquiring businesses as going con

cerns in the United Kingdom. This series is based on 
reports of bids and deals published in the Press and is 
derived from the Department of Industry's series on 
acquisitions and mergers (see notes to Table 9.6).

(ii) cash expenditure on trade investments in the United 
Kingdom. The estimates, which are compiled by the 
CSO, are based on figures from the Department of 
Industry's analysis of company accounts, and are very 
uncertain. Figures for the latest years are projections of 
earlier estimates sl^ce no information is available for the
most recent period.

Excluded from the item are acquisitions financed by the 
issue of share and loan capital; these are not cash transactions 
and therefore do not feature in the financial accounts. 
Estimates of acquisitions financed in this way are included in 
Table 9.6.

It should be borne in mind that transactions within the I and 
C company sector are netted out; however, acquisitions and 
mergers between I and C companies can bring about trans
actions with shareholders in other sectors.

Investment in overseas securities consists of the acquisition 
by UK companies of share and loan capital in overseas sub
sidiaries and associates. The estimates are derived from the 
direct investment inquiry conducted by the Department of 
Trade.

Intra-company investment by UK companies overseas 
consists of part of UK private investment overseas in the 
balance of payments accounts by I and C companies. Includes 
changes in branch indebtedness to head office and in inter
company accounts, and miscellaneous investment overseas. 
Excludes intra-company investment taking the form of 
acquisition of overseas company securities, which is shown as 
investment in overseas securities, and profits retained by over
seas subsidiaries and associates of UK companies. These 
unremitted profits are counted neither as a source of funds nor 
as a use of funds; this treatment differs from that used In 
Tables 1.1 and 1.6 where the retained profits are included as 
income (saving) of I and C companies and as Intra-company 
investment. Thus the retained profits are recorded in those 
tables as if they had been remitted and re-lent to the subsidiary 
by the parent company, whereas in this table they are ignored.

The source of the estimates for direct investment is the 
annual inquiry by the Department of Trade. The Bank of
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Export and other credit given comprises instalment credit 
extended by retailing companies, domestic trade credit 
extended to public corporations and export credit and advance
payments on imports.

Instalment credit extended by retailers is estimated from 
returns made by retailers to the Department of Trade. Credit 
extended to public corporations is estimated from returns 
made by nationalised industries. Export credit and advance 
payments on imports are derived from balance of payments
information.

Bank deposits are gross deposits less 60 per cent of the 
excess of debit over credit transit items (see notes on page 
61). The estimates are obtained from banking sector statistics. 
A description of the estimates for holdings of notes and coin is 
given on pages 19 and 103.

British government securities: transactions in British 
government securities are derived from the holdings figures 
reported by 220 or so large companies \which respond to the 
Department of Industry's survey of company liquidity (see
Table 9.51.

Other liquid assets comprise Treasury bills, tax instruments, 
local authority debt and deposits with building societies and 
other financial institutions.

I and C companies' transactions in Treasury bills are 
obtained as differences between consecutive figures of end- 
period holdings which are estimated by residual; identified 
holdings by the banking, overseas and other financial insti
tutions sectors are deducted from total market holdings, 
persons' holdings being assumed to be negligible.

Transactions in local authority debt are taken from the local 
authorities' analysis of their debt. (See Table 4.4). Changes in 
deposits with building societies are obtained from the sector 
analysis by the societies of their deposits; changes in deposits 
with other financial institutions are supplied by the Depart
ment of Trade and the Bank of England.

Other identified assets comprise:
(i) Northern Ireland central government debt (source: public 

sector accounts)
(ii) The repayment of loans made by I and C companies to 

the British Steel Corporation (source: public corporation
accounts)

(Hi) Other identified lending to financial institutions and public 
bodies.

(iv) Other identified overseas assets: the figures cover other 
commercial short-term assets (net) from the balance of 
payments accounts and the timing and coverage adjust
ments between the overseas sector figures in the financial 
accounts and the balance of payments accounts, other 
than those allocated to other financial institutions.

Other accruals adjustments: the difference between 
accruals of local authority rates, North Sea oil royalties, 
central government expenditure on goods and services and 
interest on bank deposits and advances (the basis on wnich 
these items are entered in the national accounts) and the cor
responding cash payments. See also notes on page 28.

industrial and commercial companies
This table rearranges the sources and uses of capital funds 
(Table 9.2) to show the items contributing to the net 
borrowing requirement and its financing. The net borrowing 
requirement measures 1 and C companies' need for external 
finance, net of liquid and certain other financial assets; it 
reflects the amount by which the companies' expenditure on 
fixed assets, stocks, trade investments, acquisition of sub
sidiaries in the United Kingdom, investment abroad and net 
trade credit exceeds the increase in their internal funds. The 
unidentified transactions are classified as an item contributing 
to the net borrowing requirement because it is considered that 
the greater part of those unidentified transactions arises from 
errors in compilation in the series contributing to the net 
borrowing requirement. A more detailed explanation of the 
concepts underlying the 'net borrowing requirement' and the 
reasons for its introduction are given in the article 'Financial 
balances of industrial companies' in Economic Trends, 
December 1978.

The seasonally adjusted series for the net borrowing 
requirement and its components have been calculated by 
incorporating the existing seasonally adjusted series for the 
components of the appropriation and capital accounts and, 
for the financial transaction series, the seasonal factors used 
by the Bank of England in their flow of funds accounts. Most 
of the unadjusted series in this table are taken direct from 
Table 9.2. The coverage of the other series is explained below: 

Internal funds comprises undistributed income (adjusted 
for unremitted profits), taxes on capita! and capita! 
transfers (net) and increase in tax balances. Unadjusted 
data for these three series are shown separately in Table
9.2.
Import deposits are included in other identified assets in 

Table 9.2.
Direct and other investment abroad consists of investment 
in overseas securities and intra-company investment by UK 
companies overseas, which are shown separately in Table
9.2.
Net borrowing requirement, in concept, equals internal 
funds plus import and other credit received less export and 
other credit given, other accruals adjustments, import 
deposits, increase in book value of stocks, gross domestic 
fixed-capital formation, investment in UK company 
securities, direct and other investment abroad and 
unidentified transactions (residual). In the presentation of 
Table 9.2 (continued) the signs convention has been 
adapted to show the net borrowing requirement as a total 
of both contributing and financing items.

Financing items
Borrowing (excluding trade credit) is the series total other 
externa! borrowing in Table 9.2.
Decrease in liquid assets consists of bank deposits, notes 
and coin, British government securities and other liquid
assets, which are shown separately in Table 9.2.
Decrease in other assets is other identified assets in Table
9.2 less import deposits.
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Selected liquid assets of industrial and
commercial companies
This table shows holdings by I and C companies of selected 
liquid assets, defined as in the financial transactions account 
and compiled from the same sources. No estimates of 
holdings of notes and coin are available. Bank advances are 
also shown for comparison.

profits', together with net interest received, comprise profits 
(or taxable income) in the more ordinary sense of the term.

In practice, a major difficulty is that there is no single source 
for estimating the gross trading profits of financial companies 
and institutions. The annual estimates are compiled from a 
variety of sources using a number of different methods.
Quarterly figures are obtained by interpolation and extra
polation from annual figures.

Deposits with banking sector: obtained from the sector 
analysis of gross deposits of the banking sector. Gross 
deposits less 60 per cent of the excess of debit over credit 
transit items.

Deposits with building societies comes from statistics 
obtained from the societies.

Deposits with other financial institutions: obtained from the 
Department of Trade and the Bank of England.

Market Treasury bills: obtained as a residual after other 
holders of market Treasury bills have been identified and 
therefore includes unidentified holdings by other sectors.

Tax instruments: includes unidentified holdings of tax 
reserve certificates by financial institutions.

British government securities: holdings reported by some 
220 large companies which respond to the Department of 
Industry's survey of company liquidity.

Local authority temporary debt: obtained from the local 
authorities' analyses of their debt.

Local authority longer term debt: derived from figures 
obtained from a survey for March 1968 and updated by adding 
transactions with I and C companies reported in the quarterly 
local authority borrowing survey (see Table 4.4).

Bank advances: the figures for end-June 1972 include £204 
million refinanceable credits (see notes to banking sector). 
Includes 40 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit 
items.

In this table two sets of figures are shown for the end of the 
first quarter of 1972 and 1973. In the second set, identified 
assets held with institutions recognised or confirmed as banks 
are classified as held with the banking sector; in the first set 
assets held with institutions then classified as finance houses
are included as deposits with other financial institutions.

Table 9.4
Appropriation account of financial com
panies and institutions
Scope of headings and methodology
Gross trading profits. The introduction to Section 9 stated that 
in the national accounts the gross trading profits of financial 
companies and institutions are measured, in principle, by the 
difference between their charges and commissions and their 
management expenses, and that these 'national accounts

(a) The banking sector: Up to 1975, deposit banks' taxable 
income was estimated from the banks' annual reports. For 
non-deposit banks a less reliable method was employed. 
The net acquisition of financial and overseas assets was 
known from their published balance sheets and other 
information. That figure was added to their gross capital 
formation, dividend and interest payments (both gross of 
tax) and tax payments to obtain an estimate of their 
taxable income. These estimates of the taxable income of 
deposit banks and of non-deposit banks were aggregated 
to give an estimate of taxable income for the banking 
sector as a whole. From 1976, the taxable income of all 
banks is obtained from information collected from banks
by the Bank of England. Finally, to arrive at the net trading 
profits of banks, their receipts from interest and dividends 
less interest paid on their deposits are subtracted from 
their taxable income. Gross trading profits then equals net 
trading profits p/as Inland Revenue capital allowances and 
certain financial charges (mainly new issue expenses).

ib) Other financial companies and institutions: This 
indirect method of estimating net trading profits by 
deducting net interest receipts from taxable income is also 
used for finance houses. The estimates of the net trading 
profits of the remaining financial companies and 
institutions are largely based on their published annual 
reports. The net trading profits of other financial com
panies and institutions are converted to gross trading 
profits in the manner described above. From the 
September 1979 issue of Financial Statistics estimates for 
financial leasing companies have been included in the total 
estimate for gross trading profits of financial companies 
and Institutions.

Rent and non-trading income: Interest receipts of the banking 
sector are imputed by applying appropriate interest rates to 
the sector analysis of bank advances provided by the Bank of 
England.

Interest receipts of building societies are composed mainly 
of interest payments on mortgages for house purchase. The 
figures are supplied directly by the building societies.

Other interest receipts of financial companies and insti
tutions comprise mainly receipts of investment income and 
receipts by finance houses on their lending.

Income from abroad comprises income from direct, 
portfolio and other investment net abroad, including earnings 
on dealings in euro-currency.

The source of the estimates of direct investment income is 
described under I and C companies; portfolio investment 
income Is derived from balance of payments information. Esti
mates of other investment income are based mainly on returns 
to the Bank of England.
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Dividends and interest payments: Dividend payments are 
derived from quarterly information provided by The Stock
Exchange. Debenture interest payments are obtained by 
adjusting a benchmark estimate of these payments to allow for 
subsequent changes, which are estimated by applying appro
priate yields to net new issues.

Other interest payments by the banking sector are payments 
on deposits with banks. The London and Scottish clearing 
banks and Northern Irish banks are able to identify their 
payments of interest on their retail deposits; payments on 
non-retail business are derived by applying an appropriate 
interest rate to sectoral holdings of non-retail deposits. 
Interest payments of other banks are imputed by applying 
appropriate interest rates to the sector analysis of deposits 
supplied by the Bank of England.

The building societies supply quarterly data on interest paid 
out, but some further calculation is necessary. Total interest 
(net of tax) is derived by adding interest paid out, interest 
accrued and credited to accounts, and other accrued interest 
not credited to accounts. Tax payments by the societies cal
culated at the composite rate are then added in, to give total
gross accrued interest.

Interest payments by the remaining financial institutions 
cover mainly payments by finance houses on deposits placed 
with them and payments on deposits placed with the trustee 
savings banks and the National Savings Bank investment 
account (see notes to Tables 3.13 and 8.4).

Profits due abroad net o f UK tax of financial companies and 
institutions is composed entirely of payments on direct 
investment; the source of the estimates is the inquiry by the
Department of Trade.

UK taxes on income: the annual figures are calculated by 
applying appropriate effective corporation tax rates to 
estimates of financial companies and institutions' accruals of 
taxable income, plus, from April 1973, the Advance 
Corporation Tax paid by financial companies and institutions. 
Building societies are not subject to ACT as they make no 
dividend distributions and are charged Corporation Tax, 
currently at the rate of 40 per cent.

Payments of corporation tax by financial companies and 
institutions are assumed to be made in the first calendar 
quarter; ACT payments are made when they are due. The 
seasonally adjusted series for all companies has been allocated 
between financial companies and institutions and I and C 
companies in proportion to the calendar year estimates of their
accruals of taxes on income.

Undistributed income is the balancing item in the table, and 
is equivalent to saving before providing for depreciation, stock 
appreciation and additions to tax and dividend reserves.

Taxes paid abroad on income from abroad: this is calculated 
by applying appropriate rates of tax to direct and portfolio 
investment income from abroad.

Table 9.5
Selected current assets and liabilities of
large industrial and commercial
companies
This table shows the holdings of current assets and liabilities 
reported by the companies replying to Economics and Stat
istics Division 6A of the Department of Industry's quarterly 
survey of company liquidity. Some 220 large industrial and 
commercial companies are covered. They are not a represen
tative sample in that not all large industrial and commercial 
companies are included and no small ones. The companies are 
asked to state their holdings at end of quarter at book value, 
and to include only assets and liabilities that can be realised or 
that are due to be paid (formally at least) within twelve 
months.

M ethod of compilation
The statistics are based on information reported direct by the 
survey companies. Some companies have ceased to reply 
since the survey began. Estimates are included for any com
panies that do not reply and at the end of the year those com
panies that have permanently ceased to reply during that year 
are removed from the survey. Two sets of figures are given for 
the fourth quarter to show the effect of changes of coverage 
at the end of each year and any changes in definition.

Timeliness
The figures are first published in Trade and Industry about 10 
weeks after the quarter end, and are included in the next issue 
of Financial Statistics about 12 weeks from the quarter end, ie 
the figures for 30 June appear in Financial Statistics first in the
September issue.

Scope of headings
Deposits w ith banks and advances and loans from banks 
related, until the end of 1975, to the former groupings of 
deposit banks and other banks; from the first quarter of 1976, 
five banks that had been deposit banks were regrouped as 
other banks and the remainder renamed clearing banks, to 
conform to the Bank of England's revised groupings of banks.

Current assets includes only assets held within the United 

Kingdom.
Deposits w ith finance houses includes deposits with hire 

purchase finance companies and other deposit taking
institutions.

Other current assets: few companies have reported 
holdings of Treasury bills, tax reserve certificates and tax 
deposit accounts; these are combined with notes and coin in 
other current assets to prevent any possibility of disclosure.

Current liabilities includes only advances and loans from 
banks and other financial institutions in the United Kingdom. 
From the beginning of 1975, loans from deposit banks and 
other banks exclude loans with an initial term of over twelve 
months. Loans from other financial institutions has excluded 
loans with an initial term of over twelve months from the start
of the series.
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Other publications
An article describing the survey, and reviewing its results since 
its start at the beginning of 1970 to the middle of 1974, was 
published in Economic Trends No 253, November 1974. That 
article included a comparison between the survey results and 
the equivalent statistics for all industrial and commercial com
panies included in the financial accounts and shown in Table 
9.3. An article in Economic Trends No 283, May 1977, 
continued that comparison to the end of 1976.

Table 9.6
Acquisitions and mergers of companies
within the United Kingdom
The statistics of acquisitions and mergers of companies in this 
table are based on reports in the financial press, supplemented 
by special inquiries to the companies to determine the timing, 
value and method of payment for particular transactions. In an 
acquisition, one company gains control of another by 
acquiring more than fifty per cent of the voting shares; in a 
merger, two companies combine by the formation of a new 
company with ownership of more than fifty per cent of the 
voting shares in each of the two combining companies.

In principle, the table up to the end of 1979 covers all 
acquisitions and mergers between United Kingdom 
companies except acquisitions between subsidiaries of the 
same company group, which are not included because they 
relate to internal reorganisation, not to change of ownership 
and industrial restructuring. For industrial and commercial 
companies, the figure for expenditure in the form of cash, less 
that part used for the purchase of companies that are already 
subsidiaries (that is, excluding expenditure by one I and C 
company on acquiring another) is taken as an estimate of the I 
and C company sector's cash expenditure on acquiring sub
sidiaries, and contributes to the figures for the uses of funds in 
Table 9.2. The compilation of figures for financial companies 
ceased at the end of 1979.

Method of compilation

As far as possible, the transactions are recorded for the date 
when they are finalised, ec when a bid is declared uncon
ditional or a contract to purchase is signed. They are valued, in 
general, in terms of the expenditure at the time of the trans
action and exclude earlier investment in the acquired com
pany. Where possible, the values are market values. Where 
this is not possible (eg where the acquired company is 
unlisted) the transaction is, in general, valued at the net book 
value of the acquired company. Where payment is to be made 
over a period, the value is recorded as though made in full at 
the time of the transaction.

A merger is valued at the value of the smaller company's 
share of the newly formed company.

Timeliness

The statistics for industrial and commercial companies are first 
published in British Business about 6 weeks after the quarter

end and are included in the next issue of Financial Statistics
about 8 weeks from the quarter end, ie the figures for the
quarter ending 31 March appear in Financial Statistics first in 
the May issue.

Scope of headings

Number o f companies acquired includes mergers.

Other publications

As well as publication in British Business, the statistics for 
industrial and commercial companies are published quarterly 
in Business M onitor MQ7, Acquisitions and Mergers o f 
Industrial and Commercial Companies, which provides more 
detailed information, including analyses by industry and by 
size of transaction.

For financial companies quarterly figures from 1969-74 
analysed by type of acquiring company and an analysis of 
annual totals by type of acquiring company and of company 
acquired for the period 1966/74 are available in the Bank o f 
England Statistical Abstract No. 2.

For both industrial and commercial companies and financial 
companies, the Annual Abstract o f Statistics provides annual 
industrial analyses of expenditure and the number of com
panies acquired for the latest seven years, see Table 17.61 
(1980).

Table 9.7
Insolvencies in England and Wales
The statistics are for England and Wales and relate to bank
ruptcies, which apply to insolvent individuals and to the two 
types of company liquidation in which the company is 
insolvent (members' voluntary liquidations, in which the 
company is solvent, are excluded).

Insolvent companies are dealt with under the Companies 
Acts 1948 and 1967. The figures for compulsory liquidations 
relate to winding-up orders made by the courts. The figures 
for creditors' voluntary liquidations, in which the company 
and its creditors come to terms without court proceedings, 
relate to notifications of resolutions to wind up.

Insolvent individuals are dealt with under the Bankruptcy 
Act 1914 and the Bankruptcy (Amendment) Act 1926. A 
receiving order is made against an individual debtor by the 
court if, on petition by a creditor or by the debtor himself, the 
court is satisfied that the debtor has committed an act of
bankruptcy, as listed in Section 1 of the Bankruptcy Act 1914. 
The order makes the official receiver, who is an officer of the 
court, receiver of the debtor's estate and deprives him of the 
right to deal with it.

Deeds of Arrangement relate to arrangements between 
debtors and creditors that are reached without recourse to the 
courts under the Deeds of Arrangement Act 1914.

The Insolvency Act 1976 changed some aspects of the law 
relating to both bankruptcy and company liquidations. Its 
provisions include an increase in the minimum debt to support
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to wind

Timelii
Ttiesta
weeks 
of fine
thefigi
SfaWf

Scopi
Insotvi 
acts a 
single 
bema 
in the 
Bankf

I

I

t



^  1969-74
of

 ̂ company 
' fianjt 0/

financial 
>v»bes annual 
ibef of com- 
TaWe 17.61

IS

ate to bank- 
j to the two 
company is 

which the

Companies 
liquidations 
Ti)e figures
e  company
roceedings,

Bankruptcy 
ctl926. A
)tor by ^  

limseff, the 
an act of

yActl9'A.
ficer of the 
him of

s hetweo'’
ursetotbe

of the ia  ̂
ations-
,0 suPP®'’

i
of ■ 

and h .
I

a creditor's petition for bankruptcy. At about the same time, 
an amendment to the Bankruptcy Rules 1952 increased the 
deposits required on bankruptcy petitions. These changes 
have reduced the number of receiving orders from the 
beginning of 1977.

Method of compilation
The figures for bankruptcies and compulsory winding-up 
orders are provided by the Insolvency Service of the 
Department of Trade, who collect the basic data from the 
official receivers for the various courts. The figures for 
creditors' voluntary liquidations are provided by the Registrar 
of Companies of the Department of Trade, and are based on 
the notifications that companies that go into this type of 
liquidation are obliged to make within 14 days of the resolution
to wind up.

Timeliness
The statistics are first published in Trade and Industry about 5 
weeks after the quarter end and are included in the next issue 
of Financial Statistics about 8 weeks from the quarter end, ie 
the figures for the quarter ending 31 March appear in Financial 
Statistics first in the May issue.

Scope of headings
Insolvent partnerships are dealt with under the bankruptcy 
acts and are included in the figures for receiving orders. A 
single order may be made against a partnership or orders may 
be made against partners individually, when each is included 
in the figures. Administration orders under Section 130 of the 
Bankruptcy Act 1914 relate to deceased insolvents.

Other publications
An article describing the insolvency statistics and giving 
quarterly statistics from the beginning of 1960, with industrial 
analyses from the beginning of 1969, was published in 
Economic Trends No 257, March 1975.

The quarterly article in British Business includes an 
industrial analysis up to the penultimate quarter. Annual 
figures for company liquidations are given in the Companies 
Report and for receiving orders in the Bankruptcy Genera! 
Annual Report. The Companies Report provides annual totals 
for the latest ten years, with industrial analyses for the latest 
two years. The Bankruptcy Genera! Annua! Report provides, 
for the latest year, an analysis of receiving orders and receiving 
orders administered (ie those orders remaining after 
consolidations and rescissions before 31 December) by court, 
and for receiving orders administered and deeds of 
arrangement, an industrial analysis of both numbers of cases 
and the assets and liabilities involved.

The Annua! Abstract o f Statistics (1980) (Tables 17.71 to 
17.75) provides an eleven year run of annual totals for 
company liquidations of each type (including members' 
voluntary liquidations), for receiving orders administered, and 
for deeds of arrangement. Annual totals of the assets and 
liabilities involved are given with the figures for receiving 
orders administered and deeds of arrangement. The Annual 
Abstract o f Statistics also includes the equivalent figures for 
company liquidations in Scotland and Northern Ireland, for 
sequestrations (which relate, under Scottish law, to individual 
insolvents) in Scotland, and for bankruptcies and deeds of 
arrangement in Northern Ireland.
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Section Personal sector
The section on the personal sector is one of the shortest in 
Financial Statistics. This reflects the lack of direct statistical 
reporting by the sector rather than its importance in the 
financial system. In fact, personal saving is one of the most 
important sources of new funds for the economy as a whole 
and the net acquisition of financial assets by persons is like
wise large in comparison with other sectors. This is illustrated
in the diagram overleaf.

The information used to construct accounts for the personal 
sector is collected mainly from the non-personal parties to the 
various transactions (eg government, financial institutions, 
companies). In other cases estimates of persons' transactions 
are obtained by residual from the estimated net transactions of 
all other sectors. The tables in this section bring together 
information on those transactions that directly affect persons 
but which in many cases are estimated initially in the accounts 
of other (counterpart) sectors of the economy.

Definition of sector
The personal sector is made up firstly and mainly of individuals 
resident in the United Kingdom; secondly it includes all 
unincorporated private businesses, sole traders and partner
ships and thirdly, private trusts, and non-profit-making bodies 
serving persons.

Little need be said about the first component except that it 
covers individuals living in households and in institutions, and 
residents include members of the armed forces and 
government officials stationed abroad.

Unincorporated businesses do not have a separate legal 
existence and sometimes their activities cannot be 
distinguished from the private activities of their proprietors. 
Thus they are part of the personal sector and cannot 
satisfactorily be separated from it. These businesses are 
largely engaged in distribution, the construction trades, 
agriculture or services (including the medical and legal 
professions). For statistical reasons the current and capital 
transactions of agricultural companies (which contribute only 
a small proportion of total agricultural value added) are 
included in the personal sector although their financial trans
actions, which are not distinguishable from those of other 
companies, are included in the company sector financial 
account. Lloyds underwriters, stockbrokers and jobbers are 
also treated as unincorporated businesses even when, as in 
some cases, they have adopted limited liability.

Private non-profit-making bodies serving persons comprise 
universities and non-profit-making schools and colleges, 
churches, charities, clubs and societies, trade unions, friendly 
societies (other than registered collecting friendly societies — 
treated as insurance companies) and private housing associ
ations. A number of these bodies are incorporated under the 
Companies Acts but they are included in the personal sector if 
they are recognised as charitable for tax purposes and if their 
principal object is to provide services or benefits to individuals 
or other bodies in the personal sector.

Private trusts, other than for charitable purposes, are set up 
by individuals usually for named beneficiaries.

Life assurance and pension funds
One point of definition that is sometimes the source of 
confusion is the sector treatment of life assurance and pension 
funds. This treatment is described below and shown diagram- 
matically on page 101. Amounts paid by employers into these 
funds as premiums and contributions and the rent, dividend 
and interest that the funds receive are included in personal 
income. Contributions and premiums paid by employees etc 
on their own behalf are transfers within the personal sector. 
The cost of administering the funds are treated as consumers' 
expenditure. Pensions and other benefits paid out, which are 
not included as items of personal income, will nevertheless be 
used to finance personal consumption or saving. Thus the 
balance of all these transactions represents the net amount 
available for investment by the funds; it is a major component 
of personal savings. It is recorded in the personal sector 
financial account as an increase in persons' claims on life 
assurance and superannuation funds and as a corresponding 
liability in the accounts of financial institutions. The financial 
transactions of the funds—their investment of this money in 
securities etc—are recorded in the financial accounts of the 
financial institutions sector. The funds remain the property of 
persons in the form of a financial claim by the personal sector 
on them, but the assets held by the funds to match this liability 
to persons are assets of the financial institutions sector (and 
transactions in these assets likewise are transactions by 
financial institutions).

Estimates of the income and expenditure of life assurance 
and pension funds appear as a Supplementary Table in one 
of the autumn issues of Financial Statistics (see Annex 1).

Nature of the estimates
Because there is very little direct statistical reporting of 
financial transactions by the personal sector certain 
transactions cannot be recorded in the accounts, and others 
may be unreliable. The problem is most acute for transactions 
between persons and companies (direct reporting by 
companies covers only a few items in the accounts) and for 
those items where the balance of transactions, after taking 
account of the public, other financial institutions and overseas 
sectors, has to be allocated between persons and industrial 
and commercial companies. Errors and omissions in the 
identified items of a sector's accounts are reflected in the 
balancing items of the various accounts (eg saving, net 
acquisition o f financial assets) and particularly in the balance 
on the financial account which is called unidentified items. 
The nature of the unidentified items generally is explained in 
Section 1. For the personal sector this residual is usually 
large. To some extent it is offset by the unidentified items in 
the company sector account which suggests that the cause
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may be unrecorded current, capital or financial transactions 
between these two sectors or a misallocation between them of 
recorded transactions.

One item that is not recorded is trade credit (unpaid bills of 
households and unincorporated businesses) but this is not 
thought to be the whole or even a major explanation for the 
unidentified items. Another unrecorded item is company loans 
to the personal sector '(eg loans to employees and to 
unincorporated businesses). But probably more important is 
the misallocation between sectors of certain recorded items. 
Figures for personal sector transactions in land and existing 
buildings and in gilt edged and company securities are ail 
obtained as residuals, some components in the calculation of 
which (eg net purchases by companies) are thought to be 
unreliable. Also estimates of persons' net receipts of dividends 
and debt interest will reflect any inaccuracies in identifying 
payments between companies. All such errors and omissions 
find their way into the unidentified items because of the 
accounting framework used.

The tables
The tables in this section comprise an income and expenditure 
account, Table 10.1, a sources and uses of funds presentation 
of capital and financial transactions Table 10.2—plus a 
derived table (Table 10.3) highlighting consumer credit and 
finally a table giving amounts of certain selected liquid assets 
and liabilities held by persons Table 10.4. Quarterly income 
and expenditure accounts are published as part of a press 
notice on personal income, expenditure and savings about 3 
weeks prior to their first appearance in the July, October, 
January and April issues of Financial Statistics (for the 1st, 
2nd, 3rd and 4th calendar quarters respectively). Some other 
information relating to the personal sector is published 
periodically as supplementary tables. These include tables on 
loans for house purchase analysed by type of lender (January, 
April, July and October issues) and details of Save As You 
Earn schemes (March, June, September and December
issues). A sources and uses of funds presentation is given in 
the October issue.

Table 10.1
Personal income, expenditure and saving
This table shows how an important source of funds, personal
sector saving, is generated. The columns show the various
forms of income accruing to the personal sector, and the taxes
and national insurance contributions that are paid out of that
income. Income after tax, national insurance contributions
and net transfers abroad is called personal disposable income,
and what remains after subtracting consumers' expenditure is
defined as personal saving. Saving expressed as a percentage
of total personal disposable income (the saving ratio) is also
shown. A brief description of the items in this table is given
below. For fuller details see National Accounts Statistics,
Sources and Methods (Chapter VI) and the Notes and
Definitions in National Income and Expenditure 1978 Edition 
(the Blue Book).

Wages and salaries, which are by far the most important 
source of personal income, are estimated annually from an 
analysis of the PAYE tax deduction cards sent by employers to 
local tax offices after each financial year. Adjustments have to 
be made for earned income below the PAYE limit, for 
incomplete returns, for certain pension payments included in 
the PAYE returns, and to convert the information from a 
financial year to a calendar year basis. Quarterly figures are 
estimated by interpolation and extrapolation using returns 
from a sample of large employers and, more recently, by 
reference to the Department of Employment's Index of 
Average Earnings for the whole economy allied with 
employment data. The figures also include estimates of 
income in kind and exclude expenses of employment.

Forces pay consists of pay and allowances in cash and kind 
of members of the armed forces and auxiliary services.

Employers' contributions include those made to the national 
insurance scheme, to the national health service and to the 
Redundancy Fund, as well as contributions to private pension 
schemes. The National Insurance Surcharge is not treated as 
an addition to personal income since it is not related to the 
provision of any benefits. In the national accounts the 
surcharge is treated as a tax on expenditure.

Current grants from general government cover all transfer 
payments by general government to the personal sector. The 
bulk of this item represents social security benefits to 
individuals such as national insurance benefits, supplementary 
benefits and child benefit. But the item also includes grants to 
other parts of the personal sector such as grants to univer
sities.

Other persona! income includes income from self-employ
ment, rent, dividends and interest receipts net of payments of 
interest, transfers to charities by companies and financial 
institutions and an inputed charge for capital consumption of 
private non-profit-making bodies. These items are combined 
because the quarterly information available is not good 
enough for satisfactory separate estimates to be made. 
Income from self-employment—which is the distributed and 
undistributed income of proprietors of unincorporated 
businesses (farmers, certain professions, and other sole 
traders and partnerships) and represents income before 
providing for depreciation and stock appreciation —is mainly 
estimated from details of income assessed for tax under 
Schedule D. An exception is income of farmers which is 
estimated from a production account of the agricultural 
industry as a whole (the 'national farm'); hence it includes 
income accruing to agricultural businesses that are
incorporated (ie companies) although these represent only a 
small part of total income from agriculture. Dividend and 
interest income of persons is calculated by
residual —payments by all sectors less receipts by all sectors 
other than the personal sector. The interest component there
fore represents net receipts after deducting payments by 
persons (eg bank and mortgage interest payments).

Transfers abroad are also shown on a net basis. They 
include gifts, legacies and migrants' remittances and have a 
counterpart in the balance of payments current account.
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UK taxes on income represents amounts of tax actually paid 
by the personal sector, rather than the amounts received by 
Inland Revenue. Thus for tax assessed under Schedule E, and 
deducted through PAYE, amounts deducted by employers are 
included in the quarterly and annual figures rather than 
amounts handed over to Inland Revenue: there is usually a few 
weeks delay between deduction and payment to Inland 
Revenue. Tax liability which has accrued on income received 
{mainly income assessed under Schedule D) but which has 
not yet resulted in tax payments will therefore fall into the 
figures of personal saving that balance the account. In more 
detailed presentations, such as those given in the National 
Income and Expenditure Blue Book, additions to tax reserves 
are shown separately and alternative estimates of saving, 
before and after providing for additions to tax reserves, are 
shown.

National insurance, etc. contributions comprise employers' 
contributions (included as a component of personal income) 
and employees' contributions. The contributions covered are 
those in respect of national insurance, the national health 
service and the Redundancy Fund.

Total persona! disposable income is defined as the sum of 
personal incomes less net transfers abroad, UK taxes on 
Income and National Insurance etc. contributions. The 
National Insurance Surcharge is not included.

Consumers' expenditure covers all expenditure by the 
personal sector, including private non-profit making bodies 
serving persons on goods and services for current use; but it 
excludes business expenditure on motor cars, meals etc which 
is allowed as a business expense in computing income for tax 
purposes of both employed and self-employed persons. It 
includes expenditure on durable goods, which, from the point 
of view of the individual, might more appropriately be treated 
as capital expenditure. The only exception, is the purchase of 
land and dwellings and costs incurred in connection with the 
transfer of their ownership, which are treated as personal 
capital expenditure.

The estimates of consumers' expenditure include purchases 
of second-hand as well as new goods less the proceeds of 
sales of used goods.

Estimates of consum ers' exnenHiture arp builtconsumers' expenditure are Duiit up 
commodity by commodity from a heterogeneous collection of 
sources. There are three broad types; statistics of supplies 
from manufacturers etc which are used mainly to estimate 
expenditure on food and alcoholic drink; sample surveys such 
as the National Food Survey, the Family Expenditure Survey 
and the International Passenger Survey which provide direct 
information on persons' behaviour as consumers; and 
statistics of sales by retail shops and other outlets which often 
provide more reliable information on larger and less frequently 
purchased items, and are useful in making quarterly estimates.

Durable goods, shown separately because their purchase is 
often financed by the various forms of borrowing shown in 
Table 10.2 consist of:

<

Motor cars and motor cycles, new and secondhand 
Furniture and floor coverings
Radio, electrical and other durable goods.

The latter category comprises radio and television sets, 
record players, tape recorders, musical instruments, 
household appliances such as electric and gas fires, electric 
storage heaters, paraffin heaters, sewing machines, lawn- 
mowers, perambulators and pedal cycles.

Personal saving is what remains of total personal disposable 
income after deducting consumers' expenditure. Because 
personal saving is calculated as the difference between two 
large aggregates, the figure includes the net effect of 
estimation errors and omissions in their components and is 
therefore less reliable than others in the table.

Table 10.2
Sources and uses of funds of the personal
sector
This table brings together series from the capital and financial 
accounts of the personal sector (ie Tables 1.1 and 1.7 
respectively) to show how funds are raised and how they are 
used to purchase tangible and financial assets.

The sources of funds are:

Saving is the balancing item transferred from Table 10.1. It is 
the difference between total personal disposable income and 
consumers' expenditure before providing for depreciation, 
stock appreciation and additions to tax reserves.

Capital transfers cover such items as grants made to 
universities and other private non-profit-making bodies, grants 
to farmers, mainly for farm improvements and field drainage, 
and local authority grants for the conversion and improvement 
of housing. From 1967 it includes a small amount of invest
ment grants in respect of capital expenditure after 17 January 
1966.

Bank advances \N h \c h  include commercial bills from Q3 1975 
and Money at call {market loans from Q3 1975), are derived 
from banking sector statistics. They exclude loans for house 
purchase.

Credit extended by retailers relates to the debt of individual 
consumers and unincorporated businesses.

Loans for house purchase from local authorities are loans 
made for small dwellings acquisitions. Other public sector 
loans are those made by central government under various 
Housing Acts to private housing associations, and loans made 
by the Housing Corporation to housing societies. Loans from 
the banking sector are compiled by the Bank of England from 
banking statistics. For a description of mortgage advances by 
building societies see notes to Tables 8.6 to 8.8. These 
advances are all attributed to the personal sector apart from a 
small amount identified as lending to industrial and 
commercial companies. Other loans for house purchase 
comprise loans from insurance companies (from figures 
shown in Table 8.13), loans from pension funds and from 
Trustee savings banks (from figures shown in Table 8.2). For 
further details see Supplementary Table: Loans for house 
purchase in Annex 1.

Other loans and mortgages comprise identified trade credit 
given by public corporations, loans from other financial
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institutions and the public sector, and other identified home 
liabilities.

Accruafs adjustment is the difference between accruals of 
local authority rates, subsidies, interest flows and value added 
tax (the basis on which these items are entered in the national 
income accounts) and the corresponding cash payments.

Unidentified items is the amount necessary to balance the 
table (sources of funds equals uses of funds). It reflects 
certain omissions in the accounts such as trade credit and 
other loans granted to the personal sector by industrial and 
commercial companies and other sectors. Also, statistical 
errors in the personal income and expenditure accounts and in 
the capital accounts are reflected in this item.

The uses of funds are:
Taxes on capita! include death duties, taxes on capital 
transfers, estimates of tax payments on short-term capital 
gains and payments of capital gains tax. A small amount of 
capita! transfers to public corporations is also included.

!nvestment in fixed assets and stocks covers mainly invest
ment in dwellings and other new buildings and work but also 
investment in vehicles, ships and aircraft, plant and machinery 
by unincorporated businesses and non-profit-making bodies, 
and stocks held by unincorporated businesses.

Notes and coin are estimated from the total change in the 
amount of notes and coin in circulation less the amount 
attributable to the banking sector; the remainder is arbitrarily 
divided between the personal and industrial and commercial 
company sectors (with a special adjustment to allow for day- 
of-the-week effects).

Nationa! savings include deposits with the National Savings 
Bank's ordinary account; Trustee savings banks' ordinary 
departments up to 3rd quarter 1979; Save As You Earn; 
National Savings Certificates; British savings, defence and 
national development bonds; premium savings bonds and 
national savings stamps and gift tokens. All transactions in 
these instruments are attributed to the personal sector, (see 
Tables 3.13 and 3.14).

Tax instruments are unincorporated businesses' tax reserve 
certificates and certificates of tax deposit; the former have 
now been run down. Figures are obtained from government 
accounts, (see Table 3.12).

Loca! authority temporary debt is derived from local 
authority borrowing information, (see Table 4.5), plus 
unidentified items.

Deposits w ith the banking seeforare obtained from banking 
sector statistics.

Deposits w ith huHding societies come from statistics 
obtained from building societies (Table 8.6) and apart from a 
small amount attributed to industrial and commercial
companies and insurance companies, the net increases m 
shares and deposits are assumed to be held by persons. From 
the 3rd quarter 1978 a sector analysis was made by building 
societies, see Table 8.7 for details.

Deposits w ith other financia! institutions are mainly deposits 
with National Savings Bank Investment account, trustee 
savings banks New department, finance houses and other

consumer credit companies (Table 8.4) but also cover certain 
deposits held by other financial institutions. From 4th quarter 
1979 Trustee savings banks savings accounts are included.

British government securities also covers Northern Ireland 
central government debt. Figures for persons' transactions in 
British government securities are the residual item as shown in 
Table 3.9, and therefore include any transactions by industrial 
and commercial companies outside the scope of the company 
liquidity survey (which is used to estimate the figure for the 
company sector).

Other !oca! authority debt is derived from the analysis of 
total borrowing by the local authorities (Table 4.4). The 
unidentified element of that borrowing is allocated to the 
persona! sector together with identified borrowing from
persons.

Company securities also includes unit trust units and other 
identified assets. Transactions in company securities by 
persons is the residual item after identified transactions by 
other sectors have been taken into account.

Life assurance and superannuation funds. The relationship 
of these funds to the personal sector is explained in the intro
duction to this section. In the financial accounts the figure 
that is shown is the balance of revenue account transactions, 
that is, the net amount available for investment by the funds.

Table 10.3
Consumer credit and other personal
sector borrowing
This table is a disaggregation and re-arrangement of the nine 
headings described as Borrowing under Sources o f funds in 
Table 10.2. It described in detail in an article in the September 
1979 issue of Economic Trends. The purpose of the table is to 
extract from these figures a measure of consumer credit, 
defined in principle as lending to consumers (ie the personal 
sector excluding unincorporated businesses and non-profit- 
making bodies serving persons) to finance current expenditure 
on goods and services (ie Consumers' expenditure in Table 
10.1.) but excluding very short-term borrowing akin to trade 
credit. As is explained in the article, it is not possible to meet 
this definition precisely in practice; nevertheless the total of 
the five series distinguished is thought to be a reasonably 
good overall indicator of consumer credit. The article, besides 
explaining the derivation of the series (in greater detail than is 
provided below), describes its relationship with the 
Department of Trade series on hire purchase and other credit
business in Table 8.5.

Annex C of the article explains how credit card lending 
features in the statistics. Briefly, lending by means of the bank 
credit cards-Access and Barclaycard-is indistinguishably 
included in the figures of bank lending. Similarly, lending by 
means of the Trustee saving bank card (Trustcard) is included 
in the Trustee savings banks figures. Many credit cards are 
issued by, or on behalf of, retailers. Where lending under 
these schemes is counted in the table depends on the 
classification of the financial institution financing the scheme. 
Some arrangements are between retailers and institutions
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classified to the banking sector and others are between 
retailers and institutions classified as finance houses and other 
specialist consumer credit grantors, and the lending is 
recorded, indistinguishably, under these respective headings. 
In relatively few cases the retailer actually provides the finance 
and in these cases only, lending by means of credit cards is 
recorded in the Retailers column. The series has not been 
compiled prior to 1976 because the crucial separation of bank 
lending to the personal sector, between that to households 
and individuals and that to the remainder of the sector {mainly 
unincorporated businesses), was not made before then.

The table includes the amounts outstanding for consumer 
credit at the most recent year-end.

Scope of headings
Banking sector, to persons and households. Derived from the 
separation of lending to the personal sector in Table 6.1, with 
an adjustment to exclude loans for house purchase, based on 
information supplied in Table 6.17.

Trustee savings banks. Derived from information on 
Advances to customers: Other in Table 8.2.

Finance houses and other consumer credit grantors. 
Derived from information used to compile Table 8.4.

Insurance companies. Derived from information used to 
compile Table 8.13 and shown in more detail in Business 
Monitor MQ5.

Retailers. This is from Table 8.5 and is also shown 
separately in Table 10.2.

Bank advances to the remainder o f the persona! sector. Also 
derived from Table 6.1; the assumption is made that no loans 
for house purchase are made to this part of the personal 
sector.

Loans for house purchase have the same coverage as in 
Table 10.2., where the detail is shown.

Other. This also includes the following items: identified 
trade credit given by public corporations, other loans from 
other financial institutions and the public sector and other 
identified home liabilities (see page 27).

Timeliness

Information on Consumer credit and other bank borrowing is
generally available three months after the end of the quarter to
which it relates. Complete details of Other borrowing are
available four months after the end of the quarter to which 
they relate.

Table 10.4
Selected liquid of the personal
sector
This table shows the amounts held of selected liquid assets by 
the personal sector. The asset categories correspond with

[

I
those used in the financial transactions accounts and are 
compiled from the same sources. The table shows the relative 
importance of the various assets. Bank advances are also 
shown for comparison purposes.

National savings comprises all national savings contributing 
to the central government borrowing requirement. From the 
2nd quarter 1976 amounts deposited with the Greenock 
Provident Trustee Savings Bank and the Birmingham 
Municipal Trustee Savings Bank are included. Details of 
amounts of each type of national saving instrument are given 
in Table 3.13 and these are described in the notes to that 
table. From the 4th quarter 1979 Trustee savings banks 
ordinary accounts are excluded.

Tax instruments are holdings of tax reserve certificates and 
certificates of tax deposit.

Local authority temporary debt is estimated from quarterly 
borrowing returns made by local authorities, a sector analysis 
of which is given in Table 4.5. Revenue bills are excluded. 
Prior to the 2nd quarter of 1976, amounts include deposits 
with the Greenock Provident Trustee Savings Bank and the 
Birmingham Municipal Trustee Savings Bank.

Deposits w ith the banking sector are obtained from the 
sector analysis of gross deposits of the banking sector and the 
notes to Table 6.1 should be read for further information, 
including details of various changes in the coverage of the 
series. A footnote to Table 6.1 gives deposits by individuals, 
households and personal trusts as a group. In Table 10.4, 
figures are shown separately for sterling and foreign currency 
deposits from 2nd quarter 1975. The latest quarter's figures 
are published first in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin 
usually two-and-a-half months after the end of the quarter.

Deposits w ith savings banks comprises deposits with the 
National Savings Bank Investment account and the trustee 
savings banks' New department other than those National 
Savings Bank Investment accounts deposited with local 
authorities and other financial institutions in 1977 and 1978. 
From 4th quarter 1979 the figures include Trustee savings 
banks' saving accounts formerly included in National savings.

Deposits with building societies consist of the bulk of the 
item shares and deposits in Table 8.7. Small amounts are held 
by industrial and commercial companies (shown in Table 9.3) 
and insurance companies. In the flow of funds accounts both 
building societies and insurance companies are within the 
other financial institutions sector so that transactions between 
them are consolidated out. From 3rd quarter 1978 a more 
detailed sector analysis of deposits was returned by the 
building societies every quarter, (see Table 8.7) and, in 
addition to amounts held by pension funds, some holdings 
overseas were identified.

Deposits with finance houses include deposits with other 
financial institutions from the 1st quarter, 1975.

Bank advances are a major short-term liability of persons 
and are shown for comparison purposes. As with bank 
deposits, further detail is shown in Table 6.1.
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Section 11: Overseas sector
General description of the Balance of 
payments accounts
The balance of payments accounts are concerned with the 
economic transactions between the United Kingdom and the 
rest of the world. Transactions between UK residents and 
overseas residents are recorded under functional headings 
indicating the nature or purpose of the transactions, and may 
involve a flow of real resources ie goods, services, property 
income; changes in foreign assets or liabilities; or transfer 
payments such as grants or gifts.

The United Kingdom is defined as including the Isle of Man, 
the Channel Islands and that part of the Continental Shelf 
deemed by international convention to belong to the United 
Kingdom. UK residents, in balance of payments terms, are 
defined as private persons living in the United Kingdom, the 
UK government, local authorities, all commercial enterprises 
situated in the United Kingdom which includes overseas 
companies' branches and subsidiaries located in the United 
Kingdom, and all UK government officials and forces 
stationed abroad. More detailed descriptions of the criteria 
adopted for defining residence is given in the latest edition of 
United Kingdom Balance o f Payments (Pink Book) and on 
pages 436 -  438 of National Accounts Statistics: Sources and 
Methods (HMSO 1968). In principle, transactions are recorded 
when the ownership of goods or assets changes and when 
services are rendered.

Because a flow in one direction (say an export of goods) 
must be offset by another (say, an inflow of foreign currency), 
with the conventional use of plus and minus signs, as 
described below, in principle all entries should sum to zero. In 
practice however a balancing item  is included to offset the 
sum of errors and omissions.

Under the conventions of the balance of payments 
accounts, credit (or positive) entries are recorded for real 
resources (goods, services etc) that are exported, that is for an 
outflow of real resources. For consistency, positive entries are 
also required for the flows which reduce foreign assets held by 
the United Kingdom or increase the United Kingdom's liab
ilities to non-residents. Conversely the flows which increase 
the United Kingdom's foreign assets or decrease its liabilities 
to non-residents are recorded, like imports, as debit entries.

The transactions in the UK balance of payments accounts 
are classified into three main groups (for a fuller description of 
these groups and their component parts see the United 
Kingdom Balance o f Payments 1979 Edition (the Pink Book)).

1. Current account
This includes visible trade, ie exports and imports of goods; 
also services, interest, profits and dividends, and most 
transfer payments (goods, services or financial items that are 
rendered without a reciprocal flow) which together constitute 
the invisibles.

2. Investm ent and other capital transactions (Table 11.2)
This covers inter-government loans, other official long-term 
capital transactions, companies' overseas investment, 
changes in the balances of other countries held in London, 
trade credit and certain other capital flows.

3. Official financing (Table 11.3)
This covers changes in the official reserves and official trans
actions with overseas monetary authorities and other financial 
institutions in support of the reserves.

Treatm ent of the balance of payments in the financial 
accounts:
The current balance plus capital transfers is described as net 
investment abroad in the National Accounts and, with an 
opposite sign, as net acquisition o f financial assets by the 
overseas sector in the financial accounts. The capital trans
actions in the balance of payments ie investment and other 
capital transactions, official financing, allocation of SDR'sand 
gold subscription to the IMF correspond to the financial trans
actions of the overseas sector in the financial accounts tables 
where the analysis is broadly in terms of financial instruments.

A full account of the treatment of the balance of payments 
in the national and financial accounts is given in Chapter XV of 
National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods (HMSO  
1968). A reconciliation between the capital transactions in the 
balance of payments accounts and the financial transactions 
of the overseas sector as shown in the financial accounts is 
published in the December issue of Financial Statistics (see 
Supplem entary Table B in the November 1979 issue).

Table 11.1
Summary balance of payments
In the summary balance of payments accounts, the current 
balance plus capital transfers and the net total investment and 
other capital transactions, together with the net total of 
unidentified transactions reflected in the balancing item, are 
brought together to show the balance fo r official financing.

Capital transfers comprises the payments made by the UK 
government in implementation of the guarantee clauses of the
Sterling Agreements.

Balancing item: The item is included to bring the sum of all 
the balance of payments entries to zero and represents the net 
total of errors and omissions in other items.

Allocation o f Special Drawing Rights: The UK share of the 
allocation by the IMF of the reserve asset, Special Drawing 
Rights which first came into use on 1 January 1970. UK hold
ings of SDRs are included in the official reserves.

Gold subscription to the IMF: That part of the UK subscrip
tion which is payable in gold on the occasion of an increase in
the UK share of the IMF quota.
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Table 11.2
Investment and other capital transactions
The table provides a further analysis of the ninth column of 
Table 11.1.

A detailed reconciliation between the items described 
below, as shown in the balance of payments accounts and the 
items in the financial accounts of the overseas sector is given 
in Supplementary Table B in the November 1979 issue of
Financial Statistics.

Official long term capita! consists of inter-government loans 
and other official long-term capital (net).

Inter-government loans cover drawings and repayments of 
loans between the UK government and overseas govern
ments.

Other official long-term capita! covers ail long-term capital 
transactions with overseas residents by the central govern
ment, other than transactions in British government stocks, 
inter-government loans and borrowing overseas. Also 
included are net loans and investments by the Commonwealth 
Development Corporation, capital subscriptions to inter
national lending bodies, other than the IMF, repayments (as 
guarantor) to the International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development of loans to Rhodesia, a loan from the Deutsche 
Bundesbank in 1968 repaid in 1971 and a capital contribution 
to the reserves of the European Coal and Steel Community 
and to the European Investment Bank.

Overseas investment in UK public sector consists of 
changes in the holdings by overseas residents of UK govern
ment and government guaranteed stocks (excluding changes 
in holdings by international organisations and central 
monetary institutions); dated British government foreign 
currency bonds which were offered in April 1977 to overseas 
official holders of sterling (mainly offset by a fall in exchange 
reserves in sterling); local authorities' securities and mort
gages, public corporations' and local authorities' net Issues 
abroad and direct borrowing abroad from banks etc. other 
than foreign currency borrowing by the public sector under 
the exchange cover scheme. The latter are included in official 
financing transactions.

Overseas investment in UK private sector covers direct 
investment by overseas non-oil companies in their affiliates, 
including the re-investment of unremitted profits; changes in 
overseas residents' holdings of UK company securities, 
including any issued abroad; investment by overseas oil 
companies, comparable with direct investment except that it 
also includes unrelated trade credit; net borrowing by UK 
companies and public corporations from banks, unrelated 
companies, EEC institutions etc overseas and miscellaneous 
investment including real estate transactions.

UK private investment overseas covers direct investment by 
UK non-oil companies and a number of public corporations in 
their overseas branches, subsidiaries or associates, including 
the re-investment of unremitted profits; UK portfolio invest
ment in overseas government, municipal and company securi
ties, including new issues on the London market; UK oil 
companies investment abroad, including their unrelated trade

credit; net borrowing by overseas companies from unrelated 
UK companies other than banks and miscellaneous invest
ment including real estate transactions and investment by the 
Commonwealth Development Finance Corporation.
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Some discontinuities in component series occurred 
following the abolition of UK exchange controls in 1979.

Overseas currency borrowing or lending {net) by UK banks: 
comprises external borrowing and lending denominated in 
overseas currencies by UK resident banks and certain other 
UK financial institutions. The series excludes commercial bills 
lodged with UK banks for their customers which are part of 
trade credit and, for 1975 onwards, exclude acceptances. Also 
excluded are foreign currency borrowings by UK banks to 
finance their participation in the $2-5 billion and $1-5 billion 
facilities arranged for HM Government and their lending to UK 
public bodies under the exchange cover scheme. Overseas 
currency lending to non-residents in the form of export credit 
is excluded from this series and included in UK banks' export 
credit. The counterpart borrowing, however, is included.

Borrowing to finance UK investment overseas: comprises 
the counterpart, in deposits taken by UK banks from non
residents, of overseas currency loans (net of repayments) by 
the banks to UK residents to finance UK direct portfolio and 
other investment overseas. Information was derived from 
exchange control sources until the abolition of controls in 
October 1979.

Other borrowing or lending (net): covers borrowing which is 
switched into sterling by the banks and on-lent to UK 
residents for domestic purposes and lending to overseas resi
dents which represents either the counterpart to foreign 
currency deposits with banks by UK residents or sterling 
assets which have been switched into overseas currencies.

Exchange reserves in sterling provide a broad measure of 
the changes In sterling reserves of overseas countries and 
international organisations. Estimates, made at transactions 
values, of British government and government guaranteed 
stocks and banking and money market liabilities etc. are 
shown separately (see notes to Table 11.6).

Other external banking and money market liabilities in 
sterling consist of the changes in UK external banking and 
money market liabilities in sterling to overseas residents other 
than central monetary institutions and international organis
ations (see notes to Table 11.6).

Import credit consists of the net change in trade credit 
received by UK businesses from overseas businesses other 
than affiliates and parent companies, less advance and pro
gress payments made by UK businesses to overseas suppliers.

Export credit: entries consist of the net changes in credit 
extended by banks in the United Kingdom and trade credit 
extended by UK businesses to overseas businesses other than 
affiliates and parent companies, less advance and progress 
payments (including advances by UK banks). It also includes 
credit extended by UK institutions for the financing of trade 
between other countries.

Other short-term transactions consist of total UK external 
sterling lending (net) other than export bills; official short-term 
transactions (n.e.i.); other commercial short-term trans
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Tables 11.3 and 11.5
Official financing
Table 11.3 provides a further analysis of the final column of 
Table 11.1.

Table 11.5 shows the total of official financing liabilities at 
end of period and provides a reconciliation with the 
transactions in Official financing shown in Table 11.3 
(columns 1 - 4 ) .

IMF: UK drawings and repurchases, and drawings and 
repurchases in sterling by other countries, which affect the 
United Kingdom's repurchase obligations to the IMF. From 
January 1976 UK drawings on the oil facility. From July 1972 
excludes transactions affecting the UK reserve position in the 
Fund which are treated as changes in the official reserves.

Other monetary authorities: Net borrowing from 
Switzerland (with a sterling counterpart) in parallel with draw
ings from the IMF under the General Arrangements to 
Borrow, other net borrowing from monetary authorities in the 
form of assistance with a sterling counterpart and net borrow
ing from other monetary authorities in the form of foreign 
currency deposits, and in 1971 and 1972 amounts swapped 
forward to later months with overseas monetary authorities. It 
also includes drawings on the standby credit made available by 
the Group of Ten, Switzerland and the Bank for International 
Settlements in June 1976, which were repaid in December 
1976.

Foreign currency borrowing by H M  Government: These are 
drawings on two Euro-dollar facilities arranged by the Bank of 
England with UK clearing banks and their associates on behalf 
of HM Government to borrow US$2,5(X) million and US$1,500 
million for periods of up to 10 years. The transactions are 
allocated to the debtor (HM Government) rather than the 
transactor (the clearing banks). Also included is an issue of 
US$350 million of HM Government 7 and 15 year bonds made 
in New York in 1978.

Official reserves: Changes in the gold, IMF Special Drawing 
Rights and convertible currencies held in the Exchange 
Equalisation Account valued in sterling at transactions rates of 
exchange from 23 August 1971, and at parity previously. From 
July 1972 includes the UK reserve position in the IMF.

The valuation of holdings, of official financing liabilities in 
terms of US'dollars and sterling are similar to the valuations 
used for official reserves and are described in notes to Table 
11.4.

Table 11.4
Official reserves
This comprises gold and convertible currencies and, from 
1 January 1970, Special Drawing Rights held in the Exchange

Equalisation Account, together with, from July 1972, the 
reserve position in the IMF.

Levels of holdings of official reserves are shown in Table 
11.4 valued in sterling terms and in units of US dollars.

Gold is valued at $35 per fine ounce until end-1970; at $38 
per fine ounce from end-1971 to end-1972; and at $42.2222 per 
fine ounce thereafter.

Special Drawing Rights are valued at SDR 1 = $1 until 
end-1970; at SDR 1 =  $1.08571 for end-1971 and end-1972; 
and at SDR 1 =  $1.20635 thereafter.

Non-dollar convertible currencies are converted to dollars at 
middle or central rates. The values expressed in units of US 
dollars are converted to sterling at $2.8 =  £1 from end-1964 to 
end-1966; at $2.4 =  £1 from end-1967 to end-1970; at 
$2.60571 = £1 at end-1971; and at end-year doliar/sterling 
middle-market closing rates thereafter.

Up to the end of March 1979, Gold is valued at $42*2222 per 
fine ounce. Special Drawing Rights are valued at SDR1 = 
US$1 *20635, Convertible currencies are valued at middle or 
central rates. From end March 1979, the rates at which the 
reserves are valued are revised annually. Gold is valued at the 
average of the London fixing prices for the 3 months up to end 
March less a 25 per cent discount and SDR and convertible 
currencies at the average of the exchange rates in the 3 
months to end March. From July 1979 reserve holdings 
include European Currency Units acquired from swaps with 
the European Monetary Co-operation Fund. As shown above, 
these are included within convertible currencies and are valued 
at the average of the $/ECU or $/European Unit of Account 
exchange rates in the 3 months to end-March. Until March 
1980 this valuation will differ from that used for monthly 
reserve announcements where the ECU is valued at the market 
rate applicable for each swap. Reserves are converted to 
sterling at end period dollar/sterling middle-market closing
rates.

Table 11.6
Exchange reserves in sterling; and banking
and money market liabilities in sterling to
holders other than central monetary
institutions
This table brings together those figures which bear on the 
reserve role of sterling and also figures of cash or near-cash 
funds held in the United Kingdom by other overseas holders 
(for example commercial banks, companies and individuals).

Exchange reserves in sterling are funds held by central 
monetary institutions and international organisations. The 
detailed breakdown illustrates the extent to which countries 
choose to hold banking and money market assets as distinct 
from readily marketable investments in the form of govern-
ment stocks.

There are, of course, other holdings of sterling which coun
tries may regard as part of their reserves. Some are included in
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banking and money market liabilities to other holders; others 
are in types of assets-equities for example-which are not
covered by the table.

Banking and money market liabilities to other overseas 
holders, like those held as part of sterling reserves, are the 
most liquid and normally the most variable of all the different 
types of sterling investments. They include the working 
balances of banks and commercial concerns overseas and of 
overseas government holdings where these are not classified 
as exchange reserves.

Banking and money market liabilities comprise:
(a) deposits and Treasury bills held for banks overseas 

(including overseas offices of UK banks) and other over
seas residents by banks and their nominee companies in 
the United Kingdom and by certain other financial insti
tutions including the Crown Agents for Oversea Govern
ments and Administrations. They also include sterling 
certificates of deposit.

(b) temporary loans to and bills drawn on local authorities, 
(but not mortgages which are included in overseas 
investment in the UK public sector), whether made direct 
by overseas residents or by UK banks and other UK agents 
on account of overseas residents.

A modified reporting system for external liabilities and 
claims in sterling was introduced at the end of 1974 giving rise 
to some changes of definition and coverage. The figures for 
end-December 1974 are shown on the old and the new bases. 
The main difference from earlier data is that all mid-November 
figures of holdings of British government stocks are shown at 
approximate market value instead of at nominal value 
whereas, for the other periods, holdings of British government 
stocks reflect the cash flows during each period. Therefore, 
the apparent change during the fourth quarter differs from 
cash flows recorded in Table 11.2 by the amount of the 
revaluation for the whole year. There has also been some 
improvement in coverage and consistency of reporting. Data 
are now normally collected as at the close of business on the 
third Wednesday of each month (the second Wednesday in 
December) and at the end of each calendar quarter (although, 
exceptionally, information for mid-March 1975 is not 
available). A further improvement in coverage increased 
deposits with banks by some £180 million from mid-May 1975. 
A breakdown between the European Economic Community, 
oil-exporting countries and other countries is also shown in an 
analysis by component and country groups.

Table 11.7
External liabilities and claims of UK banks
and certain other financial institutions in
overseas currencies
The figures show gross liabilities to, and claims on, overseas 
banks and other overseas customers as recorded in the report
ing institutions' books at the close of business on the last 
working day of calendar quarters. Amounts in foreign cur-
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rency have been converted into sterling at the middle closing 
exchange rate on that day; the figures need to be interpreted 
with care, therefore, because fluctuations in exchange rates 
between reporting dates will affect the sterling valuation. For
ward commitments and unsettled spot deals are not included 
In the series.

The categories of liabilities and claims included in the series 
are as follows: —

Liabilities: Comprises deposits and advances received from 
overseas residents and negotiable dollar certificates of deposit 
issued in London. Until December 1971 it also included 
commercial bills drawn on UK residents and held by the banks 
on behalf of their overseas customers.

A break occurs between end-September and end-December 
1977 owing to the extension, as at end-December, of the num
ber of UK financial institutions reporting holdings of US dollar 
certificates of deposit on their own account. Since total 
external holdings of such certificates, which count towards 
total UK external liabilities, are estimated as the difference 
between total issues by UK listed banks and total identified 
holdings by UK residents on their own account, the effect of 
this extension is to reduce UK external liabilities. At end- 
December 1977, the break was of the order of £50 million.

A break also occurs between end-December 1977 and end- 
March 1978 in the allocation by area of holder. This is due to 
measures that were taken during the quarter to extend the 
number of financial institutions reporting, and to improve the 
quality of data in respect of certificates lodged on behalf of 
overseas residents with reporting institutions. Prior to these 
changes there were, at end-December 1977, some £2 billion of 
London US dollar certificates of deposit outstanding which 
were assumed to relate to overseas residents but which were 
not attributed by country. Following the changes in early 
1978, the amount of such unattributed certificates became 
negligible.

Official liabilities in overseas currencies arising from short
term loans to the UK government and drawings on central 
bank facilities are not included; however liabilities incurred by 
UK banks in respect of drawings on HM Government's two 
Euro-dollar facilities of $2,500m and $1,500m and in respect of 
public sector borrowing under the exchange cover scheme are 
included.

Claims: Comprises deposits with, and advances to, over
seas residents; notes and coin, commercial bills and other 
negotiable paper drawn on overseas residents. Until 
December 1971 the series also included commercial bills 
drawn on overseas residents and held by the banks on behalf 
of their overseas customers. Up to the end of 1974, claims on 
overseas customers arising from acceptances were included; 
subsequently they are excluded.

Timeliness
Data are published approximately one quarter in arrears

Further References
A more detailed geographical analysis is published in the Bank 
o f England Quarterly Bulletin, showing intermediate reporting 
dates as well as end-quarter dates.
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ô nt towards 
^  difference 
t̂al identified 
d>e effect of 

ties. At end- 
50 milRon.

977 and end- 
rhts is due to 
5 extend the 
improve the 
on behalf of 
riof to these 
; £2 billion of 
fxling which 
which were 
ges in early 
ites became

from short- 
5 on central 
incurred by 
iment's two 
n respect of 
scheme are

js to, over- 
; and other
snts.
lercial bills 
5 on behsl̂  

claims on 
e included;

rrears

SaP>(pthe

»

f

I

Table 11.8
International Monetary Fund
The operations of the IM F

The IMF was set up in 1944 and commenced operations in 
1947 with the aim of maintaining orderly exchange arrange
ments and to provide for genera! assistance to countries with 
balance of payments difficulties. Countries subscribe to the 
IMF their own currency and a smaller p'-oportion of reserve 
assets (formerly gold).

When a country has a balance of payments need, it draws 
(purchases) currencies from the IMF by selling to it the equiv
alent amount of its own currency. Initial drawings are on the 
Reserve Tranche, and in effect withdraw a country's reserve 
asset subscription. Further drawings are on the Credit 
Tranches. These (as well as Reserve Tranche drawings made 
prior to April 1978) are repayable, and depend on increasingly 
stringent conditions. Where another country draws the 
member's currency, this reduces IMF holdings of the currency 
and reduces the member's liability to the IMF to repurchase
the currency.

In addition, there are special facilities on which countries 
may be allowed to draw, such as the Oil Facility.

Transactions affecting IM F  holdings of sterling
Increase in IMF holdings of sterling -H , decrease in IMF hold
ings of sterling - .  From 1972 transactions are recorded at the 
rates of exchange at which the IMF accounts for its holdings 
of sterling at the time of the transaction (not necessarily the 
prevailing market rate).

Reserve tranche and Credit tranches: UK net drawings on 
Reserve Tranche and Credit Tranches, and drawings of 
sterling by other countries. The drawings of sterling by other 
countries and the UK reserve tranche repurchase in 1978 did 
not reconstitute the UK Reserve Position in the IMF as IMF 
holdings of sterling then exceeded 100% of quota.

UK net drawings on Special Facilities. UK drawing on the 
1975 Oil Facility.

Maintenance o f value payments: the IMF maintains its 
accounts in Special Drawing Rights (SDRs). As the value of 
sterling falls, so more sterling has to be paid to the IMF to 
maintain IMF holdings of sterling constant in SDR terms.

UK subscriptions in sterling: subscription to the IMF + . 
Payments in 1970 under the 5th increase in quotas, and in 1978 
under the 6th increase in quotas.

Other IM F sterling transactions: comprises in 1972 the 
repurchase of £83 million of charges first paid in sterling, and 
in 1978 the payment of £14 million to the IMF in the 3rd IMF 
gold restitution to members and subsequent redemptions.

UK tranche position: The amount the UK could arrange to 
draw under the IMF's ordinary facilities, subject to the fulfil
ment of any conditions which might be imposed. Figures are 
valued at the rates of exchange at which the IMF accounts for 
its holdings of sterling at the end of the period. Changes 
derived from outstanding levels therefore differ from those 
calculated from the flows in columns 1 — 11, where the latter

are valued at the appropriate rate on the day of the trans
action.

Further references
UK net drawings on the IMF's ordinary and special facilities 
(excluding those affecting the Reserve Position in the IMF) 
and net drawings of sterling from the IMF by other countries 
are shown in Table 11.3 (Official financing) at a slightly 
different method of valuation. The level of borrowings out
standing is shown in Table 11.5 (Official financing liabilities) 
with the method of valuation shown in a footnote.

A more detailed description and table of IMF operations 
with the UK is published in United Kingdom Balance o f 
Payments 1979 Edition.

Table 11.9
UK Public expenditure on overseas aid
Coverage
This table covers the United Kingdom's official expenditure on 
bilateral and multilateral assistance to the developing coun
tries. It covers expenditure on the Aid Programme and net 
investment by the Commonwealth Development Corporation 
(CDC) which together form the overseas aid part of 'Pro
gramme 2 —Overseas Aid and Other Services' of the Annual 
Public Expenditure White Papers. With the exception of cer
tain transfers effected through the EEC, all monies related to 
the Aid Programme are contained within the Annual Supply 
Estimates of the Overseas Development Administration (ODA) 
and administered by the ODA.

The table provides a five year run of calendar year figures 
and a four year run of quarterly figures.

Bilateral Aid
British bilateral economic aid is extended in two ways: 
financial aid, providing resources for physical development; 
and technical cooperation, the supply of 'know-how'.

Financial aid is given in the form of grants and loans for 
development projects, general development programmes, 
budgetary support, and relief and reconstruction following 
natural disasters and emergencies. The total for loans includes 
overseas investment by the Commonwealth Development
Corporation.

Technical cooperation includes education and training in 
Britain for persons from developing countries, assistance 
towards education and training of nationals from developing 
countries in their own country, the supply of advisers and 
operational personnel to work overseas and to maintain public 
services, the provision of equipment for education and train
ing purposes, and the conducting of surveys and research.

The loans figures and totals, except where otherwise stated 
in the tables, are gross ie no account is taken of service pay
ments whether of principal (amortisation) or of interest. Net 
disbursements are gross disbursements less amortisation. The
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figures of grants however On the forrh of financial aid and 
technical cooperation) are reported net of minor receipts from
overseas.

Multilateral Aid
Multilateral aid is aid channelled via an international organis
ation active in development. The figures show the total con
tributions to multilateral aid-giving agencies.

Multilateral agencies offering financial aid supported by the 
United Kingdom include the International Development 
Association (IDA), the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (IBRD), the United Nations High Com
mission for Refugees (UNHCR), the United Nations Relief and 
Works Agency (UNWRA), the United Nations World Food 
Programme (WFP), the African Development Fund, the Asian 
Development Bank, the Caribbean Development Bank, the 
Inter-American Development Bank and the International Fund 
for Agricultural Development (IFAD). Aid contributions 
channelled through the European Economic Community (EEC) 
are treated as multilateral with the exception of contributions 
to the International Grain Agreement.

Agencies offering technical cooperation supported by the 
United Kingdom include the United Nations Childrens' Fund 
(UNICEF), the United Nations Development Programme 
(UNDP) and the United Nations Fund for Population Activities 
(UNFPA).

The figures do not include general contributions to the 
United Nations and its specialised agencies, only part of 
whose budgets are spent on development activities.

Developing Countries
The definition of developing countries used in constructing 
this table Is that adopted by the Development Assistance

Committee (DAC). This comprises all countries except mem
bers of OECD (other than Greece, Portugal, Spain and 
Turkey), the Soviet countries (other than Cuba, Vietnam and 
Yugoslavia) and South Africa.

Timeliness

The figures for this table are compiled from ODM sources and 
from information supplied quarterly by the CDC (and sub
mitted to the CSO in the quarterly balance of payments on 
overseas aid return). Quarterly figures are generally available 
two months after the end of the quarter to which they relate. 
Revisions for the first quarter's figures are generally made 12 
months after the end of the quarter.

Further References
An analysis by recipient country or institution is included in the 
Annua! Abstract o f Statistics, Tables 13.22-13.25 (1980). A 
detailed presentation is also given annually in the Ministry of 
Overseas Development Administration's British A id  Statistics. 
The latter additionally presents a reconciliation with data 
reported to the Development Assistance Committee of the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The OECD publishes comparative information on the per
formance of DAC members in its annual. Development Co
operation: Efforts and Policies o f the members o f the Develop
ment Assistance Committee, available from HMSO. The 
memorandum which the United Kingdom submits to this body 
annually is published as a White Paper (Cmnd 6544 issued in 
September 1976, being the latest).
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Exchange transactions
The main purpose of the Stock Exchange is to provide an 
efficient market for the purchase and sale of government, 
public authority and company securities (the trading market). 
It also has an important role in the raising of capital for 
industry and government (the new issue market). It provides a 
mechanism for the raising of funds, in various forms and for 
varying periods, by many types of domestic borrowers, 
including the UK government and other bodies in the public 
and private sectors of the economy, notably the large number 
of limited liability companies whose shares and bond issues 
are listed on The Stock Exchange.

Share and Loan Capital
A company's capital structure can be divided into three 
classes: loan capital, preference capital and equity capital. 
Loan capital includes debentures and unsecured loan stock. A 
debenture is a document which evidences the fact that the 
owner has lent money to a business for a specified period at a 
fixed rate of interest. The interest is payable regardless of 
whether the company makes a profit. Some debentures are 
irredeemable ie they will never have to be repaid (unless the 
company is wound up) — but most are redeemable. Deben
tures are normally secured on the assets of the business, 
should the interest or capital appear to be in jeopardy, certain 
assets of the company can be sold to repay the debenture 
holders. The description unsecured debenture is unusual, 
unsecured loan being preferred in practice. Debenture holders 
may have the right to convert their holdings into ordinary 
shares after a certain time (Convertible Debentures).

Shareholders differ from debenture holders in that they are 
members (owners) of the company, not lenders. There are 
two types of preference shares and ordinary shares.
Preference shares entitled the shareholder to a fixed annual 
dividend (share of the profits) payable in priority to the 
ordinary dividend, which cannot be paid at all unless the 
preference dividend is met in full. Most preference shares are 
'cumulative' — unpaid dividends must be carried forward to the 
next year; the ordinary shareholders cannot receive any divi
dend payment until the past and present preference dividend
entitlement is fully met.

Most preference shares are also given priority of repayment 
of capital on liquidation. A few preference shares are parti
cipating'—entitled to an additional dividend in certain circum
stances. Since 1929 it has been legal to issue 'redeemable 
preference shares. Most preference shares, of all varieties, 
carry no votes at general meetings except in relation to varying 
their rights. Two or more classes of preference share (first, 
second etc) may be issued, ranking in order of dividend and 
capital repayment.

Ordinary shares constitute the majority of a normal 
company's share capital—often the whole of it. They have no 
right to a fixed dividend, the size of the dividend varying

according to the profits made by the business. Ordinary shares 
thus form the 'risk capital' of the firm, and the holders are its 
proprietors in the full sense. They usually have voting 
rights—some companies have non-voting ordinary shares as 
well as voting ones. Occasionally the ordinary shares are 
divided into a 'preferred' and a 'deferred' class, the first being 
entitled to a certain minimum dividend, then the second 
similarly, then both to the same excess over the minimum, if 
profits permit.

Public and Private Companies
At September 1979 there were about 600,000 companies 
registered in Britain, of which about 16,000 or under three per 
cent were public companies and the remainder were private 
companies. The distinction between public and private 
companies is based on three criteria:
(a) the right to transfer the shares of the company;
(b) the number of shareholders of the company; and
(c) the right to make a public issue of shares and debentures.

A private company is one which by its articles of association 
restricts the right to transfer its shares, limits the number of its 
members to 50 (with certain exceptions), and prohibits any 
invitation to the public to subscribe for any shares or deben
tures of the company.

A public company does not have to make a public issue of 
shares or debentures; it simply has the right to do so if it 
wishes. Thus not all public companies' shares are listed on 
The Stock Exchange and the division between private and 
public companies is not the same as that between companies 
with listed shares and those with unlisted shares. There are 
about 2,700 UK registered public companies listed on The
Stock Exchange.

The Stock Exchange imposes certain requirements on any 
company seeking a listing for its securities, and in doing so has 
a strong influence on the forms and procedures of the new 
issue market. The main concerns of the secondary market 
authorities are that there should be a wide market in any secur
ities listed on the exchange and that shareholders should have 
as much relevant information about the issuing body as is 
reasonable. Their regulations therefore affect the primary 
market in a number of ways, including the following:

(a) The Exchange will not normally consider any application 
for a listing unless the expected (initial) market value of the 
company securities is at least £500,000 and the expected 
market value of any one security for which quotation is
sought is £200,000.

(b) The company is required to make available to the market a 
portion of the securities which are to be listed. In general, 
at least 25 per cent of the equity must be made available to 
the public, the proportion for fixed interest securities
being 20 per cent
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The Exchange has very rigorous standards for the amount 
of information to be given in the prospectus whenever 
securities are to be offered to the public by 'public' issue, 
'offer for sale' or by 'tender'.

The New Issue M arket
Longer term loan and equity finance is provided chiefly 
through the new issue market, the main sponsors being 
specialised issuing houses and stockbrokers acting as issuing 
houses. There are a number of ways in which new securities 
can be issued on behalf of a company, public authority or 
government:
(a) A public issue constitutes an offer of securities to the 

general public at a fixed price. The advertisement for the 
issue consists of a detailed prospectus, usually shown in a

(b)

(c)

newspaper.
In an offer for sale, the public is again invited to apply for 
shares on the basis of a prospectus, but in this case It is 
the sponsor who, having purchased the entire issue, is 
making the offer and not the company raising new money. 
The main features of an issue by tender is that the public is 
invited to state the price (above a certain minimum) and 
the amount for which it is tendering.

Id) With placings, the securities of a company are offered for 
sale by the issuing houses to their own clients; they are 
usually financial institutions such as investment trust 
companies, insurance companies and pension funds.

(f)

(e) With issues to shareholders (usually known as rights 
issues) applications are invited only from existing share
holders; the entitlement of each shareholder is determined 
by his existing shareholding.
An introduction differs from other new Issues in that 
whereas the primary object of the other methods is to sell 
shares in the company, the major function of an intro
duction is to enable a company to obtain a stock exchange 
listing for its existing shares.

(g) Capitalisation issues are also known as bonus issues or
scrip issues. This type of issue does not result in the
acquisition of any new funds for the business and merely
represents the conversion of accumulated reserves into 
shares.
Vendor consideration issues arise when other companies 
are acquired, not for cash, but by the issue of stocks or 
shares in the acquiring company.

(h)

Table 12.1
Capital issues and redemptions in the
United Kingdom
The estimates relate to new money raised by issues of 
ordinary, preference and loan capital (public issues, offers for 
sale, issues by tender, placings and issues to shareholders and 
employees) by listed public companies and local authorities in 
the United Kingdom and by overseas companies and public 
authorities (including local authorities and international

organisations). Issues of British government marketable 
securities are shown in Section 3. Issues by UK public author
ities are included, except domestic issues guaranteed by the 
Government. The estimates include UK local authority negoti
able bonds (of not less than one year) issued to, or through 
the agency of banks, discount houses, issuing houses or 
brokers. Mortgages, bank advances and any other loans 
redeemable in less than twelve months are excluded, as also 
are loans from UK government funds—but not government 
subscriptions to company issues made pari passu with the 
market. Issues to shareholders are included only if the sole or 
principal share register is maintained in the United Kingdom.

As the series relate only to new money raised, they exclude 
issues in which the cash raised accrues not to the borrowing 
company but to its existing shareholders (ie they exclude the 
value of existing securities which have been marketed through 
the new issue machinery but add nothing to the resources of 
the companies involved). They also exclude bonus issues, 
share exchanges and issues for other forms of consideration.

Estimates of the amounts raised are based on the prices at 
which securities are offered to the market. Subscriptions are 
recorded under the periods in which they are due to be paid. 
Redemptions relate to fixed-interest securities of the kinds 
included as issues; conversion issues in lieu of cash repayment 
are included in the gross figures of both issues and redemp
tions. No allowance is made for company liquidations or other 
repayments of share capital. The figures for Convertibles 
relate to debentures and loan stock carrying the right of 
conversion into, or subscription to, equity capital.

The division between United Kingdom and overseas 
company borrowers is determined by the location of the regi
stered office. On 1 April 1974 water, dock and harbour boards 
were reclassified as public corporations rather than local 
authorities. 'Special finance agencies' are listed public 
companies engaged in the provision of medium and long-term 
finance to industry (for example Finance for Industry Limited). 
The industrial classification in the third part of the table is 
according to the primary occupation of the borrowing 
company or group and is based on the Standard Industrial 
Classification.

Timeliness
The latest month's figures are first Issued by Bank of England 
press release on the second working day of the following 
month and published in Financial Statistics about the end of 
that month.

M ethod of compilation
The figures are compiled mainly from information published in 
the press or appearing in official Stock Exchange publications.

Further references
The figures for total issues and redemptions also appear in the 
Monthly Digest o f Statistics, Table 17.17. Annual figures for 
the last eleven years are given in the Annual Abstract o f 
Statistics Table 17.16 (1980). Figures of varying series back to 
1945 are available in the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract 
Numbers 1 and 2.
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k Table 12.2
Stock exchange transactions

Table 12.3
Transactions in British government 
stocks on The Stock Exchange
In both tables, transactions are recorded at dealing (contract) 
dates rather than settlement dates and represent the sum of 
both brokers' purchases and sales on behalf of clients; thus 
the transfer of a security from one holder to another counts
twice.

There are certain transactions, mainly cash subscriptions to 
new issues and redemption payments on maturing stocks, 
which do not pass through stockbrokers and are not therefore 
included in stock exchange turnover. Such transactions have 
been eliminated as far as possible from the figures in Table  
12.3, but payments of second or subsequent instalments on 
partly-paid issues (since the second quarter of 1977) by other 
financiaUnstitutions are included indistinguishably. The effect 
on the figures is thought not to be significant. In this table, 
official holders includes the Issue and Banking Departments of 
the Bank of England, the National Debt Commissioners, 
government departments, and the Northern Ireland

government. Savings banks* investment accounts comprises 
the National Savings Bank investment account throughout, 
the Trustee savings banks' special investment departments up 
to 21 November 1976, the Trustee savings banks' New depart
ment (which was formed by the amalgamation of the Special 
investment department and current accounts of the Trustee 
savings banks) between November 1976 and November 1979 
and all Trustee savings banks thereafter. Figures for financial 
institutions other than those listed are included within other 
holders (residual).

Timeliness
The latest month's figures for stock exchange transactions are 
released to the press by The Stock Exchange at the beginning 
of the following month and they appear subsequently in 
Financial Statistics about the end of the month.

Figures for transactions in British government stocks are 
published approximately six months after the end of the 
quarter to which they relate.

Further references
The figures for stock exchange transactions are also published 
quarterly in The Stock Exchange Fact Book. A long run of 
figures for both series is available in the Bank o f England 
Statistical Abstract.
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Section 13: Exchange Rates, Interest Rates
and Security Prices
This section provides monthly information on the main 
exchange rates, interest rates and security prices. The figures 
mostly relate to points in time or daily averages, but for some 
series (eg in Tables 13.1, 13.4, 13.7) averages for longer 
periods are provided.

Tables 13.1, 13.2 and 13.3
Foreign exchange rates
These tables give details of the exchange rate between the 
pound sterling and other major currencies.

Table 13.1 shows the monthly average of the daily mid
points between the spot buying and selling rates at the close 
of business in London as recorded by the Bank of England.

Table 13.2 shows the mid-point between the closing spot 
buying and selling rates on the last working day of each month 
for the currencies corresponding to the average rates in Table 
13.1 and the difference between that rate and the mid-point of 
the three-months' forward rate for the currency.

Spot and forward rates
Foreign exchange deals may be executed for settlement two 
working days later, in which case they are termed 'spot' deals, 
or for settlement at some future date, in which case they are 
termed 'forward' deals. The rate for a forward deal is generally 
expressed by showing the amount by which the forward rate 
diverges from the spot rate, either in units of the appropriate 
foreign currency, or as a percentage per annum. A foreign 
currency is said to be at a forward premium vis-^-vis sterling if 
the sterling cost of buying forward is greater than buying spot.

Table 13.3 shows the 3-months' forward premium or 
discount as a percentage per annum.

Timeliness
Rates are published in Financial Statistics one month in 
arrears.

Further references
Middle market closing spot rates at end-week and end-month 
intervals for the US dollar, Belgian franc, Swiss franc, French 
franc, Italian lire, Netherlands guilder, Deutsche mark and 
Japanese yen against sterling and corresponding rates for 
these currencies against the US dollar are published quarterly 
in arrears in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin from 
September 1973. End-month data for 1970-1974 are pub
lished in the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract, Number 2. 
The middle market closing spot and three-months' forward 
sterling/US dollar rates are shown as at end-months for
1945-1969 in the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract, 
Number 1.

The 3-months' forward US dollar rate expressed in cents 
and as a percentage per annum at end-week and end-month

intervals is published quarterly in arrears in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 13.4
Sterling effective exchange rate
Purpose of an 'effective exchange rate'
Between the Bretton Woods agreement in 1944 and the 
currency realignment of the Smithsonian Agreement in 1971, 
the US dollar provided a reasonably satisfactory benchmark 
against which changes in the value of other currencies could 
be measured. However, with the greater subsequent vari
ations in exchange rates, and in particular the variations in the 
value of the US dollar, dollar rates are no longer suitable for 
this purpose.

In order to assess the global change in the value of a 
currency it has therefore been necessary to construct a 
weighted average of movements in cross exchange rates 
against a 'basket' of other currencies, with the weighting 
system reflecting, in some sense, the relative importance of 
those other countries.

There are a number of approaches to the construction of an 
appropriate matrix of weights. Most effective rate indices use 
some form of trade weighting, often of a rather simple kind. 
The present official UK effective exchange rate index for ster
ling, like its predecessor, uses weights derived from a sophi
sticated model of world trade developed at the IMF. For any 
given set of changes in exchange rates against other cur
rencies individually, the index indicates the equivalent uniform 
and unilateral change in the sterling exchange rate which 
might have been expected to have the same effect on the 
visible trade balance.

The Index
The present index, essentially the same as that produced by 
the International Monetary Fund, was published from Tuesday 
1 March 1977.

The index is an average of daily values of the effective 
exchange rate. Up to and including 4th quarter 1976 it is based 
on noon exchange rates in New York. Thereafter it is based on 
London closing rates. The calculations are performed by the 
Bank of England.

The historical series for the index is calculated from the 
IMF's multilateral exchange rate model (MERM) index 
published in International Financial Statistics adjusted for the 
difference in the base period. The adjustment is given by 
calculating the value of the IMF index using their base value on 
18 December 1971. Dividing their series by this figure 
(1.01333) rebases it to 18 December 1971.
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The index is defined as

100 n ')

where /?jj =  f/R\\ =  P' '̂ce of one unit of currency /  in terms of 
currency), expressed as an index number relative to the base period: 
(actual calculations use exchange rates vis-a-vis the US dollar,
relying on the relationship =  R$/R$) 

or, equivalently:

exp z Wjj log^lOO.R■j W i j  =  I V i j 2 W-

where Wy is the effect, calculated from the MERM, of a one per cent 
change in the price of currency /  in terms of currency; on the trade 
balance of country i measured in its own currency and deflated by the 
induced change in the average of its export and import prices in its
own currency.

For the calculation of the sterling effective exchange rate index 
country / is the United Kingdom.

The base values for the calculation are the middle rates against the 
dollar reported to the IMF following the Smithsonian agreements on 
18 December, 1971. Expressed as amounts of currency per dollar they
are as shown below:

Austria
Belgium
Canada
Denmark
France
Germany (FR)
Italy
Japan
Netherlands
Norway
Sweden

•0429185 Switzerland •260417

•0223135 UK 2-60571

1-00000 USA 1-00000

•143266 Australia 1-21600

-195477 Taiwan •025000

■310318 Finland •243902

•00171969 Hong Kong •179143

•00324675 Irish Republic 2-60571

■308195 Spain •0155102

•150480
•207775

Yugoslavia ■0588235

Weights derived from the MERM are reproduced in the Treasury s 
Economic Progress Report for March 1977.

References
The index is published for last working days of months and for 
Fridays in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin. It is 
calculated by the Bank three times a day and the calculation 
for the close of business is usually reported on the following 
day in the financial press. An article describing the 
background to, and basis of, the calculation was published in 
the March issue of the Treasury's Economic Progress Report 
on 9 March 1977. For details of the IMF's effective exchange 
rate index, reference should be made to 'Indices of Effective 
Exchange Rates' by R R Rhomberg in IM F S ta ff Papers for 
March 1976. It is intended to update the matrix as new weights 
based on more recent trade data become available. The 
previous effective exchange rate calculation was described in 
Economic Trends for June 1974 and was last published in the 
February 1977 issue of Financial Statistics.

Table 13.5
Foreign exchange rates; related items
This table shows the interest rates on US Treasury bills and 
Euro-dollar deposits in London, the interest rate differentials 
of UK Treasury bills on US Treasury bills and of Local 
authority temporary loans and Inter-bank sterling deposits on 
Euro-dollar deposits in London and conversion rates of invest
ment dollars, gold (in terms of London price fixings) and 
Special Drawing Rights.

Interest on US Treasury Bills (column 1) shows the market 
selling rate in New York for 3-monthly US Treasury Bills, 
expressed as a yield (per cent per annum of 365 days).

Interest on Euro-dollar deposits in London (3 months) 
(column 2) and Investment dollars (column 6) both show 
middle closing rates.

Interest Rate Differentials (columns 4, 5). These columns 
provide a broad comparison between the return on the differ
ent types of investment instruments, taking into consideration 
the cost of the accompanying foreign exchange transactions. 
All the calculations are based on three month rates.

The comparisons are obtained by adding a forward pre
mium (per cent per annum) for sterling to, or subtracting a 
forward discount for sterling from the UK interest rate and 
then taking the difference between the two rates. Forward 
rates expressed in per cent per annum terms are shown in

Table 13.3
Thus, at end-December 1977 the yields on UK and US 

Treasury bills were 6.39% and 6.31% respectively and sterling 
stood at a forward premium of 0.60% against the US dollar.
The interest rate differentia! was therefore 6.39 + 0.60 -  6.31
= -f O.68%. Conversely, at end-June 1978 the yields on UK 
and US Treasury bills were 9.49% and 7.12% and sterling 
stood at a forward discount of 2.84% against the US dollar. 
The interest rate differential was therefore 9.49 -  2.84 -7 .1 2
=  -0 .4 7 % .

In vestm ent D ollars  (column 6) are foreign currency owned 
by residents of the Scheduled Territories which, until 23 
October 1979 could, with permission, be used for the pur
chase of foreign currency securities (except where, following 
the relaxations of exchange control announced in June and 
July 1979, the use of official exchange for such purposes had 
been permitted). Until June 1979 the purchase of property 
outside the Scheduled Territories had also to be financed with 
Investment dollars. The rate shown is the middle closing rate 
and is quoted in terms of the number of US dollars to the
pound sterling.

Sp e c ia l D raw ing  R igh ts  (column 8). The International 
Monetary Fund introduced in 1974 a new method of valuing 
Special Drawing Rights (SDR) in terms of a 'basket of cur
rencies. The basket consists of the currencies of 16 countries 
weighted with regard to their relative importance in world 
trade. The exchange rates for the SDR against all currencies 
fluctuate from day to day in response to exchange market 
movements. Once each business day, the Fund values the 
currency components of the basket at their market exchange

115

hi'.

*  <  r  «  
> 1 *

*

I  *
I I

8 I*

.]ty

;  • •  ^



t a

u

i:

i
I

K

rates for the US dollar, and the sum of the dollar equivalents 
yields the rate of the SDR in terms of the US dollar. The SDR 
rate of any other currency can be arrived at by taking its 
exchange rate against the dollar and calculating it against the
dollar/SDR rate.

Timeliness
Data are published in Financial Statistics one month in arrears.

Further references
Data on all these items are published at end-week and end- 
month intervals quarterly in arrears in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin. The Bank o f England Statistical Abstract, 
Number 2 gives end-month information for all the above items 
except Special Drawing Rights from 1970- 1974. The Bank o f 
England Statistical Abstract, Number 1, gives broadly similar 
data from 1945- 1969.

In addition, rates at end-week and end-month intervals for 8 
currencies against the SDR, including the pound sterling and 
the US dollar, are published in the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin quarterly in arrears from December 1974. An article 
describing the investment currency market was published in 
the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin in September 1976.

Table 13.6
British government securities: prices and
yields
The series relates to stocks selected to represent a cross- 
section of the market and shows figures for the last Friday in 
the month.

The gross flat yield on a security is the annual amount 
receivable in interest expressed as a percentage of the pur
chase price. The net flat yield is the gross flat yield less income 
tax at the standard rate. These yields are used mainly for 
irredeemable or undated stocks, where the absence of a fixed 
redemption date does not permit the calculation of any certain 
capital gain or loss; and they are comparable with rates of 
interest obtainable on deposits, mortgages and other invest
ments that offer no capital gain or loss. For investors whose 
only concern is annual receivable income {for example life 
interests) these yields are a measure of their return on dated 
securities also; but most investors in these stocks will be
concerned, in addition to the annual income, with the capital 
gain or loss arising from the difference between the price at 
which they were purchased and the price at which they will be 
redeemed at a known date (or range of dates).

The gross redemption yield comprises the gross flat yield 
together with an apportionment of the calculated capital gain 
or loss on dated securities held to redemption; more precisely, 
it is the rate of interest which, if used to discount future 
dividends and the sum due at redemption, will make their 
present value equal to the present price of the stock. It is an 
appropriate measure of the gross annual return on these 
securities, if held to maturity, for investors who either pay no 
tax (for example pension funds) or pay tax on income and 
capital profits at the same rate (for example security dealers).
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It provides a convenient means of comparing the annual return 
on dated securities with different nominal rates of interest.

The net redemption yield is similar to the gross redemption 
yield except that income tax at the standard rate is deducted 
from dividends. From April 1965 to March 1969 the net 
redemption yield allows also for tax on capital gains to 
redemption. From May 1965 to March 1969, however, it 
ignores any appreciation between the lowest price at which 
the stock was issued and its redemption price; such appreci
ation was exempt from capital gains tax. From March 1969 to 
April 1971 the deduction for capital gains tax (currently at 30 
per cent for persons) was made only on stocks with less than 
one year to redemption and since then it has been made only 
on stocks disposed of within one year of acquisition.

The net redemption yield grossed up at the standard rate of 
income tax is not an actual return to any class of holder. It 
provides, for those who pay tax only on income, a notional 
gross return on dated securities which can be compared with 
other gross returns containing no tax-free or low-taxed 
element, such as income (before tax) on investments which 
offer no capital gain or loss, for example deposits, or on which 
the capital gain or loss cannot be calculated in advance, for 
example equities.

In calculating the yield on stocks with alternative 
redemption datea, redemption is assumed at the later date 
when the price (excluding gross accrued interest) is below par, 
that is when the flat yield is above the nominal rate, and at the 
earlier date when the price is above par.

Timeliness
Figures for the last Friday of the latest month are published in 
Financial Statistics about the end of the following month.

Table 13.7
British government securities
The table shows gross redemption yields for 5-, 10- and 
20-year maturities derived from yield-maturity curves fitted 
mathematically (and also the net price and gross flat yield for 
2V2% Consols).

Method of calculation (gross redemption yields)
The method was described in an article in the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin, December 1972 (page 467). From January 
1973 the method was modified as explained in an article in the 
September 1973 Bulletin (page 315). A further modification 
described in the article which appeared in the June 1976 
Bulletin (page 212) has been used for yields published since 
September 1976. All fixed interest dated stocks are used in the 
calculation, except those where:
(a) the total market issue is less then £150 million;
(b) there is provision for a sinking fund, redemption by 

drawings or an option for the holder to convert into 
another stock; or

(c) the stock matures in less than one year.
3 /2% War Loan was included in the calculation of the curve 
as the representative undated stock up until the end of 1976. 
Its exclusion has a negligible effect on the curve.
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Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial Statistics 
about the end of the following month.

Further references
The figures are repeated in the M onthly Digest o f Statistics, 
Table 17.15. The Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin shows the 
calculated gross redemption yields for Wednesdays and for 
the last working day of the month (and also the flat yield on 
3>^% War Loan). An 11-year run of figures is given in the 
Annual Abstract o f Statistics, Table 17.14 and end-month 
yield figures are available (with some breaks in series) back to 
lanuarv 1945 in the Bank o f England Statistical Abstract.

Table 13.8
Certificates of tax deposit
For details of certificates of tax deposits see notes to Table 

3.12.

Table 13.9
Company security prices and yields
FT—Actuaries share indices
This series has been published from 26 November 1962. The 
figures are taken from the FT—Actuaries share indices which 
are published daily in the Financial Times. Details of the 
constituents and computation of the indices are given in the 
booklet Guide to the F T -A c tua ries  Share indices (The 
Financial Times Limited). The prices taken are middle market 
prices at close of business. The base date is 10 April 1962 (the 
starting date of the short-term capital gains tax). Monthly and 
annual figures are arithmetic averages of those for working
days.

Ordinary shares
These indices are weighted arithmetic averages of the per
centage price changes of the constituent shares since 10 April 
1962; weights for each constituent are the total market values 
of the shares issued at the base date modified to maintain 
continuity when capital changes occur, for example rights 
issues, or when constituents change, for example when 
companies disappear owing to takeovers or new companies 
become large enough to qualify for the indices.

The Industrial share index of 500 shares comprises three 
main groups (capital goods, consumer durable goods and 
consumer non-durable goods) together with chemical, oil, 
shipping and miscellaneous groups. To form the All Classes 
Index an index of 115 ordinary shares of financial and property 
companies is combined with an index of 111 Investment Trust 
company shares, 4 mining finance houses, 20 miscellaneous 
overseas trading companies and the Industrial (500) share
index.

Dividend yields: These are the totals of the last year's 
dividends, up to the most recently declared, payable on the 
capital of constituents expressed as percentages of total 
market valuation.

Earnings yields: Earnings, as calculated from the latest 
available reports and accounts and interim statements, are 
expressed as percentages of total market valuation. From 
August 1965 earnings are taken as gross profit less corpor
ation tax and other charges and gross preference dividends; 
the yields given relate to earnings with corporation tax at 40 
per cent up to 5 December 1967, at 42 V2 per cent up to 7 May 
1969, at 45 per cent up to 29 November 1970, at 42/2 per cent 
up to 30 March 1971 and then at 40 per cent. Previously 
earnings were taken as net profit (gross profit less income tax, 
profits tax and other charges and net preference dividends) 
grossed up for income tax. The average of yields in the first 
week of August 1965, on the old basis was 10.83 per cent 
compared with 8.43 per cent on the new.

In anticipation of the new imputation system of corporation 
tax (effective on 6 April 1973), from February 1973 until April 
1974, the earnings yield was calculated on the assumption of 
corporation tax at 50 per cent and full distribution of earnings, 
but from April 1974 corporation tax increased to 52 per cent.

Preference stocks: The prices used are middle market prices 
at close of business adjusted for accrued interest less income 
tax at the standard rate. There are 20 component stocks and 
the price index is 1 /20th of the sum of the percentage changes 
in prices of these stocks. Yields are the arithmetic averages of 
those calculated on each stock.

Debenture and loan stocks: The index and yield for 
debenture and loan stocks are calculated from the price 
changes of fifteen stocks with an average term to maturity of 
about twenty years. The stocks are divided into three groups 
according to redemption date and the price factors and yields 
for the three groups are combined in a weighted average to 
provide a price index and gross redemption yield appropriate 
to a stock of exactly twenty years duration. The weights for
the various groups change daily.

F inancia l Times index of industrial ordinary shares
This is a geometric index, calculated and published by the 
Financial Times at hourly intervals during the day and at the 
close of Stock Exchange business for the day. Figures shown 
in the table are closing figures. The base date is 1 July 1935, 
which equals 100. Constituents of the index are thirty market 
leaders, representing a cross-section of British mdustn^. 
Dividend and earnings yield calculations are also geometric.
(See also notes above).

A fuller description of the composition and compilation of 
the index is given in Guide to FT Statistics, last published by
the Financial Times in 1975.

The Times indices of industrial ordinary share prices
These figures are taken from the The Times daily index 
numbers of Stock Exchange security prices. Full details of the 
composition and compilation of the index numbers are given 
in the booklet, The history, method o f calculation and first
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revision o f The Times Stock Exchange indices (The Times 
Publishing Company Ltd).

The base date for index numbers before 1964 is 2 June 1959 
and thereafter 2 June 1964. Each index number is a weighted 
arithmetic average of the prices of all shares included in that 
index. The weight given to each share is proportionate to the 
market value of the issue on 31 March 1964 (or, before June 
1964, to the average market value on two dates: 1 July 1958 
and 27 October 1959).

The index for all classes covers 150 shares: 50 large com
panies (over £30 million market capitalisation) and 100 smaller 
companies. The indices for capital goods and consumer goods 
each relate to 43 companies producing wholly or mainly capital 
goods or consumer goods respectively.

The prices used for computation of the indices are the daily 
closing prices given in the Stock Exchange price list in the City 
columns of The Times. Where any price is affected by a new 
issue of shares through a 'rights' issue, capitalisation of 
reserves, etc., the price used for computation of the index 
number is adjusted accordingly.

Monthly and annual figures are the average of working 
days.

Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial Statistics 
about the end of the following month.

Further references
As mentioned above, FT—Actuaries and The Times share 
indices are published daily in the Financial Times and The 
Times. Monthly and yearly averages of smaller ranges of 
FT—Actuaries share price indices and yields are shown in the 
Monthly Digest o f Statistics and Economic Trends. The Bank 
o f England Quarterly Bulletin carries a small range of 
FT—Actuaries share prices Indices and yields for last working 
days of the month and Wednesdays of each week, rather than

4

averages. Longer runs of figures appear in the Annual 
Abstract o f Statistics, Table 17.14 (1980).

Table 13.10
Short-term money rates
Bank o f England's minimum lending rate: Previously known as 
Bank rate. The minimum rate at which the Bank, acting as 
lender of last resort, normally lends to members of the dis
count market against security of Treasury bills, other approved 
bills, or government stocks with five years or less to maturity. 
For fuller details see notes to Table 3.10.

Bank rate for the period 1932 to 12 October 1972 is pub
lished in Supplement o f Definitions and Explanatory Notes, 
Monthly Digest o f Statistics (January 1977).

Commercial bills: discount market buying rates: trade bills 
{3 months): the rate at which trade bills are discounted 
depends on their quality. The figures shown are market rates
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for bills of good average quality. Some trade bills are dis- -  
counted at lower rates.

Deposits w ith hire purchase finance houses: The spread of 
rates quoted are those given by some of the main finance 
houses (other than those granted banking status) for new 
deposits of a fixed term of three months. These 'fixed' rates do 
not vary automatically with minimum lending rate during the 
currency of the deposit. Rates are to some extent subject to 
negotiation and different rates may be paid on large amounts.

Timeliness

Short-term money rates are widely published in the daily 
press. The figures for Fridays in the latest month appear in 
Financial Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
A similar series is published in the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin and monthly figures of selected short-term money 
rates back to January 1945 are available in the Bank o f 
England Statistical Abstracts. Annual figures of selected 
money and bill rates for the latest eleven years and the dates of

____ I

changes in Bank rate, minimum lending rate and London 
clearing banks' base rates appear in the Annual Abstract o f
Statistics, Table 17.14 (1980), which also includes monthly 
averages for some money and bill rates.

Table 13.11
Minimum lending rate
See explanatory notes to Table 3.10

Table 13.12
London clearing banks base rate
Each bank has a single base rate, which may sometimes differ 
from those of other banks. Since the beginning of October 
1971 the rates of interest charged by the London clearing 
banks for their advances to customers and their discounting of 
trade bills have been, in general, linked to their own 
individually declared base rates. The rates charged for 
advances depend on the nature and status of the customer. 
Most lending is between 1 per cent and 5 per cent higher than 
base rate. In December 1973, however, the clearing banks 
announced that, in order to curtail arbitrage transactions by 
their customers, they proposed to indicate to certain cus
tomers (in particular local authorities, finance houses and 
other banks) that advances would in future be related to 
market rates instead of to base rates. The following are now
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ĉooos hv 

eftain cuŝ

the only uniform rates paid on unsecured overdrafts and loans 
made by the clearing banks:
Customer
Nationalised industries, 

with Treasury guarantee

Rate
Syndicated base rate  ̂

+ % %  on the first 
£25 million and 1% 
thereafter

Export loans other than 
for ships, with ECGD 
guarantee:

up to two years

two to five years 
over five years

Term loans for exports of 
ships, with ECGD 
guarantee, and domestic 
shipbuilding, with Depart
ment of Industry guarantee 

over two years

Base rate +  % %  (4Y2% 
minimum)

7% %  minimum 
7V2% minimum

7Y2% minimum

^The syndicated rate is agreed by the banks from time to time in the 
light of their declared base rates.

The rates for exports and domestic shipbuilding exclude 
management and commitment charges and negotiation fees. 
Such additional charges are not made on overdrafts.

Timeliness
Changes in their base rates are announced individually by the 
banks and published in the financial press. Changes up to the 
beginning of the latest month are published in Financial
Statistics about the end of the month.

Further references
Base rates at dates of change are also given in the Annual 
Abstract o f Statistics. The table of UK short-term money rates 
in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin includes figures for 
base rate as on Fridays in recent months and last Fridays of 
earlier months (the latter appear also in the Bank o f England 
Statistical Abstract No. 2).

Table 13.13
Finance house base rate
Instalment credit finance houses specialise in the provision of 
hire-purchase and other instalment credit for the purchase of 
consumer durables and for the finance of industrial equip
ment.

The base rate was introduced by the Finance Houses 
Association for the benefit of those of its members who 
require an alternative to the Bank of England s minimum 
lending rate (previously known as Bank Rate) as a basis on 
which to calculate certain charges to their customers. The rate 
was first published on 1 September 1970 and is calculated 
monthly. It became necessary to introduce such a rate 
because the cost of money to finance houses ceased to follow 
the broad trend of Bank Rate, (ie Bank Rate was no longer

suitable for use as a basis on which to calculate lending rates 
in certain long-term agreements where it was appropriate to 
vary the rates during the term of the agreement). The rate is 
calculated by averaging the weekly averages of the three 
month inter-bank rate in the preceding eight weeks, and 
rounding to the nearest one half per cent above.

Timeliness
Changes in the base rate are announced by the Finance 
Houses Association and published in the press. The rate takes 
effect on the first of the month and is normally published in 
Financial Statistics about the end of the month.

Table 13.14
Building societies: rates of interest
This table shows average rates paid on building societies' 
shares, on deposits and loans with building societies and 
average rates received on mortgage advances. These are 
based on the mean of amounts outstanding of shares, 
deposits and loans and mortgage advances at the end of suc
cessive accounting years. Figures for each year relate to 
accounts falling between 1 February of that year and 31 
January of the following year. They are calculated by the 
Registrar of Friendly Societies and published in the Annual 
Report for Building Societies.

New rates recommended by the Building Societies 
Association are also shown for the recommended effective
date.

The quoted rates on shares and deposits are net of income 
tax where this is paid by societies at the agreed composite 
rate. The latest composite rates for fiscal years are as follows:

1959/60
1960/61
1961/62
1962/63
1963/64
1964/65
1965/66
1966/67
1967/68
1968/69
1969/70

per cent
25.62
26.67
27.08 
27.50
27.08 
29.17 
30.83
31.25
31.25
32.08
32.25

1970/71
1971/72
1972/73
1973/74
1974/75
1975/76
1976/77
1977/78
1978/79
1979/80

per cent
32.75
31.00
30.00
23.50
26.25
27.75
27.75
24.25
22.50
21.00

Changes in the rates by individual societies which are 
members of the Association are not made simultaneously.

Rates shown are for shares, deposits and new mortgages to 
owner-occupiers. These are announced by the Association 
and published at the time of announcement in the Press.

Table 13.15
Public Works Loan Board local authority 
loan rate
This table gives at the operating date the local authority loans 
rate by the Public Works Loan Board. The rates are those

t
« I  ^

4  4  \

4, •
*  w  W  ^

• - in

•:r

rc.

‘  ̂tr?* I**?

v w  %  4  ^
^ ♦



I •

I

applicable to the quota of loans which are available to local 
authorities from the Public Works Loan Board. Rates are 
shown for loans repayable by half-yearly equal instalments of 
principal, repayable by instalments of equal repayments of 
principal and interest combined and repayable at maturity. 
They are divided into five periods of maturity. Figures are 
obtained from Treasury records.

Mortgages are a borrowing instrument peculiar to local 
authorities. They are formally secured on the revenue of the 
borrowing authorities and are not generally marketable.

Timeliness

Figures for the end of the latest month are published in 
Financial Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references

Table 13.16
Local authorities interest rates
The table shows rates for the four main types of local authority 
borrowing instruments.

Local authority deposits range mainly from two days to 12 
months with a variety of option clauses.

Three-month deposit rates are also shown in Economic Trends 
and the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin. The Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract Nos. 1 and 2 contain a run of
monthly figures for three-month deposits between 1956 and 
1974.

Table 13.17
Negotiable bonds have maturities at issue ranging from one 

year up to five years, the great majority being for just over one 
year. They are listed on The Stock Exchange.

Trustee savings banks

Stock issues by local authorities are made on their behalf by 
brokers and issuing houses through public offers. The stocks 
are listed in the gilt-edged section of The Stock Exchange and 
are transferable free of stamp duty. However, unlike British 
government securities, local authority stocks are not exempt 
from capital gains tax even if held for more than one year.

The table shows the average monthly rate of interest paid on 
various deposit categories held on the Trustee savings banks 
New department until 20 November 1979. After that date the 
Ordinary and New departments were amalgamated and the 
use of departmental titles ceased. The current interest rate for 
sight deposits is incorporated in the tables as from February 
1980.
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Annex 1: Supplem entary tables
(The date is shown on which the table was last published)

Balance sheets of the personal sector (annually:
February 1980)
This table updates to 1978 the provisional estimates first pub
lished in an article in Economic Trends, January 1978. 
Estimates for 1977 were first published in the September 1979 
issue. The content of the figures was described in 'Personal 
sector balance sheets and current developments in Inland 
Revenue estimates of personal wealth' —Sfwd/es in Official 
Statistics No. 35 (HMSO). These estimates were prepared 
with considerable help from the Bank of England and other 
departments, which is gratefully acknowledged.

It is hoped to publish balance sheets for the other sectors of 
the economy for the benchmark year of 1975 and earlier years 
in Autumn 1980. Until the estimates for the other sectors have 
been reconciled with those for the personal sector, the latter 
must be regarded as provisional and subject to major revision.

Check trading (annually: April 1979)
Data on check trading (credit documents used mainly for the 
purchase of clothing, footwear and small household items) are 
collected by Economics and Statistics Division 6A of the 
Departments of Industry and Trade. Credit in the form of 
checks or vouchers is typically used as an alternative to other 
types of credit such as hire purchase. These statistics there
fore add a further dimension to the figures on hire purchase 
and other instalment credit in Table 8.5 of this publication. 
For further commentary see Trade and Industry, 12 August
1977.

Debt of the public sector: nominal am ount outstanding  
(annually: February 1980)
An article describing these statistics was published in 
Economic Trends, May 1977.

Foreign currency debt for each subsector is valued at middle 
closing spot exchange rates at end March of each year. Much 
of the foreign currency debt of local authorities and public 
corporations was contracted through the exchange cover 
scheme under which the Treasury guarantees the debt against 
depreciation of sterling vis-a-vis the currency in which the 
debt is denominated. Thus the market exchange rate valuation 
used overstates the liability of these authorities in recent years, 
but not the liability of the public sector as a whole.

Official holdings include: sterling stocks of nationalised 
industries guaranteed by the British government. Treasury 
bills, marketable securities, ways and means advances, ter
minable annuities and other long-standing debt to the Bank of 
England Issue Department.

Trustee savings banks: Ordinary department: current 
accounts with Trustee savings banks are included prior to 
21 November 1976 but excluded thereafter.

Notes and coin in circulation: excludes notes and coin held 
by the Bank of England.

Other stocks issued by government funds and Contingent 
liabilities o f centra! government: details are given in Con
solidated Fund and National Loans Fund Accounts: Sup
plementary Statements for each year.

Consolidated Fund liability to Post Office Superannuation 
Fund: the nominal debt outstanding. The Consolidated Fund's 
actual liability to the Post Office Superannuation Fund is to 
make quarterly payments partly to meet interest at IV i per 
cent on the nominal debt and partly to reduce it in the form of 
a holding of consols. The amount of this nominal reduction 
therefore depends upon the price of consols at the time of 
payment.

Government guaranteed stocks o f nationalised industries: 
these stocks are liabilities of public corporations but cannot be 
distinguished from British Government securities in the sector 
analysis of holdings.

Domestic private sector holdings are obtained by residual 
and may contain some unidentified holdings by public sector
bodies.

Assistance to industry: guaranteed loans: data are not 
readily available before 1976.

Em ploym ent in the financial sector (annually: February 

1978)
The figures at June of each year are based on the annual 
census of employment; the quarterly figures are estimates 
which are based on the census and inquiries of employers, 
conducted on a sample basis. When the results of the latest 
census become available, the quarterly estimates made since 
the previous census are revised. Percentage changes over 
previous period as shown, are in italics.

Insurance  comprises all bodies transacting insurance, insur
ance brokers, Lloyds, and the salvage organisations (not
marine salvage).

Banking a n d  bill-discounting comprises all banks, discount
ing firms, the TSB and the PO savings department.

Other financial institutions comprise stockbrokers, invest
ment companies and trusts, building societies, hire purchase,

0tC*
The industry order number 24 contains, in addition to the 

financial sector, property owning and managing, advertising, 
and other business services like typewriting, computer

agencies etc.
Part-tim e em ployees normally work not more than 30 hours 

a week.

Estimate of investments in assets for leasing, hiring and 
renting out (annually; September 1979)
This table shows the results of a survey described in fuN m an 
article in Trade and  Industry  on 28 September 1979, and 
covers capital expenditure by banks, leasing subsidiaries of
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banks, finance houses and specialist leasing companies. 
Excluded are the hiring of contractors' plant and scaffolding 
(classified to the construction industry), TV rental (retail) and 
the leasing of building acquisitions by property companies.

Estimates of monthly borrowing by local authorities in 
the United Kingdom (quarterly; March 1980)
From the Autumn of 1976 monthly estimates of local authority 
borrowing have been prepared as an early indicator of the 
trend of local authority borrowing, and through this the 
'contribution' which local authorities make to the public sector
borrowing requirement.

The sample covers 158 authorities out of the 548 in the UK, 
representing rather more than half of local authorities out
standing debt.

The table shows the results of this inquiry, distinguishing 
between temporary and longer-term borrowing, for each 
month since January 1977. Monthly figures of longer-term 
borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board records are also 
shown; the Other longer-term figures are residuals. These esti
mates differ from the quarterly borrowing figures obtained 
from the census of all authorities, which are published in 
Tables 4 .3 -4 .6 . The difference in part reflects some cases 
where the sum of the monthly figures for an authority do not 
agree with their returns to the quarterly census. Steps are 
being taken to reduce this difference. The remaining differ
ence is due to sampling error in the monthly estimates, which 
at the 95 per cent confidence level is estimated at £100 to £150 
million for total net borrowing each month. The corresponding 
figure for the sum of three months would be £150 to £250 
million.

An indication of local authority contributions to the public 
sector borrowing requirement may be obtained from the sum 
of columns 1 and 4 of this table less transactions in other
public sector debt. Monthly estimates of these transactions 
are not available but quarterly figures are shown in Table 2.5.

The latest monthly estimates are shown in Table 4.3.

Income and finance of listed companies
Tables 9.8, 9.9 and 9.10 on income and finance of listed 
companies have been discontinued. The tables were last pub
lished in the November 1979 edition. New series, based on an 
analysis of the accounts of a fully representative sample of all 
GB industrial and commercial independent companies or com- 
pany groups, are expected to be published, for the first time, 
later this year and regularly thereafter. The new series will start 
with results for 1977, overlapping the discontinued series. A 
description of the basis of the new series and its aims was 
given in an article 'Constructing a sampling frame of industrial
and commercial companies' in Statistical News No 44, 
February 1979.

The 11th edition of Business Monitor /WA3-Company 
Finance, recently published, contains detailed figures for large 
listed and, separately, large unlisted companies by up to 23 
industry groups, for 1977 with comparative 1976 figures. The 
Business Monitor MAS also contains various accounting ratios 
analysed by industry (for the period 1960-1977), size and 
other distribution analyses as well as an extensive list of pub

lished sources of statistical information 
companies' published accounts etc.

derived from

1980)
This table brings together the quarterly figures for loans for 
house purchase shown in the sector accounts. As well as net 
advances by all lenders gross advances are shown for building 
societies, local authorities and insurance companies. Net 
transactions only are available for banking sector trustee 
savings banks and other public sector. A more detailed 
description of the series is given on page 25. The amounts of 
outstanding debt are also given for the end of the current year.

Local authorities: m aturity analysis of holdings of public 
sector securities (annually: September 1979)
The table shows data of residual maturity at 31 March of local 
authorities holdings at nominal values of British government 
and local authority securities, derived from a survey of all local 
authorities conducted by the CSO. Response is usually better 
than 90%; estimates are included for non-responders.

Local authority borrowing: 
England and Wales 
Scotland
(quarterly: March 1980)

These tables show the figures of Tables 4 .4 -4 .6  analysed by 
country; Northern Ireland data can be obtained by residual.

Local authority loan debt: residual maturity analysis of 
local authority debt (annually: January 1980)
The figures shown in these tables are based mainly on returns 
of outstanding debt made by local authorities to the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

Local authorities are asked to provide a maturity analysis 
only of their market borrowing. The Public Works Loan Board 
provide an analysis of their loans outstanding with local auth
orities and the results from the two sources are combined to 
provide an analysis of total local authority loan debt. All instal
ment debt, (including annuity loans) is classified by repayment 
dates instead of final instalment dates.

Out of a total of 457 authorities in England and Wales, 420, 
423 and 411 authorities responded to the surveys in 1977, 
1978, and 1979; 57 out of 65 authorities in Scotland responded 
to the 1979 survey. Estimates for non-responders have been 
made by pro-rating according to the estimated population at 
mid-June in the year previous to the survey.

The detailed results for individual local authorities in Great
Britain are published by CIPFA in February 1980.

National debt: nominal amount outstanding (annually: 
May 1979)
The table shows an analysis by instrument and maturity at 
31 March of data for three years based upon Consolidated 
Fund and National Loans Fund Accounts: Supplementary 
Statements and provisional figures for the current year.
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Rates of change of gross national product and Rates of 
change of sterling money stock (half yearly: October 19791
Five years' data of annual rates are shown in growth triangle

form.

Reconciliation of the financial accounts and the balance 
of payments accounts (annually: November 1979)
The table, which is shown in a matrix^style presentation, 
shows for the latest year how the figures in the financial 
accounts relate to those in the balance of payments accounts. 
The financial accounts, as shown in Table 1.8, analyses 
financial transactions with the overseas sector by category of 
instrument to the definitions of the rest of the group of tables 
showing the flows of funds accounts. A different classification 
is adopted for the balance of payments accounts which are 
required to identify and record transactions between residents 
of the United Kingdom and overseas residents in a way which 
is suitable for analysing the economic relationship between 
the UK economy and the rest of the world. Some of the data 
sources for the financial accounts are not obtained directly 
from the balance of payments accounts but are derived from 
government accounts and financial institutions. The columns 
in the reconciliation are based on the headings shown in Table  
1.8 and the rows are based on Tables 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3.

Save As You Earn (quarterly: March 1980)
This table brings together the quarterly statistics for the Save 
As You Earn schemes operated by the building societies, 
Department for National Savings and Trustee savings banks. 
Details are given of numbers of accounts opened, accounts 
closed and numbers outstanding and value of contributions, 
withdrawals and value of accounts outstanding.

Short term  money rates; average rates (quarterly;
February 1980)
The table shows quarterly figures for certain average rates of 
interest.

Bank o f England's minimum fending rate to the market is 
the average of the rate on the last working day of the week. 
Dates of changes are given in Table 13.11.

Treasury hills average discount rate is calculated from the 
average rate of discount at the week's Treasury bill tender and 
is the average of the number of observations.

London clearing banks' base rate is the average over work
ing days of the effective rate when at least three of the four 
major clearing banks change. Details of dates of changes are
given in Table 13.12.

London clearing banks' 7 day deposit rate is an average over 
working days.

Inter-bank rate (3 months) is the mean of the spread of rates 
(ie bid and offer rates) at close of business, averaged over
working days.

British government securities 20-year calculated gross 
redemption yield is calculated from the Bank of England yield- 
maturity curve and since the beginning of 1976 the figures are 
the averages of observations taken (three yields per week

3V2% War Loan flat yield, from Mullen's Blue Sheet, is 
calculated from closing prices (mean bid and offer prices) and 
is now the average over working days.

More detailed figures appear in Table 13.10 (minimum 
lending rate. Treasury bill discount rate, London clearing 
banks 7-day deposit rates and inter-bank rates). Table 13.7 
(calculated gross redemption yields) and Table 13.6 (3V2% 
War Loan flat yield).

Superannuation funds: analysis of assets and liabilities 
by size of fund (annually: October 1979)
The table provides a grouped analysis of assets and liabilities 
under the same headings as shown in Table 8.15 for local 
authority and other public sector funds only.

Transactions in company and overseas securities 
(quarterly: January 1980)
This table brings together quarterly estimates of transactions 
in company and overseas securities shown in the financial 
accounts so that the net transactions of each sector can be 
compared. It also shows how estimates of transactions by the 
personal sector, which is the residual item, are derived.

Capital issues shown are for both United Kingdom and for 
overseas. A detailed breakdown of other transactions by other 
financial institutions is given for superannuation funds, insur
ance companies, unit trusts, investments trusts and other 
institutions. A more detailed description of the make-up of this 
item is given in Section 1 on pages 26 and 27.

Transactions in financial assets (matrix) (annually: May 

1979)
The table shows an analysis by sector and by type of asset of 
the year's transactions in the same format as in Table 1.2.

Transactions in securities by financial institutions 
(excluding banks) (quarterly: February 1980)
The table shows figures for total purchases and sales of British 
government, UK local authority and Overseas government 
securities, debentures, preference and ordinary shares by the 
main Other financial institutions. Figures are shown for 
ordinary .shares which exclude overseas and unlisted

securities.

Transactions leading to net acquisition of financial 
assets in life assurance and superannuation schemes y 
the personal sector (annually; October 1979)
The unfunded schemes include certain pension schemes in the 
public sector that are contributory but not funded; in some 
cases these give rise to a surplus of contributions over pen^

sions paid.
schemes, contributes to personal sector saving The surplu 
on the unfunded schemes is transferred to central government 
as a transaction in financial assets where it is recorded as 
Transactions concern ing certain  pub lic secto r pension  
schem es. In the same way the surplus on the funded schentes 
is transferred to financial institutions as Funds o f life
assurance and superannuation funds.

A diagram depicting the flows of life assurance and pension 
funds with the rest of the personal sector appears on page 101.
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The employers' contributions of both funded and unfunded 
schemes enter into personal income in Table 10.1 as 
Employers' contributions. Similarly the rent, dividends and 
interest receipts of funded schemes enter into personal
income.

Treasury analysis of public expenditure (annually: 
September 1979)
The table gives figures of public expenditure at the current 
prices in terms of the main programme of the Public Expendi
ture Survey on which the government's spending plans are 
based. It covers the past six years using the definitions and 
classifications of the last public expenditure White Paper (T77e 
Government's Expenditure Plans, Cmnd 7439). Total expendi
ture other than debt interest is analysed in the fifteen main 
programmes of the survey by spending authority.

Public expenditure in the survey comprises general govern
ment (central government and local authorities) expenditure 
together with capital expenditure of certain public corpor
ations less government lending to these public corporations. 
These certain public corporations are listed in paragraph 44 of 
Part 6 of Cmnd 7439. Public expenditure in the survey includes 
only those debt interest payments which are a charge on tax
ation, and excludes the capital consumption element of public 
consumption.

The table compares public expenditure in the survey with 
the national accounts figures of public expenditure, which are 
shown regularly in Table 2.4. The specific adjustments in 
Table 2.4 do not fully explain the differences between the sur
vey and the national accounts figures. Supplementary Table A 
shows a final adjustment reflecting a number of differences 
relating to sources, classification and convention arising from 
the administrative function of the survey.

The Treasury figures for all years are on the same definitions 
and classifications, those current when the latest public 
expenditure White Paper (Cmnd 7439) was being prepared. 
They are in effect estimates of what expenditure would have 
been if definitions and classifications, including the allocation 
of functions to spending authorities, had been the same as in 
1978-79. A different convention is followed in the national 
income accounts whereby changes in responsibilities for par
ticular functions over time are reflected in the figures. In the 
last line of the table the national accounts figures have all been 
compiled on the same basis as that used in the Treasury 
figures for 1978-79.

Further programme detail of the current figures may be 
obtained by writing to H M Treasury (GEA), Parliament Street, 
London, SW1P 3AG.
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» Annex 2: Sources of financial statistics in the publications 
of international organisations
The references below contain figures for the United Kingdom but may not provide data for all other member countries of the 
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Publications by the Organisation for Economic Co 
operation and Developm ent (OECD)
The Members of OECD are Australia, Austria, Belgium, 
Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, the Federal Republic of 
Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, 
the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Spain, 
Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the
United States.

The Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia is associated in 
certain work of the OECD, particularly that of the Economic 
and Development Review Committee.

OECD publications generally use definitions based on the 
United Nations System of National Accounts (SNA).

OECD Financial Statistics (Gold Book)
The tables, which contain mainly annual figures, appear m 
volume 1 of the Gold Book with the notes to these tables in 
volume II. There are five supplementary volumes issued 
throughout the year. Besides containing information supplied 
too late for inclusion in the annual publication, updated figures 
for various financial institutions are given.
The following tables appear in volume I:

Structure o f saving, investment and financial transactions. 
gives sectoral financial accounts for two years, the last 
recorded year and eleven years earlier.

Summary table o f flows: This table which covers the latest 
eleven years is split into'four subsections:

Credit market funds, analysed;
Net funds raised by. ■ - and Net funds suppliad b y . .

Total financial flows: A ll sectors
Total financial flows: Domestic nomfinancial sectors
Domestic saving and investment
Financial assets and liabilities o f financial institutions 

outstanding at the end o f the year: lists outstanding assets 
and liabilities of financial institutions by type of institution at 
the end of the last calendar year only.

Summary table on capita! operations and financial trans
actions o f financial institutions: gives figures fo r th e  banking  
sector and other financial institutions separately. Figures

cover the latest twelve years.
A number of other tables (covering the latest sixteen years) 

show the changes in financial assets and liabilities of various
types of financial institutions:

Banks (with quarterly figures for the last complete year and 
the present year)

Savings banks 
Building societies 
Hire-purchase finance houses 
Investment and unit trusts 
Insurance companies: long-term funds 
Insurance companies: general funds 
Pension funds and property unit trusts 
Financial institutions NEI
Central government finances: Local government 

(authorities) finances: Both these tables contain figures for the
latest eleven years.

Capital operations and financial transactions o f sectors NET 
gives separate series covering the latest eleven years for public 
enterprises, private enterprises and households.

Financial transactions w ith the rest o f the world: This table 
gives figures for the last twelve years.

Supply o f and demand for capita! on the security market: 
Annual figures for the last sixteen years are given.

Value o f outstanding securities: This table is split between 
domestic and foreign issues. Figures given are for the 
penultimate recorded year and thirteen years earlier.

Security issues. This table is split between domestic issues 
and foreign issues. Annual figures are given for the latest nine
teen years and quarterly figures are given for the last complete
year and the present year.

Balance sheet o f non-financial corporations, Statement o f 
income and change in net worth o f non-financial corporations, 
and Sources and uses o f funds o f non-financial corporations: 
series are given for listed and unlisted companies, further split 
between manufacturing, distribution, etc and manufacturing 
industries. Annual figures are given for the latest four years.

Lending and borrowing rates. Figures are given monthly for 
the last sixteen months. These figures are updated monthly in 
OECD—Monthly Supplements.

National Accounts of OECD Countries: Volume I. Main  

aggregates
This annual publication contains the following series:

Gross domestic product
G overnm ent final consum ption expenditure
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Private final consumption expenditure
National income and national disposable income
Capital transactions of the nation
Gross fixed capital formation
Imports and exports of goods and services

Series cover a fifteen year period; some series are in constant 
prices (1975=100), index numbers and percentages.

National Accounts of OECD Countries: Volum e 2, 
Detailed tables
This annual publication shows the tables of Volume 1 
greater detail and for eighteen years. Additional series are

in

Income and outlay (transactions of):
Households 
General government 
Central government 
Local government 
Social security funds
Non-financial corporate and quasi-corporate enterprises 
Financial institutions 
External transactions

Figures are In current prices only.

Quarterly National Accounts Bulletin
This publication updates those series contained in N a tio n a l 
A cco u n ts  o f  O E C D  C ountries: Volumes 1 and 2.

OECD Economic S u rveys -U n ited  Kingdom
This annual detailed survey of development and prospects, 
issued for each member country of OECD, contains the 
following tables in its statistical annex:

Expenditure on  G D P : annual current price data for three
years from 1975; constant price data for five years from 1973,
the last two years are shown quarterly and seasonally 
adjusted.

D o m estic  F inance. Quarterly figures for sixteen quarters.
W ages, prices a n d  e x te rn a l p o s itio n : current prices and 

index form for the last sixteen quarters.

A nalysis o f  cap ita ! transactions a n d  o ffic ia l fin an c in g : for 
the past seven quarters and annual totals for two years.

Foreign assets a n d  liabilities  for the past eight years; the 
latest four are shown quarterly.

M ain Economic Indicators

This monthly publication gives all data for the past four years,
ten quarters and thirteen months. Series are listed under the 
following headings:

Gross domestic product 
Money
Domestic bank deposits 
Loans to domestic sector 
Instalment credit 
Interest rates 
Share prices 
Foreign finance 
Foreign trade

Revenue Statistics of OECD M em ber Countries
This publication provides data in respect of general govern
ment tax revenues including social security contributions for 
the years 1975—77 under the headings:

S u m m a ry  o f  ta x  reven u e
S o c ia l security  contribu tions

A llo ca tio n  o f  tax  revenues b y  levels o f  g o vern m e n t

Statistics of Foreign Trade
This monthly publication is divided into four sections:

Foreign trad e  ind icators: monthly figures for the last four
teen years.

V o lu m e a n d  averag e  value ind icators: figures for the past 
five years; the latest two years are shown monthly and 
quarterly.

Trade b y  S tan d ard  Industria l Trade Classification: monthly 
and quarterly figures for the past three years.

Foreign  trad e  o f  m e m b e r countries b y  p a rtn e r countries: 
monthly and quarterly figures for the past three years.

Trade by Commodities: Imports
: Exports

In two volumes. The tables are in matrix form and show data 
for each reporting country as well as totals for regional 
country groups.

Publications of the United
Nations (UN)

A table compares the following UK series with those of other 
OECD member countries:

Yearbook of National Accounts

UN publications, like those of OECD generally use the United 
Nations System of National Accounts (SNA).

Gross domestic product 
Gross fixed capital formation 
National savings ratio
General government expenditure 
Foreign trade 
Official reserves

The yearbook contains figures from over 150 countries and is 
in two volumes:

Volume 1; Individual country data 
Volume 2: International tables
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Volum e 1 contains annual financial accounts from 1969 for 
the sectors:

Non~financia/ corporate and quasi-corporate enterprises: 
analysed private (industrial and commercial companies) and 
public (non-financial public corporations).

Financial institutions: analysed (a) private (including banks) 
and public and (b) monetary institutions (banks), insurance 
companies and pension funds and other financial institutions, 
including financial public corporations.

G enera! g o v e rn m e n t: analysed central government, local 
government and social security funds, for selected years from
1960.

Households, including private non-financial unincorporated 
enterprises: for selected years from 1960.

E xterna l tran sactio n s: for selected years from 1960.

Series common to both volumes are (selected years from 
1960):

Gross domestic product
National income and disposable income
Capital transactions
Government and private final consumption expenditure 
Gross capital formation

In Volum e 2 all countries are displayed in alphabetical order 
under each series heading, assisting comparison; much data 
are in index number and percentage terms.

S ta tis tica l Yearbook
The latest edition of this publication gives annual figures for 
most tables up to  1977. Tables containing financial infor
mation are entitled:

Exchange rates (against US $ and year valuesHfrom 1970) 
Money supply (from 1968)
International reserves (from 1968)
Rates of discounts of central banks (lists all the rates over 

the period covered) (from 1970)
Money market rates (from 1970)
Government bonds —yield o f long-term bonds (from 1971) 
Market prices of industrial shares (1975= 1(X)) (from 1971) 
Budget accounts and public debt (from 1970)
Other sections cover such subjects as National accounts 

(GDP etc) and Balance of payments transactions.

M on th ly  Bulle tin  o f S ta tis tics
The following are the financial series that are included in the 
publication together w ith the time period covered:

E xchange ra te  w ith  U S  $ for the past eight years plus the 
end-month figure for the past five months.

M o n e y  su p p ly  split between money and reserve money. End 
of period figures are given for the past seven years and 
monthly figures for the past tw o years.

In te rn a tio n a l reserves  in $ million, split between gold, 
position in IMF, foreign exchange and SDR are given for the 
same end-periods as money supply.

G old  reserves: time series as for money supply.

Yields o f  lo n g -te rm  g o v e rn m e n t bonds  are given for the past 
six years, quarterly for the latest complete year and monthly 
figures for the current year.

S h a re  in d e x  of market prices of industrial shares 
(1975= 100) for the same periods as government bonds.

R ates o f  d isc o u n t o f  cen tra ! banks. The various rates for the 
last complete year and the present year are listed. An annual 
supplementary table is published in September which gives a 
historical run of figures by quarters back to 1970.

Other sections cover such subjects as National accounts 
(GDP etc) and world trade.

S ta tis tica l Ind ica tors o f S hort-term  Econom ic Changes 
in EEC Countries
This monthly publication gives monthly values for the past 
two years for the following series:

Balance of payments 
International liquidity 
Money supply 
Bank advances
Hire-purchase credit outstanding 
Share price index (10 April 1962= 100)

S ta tis tica l P ocketbook: W orld S ta tis tics in E
This is an annual publication which, like the Yearbook, con
tains figures for the member countries of the UN plus Switzer
land and covers 1965, 1970,1975 and 1976; the amount of data 
varies considerably between countries.

These series are shown:
Gross domestic product 
GDP per capita 
Imports and exports 
International reserves 
Discount rate 
Exchange rate

Publications of the Statis
tical Office of the European 
Communities (SOEC)
The nine countries forming the European Economic Com
munity are: the Federal Republic of Germany, France, Italy, 
Netherlands, Belgium, Luxembourg, United Kingdom, Ireland
and Denmark.

SOEC publications generally use definitions based on^he 
European System of Integrated Economic Accounts (ESA) 
and often provide data for the three prospective members 
(Greece, Spain, Portugal) as well as for ten other countries: 
Turkey, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, Austria, Finland, 
USSR, USA, Canada and Japan and also World figures.

Eurostat National A ccoun ts  Yearbook ESA Aggregates
This publication gives principal aggregates only. The figures 
are given in detail in Volumes 1 and 2.
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Eurostat National Accounts Yearbook Volum e 1 
Detailed tables
This publication contains figures 1970-77 in two sections:

Section 1: Transactions in g o o d s  a n d  services  covering 
such series as Gross fixed capital formation and Final con
sumption of households.

Section 2: Financia l transactions  w ith data of:
Non-financial companies 
Households and non-profit-making bodies 
Credit institutions (banks and other non-insurance financial 

institutions)
Insurance companies 
General government 
Rest of the world

A cco u n ts  o f  the  R est o f  the  W o rld  a n d  subsectors. Very 
few figures are available for the subsectors.

Financia l transactions o f  c red it institu tions. This table gives 
financial accounts of credit institutions and its following 
subsectors:

Other monetary authorities (banks)
Other credit institutions (other, non-insurance financial 

institutions)

M a in  fin an c ia l transactions. Selected transactions are listed, 
on a consolidated basis, for all sections of the economy.

F inancia l assets a n d  liabilities  vis-a-vis the rest of the world 
The changes are given for the following sectors:

Credit institutions
Insurance companies
General government
Other resident units (non-financial)

Table o f  the  F inancia l In term ediaries . This table gives 
consolidated transactions between the following sectors: 

Financial intermediaries 
Other resident units (non-financial)
Rest of the world

Eurostat National A ccoun ts  Yearbook Volum e 2 
Detailed tables

This volume contains figures for the same years and sectors as 
in Volume 1 on a sources and uses of funds basis.

Eurostat Accounts and S tatistics o f General Government
A new publication to be introduced later in 1980.

Eurostat Data fo r Short Term Econom ic Analysis
This publication replaced E urostat M o n th ly  G enera! S tatistics  
Bulletin  during 1979 and is published twice monthly. The 
English/Danish/ltalian edition is published on the fourth 
Tuesday of each month, whilst the German/French/Dutch

128

edition is published on the second Tuesday of each month. 
Each version contains the latest available data and a commen
tary on current economic developments.

Part 1 contains figures for the past four or five years mainly by 
quarter, of the series:

Gross domestic product 
Consumption by household 
Gross fixed capital formation 
Balance of payments transactions 
Exchange rates 
Money rates 
Official discount rate
Interest on term bank deposits 
Money supply 
Savings deposits 
Total foreign assets 
Index of share quotations 
Yield on fixed interest government 

securities
and private sector

Part 2 contains a table for each individual country. Monthly 
figures are shown for the past two years for the series:

Gross domestic product 
Balance of payments transactions 
Budget surplus or deficit 
Public sector debt 
Domestic credit expansion 
Gross official reserves 
Exchange rates 
Balance on current account
Balance of capital movements

Eurostat Basic S ta tis tics o f the  C om m unity
This annual publication shows data mainly for a ten year 
period commencing In 1967 for the series:

Conversion rates (European Units of Account)
Balance of payments 
Central government debt 
Money market rates 
Money supply 
Financial market rates 
Index of share prices
Official gross reserves of convertible currencies and Special 

Drawing Rights 
IMF position 
Gross domestic product 
Gross capital formation

Eurostat Balance o f Payments
This annual publication provides data of the global balance of 
payments (flows) and the external position of the monetary 
authorities for the past eight years.
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Publications by Direc
torate General for Econ
omic Affairs
European Econom y
This publication appears three times a year, in March, July and 
November. The first issue, November 1978, replaced E c o n 

om ic S itu a tio n  in  th e  C o m m u n ity  and G raphs a n d  N o te s  on  

th e  E co n o m ic  S itu a tio n  in  th e  C o m m u n ity .

A statistical annex contains the series (covering the last five

years):
Gross domestic product 
Balance of payments transactions
Expenditure, receipts, net lending and net borrowing of 

general government 
Growth of money supply 
Short and long term interest rates 
Gross external financial reserves 
EUA average rates
Budgetary receipts and expenditure of the European Com

munity
Borrowing operations and net outstanding borrowing of the 

European Communities and of the European Investment

Bank
These tables are extended to  cover all years from 1958 in the 

November 1978 issue which also contains the 'Annual Econ
omic Report and Review'. This article reviews the economic 
developments of the past year and forecasts the major econ
omic aggregates for the follow ing year. There are sections
which cover such areas as:

Budgetary policy and trends 
Monetary policy and trends 
Balance of payments
The March and July 1979 issues contain an article 'Short 

term Economic Trends and Prospects'; Part 1 discusses the 
latest economic trends and prospects and how these will 
affect the Community as a whole; Part 2 covers each country
individually.

There are three supplements: Series A, R e c e n t E co n o m ic  

Trends, appears monthly (except August) to cover such items

as:
Balance of payments transactions
Interest rates
Gross domestic product
Growth in money supply

Series B and C carry material such as statistics o f industrial 
production and income surveys, which are outside the scope
of F inancia l S tatistics.

Publications by the Inter
national Monetary Fund 
(IMF)
International Financial Statistics
This monthly publication is split into two parts, the first a 
number of international tables w ith each series listed for each 
member country of the IMF, while the second contains a small 
section on each country.

In the first part values are expressed either in special 
drawing rights (SDR) or US dollars. Before December 1971, 1 
SDR =  $1; the exchange rate for later years is given on a 
monthly basis and for the month before last on a daily basis in 
the first table. Other financial data is as follows:

Daily exchange rate to US $ for the month before last 
together w ith the monthly average. From the end of 1978 this 
table has been enlarged to give details of individual countries 
exchange arrangements.

Position in the fund at the end of the month before last.
A number of tables showing drawings and repayments, by 

type, to  the fund, annually for the past four years, quarterly 
for the past two complete years and present year and monthly 
for the present quarter.

A table giving end of period total reserves, plus a number 
giving a breakdown of this figure. End of month figures are 
given for the present year, end of quarter for the previous six 
quarters and end of year for the previous four years.

The second part gives annual figures for the past seven 
years, quarterly figures for the past three complete years and 
the present year and monthly figures for the current year (for 
those series where monthly data is available). Series are listed
under the following headings:

Exchange rates: preference indicated
International liquidity
Monetary authorities
Deposit money banks
Monetary survey
Other financial institutions
Financial survey 
Interest (rates)
International transactions 
Government finance 
National accounts

In te rna tiona l Financial S ta tis tics Yearbook
This contains annual data for thirty years from 
countries appearing in the monthly publication.

1949 for all
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Government Finance Statistics Year Book
This annual publication was first published in the autumn of 
1977 and uses definitions based on the /M F  M a n u a l on  
G overnm ent F inance  which was published in June 1974. The 
annual figures cover the past five years.

The year book is primarily concerned with the financing of 
central government. After a summary table showing total 
revenue and total expenditure, the figures are analysed into 
the following components:

Total revenue and expenditure of social security funds. 
Revenue and grants (This includes a detailed breakdown of 

direct and indirect taxes and levies).
Expenditure by function (eg education, housing).
Lending m inus  repayments by central government. 
Expenditure and lending less repayments by economic 

type.
Financing by type of debt holder.
Financing by type of debt Instrument.
Outstanding debt by type of debt holder.
Outstanding debt by type of debt instrument.
A summary table of local government income and expendi

ture is also included.

130

Balance of Payments Year Book Hid®
This annual publication is issued towards the end of the year
following that for which annual data is given. The data is
compiled, in accordance with the Fund's B alance o f  Paym ents
M a n u a l 3vdi edition (1961); the publication gives annual figures
for over 100 countries and quarterly data for some 25 
countries.

StlO

AccePitin9

Acĉ als3

A monthly booklet contains any revisions received since 
publication of the Year Book.

An annual supplement to the Year Book is published which 
provides a breakdown of the figures given in the Year Book by 
category instead of by country.
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Adn'i'i®®

Advance

Advance

Direction of Trade

This is a monthly publication which gives data on the 
distribution of exports and imports for some 135 countries 
showing partner country detail.

There is also an annual publication, usually published in 
September, which gives data on transactions for the seven 
latest years as well as showing World and Area summaries.
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Index
Figures shown are page numbers; entries in bold type are the  m ost detailed references. An index w ith  table number references is included in the m onthly publication.

A c c e p t a n c e s ,  63 

A c c e p t i n g  h o u s e s :  l i s t ,  67

A c c r u a ls  a d j u s t m e n t s :
financial accounts, 12, 14, 28
central governm ent, 38, 42
companies, 93
local authorities, 51
other financial institu tions, 78
persons, 103
public corporations, 54

A c q u i s i t i o n s  a n d  m e r g e r s ,  96

A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  o r d e r s ,  96

Advance corporation tax (ACT). 90

Advances (by banks). 63

Agents' balances (insurance companies). 83

Aid to  developing countries. 110 

/ycoholic drinks du ty , 40 

American banks: lis t, 68 

Assets leased, 63

Balance o f payments, 105

financing, diagram, 34

Balance sheets:
listed companies, 87 
national accounts, 9

Bank clearings, 66

Bankers' deposits w ith  Bank o f England, 61 

Banking sector:
advances and loans by, 25, 51, 55, 63, 91, 102 
defin ition, 57
deposits w ith , 24, 63, 93, 103 
lending, 25
liabilities and claims (overseas), 109 
lis t o f banks, 67 
statistical sources, 57 
transit hems, 58

Bank o f England:
Banking departm ent, 60 
Issue departm ent, 60
liab ility o f central governm ent to  Banking departm ent, 4d 
m inim um  lending rate, 45. 123

Bank rate, 45

Bankruptcies, 96

Banks in the UK: liabilities and assets, 62
: lis t, 67

Base rates, 118 

Betting and gaming tax , 40 

Bilateral aid to  overseas, 109 

Bills, 63

Borrowing requirement:
central governm ent, 43 
companies, 93 
local authorities, 52 
public corporations, 55 
public sector, 35

Brhish banks: lis t, 67

British governm ent securities, 19, 44, 45, 60, 63, 93, 103, 113 
prices and yields, 116, 123

Building societies, 80
deposhs, 25, 77, 103, 104
liqu id ity , 81
rates o f interest, 119

Capital consum ption, companies, 87 

Capital funds (banks), 63 

Capital issues:
United Kingdom , 26, 91. 112 
overseas, 26

Capital transfers, 43, 54, 102, 105 

Car tax, 40

Central governm ent, 37
borrow ing requirement, 38, 43 
capital account, 42 
current account, 42 
funds and accounts, 3 7 -3 8

Certificates o f deposit, 60

Certificates o f tax deposit, 44, 46

Check trad ing, 121

Commercial bills, 25, 75
discounting rates. 118

Companies, 86, 122

Company securities, 103
new  issue market (defin itions), 112 
transactions by sector, m atrix, 123

Consolidated fund , 37
liab ility  to  Post O ffice pension fund , 121

Consortium  banks, lis t, 69

Constant prices, 6

Consumer credh, 103

Consumer credh grantors, 79

Consumers' expenditure, 102

Consum ption o f non-trading caphal: 
by central governm ent, 42 
by local authorities. 51

Corporation tax, 90, 94

Credit clearing (banks), 66

Credh extended by retailers. 25

Credit tranche on IMF, 109

Customs duties, 40

Debentures: de fin ition. 111

Debit clearing (banks), 66

Deeds o f arrangement, 96

Debt interest paid by central governm ent, 42

Deposh liabilities (banks), 62

Deposits w ith :
banking sector, 24, 93, 103 
build ing societies, 24, 94, 1 

: rates, 119 
finance houses, 24. 103 
other financial institu tions, 25, 94, 1U3
savings banks, 24, 103 

: rates, 49

Developing countries: de fin ition, 110

Direct borrow ing from  abroad: 
central governm ent, 44 
local authorities, 53

Discount m arket, 64 
list, 70

Dividends and interest payments by companies, 95

Dividends on ordinary shares, 89

Dividend yield, 117

Domestic credit expansion, 72, 74, 75

t.V.

••

d
.PM

4
•  ^

t  ^  ^  ̂  *

: * ; r

*

131



^ L  I I '

I-

i
t

\<

^ I

1

Domestic product, 3 

Durable goods, 102

Effective exchange rate: index. 114 

Eligible liabilities (banks), 65

Employers contributions to National Insurance and pension funds, 100

Employment in the financial sector, 121

EEC publications, 127
list o f member countries, 127

Exchange cover scheme: payments by central governm ent, 44 

Exchange reserves in sterling, 106, 107 

Excise duties, 40

Export credit, 93, 106

External and foreign currency finance, 72

Factor cost, 5

Final consumption:
by central governm ent, 42 
by local authorities, 51

Finance houses. 78 
base rate, 119 
deposits w ith , 24, 104, 118 
list. 70

Financial accounts, 10, 19
asset categories (table), 20
balance of payments reconciliation, 123
by sector, 17, 123
main flows in 1978 (diagram), 18
presentation: net, 12

: sources and uses, 13 
sign convention, 13 
sources and m ethods, 14 
timing o f transactions, 14

Financial companies and institutions, 87. 94

Financial r/>77es— Actuaries share indices, 117

Financial Times index o f industrial ordinary shares, 117

Fixed assets: investments by persons, 103

Flow of funds accounts, see Financial accounts

Forces' pay, 100 

Forecasting. 11 

Foreign currency borrowing:
by H M  government, 27, 107 
by public corporations, 54 
by public sector, 121

Foreign exchange rates, 114 
related items, 115

General government current and capital accounts, 33 

Gold subscription to IM F, 105 

Gold valuation. 107 

Government expenditure. 33 

Government guaranteed stock, 44, 45, 121 

Government indebtedness to Bank o f England. 23 

Government securities: holdings by Bank o f England, 60, 61 

Grants: central government to personal sector, 42  

Gross domestic fixed capital formation (GDFCF):
central government, 43 
companies, 92 
local authorities. 51

Gross national product, rates o f change, 123 

Gross redemption yield, 116

%
Gross trading profits (companies), 88, 89, 94  

North Sea oil, 89

Gross trading surplus:
local authorities, 51 
public corporations, 54

Hire purchase debt, 103

House purchase loans, 25, 78, 102, 122 

Hydrocarbon oils duty, 40

Identified hom e assets, 27

Identified overseas assets, 28

Identified trade credit, 25

Im port credit received, 91, 106

Incom e and finance o f listed companies, 122 

Incom e from  abroad (companies), 89, 94

Index-linked national savings, 47 

Index o f effective exchange rate, 114 

Index o f ordinary shares, 117

Industrial and commercial companies, 86 
borrowing requirement, 93

Inland revenue, 38 
duties, 39

insurance companies, 83

Insolvencies, 96

Inter-bank rate, 118, 123

Inter-governm ent loans, 27

Interest and dividends:
central governm ent, 38, 42 
public corporations, 54 
revenue o f consolidated fund, 38

Interest rates, 118

International M onetary Fund, 28. 109 
:publications, 129

Intra-com pany investment overseas, 28

Investment dollars, 115

Investment trusts, 82

Invisibles (balance o f paym ent), 105

Items in suspense and transmission (banks), 63

Japanese banks: list, 68

Leased assets, 121

Lending by central governm ent, 43

Life assurance and superannuation funds, 27, 77, 103 
diagram, 101

Liquid assets:
companies, 93
other financial institutions, 78

Liquidity ratio, building societies, 81

Listed companies income and finance, 122 

Loans for house purchase, 25, 78, 102. 122

Local authority:
borrowing, 52, 103, 122, 123
borrowing requirement, 52
capital and current accounts, 51
interest rates, 120
m aturity analysis, 122
outstanding debt, 23, 53
transactions w ith central government, 44

London clearing banks: 
base rate, 118, 123 
list. 67
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Market loans. 25, 63

Market prices. 5

Market treasury b ills, 19, 45, 46, 94

M atrix o f sector financial accounts, 17 
diagram, 20

M inim um  lending rate. 45

Money market:
liabilities overseas, 108 
rates, 118

Money stock, 71, 74 
defin itions, 71 
diagram, 34

M otor vehicle duties, 41

M ultilateral aid to  overseas, 110 
list o f agencies, 110 
MERM index, 114

National accounts. 3, 87

National debt, 122

Natiorkal expenditure, 4

National income, 3

National insurance, 42 
benefits, 42 
contributions, 102 
surd iarge, 41

National Loans Fund. 37, 38, 41

National product, 3
: gross and net, 4

National savings, 43, 47, 103 
term s, annex, 49

National savings bank, investm ent account, 78

Net acquisition o f financial assets (N AFA), 7 
analysis by sector, 17 
tim e series chart. 30

Net redemption yields, British governm ent securities, 116

Nev r̂ Issue market: defin itions, 112

Northern Ireland banks: 
lis t, 67
notes outstanding, 64

Northern Ireland central governm ent debt, 23, 44

Notes and coin, 19, 43, 103, 121

Official financing. 36, 107

Official holdings, 121

Official loans, 77

Official long term  capital, 106

Official reserves, 27, 44, 107

Oil and miscellaneous investm ent, 106

Ordinary shares:
defin itions. 111 
dividends, 89 
dividend yields, 117 
earnings yield, 117

OECD publications, 125
list o f member countries, 125

Other financial Institu tions;
defin ition and asset holdings, 76 
deposits w ith , 25, 103 
securities, transactions, 123

Outstanding debt:
general governm ent, 31 
local authorities, 23, 52 
public sector. 31

Overseas banks: lis t, 68

Overseas companies: intra com pany investm ent, 92 

Overseas currency borrow ing by banks, 107

Overseas governm ents: borrow ing by central government, 44

Overseas o ffic ia l financing, 44. 52

Overseas sector: de fin ition, 105

Overseas sector: deposits (banks), 60

Overseas securities, 26, 92

Overspill relief. 39

Pension funds, 84, 123
loans to  parent, 26

Personal saving, 102

Personal sector;
balance sheets, 121 
defin ition, 98
lending to  local authorities, 53 
transactions w ith  banking sector, 60

Petroleum revenue tax, 90

Preference shares: de fin ition. 111

Profits due abroad, 90, 95

Property un it trusts, 77, 82

Public and private companies: defin ition. 111

Public corporations:
appropriation account, 54 
borrow ing, 54
borrow ing requirement by sector, 55 
lending, 55 
lis t o f, 56

Public deposits (w ith  Bank o f England), 60 

Public sector: 31
borrow ing requirement, 31, 35, 72 
external finance, diagram. 34 
finance, financial defic it. 31 
financial accounts, 33, 35 
funds w ith  banking sector, 59 
lending, 33
loans to  private sector, 27 
main financial flow s, diagram, 32 
outstanding debt, 31, 122 
pension scheme transactions, 43

Public W orks Loan Board. 51 
loans rates, 119

Purchase tax , 40

Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits, 28 

Reliability gradings o f financial accounts data, table, 22

Rent and non-trading income: 
companies, 89, 94 
public corporations, 54

Rent, local authorities, 51

Reserve assets (banks), 65

Reserve ratio (banks), 65

Reserve tranche on IMF, 109

Residual error in sector accounts, 28 
table, 29

Save As You Earn, 47, 123 
term s, 49

Savings banks: 47
deposits w ith . 24, 78, 104 
liab ility  o f central governm ent, 43
term s, 49

Scottish clearing banks: 
lis t, 67
notes outstanding, 64 

Seaward activities, 41

r.i-S

v4:

X" iV.
•  ^

• *1?

.'M'AW

• V

• i

nV

133

A
i  ^



.

i

>\

• 4( ^

t
i f
1 i, ‘
I  ' I

• )

I
4t
f
I»
%

>}
to
l9

'llI *1

;>^

«  *

■ 1

Sector financial accounts, 6, 17 
analysis by banks, 59 
asset categories, diagram 20 
balance sheets, 9 
tables, 7, 8

Selective employment tax, 41

Share and loan capital. 111

Shipbuilders' relief, 40

Short term assets:
insurance companies, 83 
investment trusts, 83 
local authorities, 51

Short term money rates, 118, 123

Sight deposits (banks), 62

Sources and methods (financial accounts), 15

Special deposits (banks), 61

Special drawing rights, 27, 44, 105 
: valuation, 109, 115

Special finance agencies, list, 76

Spot foreign exchange rates, 114

SOEC publications, 127

Sterling effective exchange rate, 114

Stock appreciation, 5, 87, 89

Stock Exchange, The: 
function. 111 
transactions, 113

Subsidies, 42, 51, 54

Superannuation funds, 84 
loans to parent, 26

Supplementary deposits (banks), 61

Tax deposit accounts, 44, 46

Taxes: on capital, 42, 91, 103 
on expenditure, 42 
on income, 42

: by companies, 90, 95 
: by persons, 102 

paid abroad, 95

Tax instruments, 23, 44, 46, 94, 103 

Tax reserve certificates, 44, 46 

Technical co-operation (overseas aid), 109 

Tim e deposits (banks), 62

The Times indices of industrial ordinary share prices, 117

Tobacco products duty, 40

Transfers abroad by persons, 100

Transit items (banking sector), 58

Treasury analysis of public expenditure, 33, 123

Treasury bills, 44, 45, 46, 123 
tender, 45

Trustee savings banks, 78, 120, 121

Undistributed income (companies), 91, 94 

Unidentified items in sector accounts, 14, 28 

UK capital issues, 26, 92

UN publications, 126 

Unit trusts, 26, 77, 82

Unrem itted profits (companies), 91

Valuation adjustments (banking sector), 59 

Value added tax, 40 

Velocity of circulation, 71

W ages and salaries, 100

Yields:
British governm ent securities, 116 
com pany securities, 117
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HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE

Government Bookshops 
49 High Holborn, London WC1V6HB 
13a Castle Street, Edinburgh EH2 3AR 
41 The Hayes, Cardiff CFl 1JW 
Brazennose Street, Manchester M60 8AS 
Southey House, Wine Street, Bristol BS1 2BQ 
258 Broad Street, Birmingham B1 2HE 
80 Chichester Street, Belfast BT1 4JY
Government Publications are also available 
through booksellers
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